doi:10.25143/prom-rsu_2021-16_dt



Ludmila Voložonoka

Causes and Genomic Approaches to Female Reproductive Failure

Doctoral Thesis for obtaining a doctoral degree (*Ph.D.*)

Sector – the Basic Sciences of Medicine, Including Pharmacy Sub-Sector – Medical Genetics

Riga, 2021



Ludmila Voložonoka ORCID 0000-0003-0413-1481

Causes and Genomic Approaches to Female Reproductive Failure

Doctoral Thesis for obtaining a doctoral degree (Ph.D.)

Sector – the Basic Sciences of Medicine, Including Pharmacy Sub-Sector – Medical Genetics

Supervisors of the Doctoral Thesis: Dr. med., Assistant Professor Anna Miskova, Rīga Stradiņš University, Latvia Dr. med., Inga Kempa, Rīga Stradiņš University, Latvia Research Advisor: Dr. med., Linda Gailīte, Rīga Stradiņš University, Latvia

Abstract

Clinical recognition of the genetic causes of female reproductive failure using increasingly advancing genetic technologies to preserve patient safety and move towards personalized treatment application is a major challenge of reproductive medicine in the 21st century. The aim of this thesis was to demonstrate a reliable application of advanced genomic techniques in different stages of female reproductive failure in real-life clinical or research scenarios. Several genetic approaches were exploited – starting from the multifactor genetic testing of preimplantation embryos to select the ones free of inherited monogenic conditions and chromosomal aberrations, then following with the analysis of fetal material in case of early pregnancy loss using array comparative genomic hybridization and short tandem repeat analysis to exclude maternal cell contamination, and finally using next generation sequencing technology to analyze genetic landscape leading to preterm delivery in women with cervical insufficiency. The practical work described here was published as three scientific articles now forming three chapters of this thesis.

Array comparative genomic hybridization combined with loci-specific genetic testing techniques allowed for a versatile and reliable analysis of preimplantation embryos to select the ones free of genetic conditions analyzed, and in combination with microsatellite analysis it also allowed to access the chromosomal causes of early pregnancy loss while reducing the misdiagnosis caused by maternal cell contamination. Next generation sequencing application allowed to identify the disruptive variants potentially contributive to the development of non-syndromic cervical insufficiency. Pathway enrichment analysis of variant genes from our cohort revealed an increased variation burden in genes playing roles in tissue mechanical and biomechanical properties. Literature analysis allowed to conclude that number of genes can be reliably attributed to female reproductive failure and an increasing number of genes form a pool of good candidates. In order to develop diagnostic gene panels and facilitate genetic advancement inclusion in the clinical practice of female reproduction, a standardized clinical gene-disease validity assessment of the identified genes has to be performed and best practice guidelines have to be composed.

Keywords: genetic etiology, genomic technology, next generation sequencing, female reproduction, preimplantation embryo, missed abortion, cervical insufficiency, preterm birth.

2

Anotācija

Sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas iemesli un genomiskās pieejas to risināšanai

Sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas ģenētisko cēloņu identificēšana, izmantojot mūsdienīgas ģenētiskās tehnoloģijas, vienlaikus saglabājot pacientu drošību un virzoties uz personalizētas ārstēšanas lietošanu, ir reproduktīvās medicīnas izaicinājums 21. gadsimtā. Darba mērķis bija demonstrēt genomisko tehnoloģiju lietojumu dažādos sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas etapos reālos klīniskajos vai pētījumu apstākļos. Tika lietotas vairākas genomiskās metodoloģijas - pirmsimplantācijas embriju testēšanai, lai atlasītu embrijus bez iedzimtas monogēnas patoloģijas un hromosomālajām aberācijām, salīdzinošā genoma hibridizācija uz mikročipiem un mikrosatelītu analīze augļa hromosomu analīzei pārtraukušās grūtniecības materiālā, nosakot mātes šūnu kontaminācijas klātbūtni paraugā, un, visbeidzot, nākamās paaudzes sekvencēšana dzemdes kakla nepietiekamības izraisītu priekšlaicīgu dzemdību ģenētiskās etioloģijas raksturošanai. Paveiktais praktiskais darbs tika publicēts trijos zinātniskajos rakstos, kas veido trīs darba sadaļas. Salīdzinošā genoma hibridizācija uz mikročipiem apvienojumā ar lokusa ģenētiskās testēšanas metodēm deva iespēju veikt pirmsimplantācijas analīzi, lai atlasītu embrijus bez testētās patoloģijas, savukārt kombinācijā ar mikrosatelītu analīzi lāva noteikt hromosomālās patoloģijas izraisošas agrīnas grūtniecības pārtraukšanos, vienlaikus mazinot mātes šūnu kontaminācijas izraisītas kļūdainas diagnozes iespēju. Lietojot nākamās paaudzes sekvencēšanu, tika identificēti gēnu varianti, kas potenciāli veicina nesindromiskas dzemdes kakla nepietiekamības attīstību. Gēnu ceļu bagātināšanas analīze atklāja palielinātu gēnu variācijas slogu gēnos, kas nodrošina audu mehānisko un biomehānisko izturību. Literatūras analīze ļauj secināt, ka gēnu skaits ar zināmu ietekmi uz sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas attīstību nepārtraukti aug un aizvien lielāks gēnu skaits veido labu kandidātu kopu, kas gaida replikācijas pētījumus. Diagnostisko gēnu paneļu klīniskajai izveidei un lietošanai un ģenētisko sasniegumu iekļaušanai sievietes reprodukcijas klīniskajā praksē nepieciešama standartizēta identificēto gēnu klīniskās validitātes novērtēšana un labās prakses vadlīniju izstrāde.

Atslēgvārdi: ģenētiskā etioloģija, genomiskās tehnoloģijas, nākamās paaudzes sekvencēšana, sievietes reprodukcija, pirmsimplantācijas embrijs, pārtraukusies grūtniecība, dzemdes kakla nepietiekamība, priekšlaicīgas dzemdības.

3

A	bstract	2
A	notācija	3
A	bbreviations	7
In	troduction Aim of the study Objectives of the study Hypothesis of the study Scientific novelty of the study Ethics	10 11 11 11 11 12 12
1	Literature Review	12 13 13 20 20 22 23 24 26 27 30 30 31 33
2	 1.3 Literature review: summary Performance comparison of two whole genome amplification techniques in frame of multifactor preimplantation genetic testing 2.1 Abstract 2.2 Introduction 2.3 Materials and methods 2.3.1 Cases processed	 39 40 40 42 44 44 47 47
	 2.3.4 IVF and embryo biopsy 2.3.5 Performance of clinical cases 2.4 Results 2.4.1 Embryo PGT analysis 2.4.2 Comparison of two different WGA techniques 2.5 Discussion 2.6 Conclusions 2.7 Acknowledgements 2.8 Authors' Roles 2.9 Funding 2.10 Conflict of Interest 	51 54 54 56 60 62 63 63 63 63
	2.11 Supplementary files	63

Table of contents

3	Reducing misdiagnosis caused by maternal cell contamination in genetic testing		
	for early pregnancy loss	67	
	3.1 Abstract	67	
	3.2 Introduction	68	
	3.3 Results and Discussion	70	
	3.3.1 Visual POC inspection and MCC genetic testing	70	
	3.3.2 Chromosomal microarray analysis	70	
	3.3.3 Analysis of POC with high risk of MCC	71	
	3.3.4 Recommendations to reduce MCC in POC testing	73	
	3.3.5 Further considerations to improve POC testing practice	79	
	3.4 Materials and Methods	81	
	3.4.1 Patients	81	
	3.4.2 Primary biological material handling	81	
	3.4.3 POC chromosome analysis	81	
	3.4.4 MCC testing system design	82	
	3.4.5 Statistical analysis	83	
	3.4.6 Ethical considerations	83	
	3.5 Declaration of interest statement	83	
	3.6 Author contributions	83	
	3.7 Appendices	84	
4	Genetic landscape of preterm birth due to cervical insufficiency. Comprehensive gene		
	analysis and patient next-generation sequencing data interpretation	86	
	4.1 Abstract	86	
	4.2 Introduction	87	
	4.2.1 Isolated cervical insufficiency	87	
	4.2.2 Current understanding of genetics of cervical remodeling during pregnancy	07	
	is limited	89	
	4.3 Materials and Methods	91	
	4.3.1 Identification of genes playing a role in the biology of the cervix	91	
	4.3.2 Gene analysis	92	
	4.3.3 Next-generation sequencing of patients with cervical insufficiency	93	
	4.4 Results	96	
	4.4.1 Systematic literature analysis	96	
	4.4.2 Gene analysis: genes linked to cervical insufficiency are mostly		
	syndromic	97	
	4.4.3 Patient NGS data analysis	100	
	4.4.4 Gene pathway enrichment analysis	105	
	4.5 Discussion	107	
	4.5.1 Collagenopathic nature of cervical insufficiency	107	
	4.5.2 Main pathways involved in cervical functioning	110	
	4.5.3 Overview and future perspectives	111	
	4.6 Conclusions	113	
	4.7 Funding	113	
	4.8 Acknowledgments	113	
	4.9 Supporting information	113	
_		110	
2	General Discussion	110	
	5.1 Selecting the best technology for multifactor preimplantation genetic testing	11/	
	5.2 Improving renability of genetic testing in early pregnancy loss	110	
	5.5 Decipnering genetic etiology of cervical insufficiency	118	

5.4 Recommendations for assessing genetics of female reproductive failure in research and clinics	120
5.4.1 Standardized gene-disease association clinical validity assessment	120
5.4.2 The need to update best practice guidelines on genetic testing for female	
reproductive failure	121
5.4.3 Importance of genetic counselling	122
5.4.4 Importance of thorough patient phenotyping	122
5.4.5 NGS – an effective method to identify genetic causes of female	
reproductive failure, and the power of gene panels	123
5.5 Finalizing remarks	124
Conclusions	127
List of author's publications	130
References	128
Acknowledgements	160
Supplements	162

Abbreviations

aCGH	Array comparative genomic hybridization		
ACMG	American College of Medical Genetics		
AD	Autosomal dominant		
ADO	Allelic drop out		
AF	Allelic frequency		
AR	Autosomal recessive		
ART	Assisted reproductive technologies		
ASRM	American Society for Reproductive Medicine		
β-hCG	Human chorionic gonadotropin beta		
BMI	Body mass index		
CL	Cervical length		
CNV	Copy number variation		
COC	Oocyte cumulus complexes		
cRNA	Complementary ribonucleic acid		
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid		
DOP	Degenerate oligonucleotide primer		
ECM	Extracellular matrix		
EDS	Ehlers-Danlos syndrome		
EFS	Empty follicle syndrome		
EPL	Early pregnancy loss		
ERA	Endometrial Receptivity Analysis		
eSET	Elective single embryo transfer		
ESHRE	European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology		
FFPE	Formalin fixed paraffin embedded		
FISH	Fluorescence in situ hybridization		
fPCR	Fluorescent polymerase chain reaction		
FSH	Follicle stimulating hormone		
GHR	Genetics home reference		
GnRH	Gonadotropin-releasing hormone		
GO	Gene ontology		
GV	Germinal vesicle		
GWAS	Genome wide association study		
hCG	Human chorionic gonadotropin		
HGNC	HUGO gene nomenclature		
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen		

HP	Human phenotype		
HPO	Human phenotype ontology		
ICSI	Intracytoplasmic sperm injection		
IVF	In vitro fertilization		
LDO	Locus drop out		
LH	Luteinizing hormone		
LHCGR	Luteinizing hormone chorionic gonadotropin receptor		
MCC	Maternal cell contamination		
MDA	Multiple displacement amplification		
MI	Meiosis I		
MII	Meiosis II		
MLPA	Multiple ligation probe amplification		
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid		
NGS	Next generation sequencing		
nt	Nucleotide		
OHSS	Ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome		
OMIM	Online Mendelian inheritance in man		
PBS	Phosphate buffer saline		
PCCR	Precocious cervical ripening		
PCOS	Polycystic ovary syndrome		
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction		
PEP-PCR	Primer extension polymerase chain reaction		
PGD	Preimplantation genetic diagnostic		
PGDIS	Preimplantation Genetic Diagnosis International Society		
PGT	Preimplantation genetic testing		
PGT-A	Preimplantation genetic testing for aneuploidies		
PGT-M	Preimplantation genetic testing for monogenic disorders		
pН	Potential of hydrogen		
PN	Pronucleus		
POC	Products of conception		
POF	Premature ovarian failure		
POI	Premature ovarian insufficiency		
POP	Pelvic organs prolapse		
PPROM	Premature prelabor rupture of fetal membranes		
РТВ	Preterm birth		
QF-PCR	Quantitative fluorescent polymerase chain reaction		

RIF	Recurrent implantation failure
RPL	Recurrent pregnancy loss
SD	Standard deviation
SET	Single embryo transfer
SGD	Single gene disorder
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
SNV	Single nucleotide variation
STR	Short tandem repeat
VCF	Variant called file
VTE	Venous thromboembolism
VUS	Variant of unknown significance
WES	Whole exome sequencing
WGA	Whole genome amplification
ZP	Zona pellucida

Introduction

Female reproductive failure is an ongoing global challenge having significant medical, social, and financial implications, being estimated to affect as many as 16.2% of women in certain countries (Inhorn and Patrizio, 2014; Maddirevula et al., 2020; Singh, 2004). There are numerous definitions of infertility, e.g., WHO defines infertility as "a disease of the reproductive system defined by the failure to achieve a clinical pregnancy after 12 months or more of regular unprotected sexual intercourse". Wider definitions of the condition characterizes infertility as an inability of those of reproductive age (15–49 years) to become or remain pregnant within five years (Mascarenhas et al., 2012; Rutstein and Shah, 2004). In this thesis, I use term "female infertility" as an inability to conceive and a broader term "female reproductive failure" as inability to conceive and/or carry pregnancy until term.

In order to carry a successful term pregnancy, different organs such as the uterus, cervix, placenta, and amniotic membranes as well as the fetus itself must cohesively interact and create a healthy symbiotic relationship with each other and the rest of the female body (Vink and Myers, 2018). Genetic causes are recognized as important contributors to female reproductive failure at the level of all main constituents of successful conception and pregnancy progress. Identification of genetic causes began in the late fifties of the 20th century when Turner syndrome was discovered by the means of karyotyping (Ford et al., 1959), and continues to this day aided by the development of novel molecular techniques and technological advancements. Nonetheless, still relatively little is known about the genetic background of most cases of reduced female fecundity, and unfortunately even less is translated into clinical practice, preventing the progress of personalized treatment entry into reproductive medicine.

Without doubt, the 21st century for clinical medicine and especially research can be addressed as the century of genomics since major breakthrough was possible due to the underpinning of molecular mechanisms for the majority of the diseases. Consequently, for some disorders (e.g., cancer, inherited metabolic disorders) genetic tests are on the frontline before any further interventions can be undertaken. Naturally, genetic tests are becoming increasingly demanded in the frame of diagnosing and managing female reproductive failure as well, and should be carried out for three main purposes: to identify the cause of reproductive failure, identify genetic diseases transmissible to offspring, and provide direction towards the most appropriate treatment. Unfortunately, often there is a lag in the understanding of the data resulting from the state-of-art technologies and its clinical applicability due to a variety of peculiarities associated with each technique and insufficient knowledge of molecular and genetic pathophysiology of impaired female reproductive capability. In the context

of missing and/or insufficient guidelines regulating the field, this all results in the increased risks of mismanagement, psychological burden and excess costs for the patients, their family members, and offspring.

Aim of the study

To demonstrate a reliable application of advanced genomic techniques in different stages of female reproductive failure in real-life clinical or research scenarios in order to increase couple's chances to conceive a healthy child, improve the reliability of genetic testing in early pregnancy loss, and unravel the underlying genetic cause of cervical insufficiency.

Objectives of the study

- 1. To develop preimplantation genetic testing protocols and to compare the performance of two different whole genome amplification techniques for multiple downstream applications in preimplantation embryo genetic testing.
- 2. To develop a protocol for maternal cell contamination assessment in the genetic testing of products of conception in early pregnancy loss.
- 3. To perform a systematic analysis of the genes implicated in uterine cervix functioning to assist next-generation sequencing data interpretation from patients with cervical insufficiency.
- 4. Through the application of NGS to a patient cohort with preterm delivery due to cervical insufficiency, to characterize the genetic landscape of the condition and to identify the gene variants that increase the likelihood of cervical insufficiency development.

Hypothesis of the study

Advanced genetic technologies could be successfully used in various stages of female reproductive failure to reliably assess several classes of genetic variations perturbing female reproductive potential, while the lack of best practice guidelines on genetic testing and genedisease clinical validity assessment prevents clinical applicability of the existing genetic knowledge in the field of female reproduction.

Scientific novelty of the study

The work described in Chapter 2 represents the development of individualized preimplantation embryo genetic testing protocols and the introduction of such testing in Latvia, it also depicts a comparison of two widely used whole genome application techniques, which is something done for the first time. Chapter 3 is devoted to the known problem of maternal cell contamination in the genetic testing of products of conception and offers a remastered low-resource setting protocol of visual and technological material evaluation and handling capable to successfully address the issue. Chapter 4 not only describes the results of next generation sequencing applied to the cohort of patients with isolated cervical insufficiency, which was done for the first time, but also contains a comprehensive and systematic work on literature and gene analysis on this topic, which also was done for the first time.

Ethics

The work done during this study is in accordance with the ethical principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Central Medical Ethics committee of Latvia (please see Supplement 1 and 2 at the very end of this work).

1 Literature Review

Successful human reproduction requires orchestrated functioning of processes of spermatogenesis, oogenesis, fertilization, embryonic development as well as the intrauterine development of the fetus. Discoordination in any of these sophisticated steps caused by genetic abnormalities, mitochondrial and epigenetic disturbances, hormonal disorders, and exposures to environmental toxins/endocrine disruptors often underlie impaired fertility in both genders (Tarín et al., 2014) or inability to carry pregnancy until term.

Male infertility has been widely reported, and its underlying genetic basis has been extensively studied (Oud et al., 2019). However, the genetic contribution to female reproductive failure – predicted to be caused by chromosomal and single-gene defects – has been relatively poorly investigated (Sang et al., 2019).

This literature review intends a) to describe the latest advances on genetic causes of nonsyndromic female reproductive failure – a term broadly covering impaired oogenesis, fertilization, and early embryo development, as well as female's contribution to preterm delivery and pregnancy loss, and b) to provide insight into genetic testing approaches used to study and diagnose female reproductive failure in clinics and research.

1.1 Genetic causes of female reproductive failure

Due to the enormous complexity of physiological processes and the number of organs/organ systems ensuring normal reproduction in female, the classification of female reproductive phenotypes is burdensome. The situation is especially complex for ovarian and / or follicle disorders (e.g., ovarian failure/insufficiency, ovulation disorders, empty follicle syndrome etc.). This chapter consecutively describes problems in natural path of female reproduction caused by certain genetic defects starting with impaired oogenesis, accompanied by the findings assessable only through the usage of ART, and also covers reproductive failure due to an embryo/fetal demise and preterm birth (PTB). Where possible only genetic defects with existing and/or predicted causative roles in female reproduction are included, not covering abundant genetic risk factors without an assessable genotype-phenotype correlation.

1.1.1 Female gonadal disorders

The development and functioning of female gonads and thus major aspects of female reproduction are mostly dictated by the proper performance of the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis. The activity of the pituitary gland is stimulated by the gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) produced by neurons in the hypothalamus. The gonadotropins – follicle

stimulating hormone (FSH, FSH subunit beta is encoded by the *FSHB*, HGNC:3964) and luteinizing hormone (LH, LH subunit beta is encoded by the *LHB*, HGNC:6584) secreted by gonadotroph cells located in the anterior pituitary gland have a central role in folliculogenesis and regulation of ovulation. FSH is required for the monthly recruitment and growth of cohorts of developing follicles while LH activity mediates the final stages of follicle maturation and induces a cascade of events leading to ovulation (McGee and Hsueh, 2000). During the late stages of follicular development, *granulosa* cells within the follicle acquire LH / chorionic gonadotropin receptors (LHCGR) and become responsive to the presence of the ligand (Mitri et al., 2014). Eventually sex steroids then exert negative feedback at both the hypothalamus and pituitary to control the gonadotropin stimulus (Figure 1.1). Various genetic defects in genes ensuring activity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis that result in gonadal dysfunction and infertility have been described (Beau et al., 1998; Layman, 2013).



Figure 1.1 Schematic representation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis functioning in female (scheme by L. Voložonoka)

The hypothalamus releases gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH), which stimulates the anterior pituitary gland to produce luteinizing hormone (LH) and follicle stimulating hormone (FSH), which target the ovary to produce estrogen and progesterone; the latter provides negative feedback back to the hypothalamus and pituitary.

Hypogonadotropic hypogonadism

When female manifest symptoms of estrogen deficiency, such as absent breast development or hypoestrogenic amenorrhea, there is a lack of negative feedback to the hypothalamus and pituitary gland. Serum gonadotropin levels in these patients are low (or inappropriately normal), indicating that the defect is in the hypothalamus or pituitary. These patients usually have GnRH (encoded by the *GNRH1*, HGNC:4419) deficiency. If the sense of smell is normal, this disorder is termed normosmic hypogonadotropic hypogonadism; when an impaired sense of smell accompanies hypogonadotropic hypogonadism, Kallmann

syndrome is present. Smell disturbance occurs because during embryogenesis the GnRH neurons originate outside the brain in the nasal region and migrate alongside olfactory nerves into the hypothalamus (Tobet and Schwarting, 2006).

In the 1990s, two groups independently identified a genetic cause involved in normosmic hypogonadotropic hypogonadism / Kallmann syndrome development in women. Compound heterozygous variants were found in the GnRH receptor gene *GNRHR* [HGNC:4421] (de Roux et al., 1997; Layman et al., 1998). Of clinical interest was the observation that the phenotypes caused by the defects in *GNRHR* could range from very severe – a complete lack of puberty – to partial pubertal development or constitutional delay of puberty (Kim et al., 2010). To date, *GNRHR* pathogenic variants are known to cause normosmic hypogonadotropic hypogonadism without other additional somatic anomalies, but they only account for 4% of normosmic hypogonadotropic hypogonadotropic hypogonadism patients (Bhagavath et al., 2005).

At the level of the pituitary, variants of *FSHB* or *LHB* genes have been detected to cause hypogonadothropic hypogonadism (Beau et al., 1998; Layman et al., 1997). Notably, infertility caused by the isolated deficiency of FSH due to biallelic *FSHB* variants (OMIM:229070) is reversible by treatment with gonadotropin, which induces ovulation and allows pregnancy to occur (C. Matthews and Chatterjee, 1997; C. H. Matthews et al., 1993; D. Rabinowitz et al., 1979). This is possible because early follicular development is not dependent on signaling through the FSH pathway (K Aittomäki et al., 1996; Kumar et al., 1997). Similarly, women with hypogonadotropic hypogonadism caused by *LHB* variants (OMIM:228300) present with oligo-amenorrhea and infertility, may be successfully treated with human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) (Arnhold et al., 2009).

Intriguingly, in comparison to genes ensuring proper gonadal axis functioning, which cause infertility in both genders, no females with biallelic variants in X-linked *ANOS1 / KAL1* [HGNC:6211] gene, which causes Kallman syndrome in males, have been reported in the medical literature (Bhagavath et al., 2007; Genetics Home Reference, 2020). Until now variants in an array of genes are well described to cause hypogonadotropic hypogonadism with or without anosmia, most of these genes affect the hypothalamus; please refer to a comprehensive summary of Layman (Layman, 2013).

Hypergonadotropic hypogonadism

In contrast to hypogonadotropic hypogonadism, if serum FSH and LH remain elevated on several occasions, hypergonadotropic hypogonadism is expected, indicating that the defect is at the level of the gonads (i.e., ovaries in females). There are several gonadal disorders with a clinical presentation of hypergonadotropic hypogonadism and overlapping phenotypical features, e.g., premature ovarian failure / insufficiency, and empty follicle syndrome (EFS).

When a patient has hypergonadotropic hypogonadism, it is always important to think about Turner syndrome (pure monosomy X - 45, X or mosaic forms) (ICD-10 Q96.9) (Layman, 2013). In patients with primary amenorrhea without breast development, but present vagina and uterus, the differential diagnosis should also consider Swyer syndrome – disorder of sex development with an incidence of approximately 1:80000 characterized by pure 46,XY karyotype and complete gonadal dysgenesis i.e. streak gonads [ICD-10 Q99.1] (Da Silva Rios et al., 2015). The female phenotype in these patients is caused by several gene defects, with variants in the *SRY* accounting for about 15% of cases (Sim et al., 2008). Few other genes are related to Swyer syndrome, including, but not limited to *MAP3K1* [HGNC:6848], *DHH* [HGNC:2865], *NR5A1* [HGNC:7983], *NR0B1* [HGNC:7960] – also associated with sex development disorders of various phenotypes (Bashamboo et al., 2010; Gazizova et al., 2020; Paliwal et al., 2011).

The first gene associated with isolated hypergonadotropic hypogonadism [ICD-11 GA30.6] characterized by primary amenorrhea and streak or hypoplastic ovaries in females with normal karyotype, was *FSHR* [HGNC:3969], coding the FSH receptor. Using genetic linkage approach, Aittomaki with colleagues identified variant *FSHR* (NM_000145.4):c.566C > T (rs121909658) segregating with the condition in six Finnish families. Histological examination of the patients' ovaries demonstrated follicular development blocked at the stage of primary follicles (Kristiina Aittomäki et al., 1995; Beau et al., 1998).

Premature ovarian failure

The most common phenotype of hypergonadotropic hypogonadism present in clinical practice is premature ovarian insufficiency, also known as premature ovarian failure (POI / POF). The condition is characterized by the loss of ovarian activity before the age of 40, its incidence increases with age, eventually affecting about 1% of women under 40 (Goswami and Conway, 2005; Laissue et al., 2008). Women affected by POF have females' sex chromosome set (in this case defined by the absence of chromosome Y), nevertheless, X chromosome abnormalities, namely aneuploidies and rearrangements, represent the majority of POF cases (Cordts et al., 2011). Thus, genes situated in these regions are obvious candidates for POF (Laissue et al., 2008), e.g., in the case of Turner's syndrome, autoimmune polyglandular syndrome type 1 caused by variants in *AIRE* [HGNC:360] or Blepharophimosis epicanthus inversus and ptosis syndrome (OMIM:110100) caused by variants in *FOXL2*

[HGNC:1092]. Other syndromic associations of POF are extensively summarized in studies of Furtuno and Rosseti (Fortuño and Labarta, 2014; R. Rossetti et al., 2017).

The most common and clinically important cause of non-syndromic POF is CGG trinucleotide / triplet expansion in *FMR1* [HGNC:3775] – the so-called premutation allele. Full mutation in *FMR1* causes fragile X syndrome – an X-linked disorder associated with intellectual disability in hemizygous males. Careful genetic counselling should be offered to patients-ART candidates carrying the *FMR1* premutation, as premutation allele is predisposing to further expansion of the repeat in the germ line and a high risk of delivering a male child with mental retardation. Preimplantation genetic testing could be considered in these cases (Foresta et al., 2002).

More recently, usage of massive parallel sequencing in non-syndromic POF kindreds has revealed variations in a handful of autosomal genes playing a role in the development of ovarian demise. Using an unbiased approach of whole exome sequencing (WES) combined with linkage analysis of a large consanguineous family with inherited POF, a group of Caburet identified a homozygous 1-bp deletion in *STAG3* [HGNC:11356] – a gene encoding a meiosis-specific protein ensuring correct sister chromatid cohesion. It was also demonstrated that female mice devoid of *Stag3* are sterile with their fetal oocytes being arrested at early prophase I (Caburet et al., 2014). Two years later another group, exploiting an analogous approach, strengthened the implication of *STAG3* in POF by identifying a truncating gene variant in consanguineous Lebanese family with two affected sisters presenting primary amenorrhea and an absence of any pubertal development (Le Quesne Stabej et al., 2016). Thus, it was also demonstrated that WES combined with linkage analysis offers a powerful tool to efficiently find novel genetic causes of POF.

At the same time, using WES alone a nonsense homozygous variant was identified in the *SYCE1* [HGNC:28852] as causative for POF in two sisters (De Vries et al., 2014). The implication of the biallelic disruption of the gene in POF was later confirmed by another group, who using WES, revealed a large homozygous deletion in two sisters from a large consanguineous Han Chinese family (Zhe et al., 2020). Simultaneously, a humanized mouse model represented a proof that impaired expression of *SYCE1* disturbs homologous chromosome synapsis during meiosis (Hernández-López et al., 2020). Importantly, the gene is also a candidate for non-obstructive male azoospermia (Maor-Sagie et al., 2015; Pashaei et al., 2020).

The next significant finding in the genetic etiology of POF was *MCM9* [HGNC:21484]. Disruptive gene variants were identified in two unrelated consanguineous families by the means of homozygosity mapping and WES. Individuals

homozygous for the *MCM9* (NM_017696.3):c.1732 + 2T > C (rs587777871) and *MCM9* (NM_017696.3):c.394C > T (rs587777872) pathogenic variants shared a Turner-like phenotype characterized by POF, short stature and low weight (Wood-Trageser et al., 2014). Further, another group provided the first confirmation of the *MCM9* implication in POF by finding a truncating homozygous *MCM9* variant in a consanguineous family (Fauchereau et al., 2016). Paralogue of *MCM9* – *MCM8*, which together form a functioning unit participating in DNA repair by homologous replication, – was also alleged a causality for POF. Biallelic *MCM8* [HGNC:16147] variants were found to segregate with the POF in several unrelated families using an unbiased approach of WES (AlAsiri et al., 2015; Tenenbaum-Rakover et al., 2015; Ya Xin Zhang et al., 2020).

Another gene with the alleged function in the ovaries, *GDF9* [HGNC:4224], has long been assigned a role in POF in various case control studies, where only heterozygous gene alterations were identified (Kovanci et al., 2007; Laissue et al., 2006; Norling et al., 2014). Recently identified homozygous truncating variant strengthened the involvement potential of *GDF9* in the development of POF (M. M. França et al., 2018).

Similarly, it was suggested that *BMP15* [HGNC:1068] variations may predispose to POF (OMIM:300510) and contribute in association with other gene alterations to generate the ovarian defect (Raffaella Rossetti et al., 2009). Initially, only heterozygous gene variants were found (Di Pasquale et al., 2004). Eventually, a homozygous variant inherited from both parents was identified, suggesting that heterozygosity for the *BMP15* is insufficient to cause the phenotype (W. Zhang et al., 2018).

Few other strong POF candidate genes were found using WES, e.g. *HFM1* [HGNC:20193] encoding a protein necessary for homologous recombination (J. Wang et al., 2014) and *NOBOX* [HGNC:22448], playing a critical role in early folliculogenesis with several variants reported in POF patients (Bouilly et al., 2011; Monica M. França et al., 2017; Lin Li et al., 2017). Overall, numerous POF candidate genes also discussed elsewhere await functional and replication studies (Fortuño and Labarta, 2014). As seen from the existing studies, the etiology of POF is vastly heterogenous with WES being the most suitable method to unravel its genetic landscape.

1.1.2 Empty follicle syndrome

With the development of *in vitro* fertilization (IVF) techniques and the burgeoning increase of its application worldwide, the processes of oocyte development, fertilization, and early embryonic development can now be accurately evaluated and investigated, facilitating

the discovery of new phenotypes and genes responsible for female reproductive failure (Sang et al., 2019).

The next phenotype overlapping with POF is EFS – a condition observed after ART application when no oocytes are retrieved from the mature follicles after controlled ovarian stimulation and characterized by a lack of response of these patients to a repeated administration of human chorionic gonadotropin beta (β -hCG). The condition was first described in 1986, its frequency is estimated to range from < 1–7% among patients presenting for IVF treatment (Awonuga et al., 1998; Coulam et al., 1986; Yariz et al., 2011). However, genuine EFS occurs only around 0.016% (Revelli et al., 2017), in contrast to false EFS which is associated with circulating β -hCG below a critical threshold and flaws in ART performance.

The first insight into the genetic etiology of genuine EFS came from the work of Yariz with colleagues (Yariz et al., 2011), who performed unbiased WES of two affected sisters described earlier (Önalan et al., 2003). They identified a homozygous variant in *LHCGR* [HGNC:6585] that cosegregated with EFS in the family and was not present in 500 ancestrymatched controls. The variant impairing the function of *LHCGR* was considered compatible with the lack of response in these patients to a repeated administration of β -hCG (Yariz et al., 2011). Females with defects in this gene showed normal secondary sex characteristics but were infertile due to LH resistance – clinical presentation also typical for hypergonadotropic hypogonadism. Following the success of Yariz, few other groups found evidence for *LHCGR* variation as a cause for EFS, e.g. group of Yuan using Sanger sequencing found gain-of-function biallelic variant *LHCGR* (NM_000233.4):c.1345G > A (rs763889232) in a patient with genuine EFS (Yuan et al., 2017). Notably, the biallelic variants in *LHCGR* are well known to cause Leydig cell hypoplasia in males resulting in various phenotypes of sex development disorders (OMIM:238320).

The spectrum of phenotypic expressions related to *LHCGR* are summarized in Yuan study (Yuan et al., 2017). Reproductive pathogenesis in females with *LHCGR* variations lies in the fact that the receptor cannot be expressed in *theca* or *granulosa* cells, therefore cannot bind LH and β -hCG, eventually leading to low estrogen production and consequently – impaired folliculogenesis (C. Chen et al., 2018).

Recently, a completely different mechanism of action was described leading to a similar clinical representation of EFS observed during IVF. In a number of patients from consanguineous families, WES application led to an identification of pathogenic biallelic variants in genes coding the oocyte's zona pellucida proteins, respectively *ZP1* [HGNC:13187], *ZP2* [HGNC:13188], and *ZP3* [HGNC:13189] (Dai, Chen, et al., 2019; Dai, Hu, et al., 2019; Q. Xu et al., 2020; Z. Zhou et al., 2019). All patients presenting primary infertility due to EFS

and / or having few abnormal oocytes or small ooplasm-like fragments following the aspiration of mature follicles. In contrast to the EFS caused by *LHCGR*, these patients exhibit normal ovarian reserves, regular menstrual cycles, and their basal sex hormone levels and other infertility-related examinations do not reveal any abnormalities. As seen, the infertility in these patients no longer lies within the action of the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis, however, the question, whether it should be considered hypogonadism, remains open.

Intriguingly, the variants in *ZP1*, *ZP2*, and *ZP3* have been also linked to the reproductive failure characterized by oocyte degeneration, absent *zona*, or failed fertilization (also discussed below).

1.1.3 Absent zona pellucida

The initial study, focusing on identifying a genetic cause of ART failure due to the absence of *zona pellucida* (ZP) in oocytes, performed Sanger sequencing of *ZP1*, *ZP2*, *ZP3*, and *ZP4* [HGNC:15770] in a consanguineous Han Chinese family. They identified a homozygous truncating variant in *ZP1* in six family members segregating with the disease. (H.-L. Huang et al., 2014). Further two groups identified only heterozygous variants in ZP genes in several families with multiple infertile women, who presented only (degenerated) oocytes with absent ZP, cumulus-oocyte complexes lacking oocyte (corresponds to EFS) or only small fragments of ooplasm upon oocyte retrieval after ovarian stimulation (T. Chen et al., 2017; P. Yang et al., 2017). Soon, causality of biallelic disruption of ZP genes was proved by independent studies via the usage of WES and cosegregation analysis in consanguineous families. Functional studies demonstrated that the absence of any of the ZP proteins disrupts interaction among ZP1, ZP2, and ZP3, preventing the formation of functional ZP. Defective and thin ZP forming in certain cases was defective for sperm-binding (Dai, Hu, et al., 2019; Sun et al., 2019).

1.1.4 Oocyte maturation arrest

The maturation of an oocyte reflects its intrinsic developmental competence and is a key factor for successful fertilization, the growth and development of an embryo, as well as infertility treatment (P. Yang et al., 2017). Oocyte maturation arrest occurs at different stages, including the germinal vesicle (GV), meiosis I and II (MI, MII) leading to reproductive failure (Beall et al., 2010; Dean, 2016). At present, in order to conceive, patients with oocyte maturation arrest need to receive donor eggs (A. C. Wang et al., 2018).

Studies have suggested that some human oocyte maturation arrest and early embryonic arrest cases follow a Mendelian inheritance pattern (B. Chen et al., 2017). Although the first case of human oocyte maturation arrest was reported in 1990 (Rudak et al., 1990), genetic factors related to these phenotypes have been poorly investigated, remaining largely unknown (Okutman et al., 2020; A. C. Wang et al., 2018). However, despite the relatively recent implication with the condition, phenotype-genotype correlation is well established for the two genes, *TUBB8* [HGNC:20773] responsible for ~33% of the oocyte maturation arrest cases, and *PATL2* [HGNC:33630] (OMIM:616780 and 617743, respectively) (A. C. Wang et al., 2018).

The protein encoded by *TUBB8* represents the primary beta-tubulin subunit of oocytes and the early embryo. Pathogenic gene variants affect folding and assembly of the α / β -tubulin heterodimer, eventually causing spindle assembly defects that result in oocytes arrested at the GV and/or MI stages, polar body I oocytes that cannot be fertilized, and embryos arrested at an early stage (A. C. Wang et al., 2018).

Of note, *TUBB8* is one of the rare genes with the proposed autosomal dominant inheritance pattern causing infertility in human. In affected females, heterozygous *TUBB8* variants are inherited from the unaffected fathers and exhibit a dominant-negative effect, indicating that TUBB8 has a specific pathophysiological role in oogenesis but not in spermatogenesis. However, homozygous individuals are also described (Feng et al., 2016; L. Huang et al., 2017). Intriguingly, one group showed that exogenous wild-type *TUBB8* supplementation could effectively improve spindle assembly, allowing for the subsequent embryo development and production of live offspring in mice (Jia et al., 2020).

Numerous individuals, mostly from consanguineous families, suffering from the same issue of oocyte arrest at different stages and also early embryonic arrest, were reported as having pathogenic biallelic *PATL2* variants (B. Chen et al., 2017; Z. Liu et al., 2020; L. Wu et al., 2019). Functional studies demonstrated that *PATL2* was more highly and specifically expressed in the human germinal vesicle, meiosis I oocytes and polar body I oocytes than in various kinds of somatic tissues (B. Chen et al., 2017).

Important is the fact that in order to conceive, patients with oocyte maturation arrest need to receive donor eggs (A. C. Wang et al., 2018). The genetic diagnosis of the oocyte maturation failure could save a couple from the financial and emotional hardship of multiple failed cycles using own oocytes (Beall et al., 2010).

1.1.5 Fertilization failure

Two of the most important processes of sexual reproduction are, first, meiosis resulting in specialized gametes that contain half the normal number of chromosomes, and, second, fertilization, when two gametes recreate a genetically distinct organism and restore the normal number of chromosomes (Bianchi and Wright, 2016). During fertilization, an ordered schedule of cellular recognition events ensures a successful fusion of the sperm and egg. Despite the fundamental role of fertilization, the basic mechanisms involved have remained poorly understood (Bianchi and Wright, 2016). ART provides a unique real-time insight into these otherwise inaccessible events.

Failure of IVF can be caused by a multitude of factors. However, failure of fertilization despite an intracytoplasmic injection of apparently healthy sperms in apparently healthy eggs is highly unusual. The observation of this phenotype only in female members of certain families suggested that this phenotype is female-limited, perhaps due to a recessive variant of a maternal effect gene (Alazami et al., 2015). Two independent groups studying patients with recurrent failure of IVF / intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI), displaying an abnormal fertilization with zero-pronucleus (PN) zygotes, 3PN zygotes, or zygote degradation identified biallelic *TLE6* [HGNC:30788] variants (Alazami et al., 2015; J. Lin et al., 2020) as a cause of earliest known human embryonic lethality. Pronuclei formation is a critical process during fertilization. Normally, there are two pronuclei (2PN), one paternal and one maternal, indicating a successful fertilization (Payne et al., 1997). *TLE6* exhibit its function within a subcortical maternal complex that assembles during the oocyte growth and is essential for zygote to progress beyond the first embryonic cell divisions in mice (Lei Li et al., 2008).

The next gene implicated with recurrent pronucleus formation failure and female reproductive failure was *WEE2* [HGNC:19684] (Sang et al., 2018; X. Yang et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2019), biallelic variants in which resulted in the phenotype. Another candidate gene for the fertilization failure due to multiple pronuclei formation is *REC114* [HGNC:25065], which is involved in DNA double-strand break formation during meiosis.

1.1.6 Early embryonic arrest

Normal embryonic development is the key to establishing a successful pregnancy. Recent evidence has raised the possibility that a part of idiopathic reproductive failure cases may be caused by very early forms of embryonic lethality (Alazami et al., 2015). Without ART application, the phenotype of fertilization failure or early embryonic arrest could be credited as idiopathic infertility in man or women. Embryo cultivation after fertilization, especially with the usage of time-lapse imaging, granted access to the cause of infertility in these couples. Early embryonic arrest is referred to as preimplantation embryo lethality and failure of an embryo to form a blastocyst (OMIM:616814).

Although the zygote is formed by the fusion of the maternal and paternal pronuclei, the earliest phases of embryo development are uncoupled from new transcription and rely exclusively on the maternal macromolecules deposited in the ooplasm during the oocyte growth. Disruption of several genes with the alleged role within the subcortical maternal complex – a multiprotein complex uniquely expressed in mammalian oocytes and early embryos essential for human early embryonic development (Bebbere et al., 2016) – has recently been linked to the early embryonic arrest. This also includes the earlier-mentioned *TLE6*, which also causes fertilization failure (Y. Xu et al. 2016).

In 2016, Xu with colleagues attempted to analyze whole exomes of three sisters from a consanguineous family experiencing repeated early embryo arrest. The only variant segregating with the phenotype was a homozygous nonsense change NM_207421.4:c.1141C > T (rs1057517681) in *PADI6* [HGNC:20449]. These findings were later replicated, and a functional study revealed that *PADI6* was highly expressed in oocytes, but weakly – in sperm or somatic tissues (Y. Xu et al., 2016).

Later sequence changes in two other subcortical maternal complex genes were found in patients from consanguineous families with embryos failing to reach the cleavage stage / develop into blastocysts. Five independent individuals carried biallelic variants in *NLRP2* [HGNC:22948]. Three individuals from two families carried biallelic variants in *NLRP5* [HGNC:21269] (Mu et al., 2019). Of note is finding that a gene with a similar function to *NLRP2/5*, *NLRP7* [HGNC:22947] has been associated with the development of hydatidiform moles as a rare and specific cause of failed pregnancy (a closer discussion below).

It has been shown in mice that knockout of any of the subcortical maternal complex genes leads to infertility or subfertility caused by embryonic arrest (Mu et al., 2019; Yurttas et al., 2008)[,] since the complex is necessary for embryonic progression past the 2-cell stage (Lei Li et al., 2010).

1.1.7 Failed embryo implantation

Following the early embryonic arrest, failed embryo implantation is the next phenotype leading to infertility assessable only during ART application. The term implantation failure refers to the cases when after embryo transfer patient does not show quantifiable signs of implantation, such as increased levels of hCG, or who have increased hCG production without later ultrasound evidence of a gestational sac (Coughlan et al., 2014). The failure

of embryo to implant can be a consequence of female, male, or embryo factors, or the specific type of IVF protocol (Bashiri et al., 2018). The primary cause of failed embryo implantation in ART is considered aneuploidy (Toft et al., 2020).

The frequency of losses in human preimplantation embryos is known to be very high. Of morphologically normal embryos about 50–80% show numerical chromosomal abnormalities, depending upon maternal age. These data were initially based on observation of couples undergoing preimplantation genetic testing for monogenic disorders (PGT-M) (Munne et al., 1996), whose embryos were studied using fluorescent *in situ* hybridization with five to seven chromosome-specific probes. Using comprehensive chromosomal screening methods, rates of aneuploidy are as high as 85–100% in women aged 43 and above (M. Rabinowitz et al., 2012). Earlier, our group has also demonstrated that 57% of embryos are aneuploid in patients with complicated reproductive history (L Volozonoka et al., 2015). However, no single gene alterations leading to a (recurrent) embryo implantation failure can be found in the scientific literature.

1.1.8 Miscarriage

Up to 15% of all clinically recognized pregnancies end in miscarriage (Everett, 1997). Approximately 5% of women experience recurrent pregnancy loss (RPL) if two or more pregnancies miscarry, whereas three or more first trimester pregnancy losses may affect as many as 1–2% of women of reproductive age (Clifford 1994; Cook 1995; Stirrat 1990).

Common causes of RPL are immunological, endocrine, anatomic, or genetic factors. About 50% of RPL cases still remain unexplained. In this group of patients, fetal chromosomal abnormalities have been reported to be the most common cause of RPL, similarly, as it is with the implantation failure, leaving the remainder truly unexplained (Jeve and Davies, 2014; Sugiura-Ogasawara et al., 2012). The first evidence demonstrating that RPL couples have an increased number of chromosomally abnormal embryos (ranging from 50–80%) was shown (Simón et al., 1998) and confirmed by different groups (Garrisi et al., 2009; RubIo et al., 2009). The prevalence of fetal chromosome abnormalities in women facing a single sporadic miscarriage is around 45% (van den Berg et al., 2012).

The next common and well-described cause of miscarriage and unbalanced chromosomal aberrations in fetus is parental balanced chromosomal rearrangements (Kochhar and Ghosh, 2013; Stern et al., 1999). Other genetic abnormalities in the conceptus leading to pregnancy loss are skewed X inactivation and inherited or *de novo* single gene disruptions (Blue et al., 2019). Increased lethal single-gene disorders leading to pregnancy loss or

intrauterine fetal death have been indirectly demonstrated in consanguineous couples, in whom the aneuploidy rates are significantly lower than in outbred populations (Najafi et al., 2019).

Although RPL is considered a multifactorial disorder, there is a hypothesis that it can develop in a single-gene fashion (Bolor et al., 2009). Unfortunately, the collected evidence for this so far is poor and contradictive leaving the true genetic etiology of miscarriage still *terra incognita*.

Hydatidiform mole

In contrast to miscarriage, a certain success has been reached in the genetic cause identification of a specific type of pregnancy loss / abnormal embryo formation called hydatidiform mole. Development of the conceptus into a hydatidiform mole results from the overgrowth of the extraembryonic trophoblast, whereas the embryo itself suffers an early demise. In most complete hydatidiform moles, the conceptus is wholly androgenetic, i.e. paternal, in origin (Parry et al., 2011). Notably, in the familial form of the disorder [OMIM: 231090], the molar tissues are not androgenetic but show a normal pattern of biparental diploid inheritance.

The familial biparental hydatidiform mole was shown to display a pure maternal-effect autosomal recessive inheritance (Van den Veyver and Al-Hussaini, 2006). Biallelic variants in *NLRP7* were identified (Murdoch et al., 2006) in patients suffering from this condition, and subsequent reports have confirmed the findings suggesting that pathological *NLRP7* variants are found in the majority of families with familial biparental hydatidiform mole (Hayward et al., 2009). Soon, a biallelic disruption of the second gene, *KHDC3L* [HGNC:33699], was implicated in the condition (Parry et al., 2011; Rezaei et al., 2016). Overall, about 55% of the cases are caused by variants in *NLRP7* and about 5% – in *KHDC3L* (Hammouda, 1964). Notably, both genes are members of the subcortical maternal complex, mentioned earlier.

Later, androgenetic complete hydatidiform moles with all chromosomes originating from a haploid sperm and no maternal chromosomes were associated with biallelic deleterious variants in *MEI1* [HGNC:28613], *C11orf80* [HGNC:26197], and *REC114*. All three genes play key roles in the formation of double-strand DNA breaks, which is essential for homologous chromosome synapsis and recombination during meiosis I (Nguyen et al., 2018). Strikingly, in one family biallelic *MEI1* variants were found in a male with azoospermia inherited from both parents (Nguyen et al., 2018). It transpires that there are more reports linking male infertility with the gene (Ben Khelifa et al., 2018; Krausz et al., 2020). This study also demonstrated that *Mei1*^{-/-} mice's oocytes extruded all the chromosomes into the polar body, explaining the fully androgenetic genome of the mole. The overall great work of Nguyen and

colleagues successfully unravels the genetic etiology of hydatidiform moles and miscarriage formation (Nguyen et al., 2018), and the further replication and functional studies are awaited.

If etiology of the hydatidiform mole remains unknown, the risk of recurrent molar pregnancy is around 1.5% after one molar pregnancy and around 25% after two molar pregnancies. Women presented with pathogenic variants in the *NLRP7*, *KHDC3L* or *PADI6* are unlikely to obtain normal pregnancies, with a major risk of reproductive failure (Cozette et al., 2020); and oocyte donation may be the option of choice.

1.1.9 Preterm birth

Birth at less than 37 weeks of gestation – important but poorly understood outcome of pregnancy – represents a major public health problem in the United States and worldwide (Chaudhari et al., 2008; Frey and Klebanoff, 2016). Determining the genotypes associated with PTB has been especially difficult due to the multifactorial contributors, heterogeneous phenotypes, and the involvement of two genomes (Chaudhari et al., 2008; Plunkett and Muglia, 2008).

Studies in humans of both familial aggregations and racial disparities in PTB have contributed to the understanding that heritability is evident in prematurity, a significant portion of which is due to polygenic causes with few monogenic contributions (Chaudhari et al., 2008; Porter et al., 1997; Winkvist et al., 1998). For example, Ehlers-Danlos Syndrome is a genetically heterogeneous connective tissue disorder associated with an increased risk of PTB and other pregnancy complications (Lind and Wallenburg, 2002; Murray et al., 2014; Sorokin et al., 1994). Although the overall contribution of the syndrome to the incidence of preterm birth is minimal, the existence of this predominantly autosomal dominant disorder demonstrates that genetic effects can significantly increase the risk of PTB (Chaudhari et al., 2008).

Few studies have found common DNA variations to be associated with PTB, but metaanalyses indicate that these are at best weak or population-specific (Pereza et al., 2017; H. Wu et al., 2017). Although common variants detectable by genome wide association studies (GWAS) typically explain only a minor proportion of the heritability of complex diseases (Asimit and Zeggini, 2010), GWAS can indicate genes having a substantial biological value in understanding the PTB (Brubaker et al., 2016).

Certain success in elucidating the genetic context of idiopathic non-syndromic PTB has been reached using genome wide association studies. Thus, genotyping a large cohort of preterm infants (< 36 weeks of gestation) of Finnish origin has revealed an association with the *SLIT2* [HGNC:11086] gene. Both SLIT2 and its receptor ROBO1 were shown to locate in villous and decidual trophoblasts of embryonic origin, and SLIT2-ROBO1 signaling was linked with regulation of genes involved in inflammation, pregnancy-specific glycoproteins, decidualization and fetal growth (Tiensuu et al., 2019). Unfortunately, even highly significant single nucleotide variants (SNVs) associated with prematurity often fail to replicate in independent cohorts (Brubaker et al., 2016), but usage of extremely large cohorts with the aid of the platforms like 23andMe can help (G. Zhang et al., 2017).

As seen, identification of genetic causes of PTB is rather burdensome and new scientific approaches are needed. Although the largest number of studies has focused on idiopathic PTB, this phenotype should be considered with caution, since PTB often encompasses cervical insufficiency, premature rupture of membranes, placental abruption, uterine overdistension, or a combination of these (Manuck, 2016). Therefore, extensive phenotyping and subgrouping of the patients based on their phenotype should precede any genetic study in order to identify more specific genetic markers.

1.1.10 Eugonadal disorders

Female reproductive system disorder classification based on serum gonadotropin levels and functional activity of the gonads implies two main groups: the hypogonadal disorders reviewed earlier, and much more common eugonadal disorders characterized by a normal estrogen state (Trofimova et al., 2017). Genetic association studies have shown certain common alleles that are linked to eugonadal disorders (e.g. endometriosis (Painter et al., 2011; Uno et al., 2010)), but these findings do not signify causation. The causation requires demonstration of gene variants impairing normal function, segregation with the disease phenotype, and *in vitro* evidence showing biological plausibility (Trofimova et al., 2017). Nevertheless, some genotype-phenotype correlations deserve to be acknowledged in connection with eugonadal conditions.

Polycystic ovary syndrome

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is one of the most common female endocrine disorders and a leading cause of female subfertility found in about 7% of women of reproductive age, and in about 40% of women who are struggling to conceive (Knochenhauer et al., 1998). The genetic basis of the condition is not well understood, but familial cases have been recognized. The most common biochemical abnormality associated with PCOS is hyperandrogenemia. Therefore, researchers have long been trying to analyze the number of genes involved in the androgen biosynthetic pathway for association or linkage with PCOS (Unluturk et al., 2007). Thus, in one study a linkage evidence was established with *FST* gene,

which encodes the protein inhibiting FSH release (Urbanek et al., 1999). Unfortunately, subsequent comprehensive studies conducted by the same authors did not replicate the initial findings (Urbanek et al., 2000).

Similarly, *CYP11A1* [HGNC:2590] and number of other cytochrome P450 family genes remain potential candidates for PCOS pathogenesis. Notably, few other genes from the same family e.g., *CYP21A2* [HGNC:2600] (OMIM: 201910), *CYP11B1* [HGNC:2591] (OMIM: 202010) are known to cause syndromic forms of female infertility due to congenital adrenal hyperplasia clinically associated with PCOS (Reichman et al., 2014). But further investigations are required to link these steroid biosynthesis gene variants to PCOS (Gaasenbeek et al., 2004; Unluturk et al., 2007; Witchel and Aston, 2000).

As infertility is one of the primary manifestations of PCOS, it is the most important factor limiting the availability of large pedigrees for linkage studies resulting in more negative than positive findings (please see the great review of Unluturk et al., 2007). Recently, a large-scale meta-analysis of GWAS covering more than 10'000 PCOS cases (with the 23andMe platform contributing to the study) demonstrated 14 genetic susceptibility loci associated with PCOS, 11 of which were replicated from previous studies being implicated in neuroendocrine, metabolic, and reproductive pathways and three completely new ones (SNVs next to *PLGRKT* [HGNC:23633], *ZBTB16* [HGNC:12930] and *MAPRE1* [HGNC:6890]) (Day et al., 2018). At this point, findings from such large genetic studies help to elucidate the pathophysiology of PCOS but cannot be used as diagnostic / prognostic markers for the disease.

Leiomyomata

Leiomyomata – benign smooth muscle tumors of the uterus (also known as fibroids) – is one of the most common diseases in gynecological practice. These tumors are clonal and somatic in origin with uncertain etiology. When fibroids occur in unusual locations in association with other phenotypic expressions, at least two Mendelian forms should be considered. Firstly, hereditary leiomyomatosis associated with renal cell cancer can be caused by autosomal dominant variants in *FH* [HGNC:3700] (Tomlinson et al., 2002). Secondly, Alport syndrome, caused by changes in genes coding the type IV collagen, characterized by glomerulonephritis, hearing loss, eye disease, and diffuse leiomyomatosis (Hansen et al., 2020; J. Zhou et al., 1993). However, *COL4A5* [HGNC:2207] and *COL4A6* [HGNC:2208] deletions were also implicated in the development of non-syndromic forms of leiomyosarcoma (B.J. et al., 2017). Additionally, it was shown that 75% of women with uterine fibroids had variants in the *MED12* (Mäkinen et al., 2011). Notably, germline variants in *MED12* [HGNC:11957] results in severe childhood X-linked recessive syndromes (OMIM:309520, 300895, 305450) without predisposition to fibroids.

Spontaneous ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome

Normally, ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome (OHSS) is an iatrogenic disorder resulting from the administration of exogenous gonadotropins for infertility treatment (Siegel et al., 2013). Although inactivating variants in *FSHR* are implicated in hypergonadotropic hypogonadism (Aittomaki et al., 1995), activating gene variants are now a well-described cause of the spontaneous familial forms of OHSS occurring during the first trimester of pregnancy (Montanelli et al., 2004; Smits et al., 2003; Vasseur et al., 2003). Impaired receptor displays promiscuous activation by both hCG and thyroid stimulating hormone explaining the clinical presentation of the condition.

Mullerian aplasia

Mullerian aplasia, also known as Mayer–Rokitansky–Küster–Hauser syndrome – the most severe uterine anomaly – presents with congenital absence of uterus and vagina and occurs in ~ 1:5000 women and in ~10% of women with primary amenorrhea (Reindollar et al., 1986). These patients display normal female karyotype and typically normal ovarian function with normal development of breasts and external genitalia. The condition is often syndromic, however, the genetic basis of it in human is largely unknown because the genetic transmission is difficult to ascertain, since affected families are often small and affected individuals are unable to have children unless they undergo surrogacy (Petrozza et al., 1997).

A strong candidate gene, most often implicated with the condition – *WNT4* [HGNC:12783], initially was found to account for ~10% of the cases (Philibert et al., 2008). However, the authors only performed targeted sequencing of the gene and did not perform parental DNA analysis to establish the inheritance pattern of the identified variant. Surrogacy results strongly suggest that congenital absence of the uterus and vagina is not inherited in a dominant fashion as shown by 17 born females without congenital anomalies from the oocytes of females with Mullerian duct aplasia (Petrozza et al., 1997).

A later replication study sequenced 100 probands with Mullerian aplasia and failed to reveal the evidence of deletions, small indels, or likely pathogenic variants in *WNT4*, as well as two other candidate genes, *HNF1B* [HGNC:11630] and *LHX1* [HGNC:6593] (Williams et al., 2017). In turn, the same group identified large CNVs in 19% of the patients, including 17q12 deletion – one of the most commonly identified CNVs in Mullerian aplasia, suggesting

that genes within this region play some role. Overall, the repetitive identification of few CNVs suggests their involvement, however, further work is needed to prove causation (Williams et al., 2017).

1.2 Genomic approaches to female reproductive failure

1.2.1 Historical insight

The oldest studies with an implication into the genetics of infertility in the scientific literature could be spotted already about a century ago. For example, X-rays were exploited to generate chromosomal aberrations and study the heritability of the so-called semi-sterility [in mice (Snell, 1933, 1941). Despite experiments using radiation on different animals to actually induce infertility, a group of clinicians applied X-rays to the pituitary and / or ovaries of more than 700 women with the intention to actually cure infertility (Kaplan, 1954). This study received extensive criticism by the geneticists, stating that such controversial application of radiation by a "genetically untrained obstetrician" would result in irreparable chromosomal and gene variants that would eventually induce hereditary changes, referring to the work of Nobel Prize geneticist H. J. Muller as follows "each newly mutated gene, no matter how small the detriment it occasions, eventually takes its toll in the form of making a major contribution to the extinction of the line of descent" (Rugh, 1955). In turn, this criticism was called a "genetic speculation" eventually resulting in hot debates in the "The Journal of obstetrics and gynaecology" (KAPLAN, 1956).

Notwithstanding the thorny path of genetics into different medical fields, major concepts of female infertility genetics compatible with the ones we know today, were formulated already in the middle of the twentieth century. It was known that reduced fertility may be the result of a faulty genetic constitution in the patient or the products of conception (zygote, embryo, or fetus) of a normal patient (J. R. Miller, 1965). Great investigations have been carried out to unravel the fertility issues caused by various errors in sex chromosomes, including Turner syndrome, chromosomal lesions and mosaicism (Harnden and Jacobs, 1961; McKusick, 1962). Spontaneous aneuploidies (Carr, 1963) or inherited from translocation carrier parents unbalanced chromosomal rearrangements in a fetus were uncovered to lead to a miscarriage (Boué et al., 1975). Even though certain genes were not known back then, the genetic origins of reduced fitness and fertility of syndromic and isolated nature caused by single gene defects and of various types of inheritance were also described (J. R. Miller, 1965).

1.2.2 Research based studies

Genetic linkage and association studies

Before the advent of unravelling the human genome and the development of high throughput technologies, family-based linkage studies allowed the identification of a locus of interest based on cosegregation of a chromosomal region with a certain trait within one or preferably several families (Monangi et al., 2015). Traditionally, individuals in extended family pedigrees would be genotyped with a set of genome-wide markers that would narrow the region of interest to approximately mega base size chromosomal region (Ott and Wang, 2011).

When the function of the majority of protein-coding genes and their pathway relationships were known, testing selected candidate genes for linkage and especially genetic associations became incredibly popular. For instance, Urbanek with colleagues tested 37 candidate gene variations in families with PCOS for linkage and associations, found a significant linkage with follistatin gene (Urbanek et al., 1999). Similarly, *LH* variants were associated with disturbed pituitary-gonadal function, menstrual disorders and female infertility (Liao et al., 1998; Ramanujam et al., 1998).

With the advancing of the genetic techniques, large GWAS, typically with a casecontrol design, were utilized to study complex diseases. GWAS approach involves rapid scanning of markers across the complete sets of DNA or even genomes of many people thus allowing to identify the genetic variations associated with a particular disease without initial hypothesis, and therefore offers the advantage to overcome difficulties imposed by the incomplete understanding of the disease pathophysiology (Monangi et al., 2015). For example, a GWAS using a high-density SNP-array in seven large Northern Finnish nonconsanguineous families, complemented with segregation analysis and supported by a followup case-control study, identified a locus on 15q26.3 containing the *IGF1R* [HGNC:5465] gene as a susceptibility marker for PTB (Haataja et al., 2011).

In general, the linkage approach had proven useful with single gene disorders, but not complex traits (Altmüller et al., 2001). In addition to limited resolution, GWAS approach is very sensitive to locus heterogeneity – a major drawback with complex traits. Genetic implications revealed through association studies are typically very weak, but while they may not explain much of the risk, they can provide a significant insight into genes and pathways that can be important. Additionally, the interpretation of association findings in pregnancy related phenotypes is particularly precarious – the correlation between fetal and maternal genotypes makes it difficult to ascribe findings to either source unless both the mother and the infant are genotyped (Hill et al., 2011).

Gene expression profiling

Another general approach for identifying genes involved in a certain phenotype is gene expression profiling, which involves searching for differences between the gene expression in the patients' tissue of interest and control tissue. Resembling the natural path of DNA studies, candidate gene approach was also used to study gene expression. The early studies involved immunohistochemistry, allowing to assess gene expression at the protein level. Further expression differences on mRNA level were largely exploited. For example, dysregulation of anti-inflammatory cytokines in the human cervix was found to be involved in the pathogenesis of PTB (Dubicke et al., 2010).

While target gene approach is subjected to a bias, genome wide expression profiling promises to reveal objective transcriptomic landscape. Makieva with colleagues exploited genome wide RNA expression arrays to analyze cervical transcriptome signature in women experiencing preterm labor alone in comparison to women with premature prelabor rupture of fetal membranes (PPROM). They identified four novel proteins acting through modulation of gelatinases MMP2 and MMP9, which degrade collagens type I and III (the main constituents of the cervical extracellular matrix) and in this way potentially affect cervical remodeling eventually leading to PPROM (Makieva et al., 2017). Similarly, transcriptomic analyses revealed a unique expression signature for idiopathic spontaneous PTB distinct from controls who delivered prematurely due to infection. This finding included the upregulation of IGF binding proteins, supporting the role of aberrant IGF signaling in spontaneous PTB (Brockway et al., 2019). Another group were first to develop the transcriptome-wide approach for assessing embryo implantation competence based on low-input RNA sequencing, thus establishing the foundation for RNA-based diagnostic in IVF in the future (Groff et al., 2019).

In general, gene expression studies dissect the genetic and molecular mechanisms underlying various reproductive phenotypes and inspire further investigations toward the development of better diagnostic tactics and possibly targeted therapies.

Modern designs

The fact that some early methods have outlived themselves, also remaining gaps in the knowledge of the genetics of particular traits, has prompted more sophisticated and complex study designs success, which was mainly dictated by the following factors: precisely phenotyped patient cohort; thoroughly selected methodological package; usage of state-of-art bioinformatic tools and pipelines. In such a way even association studies acquire absolutely different sense. Example of such non-straightforward design is the research conducted by McElroy with colleagues while studying PTB. Initially, using WES, they identified novel variants shared between mother-daughter pairs experiencing PTB. Further, these genes were investigated for pathway aggregations. Genes from the enriched pathways were then surveyed for association in a larger number of nuclear families. As a result, they found statistically significant associations in three *CR1* [HGNC:2334] SNVs and revealed over-representation of rare variants in the complement / coagulation factor cascade (McElroy et al., 2013).

One successful and relatively simple approach in terms of identifying causative disease variants is based on genotyping consanguineous families. Consanguineous marriages significantly contribute to the manifestation of rare autosomal recessive disorders (J. R. Miller, 1965), including severe cases of reproductive phenotypes like sterility or repeated miscarriages. In cases of consanguinity, it is likely that disease-causing variant will lie within homozygosity stretches of the family members. Now, when the NGS approach has been widely available, these studies resulted in the discovery of a significant number of genes implicated in female infertility and are broadly described in this literature review.

1.2.3 Genetic testing in a diagnostic setting

Whilst research is free in terms of choosing approaches and methodologies, drafting conclusions and being responsible in front of a patient, the main tasks of genetic testing in a diagnostic setting should follow quite a steady path, respectively, elucidate the true genetic cause / risk of the disease clearly defining testing limitations; identify relatives having an increased risk of developing the condition; identify genetic diseases transmissible to offspring; identify specific subtypes of the condition suitable for tailored management if such exists; and the one especially applicable to human reproduction – optimize the usage of the ART.

Several recommendations have been established for genetic preconception carrier screening, including the ones in the frame of ART (Edwards et al., 2015), however, no guidelines or committee opinions are released regarding the genetic testing in female reproductive failure. Consequently, very few specific tests are routinely recommended to investigate the presence of chromosomal disorders or single-gene defects related to their clinical phenotypes (Cariati et al., 2019).

There is one publication addressing the common guidelines for the appropriate use of genetic tests in infertile couples. The committee has recommended karyotype analysis during the diagnostic workup of infertile women presenting with primary ovarian dysfunction or recurrent fetal loss; *FMR1* expansion testing during the diagnostic workup prior to the ART

of women with oligomenorrhea caused by POF or poor response to ovarian stimulation in ART cycles; *ANOS1* analysis in women with hypogonadotropic hypogonadism, and *CFTR* [HGNC:1884] screening since the prevalence of pathogenic *CFTR* variants in the general population is high (Foresta et al., 2002). While the authors worthily emphasize that genetic diagnosis and genetic counselling should always be part of an extensive evaluation of these patients, and basic clinical analysis should precede any genetic analysis, the recommendation for assessing karyotype and only three genes seems outdated in the light of an acquired knowledge during the last two decades after the initial work has been released, and there is an urgent need in establishing up to date guidelines for genetic testing in female infertility.

Despite the lack of attention to this important subject matter, there are some initiatives to establish genetic testing panels for conditions affecting female reproduction to be used in a clinical setting. For example, one group has developed a targeted NGS panel consisting of 87 genes related to both male and female infertility (Patel et al., 2018). The authors have covered conditions related to female reproductive failure like POF, PCOS, OHSS and thrombophilia-related pregnancy loss. Unfortunately, the gene selection process and especially gene-phenotype correlation assessment of the included genes is unavailable, but as seen in the gene list, the included genes cover syndromic and non-syndromic forms of infertility and for some of them causality link has not been unequivocally established.

Similarly, Strom with colleagues has established a female infertility test called Fertilome, which is available for purchase online. Authors claim that they have applied principles of clinical validity classification framework to rank the evidence linking the genes with the reproductive conditions, eventually coming up with a set of 46 variants across 32 genes increasing the risk of one or more of the following reproductive phenotypes – endometriosis, PCOS, POI, RPL, idiopathic infertility, and recurrent implantation failure (Strom, Northrop, and Beim 2019; Sartor 2019, date accessed 18.05.2020.). Again, how they got to the final list of genes and variants is not easily accessible information. Thus, it is difficult to evaluate the clinical utility of the panel, especially given the fact that the covered conditions are known to have complex etiologies.

While the authors state that from a clinical care perspective, such NGS tests have the ability to influence the key decisions in patient management (Patel et al., 2018), evidence for that is largely limited. Currently, decisions like early oocyte cryopreservation in case of POF or selection of a specific ovarian stimulation protocol in case of PCOS are mostly influenced by the clinical presentation of the condition. In contrast, Centogene, a reputable genetic testing company offers female infertility NGS based test consisting of eight genes, all with an established clinical relevance to infertility phenotypes ("Female Infertility Panel", date accessed 18.05.2020.): *BMP15*, *CYP21A2*, *FSHR*, *LHB*, *LHCGR*, *TUBB8*, *ZP1*, and *FMR1*.

Notwithstanding the unsettled state of genetic testing in female reproduction, there are several tests, which conquered its niche and are routinely applied during the female reproductive workup in a diagnostic setting. For example, karyotyping is used to assess chromosomal changes like Turner syndrome, or to distinguish Swyer syndrome in phenotypical females with 46,XY chromosomal composition, caused by gene defects and considered a disorder of sex development. Karyotyping currently is the only methodology applied to diagnose balanced karyotype changes, as structural autosomal aberrations may be found in about 5% of females with non-syndromic infertility (Gekas et al., 2001).

The next well-known test with an established position in female infertility is the assessment of CGG repeat expansion in *FMR1*. Triplet expansions are considered one of the most difficult genetic regions to analyze. Currently, within the diagnostic setting the *FMR1* CGG expansions are analyzed, using fragment size analysis function of capillary electrophoresis exploiting few commercially available kits or Southern blots for large expansions. However, technological advances are now pushed forward to allow triplet expansions to be analyzed, using NGS by adding special bioinformatic pipelines (Bahlo et al., 2018), thus allowing all-in-one test implementation in the future.

In many instances, there are female infertility cases associated with a variety of multisystem genetic syndromes e.g. galactosemia, mucopolysaccharidoses, myotonic dystrophy, aromatase deficiency, cystic fibrosis, hemochromatosis (Foresta et al., 2002). Normally, genetic testing in these patients is done primarily due to major expressions associated with the particular syndrome often in the pre-reproductive age (Harper et al., 2018). Syndromic forms of female infertility are beyond this work and are comprehensively summarized elsewhere (for reference please see Cariati et al., 2019).

Extended carrier screening

A separate niche in reproductive medicine is extended carrier screening, also known as preconception screening. The primary task of these tests is identification of genetic diseases transmissible to the offspring, thus allowing the couples who are planning to conceive to know their reproductive risk *a priori* (Cariati et al., 2019), and subsequently to change or adapt the ART algorithm. Furthermore, carrier screening can be applied to gamete donors. Abulí with colleagues developed an NGS-based panel covering 368 severe disorders in 200 genes.
The implementation of the screening in the clinical context has allowed to identify 56.3% carriers of at least one (likely) pathogenic variant in a gene responsible for Mendelian disease. Testing led to the exclusion of 1.7% of oocyte donors due to X-linked conditions and identification of 3% of preassigned donor-recipient matches with a high reproductive risk for transmitting a severe autosomal-recessive genetic condition to their offspring (Abulí et al., 2016), thus offering oocyte donation in a personalized manner. This perspective is becoming increasingly important, as a high number of women want to conceive in their thirties and forties (R. Rossetti et al., 2017), inevitably leading to a more frequent usage of the oocyte donation cycles. According to the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE) report, oocyte donation is used in up to 22% of ART cycles in some European countries (Kupka et al. 2016).

Preimplantation embryo genetic testing

The percent of women aged 15–49 who have ever used infertility services in the United States of America is 12.7%. Although the use of ART is still relatively rare compared to the potential demand, its use has almost doubled over the past decade – approximately 1.9% of all infants born in the US every year are conceived using ART (Singh, 2004). Since the birth of Louise Brown, the world's first 'test-tube baby' in 1978 (Steptoe and Edwards, 1978), ART have undergone significant technological and methodological improvement. Live birth rates using IVF alone range from 27% to 55%, depending on the patient age group and methodology used (Dahdouh et al., 2015). Unsuccessful treatment of infertility is one of the pitfalls in clinical reproduction.

One of the major breakthroughs in ART – preimplantation embryo genetic testing (PGT) is now routinely used to investigate the genetic make-up of embryos produced by IVF. Originally PGT was introduced to analyze embryos from the known carriers of monogenic disorders (PGT-M), but later evolved to screen a whole set of chromosomes as an embryo selection tool in hopes of increasing live birth rates per transfer (PGT-A) (Theobald et al., 2020).

Initially, PGT-A was performed, using fluorescent *in situ* hybridization on single blastomeres of a day-three embryo that allowed to assess a limited number of chromosomes, but eventually the predictive value of this test was acknowledged unacceptably low (P. N. Scriven and Bossuyt, 2010; Paul N. Scriven et al., 2010). Soon after, array comparative genomic hybridization allowing for a comprehensive chromosome screening was recognized as the gold standard of PGT-A (Greco et al., 2014; Z. Yang et al., 2014), while now this testing

is replaced by a widely accepted NGS technology (Fiorentino, Biricik, et al., 2014; Fiorentino, Bono, et al., 2014).

Personalized embryo transfer

Although embryonic aneuploidy is likely a major contributor to human implantation failure, the proportion of euploid embryos failing to implant is approximately 30% (Forman et al., 2013; Z. Yang et al., 2012), leaving this percentage as a black matter in regards of the solid genetic or other etiology. For the successful implantation, a genetically competent embryo has to be transferred to the utero (assessed by the PGT), and a competent and receptive endometrium has to allow for an embryo to implant. A number of research groups addressed the molecular signature of the competent endometrium. A study of Koot and colleagues, after analyzing women experiencing recurrent implantation failure (RIF) and healthy controls, claimed that endometrial gene expression signature can accurately predict implantation failure after IVF (Koot et al., 2016). Eventually, a commercially available test was developed to evaluate endometrial receptivity – the Endometrial Receptivity Analysis (ERA) patented by Igenomix.

Our group in the pilot study on embryo implantation failure also demonstrated that half of the patients with failed euploid embryo transfer *post-factum* showed nonreceptive endometrium assessed by the ERA test (Voložonoka et al., 2016). However, not all evidence confirms these positive findings, e.g. Cozzolino with colleagues failed to confirm that the ERA test can benefit RIF patients (Cozzolino et al., 2020).

The disadvantage of such testing is their invasive nature required to obtain endometrial tissue sample, precluding its use in a treatment cycle. Nevertheless, patients would benefit from a test of endometrial receptivity as a part of their initial investigations, in order to identify whether there is a significant endometrial factor, potentially affecting their chances of conceiving either spontaneously or by IVF (Koot et al., 2016).

Inherited susceptibility for venous thromboembolism

The incidence of venous thromboembolism (VTE) during pregnancy is approximately 0.6–1.7:1000 deliveries (Bates et al., 2012). A body of evidence has implicated inherited thrombophilia in adverse obstetrical events like intrauterine growth restriction, (recurrent) miscarriage, severe pre-eclampsia, and placental abruption (de Jong et al., 2014; Kupferminc et al., 1999; Middeldorp, 2011). Genetic testing of common gene variants associated with

inherited VTE is widely performed across reproduction specialists despite being controversial (McNamee et al., 2012).

A meta-analysis completed by Ziakas with colleagues demonstrated that factor V [HGNC:3542] "Leiden" variant F5(NM_000130.4):c.1601G > A (rs6025) and prothrombin [HGNC:3535] variant F2(NM_000506.5):c.*97G > A (rs1799963, commonly known as G20210A) were associated with certain risks of VTE in pregnancy (odds ratio 7.28 and 5.43 respectively) (Ziakas et al., 2015), suggesting that on clinical grounds, these findings imply that variant carriers may need to receive anticoagulation prophylaxis. Other case-control studies have shown only a modest association (odds ratios of 2 to 3), also demonstrating that the association is stronger for fetal deaths, such as stillbirths after 20 weeks of gestation, than for early losses (summarized in (Jeve and Davies, 2014)).

A consensus statement on general thrombophilia genetic screening claims that clinical management of VTE in infertility and obstetrics is not altered in patients with or without an inherited hypercoagulable state, therefore routine thrombophilia screening is not indicated (Ashraf et al., 2019). Especially because of a disadvantage associated with the high costs of testing (Jeve and Davies, 2014). The risk of VTE in pregnancy seems to be significantly elevated only in patients with a personal or family history of VTE (0.5–1.5% without history, 17% with history) (Rambaldi et al., 2014).

Similarly, the data is conflicting on hyperhomocysteinaemia as a risk factor for recurrent miscarriage. There is insufficient evidence to advise *MTHFR* [HGNC:7436] testing in reproduction, since the variant NM_005957.5:c.665C > T (rs1801133) had no association with VTE risk in pregnancy (Jeve and Davies, 2014; Ziakas et al., 2015). Importantly, a practice guideline released by American College of Medical Genetics states that there is lack of evidence for *MTHFR* polymorphism testing (Hickey et al., 2013).

Genetic testing of products of conception

Numerous approaches and methodologies are used for POC genetic testing, including the classical cytogenetic techniques (karyotyping, fluorescent *in situ* hybridization), PCR based methods and genomic techniques like array comparative genomic hybridization (aCGH) and NGS. All of them have limitations, e.g., prerequisite for a successful karyotyping is presence of viable choroidal tissues in the primary biological material (Lomax et al., 2000), but most importantly all methods can give misleading results when maternal cell contamination (MCC) in the sample is overlooked. MCC problem in POC testing is recognized in the laboratory practice (Jarrett et al., 2001; Shen et al., 2016), however, it still places a burden on analysis

interpretation and reporting, and specific protocols allowing to acknowledge and surpass the issue for all POC cases are not widely adopted as seen in the scientific literature.

1.3 Literature review: summary

As seen from the comprehensive overview of the genes involved in the development of female reproductive failure and methodologies used to address genetic causes, certain success has been achieved during the last decades in the deciphering molecular and genetic basis of this matter. Nevertheless, the usage of the existing knowledge in a clinical practice is still fragmented and cumbersome (Cariati et al., 2019). This perhaps could be explained with i) the explicitly broad and sometimes overlapping spectrum of reproductive phenotypes and their heterogeneity, ii) an array of existing genomic technologies and testing approaches, each of which is associated with different limitations and peculiarities. Therefore, the aim of this study included the development of reliable protocols exploiting advanced genomic technologies capable addressing certain phenotypes / stages of female reproduction and / or overcoming shortcomings of these technologies, and demonstration of their suitable application to a reallife clinical or research scenarios.

Thus, part of this work described in **Chapter 2** was devoted to the development of multifactor preimplantation embryo testing protocol where a performance comparison of two whole genome amplification techniques for different downstream applications was demonstrated. Furthermore, we addressed the existing problem of MCC in genetic testing of products of conception – **Chapter 3** of this thesis was devoted to the development of MCC assessment protocol and to the formulation of recommendations addressing the entire workflow of POC samples handling from preanalytical, through the analytical stages.

Lastly, in **Chapter 4** we attempted to comprehensively elucidate the genetic landscape of non-syndromic cervical insufficiency using NGS since the etiology of this complex phenotype is largely missing.

2 Performance comparison of two whole genome amplification techniques in frame of multifactor preimplantation genetic testing

Published as:

Ludmila Volozonoka^{1,2,a}, Dmitry Perminov^{2,3,a}, Liene Korņejeva², Baiba Alkšere², Natālija Novikova⁴, Evija Jokste Pīmane², Arita Blumberga², Inga Kempa¹, Anna Miskova⁵, Linda Gailīte¹, Violeta Fodina², 2020. Performance comparison of two whole genome amplification techniques in frame of multifactor preimplantation genetic testing. *Journal of assisted reproduction and genetics*, 35(8), 1457–1472. DOI: 10.1007/s10815-018-1187-4.

Affiliations:

- Scientific Laboratory of Molecular Genetics, Riga Stradins University, Dzirciema street 16, Riga, LV-1007, Latvia
- 2) Centre of Genetics, IVF Riga Reproductive Genetics Clinic, Riga, LV-1010, Latvia
- 3) Department of Molecular Biology, Gulbja Laboratory, Riga, LV-1006, Latvia
- 4) Faculty of Medicine, University of Latvia, Riga, LV-1586, Latvia
- Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Rīga Stradiņš University, Riga, LV-1007, Latvia
- ^a Ludmila Volozonoka and Dmitry Perminov should be regarded as joint first authors.

Personal input:

My personal input into this work includes the design of the embryo testing protocols, selection of the methodologies to be used for the testing, hands-on testing of three families out of nine, data interpretation, comparison of the two whole genome amplification techniques, writing the original draft of the manuscript. Please see supplementary files for the signed forms from all the co-authors to use this manuscript for my thesis (Supplement 3).

2.1 Abstract

Purpose

To compare multiple displacement amplification and OmniPlex whole genome amplification techniques performance during aCGH, Sanger Sequencing, SNaPshot and fragment size analysis downstream applications in the frame of multifactor embryo preimplantation genetic testing

40

Methods

Pre-clinical workup included linked short tandem repeats (STR) marker selection and primer design for loci of interest. It was followed by family haplotyping, after which *in vitro* fertilization preimplantation genetic testing (IVF-PGT) cycle was carried out. A total of 62 embryos were retrieved from nine couples with confirmed single gene disorder being transmitted in their family with various inheritance traits – autosomal dominant (genes – *ACTA2*, *HTT*, *KRT14*), autosomal recessive (genes – *ALOX12B*, *TPP1*, *GLB1*) and X-linked (genes – *MTM1*, *DMD*). Whole genome amplification (WGA) for the day five embryo trophectoderm single biopsies was carried out by multiple displacement amplification (MDA) or polymerase chain reaction (PCR) based technology OmniPlex and was used for direct (Sanger sequencing, fragment size analysis, SNaPshot) and indirect mutation assessment (STR marker haplotyping), and embryo aneuploidy testing by array comparative genome hybridisation (aCGH).

Results

Family haplotyping revealed informative / semi-informative microsatellite markers for all clinical cases and all types of inheritance. Indirect testing gave a persuasive conclusion for all embryos assessed, which was confirmed through direct testing. Overall allele dropout (ADO) rate was higher for PCR based WGA; MDA showed better genomic recovery scale. Five euploid embryos were subjected to elective single embryo transfer (eSET), which resulted in four clinical pregnancies and a birth of two healthy children, proved free of disease causative variants running in family postnatally.

Conclusions

The developed multifactor PGT protocol can be adapted and applied to virtually any genetic condition and is capable of improving single gene disorder preimplantation genetic testing in patient tailored manner, thus increasing pregnancy rates, saving costs and patient reliability.

Keywords

Embryo, preimplantation genetic testing, single gene disorder, aneuploidy, whole genome amplification

2.2 Introduction

Preimplantation genetic testing (PGT) is an alternative to prenatal testing for couples being at risk of transmitting a genetic disorder to their offspring. PGT allows exclusion of affected embryos before a clinical pregnancy has been established thus avoiding invasive prenatal testing and elective termination of pregnancy due to a prenatally confirmed diagnosis. The material for PGT can be collected from day three or day five of a developing embryo before its transfer to the uterus. The process initially requires ovarian controlled hyperstimulation, oocyte retrieval and subsequent oocyte in vitro fertilization (IVF), most commonly by intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI), followed by embryo cultivation until the desired stage of development and a biopsy procedure (Bick and Lau, 2006). Depending on a protocol, PGT can be done with or without embryo vitrification for the time of testing. Only the embryos proved free of the disease-causing variant under consideration are subsequently transferred into the uterine cavity.

The success of the whole procedure depends mostly on competence and appropriate collaboration of a multidisciplinary team consisting of clinical geneticist, reproductologist, gynaecologist, embryologist and molecular geneticist, and are achieved through safety and accuracy, improving genetic and reproductive medicine practices (Dahdouh et al., 2015). PGT is currently performed for single gene disorders (SGD), late onset disorders with genetic predisposition, chromosomal disorders, including aneuploidy and structural rearrangements, and HLA (human leukocyte antigen) typing to improve the access to HLA matched stem cell transplantation (Samuel et al., 2009).

The history of PGT backs to 1989, when A. Handyside performed the first preimplantation genetic diagnostic (PGD) cases, detecting Y chromosome specific region with PCR in case of X-linked adrenoleukodystrophy and X-linked mental retardation (A. H. Handyside et al., 1991). Now defining embryo gender is known as sexing and can complement the genetic testing of monogenic disorders linked to the sex chromosomes.

With time, PGT underwent significant methodological and approach changes, starting from polar body testing and blastomere analysis until now adapted trophectoderm biopsy with subsequent blastocyst freezing (Renwick et al., 2006). The analysis of more than a single cell leads to a more robust downstream molecular investigation, which sets among the reasons the blastocyst stage biopsy strategy (Cimadomo et al., 2016). Molecular genetic testing developed from the single loci direct PCR to the sophisticated single cell whole genome amplification (Fiorentino, 2012). Embryo haplotyping offers a more generic approach to preimplantation diagnosis, and is especially useful for diseases with a wide spectrum of causative variants, such as cystic fibrosis and Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Renwick et al., 2006).

Despite technological improvements, the development of PGT protocols is challenging and prone to amplification failure, DNA contamination and ADO – a phenomenon common to all single-cell based PCR tests, thus affecting the reliability of the test. The ADO can be defined as amplification failure affecting only one of the parental alleles. ADO's incidence varies, but in extreme cases has affected up to 20% of amplifications and in the past has led to several misdiagnoses (Capalbo et at. 2016). The causes of misdiagnosis include a swap of samples, transfer of the wrong embryo, maternal or paternal contamination, ADO, use of inappropriate probes or primers, probe or primer failure and chromosomal mosaicism (Harton et al., 2011).

ADO rates should be as low as possible, preferably, less than 10%. Higher ADO rates can be tolerated when dealing with WGA-based protocols and autosomal recessive diseases, compared to autosomal dominant or compound heterozygous cases. However, in such cases, an increased number of linked markers have to be used (Harton et al., 2011).

Choosing the WGA type is also challenging due to difficulties in interpretation of downstream applications like short tandem repeat (STR) marker sizing with fluorescent polymerase chain reaction (fPCR) or array comparative genomic hybridization (Rechitsky et al., 2015). At the moment, several WGA technologies exist (Zheng et al., 2011) e.g. PCR based approaches like degenerate oligonucleotide primer (DOP) (Telenius et al., 1992) or primer extension (PEP) PCR technology (L. Zhang et al., 1992). Leading positions are taken by OmniPlex linear WGA (S. U. Chen et al., 2008; Uda et al., 2007) technology developed by Rubicon Genomics and multiple displacement isothermal synthesis by Phi-29 polymerase approach (Alan H. Handyside et al., 2004). Both of them have advantages and disadvantages. The use of *Taq* DNA polymerase in PCR based approaches limits the fragment lengths to 3 kb. Phi-29 polymerase used for MDA generates DNA fragments up to 100 kb and has a $3' \rightarrow 5'$ exonuclease proofreading activity. Often it is not clear which technology could be prioritized in custom designed protocols (Zheng et al., 2011).

Better PGT results are now achieved through combining direct and indirect testing, using platforms like Karyomapping (Alan H. Handyside et al., 2010) for genome wide linkage analysis or turning to next generation sequencing (NGS) protocols (Fiorentino, Biricik, et al., 2014). However, current studies still highlight clinically important limitations in the reliability of the technologies, e.g. using Karyomapping ~14% of embryos are expected to remain without a conclusive result (Konstantinidis et al., 2015). NGS has the potential power to increase throughput and evaluate multiple genetic loci in parallel, but it is also well known for sequencing artefacts, which may complicate its application to PGD (Treff et al., 2013). As well as costs are still quite high especially for a limited sample amount.

Regardless of the fact that PGT is recognized for its benefits, it is still relatively unregulated and lacks standardization compared with other forms of diagnostic testing (Harton et al., 2011). It is partially because PGD lies at the intersection of two technologies with a confusing regulatory status: assisted reproduction and genetic testing (Neri-Castracane, 2015). It is admitted that robust PGT test should be able not only to distinguish between a normal and affected embryo, but also to highlight all the unexpected events that may happen during meiosis, fertilization or PGD experimental procedure, and thus it should detect recombination, monosomy or trisomy and therefore diagnose abnormal embryos, detect ADO and contamination (Kieffer et al., 2016). In case of adverse misdiagnosis, lessons can be very painful to patients and staff (Hellani et al., 2004; Wilton et al., 2009).

Despite the numerous advances, assisted reproductive technology (ART) live birth rates are still low, ranging from 27% to 55%, depending on the patient age group and methodology used (Dahdouh et al., 2015). Another step in reaching considerably good results for SGD-PGT is embryo aneuploidy exclusion since it is well known that preimplantation human embryos are prone to chromosome instability (Vanneste, Voet, Le Caignec, et al., 2009) and high aneuploidy rates (Kieffer et al., 2016; Vanneste, Voet, Melotte, et al., 2009). Early results show that combined PGD and PGS increase the patient chance of healthy childbirth (Marshall et al., 2015; Sermon, 2017).

Taking into account the aforementioned information, the aim of our study was to develop individualized effective and robust multifactor embryo testing protocol and to show the performance comparison of two WGA techniques in four different downstream applications – STR sizing, Sanger sequencing, aCGH and SNaPshot technology. We present our PGT experience for single gene diseases of autosomal dominant (genes: *ACTA2*, *HTT*, *KRT14*), autosomal recessive (genes: *ALOX12B*, *TPP1*, *GLB1*) and X-linked (genes: *MTM1*, *DMD*) types of inheritance.

2.3 Materials and methods

2.3.1 Cases processed

Nine couples (Table 2.1) with a confirmed particular single gene disease being transmitted in their family underwent counselling regarding the PGT procedure, ovarian stimulation, oocyte aspiration and IVF at the single centre of infertility and reproductive genetics, where all biological material samples were collected and processed.

Table 2.1

description
T cases
PC
Processed

PGD case	Disease	Gene	Type	Mutation(s) assessed	Female partner	Male partner	Family members analyzed
			of inheritance		age	age	to establish linkage
HTT-case	Huntington Disease (HD)	HTT	AD	CAG repeat expansion	34	29	Carrier female partner, her affected father and healthy mother, a healthy male partner
ACTA2-case	Familial Thoracic Aortic Aneurysm and Dissection	ACTA2	AD	c.635G > A	32	32	Affected male partner, his affected mother and brother, healthy father, healthy female partner
KRT14-case	Epidermolysis Bullosa Simplex	KRT14	AD	c.374G > A	30	31	Affected male partner, healthy female partner, their affected child
TPP1-case	Classic Late Infantile Neuronal Ceroid Lipofuscinosis	IddL	AR	c.622C > T	38	37	Carrier female and male partners, their affected child
ALOX12B-case	Nonbullous Congenital Ichthyosiform Erythroderma	ALOX12B	AR	c.883G > C; c.1790C > A	35	32	Carrier female and male partners, their affected child
DMD-case1	Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (family 1)	DMD	X-linked	Duplication of exons 45–47 and 51–52	39	35	Carrier female partner, healthy male partner, their affected son, and carrier daughter
DMD-case2	Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (family 2)	DMD	X-linked	c.6420del	33	31	Carrier female partner, her affected and healthy brothers, a healthy male partner

Table 2.1 continued

se	Disease	Gene	Type of inheritance	Mutation(s) assessed	Female partner age	Male partner age	Family members analyzed to establish linkage
Myo	tubular Myopathy	IMTMI	X-linked	c.70C > T	34	35	Carrier female partner, her healthy sister, her carrier mother and healthy father, healthy male partner, their affected child
GM	1 Gangliosidosis	GLBI	AR	c.1768C > T; c.833delG	36	38	Carrier female and male partners, their affected child
Ι		Ι	I	Average	34.4 ± 2.8	32.8 ± 2.5	I

2.3.2 Compliance with Ethical Standards

The study is in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki ethical principles. All patients considered for PGT underwent genetic counselling. Procedures and manipulations needed for the embryo genetic testing were explained in detail and signed informed consent was obtained, study protocol was approved by local Ethical Community. PGD is recognized as "an established procedure with specific and expanding applications for standard clinical practice" by the Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine and the Practice Committee of the Society for Assisted Reproductive Technology (2006). No research was conducted on the embryos. All genetic conditions, for which PGT was performed, are approved by HFEA (Human Fertilization and Embryology Act) as suitable for genetic testing in preimplantation embryos.

2.3.3 Pre-clinical work-up

Before processing a clinical case, a work-up was carried out to prepare each PGT case. Linked microsatellites adjacent to the gene of interest (within ~2Mb upstream and downstream from mutation locus) were located through the University of California Santa Cruz (UCSC) genome browser (https://genome-preview.ucsc.edu/index.html). For all loci (disease causative variant site and STR markers), semi-nested primers for two round multiplex fPCR (inner primer was fluorescently tagged with 6-FAM of HEX fluorophores at 5'end) were designed using the "Primer-BLAST" to ensure specificity (Ye et al., 2012), following good practice guidelines (Hellani et al., 2004). Primer dimers and primer-amplicon secondary structure formation was checked using OligoAnalyzer 3.1 online software tool (Owczarzy et al., 2008).

DNA obtained from the peripheral venous blood of a couple seeking PGD and other family members (usually three to five individuals) was isolated using a standard procedure (Qiagen). Family haplotypes flanking the locus of interest were assessed. STR marker informativeness was evaluated as follows: fully informative (three or four different paternal and maternal alleles, depending on the type of inheritance, both disease causative and healthy, are distinguishable). Semi-informative (one or two different alleles can be distinguished and assigned to the normal or disease causative haplotype), and not-informative (origin of the allele or their assignment to the haplotype cannot be distinguished) (Harton et al., 2011).

When PCR linkage analysis was performed for a family, 6-13 (8.1 ± 2.5) informative or semi-informative STR markers (Table 2.2.) were included in the following PGT cycle for embryo analysis. STR marker informativeness rate was 53%. For autosomal recessive disorders, a significantly higher STR amount contributed to overall assay informativeness rate:

13/15 and 10/15 compared to autosomal dominant or X – linked conditions i.e., 7/17, 6/13 informative markers (please refer to Table 2.2). Disease causative variant confirmation in family members was carried out via Sanger sequencing for single nucleotide variation (SNV) or by fragment size analysis for trinucleotide repeat expansion.

Table 2.2

PGD results

	result	/ non-	n (post-	ry		_	1		_			/ non-	n (post-	ry			ronniar		natal		alysis),	tailed	
	Overall PGT	eSET - > health:	carrier baby bori	natal confirmato	analysis)	CET ~ alinia		pregnancy	CET > dimine		pregnancy	eSET - > health:	carrier baby bori	natal confirmato	analysis)		aCET < haalth	$\frac{1}{1-1} = \frac{1}{1-1} = \frac{1}{1-1}$	baby born (post-	indirect linkage	confirmatory and	second eSET->	•
	aCHG result		1 aneuploid,	1 euploid	I	1 analoid	4 cupioiu, 1 anomaloid	ı alleupiolu		Euploid	1		Emploid	rupion					- - -	5 euploid,	4 aneuploid		
	aCGH performed	Performed for	2 embryos scored	highest according	to ES algorithm	Performed for all	mutation free	embryos	Performed for only	one mutation free	embryo	Performed for one	embryo scored	highest according	to ES algorithm	PGD by aCGH	performed initially	when the	molecular analysis	was unavailable.	later all stored		W CA Wele
Mutation	free embryo amount		6.085	0, 0.02			5; 0.55			1; 0.33			2.017	2 , 0.17						4: 0.44			
Carrier	embryo amount		NA				NA			1; 0.33			7.058	, , , , ,						1:0.11			
Affortod	embryo amount		1.014	1, 0.14			4; 0.44			1; 0.33			3.0.75	0, 0.40						4: 1.5			
	Embryos analyzed		2	_			6			3			10	71						6	\ \		
STR	informativeness rate		146				0.39			0.67			787	10.0						0.52			
STS markers	tested / informative markers		13/6				18/7			15/10			15/13							21/11			
	Case		HTT-case	~~~~ T T T			ACTA2-case			TPP1-case			ALOX12B-	case						DMD-case1			

Table 2.2 continued

Case	STS markers tested / informative markers	STR informativeness rate	Embryos analyzed	Affected embryo amount	Carrier embryo amount	Mutation free embryo amount	aCGH performed	aCHG result	Overall PGT result
DMD-case2	16/7	0.44	17	3; 0.18	5; 0.29	9; 0.52	Performed for 9 mutation free embryos	6 euploid, 3 aneuploid	Waiting for eSET
GLB1-case	15/8	0.53	5	0; 0	4; 0.8	1; 0.2	Performed for all 5 embryos	2 euploid, 3 aneuploid	Waiting for eSET (carrier embryo)
MTM1-case	14/7	0.50	No oocytes	were succe	essfully fert	ilized			
KRT14-case	17/7	0.41	Ovary stim	ulation still	to be perfc	ormed			
I	Average:	0.53	9.5						

* ES – EmbryoScope time-lapse incubator. eSET – elective single embryo transfer.

2.3.4 IVF and embryo biopsy

Oocyte cumulus complexes (COC) were retrieved by a needle transvaginal aspiration procedure. All oocytes were fertilized through intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) and placed in a time-lapse incubator (Embryoscope, Vitrolife, UK). Fertilization was acknowledged as successful if two pronuclei (PN) were observed on the next day after ICSI. Embryos were incubated until the day-five blastocyst stage. Embryo development rate was scored based on a time-lapse system monitoring algorithm (Milewski et al., 2015). Through natural selection, the average 5th day survival rate was 70%. In total 62 embryos were subjected to PGT (Table 2.3). Embryo biopsies were made using laser assisted micromanipulator (Narishige, Japan). From each embryo 1–8 trophectodermal cells were taken from the outer layer of the blastocyst. Biopsied cells were washed in 1x phosphate buffer saline (PBS) buffer (Cell Signaling Technologies, USA) drops to reduce the risk of contamination, subsequently placed in 0.2 ml tubes within a 2.0 μ l of 1% polyvinylpyrrolidone (FertiPro, Belgium) 1× PBS buffer, and frozen immediately, each blastocyst culture media contamination control was collected as well. Biopsied embryos were vitrified.

2.3.5 Performance of clinical cases

As the first step for all embryo biopsies, WGA was carried out. For one part of the embryos, WGA was done by MDA technology (SureMDA, Illumina, USA), the rest were carried out by OmniPlex linear WGA technology (SurePlex, Illumina, USA) (Table 2.4). An aliquot of WGA product from each sample was used to carry out different downstream tests.

Case	COC retrieved	Performed ICSI	Oocytes fertilized (day 1 assessment)	Successfully fertilized oocytes*	Fertilization rate**	Embryos biopsied	5 th day survival rate***
<i>HTT</i> -case	16 COC (3 GV, 1 MI, 12 MII)	13	1 deg, 2×0PN, 10×2PN	10	0.77	7×2PN	0.70
ACTA2-case	18 (1 empty ZP, 1 MI, 16 MII)	17	4 deg, 2×0PN, 11×2PN	11	0.65	9×2PN	0.82
TPP1-case	8 COC (2 GV, 6 MII)	6	1 deg, 1×1PN, 1×3PN, 3×2PN	4	0.67	3×2PN	0.75
ALOX12B-case (two	15 COC (1 empty ZP, 2 atretic, 3 GV, 1 MI, 8 MII)	6	2 deg, 1×0PN, 2×3PN, 3×2PN	5	0.56	2×2PN, 1×3PN	0.6
stimulations)	16 COC (2 empty ZP, 2 GV, 2 MI, 10 MII)	12	2 deg, 1×1PN, 9×2PN	6	0.75	9×2PN	1.0
DMD-case1	18 COC (1 empty ZP, 1 MI, 16 MII)	17	4 deg, 2×0PN, 11×2PN	11	0.65	9×2PN	0.82
DMD-case2	22 COC (2 empty ZP, 2 GV, 18 MII)	18	1×1PN, 17×2PN	17	0.94	16×2PN, 1×1PN	1.00
OUTM1-case (turo	5 COC (1 GV, 4 MII)	4	3×0 PN, 1×1 PN	0	0.00	NA	NA
stimulations)	10 COC (2 ZP, 1 MI, 7 MII)	8	2 deg, 4×0PN, 2×3PN	2	0.25	0	0.00
GLB1-case	15 COC (1 ZP, 14MII)	14	2×0PN, 2×1PN, 1×3PN, 9×2PN	10	0.71	5×2PN	0.5
Ι	Average	11.6 ± 5.1	-	7.67 ± 5.34	0.58 ± 0.29	7.13 ± 5.25	0.71 ± 0.32
I		I	1	Ι	Total:	57.0	1

Embryological data of processed cases

* COC – cumulus oocyte complex; ZP – zona pellucida, GV – germinal vesicle stage oocyte; MI – meiosis I stage oocyte; MI – meiosis II stage oocyte; deg – degraded oocyte. *Successfully fertilized oocytes are the ones having two or three pronuclei. **Fertilization rate is calculated dividing day one embryos showing two or three pronuclei (PN) with the total amount of ICSI performed. ***Fifth day survival rate is calculated dividing day five embryos by successfully fertilized embryos.

Table 2.3

						-				
Case	Sang	ger sequencing	Snap	Shot analysis	S	FR analysis	STR ADO* (%)		aCGH analysis	Total embryos analysed
HTT-case	Ι				7 MD/	A	4,5	2 MI	A	7 MDA
ACTA2-case	4 MD.	A; 5 OmniPlex			4 MD/	A; 5 OmniPlex	1,5	3 M	DA; 2 OmniPlex	4 MDA; 5 OmniPlex
TPP1-case	3 MD.	A			3 MD/	A	1,4	1 MI	A	3 MDA
ALOX12B-case	12 MI	Ad	12 MI	A	12 ML	A	2,8	2 MI	A	12 MDA
DMD-case1			I		9 Omr	niPlex	13,3	9 On	miPlex	9 OmniPlex
DMD-case2	8 MD.	A; 9 OmniPlex	8 MD. Omnil	A; 9 Plex	8 MD/	A; 9 OmniPlex	4,7	3 MI	DA; 5 OmniPlex	8 MDA; 9 OmniPlex
GLB1-case	5 MD.	A			5 MD/	A	2.0	5 MI	A	5 MDA
Donated WGA material	I		11 On	nniPlex	I			11 0	mniPlex	11 OmniPlex
MDA:	32	1x ADO for TPP-case. Partial ADO detected.	20	Consistent results	39	Clear Electropherogra mms	2.98	17	Noisy profiles, resolution: full chromosomes, ~30% of samples have to be reanalysed	39
OmniPlex:	14	Partial ADO detected.	20	Failed reaction or inconsistent result for > 60% of cases	23 02	Electropherogra mms overrepresented with stutter peaks	6.5	27	Clear profiles, resolution: ~5Mb	34
TOTAL:	46	Ι	40	Ι	62	Ι	Average 4.74	44	I	73

WGA techniques comparison

* *STR ADO rate was calculated by dividing homozygous genotypes when heterozygous (Hz) was expected to all expected Hz loci. Calculations were made for individual cases and separately for both WGA types.

Table 2.4

Embryo haplogroup analysis was carried out assessing the informative markers found in the linkage step. The following two round (nested) PCR conditions were used: 8.2µl of Type IT master-mix (Qiagen, USA), 0.32µl of 0.2 µM forward (outer-forward for first stage of heminested PCR and inner-forward primer for second round of PCR; synthesized by Bioneer, China) and 0.2 µM reverse primer (same for both PCR steps), 6.8µl of ddH2O and 0.62µl of WGA product. Cycling conditions: initial denaturation 5min in 95°C, followed by 28 (1st round PCR) or 22 (2nd round PCR) cycles of 30s in 95°C, 1min30s in 60°C, 30s in 72°C, and final extension 10min in 72°C. Amplified products were run on agarose gel electrophoresis to detect PCR product. Amplicon detection was performed by capillary electrophoresis (ABI Prism 3500 DNA Analyzer; Applied Biosystems, USA). Allele sizing was carried out using GeneMapper v.4.0 software (Applied Biosystems).

Direct mutation analysis for SNVs was carried out by standard Sanger sequencing protocol (Sambrook and W Russell, 2001) or SNaPshot technology (Applied Biosystems, USA). *HTT* gene (OMIM# 613004) CAG repeat expansion (RCV000030659, HGVS nomenclature – NM_002111.6(HTT):c.53_55[(41_?)] (p.Gln40(41_?)) was detected by capillary electrophoresis using the same protocol as for STR marker loci amplification.

Embryo chromosome analysis was performed following the manufacturers' (24Sure, Illumina, USA) protocol for aCGH, shortly: WGA product was fluorescently labelled by nick-translation method with Cy3 and Cy5 fluorophores, the sample and reference DNA was hybridized on BAC array microchips, microchip glasses were washed and scanned with InnoScan (Inopsys, France) scanner. Tiff images were imported into the BlueFuse Multi V4.0 software (standard settings), the resulting copy number karyotypes were assessed. The given methodology detects unbalanced chromosomal material changes and polyploidy if sex chromosomes are represented by at least one X and Y chromosomes.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Embryo PGT analysis

For all 62 embryo biopsies WGA amplification performed either by SureMDA or SurePlex kit (Table 2.4) was successful and eventually with a conclusive result (Table 2.2, Figure 2.1 and Supplementary Figures 2.1–2.6 for the pedigrees). Additional 11 OmniPlex samples were donated for research. In the case of *MTM1* gene testing after two stimulation cycles, none of the oocytes underwent successful fertilization. *KRT14*-case family underwent only linkage analysis and now are preparing for the follicular stimulation.



Figure 2.1 Pedigrees

TPP1-case and DMD-case-1 pedigrees showing family members participating in haplotype establishment and all embryos analyzed, gender is shown only for X-linked condition. Red bars represent disease variant loci. Black crosses indicate recombination events. In blue variant free haplotypes are indicated. In red variant haplotypes are indicated. ADO – allelic drop out.

A portion of each embryo WGA product was used for haplotyping of informative or semi-informative markers detected by initial family linkage analysis. The overall ADO rate was 4.74% (Table 2.4), exceeding the 5% cut-off only in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (*DMD*) case-1, where WGA product generated by OmniPlex had lower quality due to the long-time storage and repeated freeze-thaw events. An aCGH for this *DMD*-case1 was performed firstly when haplotyping was unavailable (please refer to Table 2.2 and the corresponding pedigree).

In one case maternal uniparental disomy of tested locus was observed (*GLB1* e4, please see the pedigree). In three embryos, crossover events were detected through haplotyping. For *TPP*-case e5, the analysis was encumbered due to the proximity of the crossover site to the mutation site, making it impossible to exclude direct testing ADO and possible heterozygous embryo genotype. In all cases, crossover occurred next to the mutation locus, which complicates particular embryo analysis, but direct mutation analysis complemented the haplotyping results.

Direct mutation testing was done for all cases processed except for *DMD*-case1. For *HTT* gene's CAG triplet repeat sizing was performed by fPCR. Sanger sequencing and / or SNaPshot analysis was applied for SNV analysis, and in all cases direct disease causative variant testing complemented and matched the haplotyping results. In all cases, at least one embryo free of tested disease causative variant was detected.

In most cases, a portion of WGA product from mutation free embryos was subjected to aCGH analysis to exclude chromosomal aneuploidies. For *HTT*-case and *ALOX12B*-case, only some of the tested disease causative variant free embryos were subjected to a chromosome analysis due to financial reasons, in these cases only embryos, showing the best development scores according to the EmbryScope algorithm, were taken to analysis. In all cases, at least one euploid embryo was available (Table 2.2). Only embryos free of the disease causative variant assessed and euploid were rated as transferable.

Elective single euploid embryo transfers (eSET) in two cases resulted in the birth of healthy babies. Transfer of *TPP1* and *ACTA2* variant-free embryos resulted in progressing clinical pregnancies. For the first Duchene muscular dystrophy case initially only sexing for PGD by aCGH was performed and 46,XX embryo transfer resulted in a healthy carrier baby birth, only later all their embryos were haplotyped and second eSET resulted in failed embryo implantation. Another DMD family is preparing for eSET procedure. Three babies born after PGT underwent postnatal mutation assessment and preimplantation genetic testing results were confirmed.

2.4.2 Comparison of two different WGA techniques

To compare the two WGA methods one part of the biopsies was subjected to the MDA technique and the rest were amplified by OmniPex reagent kit (please refer to Table 2.4 for a detailed view). Typical MDA product pattern (smear) on 1,5% agarose gel is observable as bands at about 6–12 kb. On the contrary PCR based WGA results in much shorter products visible as smear appearing between 1kb and 100bp with the most prominent bands at around 500pb (Figure 2.2). Both types of WGA were subjected to all four downstream applications – Sanger sequencing, STR amplification and aCGH (Table 2.4).



Figure 2.2 WGA product agarose gel electrophoresis

Embryo trophectoderm biopsies WGA products are shown for DMD-case-2 embryos. The left panel represents WGA by OmniPlex kit; the right panel represents WGA amplification by MDA technology. NTC was amplified by STR and sequencing primers, no contamination was detected. Poor amplification of e12 did not affect haplotyping results. M – allelic ladder, NTC – no template control.

Our results show that both WGA methodologies result in partial ADO when Sanger sequencing is performed (Figure 2.3). Poor amplification of disease causative allele can be distinguishable as a low-level electropherogram in otherwise clear profiles. One *TPP1*-case sample resulted in complete disease causative allele ADO even despite the hemi-nested amplification approach.



Figure 2.3 Sanger sequencing profiles of different WGA technologies

WGA for ACTA2-case embryo four (e4) performed by SurePlex amplification. Upper electropherogramm represents sequence gained by forward primer; lower panel represents reverse primer sequence. Red arrows mark partial allelic drop out of a disease-causing allele. Haplotype analysis of given embryo corresponds to heterozygous genotype. WGA for DMD case-two embryos (e12 and e13) performed by SureMDA amplification. Given electropherogramms represent sequences gained by forward primer. Red arrows mark partial ADO of mutated allele – one nucleotide deletion. The mutated allele is only detectable as weak background profile similar no noise. Haplotype analysis of given embryo corresponds to heterozygous genotype.

We were also interested in comparing both WGA when subjected to SNaPshot genotyping technology (Figure 2.4, supplementary figure 2.8), the MDA product resulted in comparable results to haplotyping and Sanger sequencing, all the genotypes matched, whereas OmniPlex product repeatedly did not produce any reliable profiles (not shown) in more than 60% of samples.

Α	В
e10 (SureMDA)	A
с та а а та с	
e12 (SureMDA)	A
C T A A A T A C	
	т
e15 (SureMDA)	7
СТААТАСА	

Figure 2.4 Comparison of STR sizing (A) and SNaPshot (B)

Results are shown for DMD case-two embryos variant locus (one nucleotide deletion). Whole genome amplification performed by the multiple displacement amplification (MDA) technique. Profiles completely match between the two technologies, partial allelic drop out is visible on both profiles for the heterozygous embryo (e12).

Due to the nature of two WGA types, they arise in completely different downstream STR amplification product sizing patterns performed on capillary electrophoresis (Figure 2.5, 6). Prominent false peaks arise due to polymerase slippage during OmniPlex amplification and subsequent preferential amplification of particular PCR products, making it possible to distinguish the true alleles from the false ones only by comparing them to parental genomic DNA samples run in parallel.



Figure 2.5 Embryo haplotype analysis

(A) D10S17390 STR marker sizing by capillary electrophoresis. Potential ADO in DXS1238 marker is indicated by arrow for SurePlex performed WGA. (B) Arrow indicates true maternal allele for SurePlex performed WGA whereas most prominent peaks are of artificial nature.



Figure 2.6 Comparison of two WGA techniques in downstream DXS8049 marker sizing

Rubicon Genomics technology has been proven to perform well in single cell aCGH amplifications resulting in clear flat profiles, which is true in our study as well. Whereas the MDA aCGH profile results in increased noise compared to OmniPlex WGA (Figure 2.7), therefore chromosome microarray analysis in such case is possible only for the whole chromosomes, but not the partial copy number variations.



Figure 2.7 Comparison of two WGA techniques in downstream aCGH analysis

2.5 Discussion

It is widely recognized that the development of preimplantation genetic testing protocols is time consuming, costly and laborious, because of the wide spectrum of technical complications and biology driven obstacles (Capalbo et al., 2016; Wilton et al., 2009). It is essential to remember that the interpretation of results may influence not only particular family wealth but in the long-term even wellbeing of the whole society, since PGT is a potential tool to cease out at least some genetic conditions.

Performance and outcome requirements for our approach were subjected to the following measures: the possibility to combine several technologies in order to distinguish a normal embryo from a carrier and an affected one; to distinguish possible contamination, loci / allelic drop out events and to perform embryo chromosome screening. It was relevant to get a conclusion on all embryos subjected to biopsy and avoid any additional embryo manipulations like repeated thawing and rebiopsy. Such a wide spectrum of requirements was set carefully taking into consideration all the previous historical obstacles of PGT. We aimed, first, to meet the highest safety standards and, secondly, to prioritize the purpose of achieving desired pregnancy in a personalized and customized manner saving patients' time and expenses, which was shown through a comprehensive comparison of two different WGA techniques.

In general, obtaining micrograms of DNA through WGA of day-five embryo biopsies allowed us to perform embryo haplotype analysis, aneuploidy screening by aCGH and direct mutation testing through SNaPshot, Sanger sequencing or fragment size analysis. As shown before direct variant locus testing boldly complements the indirect one (Kieffer et al., 2016; Mascarenhas et al., 2012), since crossover events cannot be completely ruled out and ignored, (Gueye et al., 2014) especially in the case of ADO, which was also true in our cohort. We designed hemi-nested primers for all assessed loci following the PGDIS guidelines for good practice in PGD (Hellani et al., 2004; Piyamongkol et al., 2003). We conclude that having as large as possible number of semi-informative and / or informative linked markers within a reasonable distance upstream and downstream from a gene is the best way to minimize the risk of misdiagnosis or no conclusive diagnosis for a particular embryo.

To our knowledge, our work is the first attempt in evaluating PicoPlex and MDA amplifiers performance across different downstream applications in the frame of embryo preimplantation genetic testing. Provided figures give insight in the understanding of both WGA methodologies applicability in different molecular techniques and assist in choosing the one when customizing particular SGD-PGT depending on the mutation type and the technical equipment of the laboratory.

Currently single / few cell WGA might be done with a wide array of amplification strategies (Börgstrom et al., 2017). We conclude that methodology choice depends on multiple factors like desired downstream application techniques as well as embryo amount. STR analysis efficacy including the possible ADO event detection depends mostly on particular genomic region nucleotide composition and can be improved through the PCR reaction condition optimization. MDA WGA product comparing to OmniPlex produces more heavy DNA strings thus exhibiting properties closer to genomic DNA and therefore electropherograms are much clearer. Our results are consistent with other group findings that per base error rate for MDA is at least two times lower comparing to PCR based approaches. In general MDA shows better genome recovery sensitivity as also concluded before (Hou et al., 2015) while allowing for more convenient genotyping. However, MDA results in significant amplification bias (De Bourcy et al., 2014), which contributed to the observed high aCGH noise levels. For a fullfledged analysis, we recommend the usage of both WGA techniques dividing embryo cohort if embryo amount is big enough. If the number of (semi)informative markers is low, it is favorable to use the MDA technique since this will result in a more robust SGD analysis. If STR marker informativeness is high enough, ADO will not drastically affect the result when detecting possible crossing over events, one might consider using OmniPlex since it gives more reliable aCGH profiles.

It is known that embryo aneuploidy and implantation potential is highly correlated with the biopsy stage. Cleavage stage embryo blastomere biopsy still represents the most commonly used method in Europe, although this approach has been shown to have a negative impact on embryo viability and implantation rates (Cimadomo et al., 2016; R. T. Scott et al., 2013). Therefore, day five biopsy is highly favorable. In our study trophectoderm biopsy performance was additionally complemented with the usage of time-lapse embryo imaging system, which aims not only in biopsy timing, but also can give a clue for the best choice of developing embryo for transfer through the assessment of embryo rating by time-lapse system algorithm when multiple embryos are SGD free and euploid.

Our experience with the preimplantation testing began with a lot of goals and aims that were expected from the clinical and molecular point of view. We tried to set up a diagnostic algorithm that would suit every case and be foolproof. It became apparent already with our first cases that the approach should be more patient tailored than universal, more based on close communication between the patient, clinical geneticist, reproductologist, embryologist, and molecular geneticists than on pure data analysis. Proper genetic counselling before planning a PGT case is crucial as the patient has to be acquainted with any potential pitfalls to give a fully informed consent for testing. The final strategy of molecular testing should be made after taking into consideration the available embryo amount and morphology, the type of disorder and family specifics and preferences. Although the main goal during monogenic disease preimplantation testing would always be the disease causative variant free embryo selection, we found it expedient to use aneuploidy testing besides the morphological embryo evaluation to determine the most suitable embryo for eSET, thus increasing the chance for a successful embryo implantation and development, saving extra efforts and costs. The final result will always depend on a lot of different factors - even after all embryo testing is done there is a possibility of failed implantation due to maternal age factor, endometrial receptivity problems and many more – this is why a multidisciplinary approach is a key to success for each family and thus community altogether.

2.6 Conclusions

Single blastocyst biopsy whole genome amplification ensures the possibility of multifactor preimplantation genetic testing without compromising embryo viability and in general a chance of achieving healthy pregnancy. A semi-nested direct and indirect testing system minimizes embryo misdiagnosis risk due to allelic drop out, non-specific amplification or contamination. 24-chromosome aneuploidy screening when performed concurrently with single gene disorder preimplantation embryo testing provides valuable information for embryo selection excluding leading failed embryo implantation cause and notably improving single embryo transfer rates thus saving time and money leading to higher pregnancy rates. The developed protocol can be further applied to customize PGT protocols for families seeking alternatives for prenatal testing.

2.7 Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Olga Sterna for the validation of the *HTT* gene expansion in embryo biopsies at Children's Clinical University Hospital, Clinic of Medical Genetics and Prenatal Diagnosis, and the "IVF Riga" clinic practitioners and nurses for the accomplishment of the reproductive part of the patient care.

2.8 Authors' Roles

LV and DP designed the research, performed the experiments, analysed the data, and wrote the paper; LK designed the research, analysed the data and wrote the paper; BA and NN performed the experiments and analysed the data; EJP and AB performed embryo cultivation and biopsies, AM, LP and IK discussed and revised the paper; VF revised the paper.

2.9 Funding

No external funding was either sought or obtained for this study.

2.10 Conflict of Interest

None declared.

2.11 Supplementary files



Supplementary figure 2.1 ACTA2 case



Supplementary figure 2.2 ALOX12B case



Supplementary figure 2.4 GLB1 case



Supplementary figure 2.5 HTT case



Supplementary figure 2.6 KRT14 case



Supplementary figure 2.7 MTM1 case



Supplementary figure 2.8 ALOX12B case SNaPshot electropherogram

3 Reducing misdiagnosis caused by maternal cell contamination in genetic testing for early pregnancy loss

Published as:

Ludmila Volozonoka¹, Linda Gailite¹, Dmitrijs Perminov², Liene Kornejeva³, Violeta Fodina³, Inga Kempa¹, and Anna Miskova⁴, 2020. Reducing misdiagnosis caused by maternal cell contamination in genetic testing for early pregnancy loss. *Systems Biology in Reproductive Medicine*, *66*(6), 410-420. doi: 10.1080/19396368.2020.1827081.

Affiliations:

- Scientific Laboratory of Molecular Genetics, Riga Stradins University, Dzirciema street 16, Riga, LV-1007, Latvia
- 2) Department of Molecular Biology, Gulbja Laboratory, Riga, LV-1006, Latvia Centre of Genetics, IVF Riga Reproductive Genetics Clinic, Riga, LV-1010, Latvia
- 3) Centre of Genetics, IVF Riga Reproductive Genetics Clinic, Riga, LV-1010, Latvia
- Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Rīga Stradiņš University, Riga, LV-1007, Latvia.

Personal input:

My personal input into this work includes study design, hands-on testing of all samples, data interpretation, writing the original draft of the manuscript. Please see supplementary files for the the signed forms from all the co-authors to use this manuscript for my thesis (Supplement 4).

3.1 Abstract

The analysis of products of conception (POC) is clinically important to establish the cause of early pregnancy loss. Data from such analyses can lead to specific interventions in subsequent natural or assisted conceptions. The techniques available to examine the chromosomal composition of POC have limitations and can give misleading results when maternal cell contamination (MCC) is overlooked. The aim of this study was to develop a protocol for MCC assessment and to formulate POC material handling, testing, and reporting recommendations. Using array comparative genomic hybridization, we tested 86 POC samples, of which 47 sample pairs (DNA extracted from the POC sample and maternal DNA) were assessed for the presence of MCC. MCC was evaluated using an approach we developed, which exploited the genotyping of 14 STR, *AMEL*, and *SRY* loci. POC samples showing the clear presence of villi (63.9%) did not contain any signs of the maternal genome and can therefore be reliably tested using conventional methods. The proportion of 46,XX karyotype

in the unselected sample batch was 0.39, which fell to 0.23 in visually good samples and was 0.27 in samples having no signs of contamination upon MCC testing. MCC assessment can rescue visually poor samples from being discarded or wrongly genotyped. We demonstrate here that classification based on visual POC material evaluation and MCC testing leads to predictable and reliable POC genetic testing outcomes. Our formulated recommendations covering POC material collection, transportation, primary and secondary processing, as well as the array of pertinent considerations discussed here, can be implemented by laboratories to improve their POC genetic testing practices. We anticipate our protocol for MCC assessment and recommendations will help reduce the misconception regarding the etiology of miscarried fetuses and foster informed decision-making by clinicians and patients dealing with early pregnancy loss.

Keywords

Miscarriage, maternal cell contamination, product of conception, genetic testing, aneuploidy, early pregnancy loss.

3.2 Introduction

Miscarriage is a traumatizing experience for the patient and places a burden on the practice of obstetrics and gynecology. The magnitude of miscarriage appears to be increasing, particularly in developed countries where the population is aging fairly rapidly and consequently the age of mothers at childbirth is rising (Heazell et al., 2018). Fetal chromosomal aberrations play the biggest role in the etiology of miscarriage. The majority of embryos with an aberrant karyotype decease during the first weeks of pregnancy (Davis et al., 2017; S. T. Romero et al., 2015). Specifically, 40–75% of fetuses aborted between 6 and 7 weeks of gestation have an abnormal karyotype, 20–25% aborted between 12 and 17 weeks, and only 2–7% aborted between 17 and 28 weeks (Agarkova, 2010).

The analysis of products of conception (POC) is clinically important to establish the cause of early pregnancy loss and choose specific interventions in subsequent natural or assisted conceptions. Various techniques are currently used to detect chromosomal aneuploidies and structural rearrangements in POC, including but not limited to karyotyping, quantitative fluorescent polymerase chain reaction, multiple ligation probe amplification, array comparative genomic hybridization (aCGH), single nucleotide polymorphism / variation (SNP) arrays, and next-generation sequencing. G-banding of chorionic villi metaphases is considered to be the gold standard in routine POC testing. However, its application is limited due to the quality and viability of chorion cells in the primary biological material. Molecular testing has overcome some of the disadvantages inherent to conventional cytogenetic techniques and can be used as a rescue molecular karyotyping (Lomax et al., 2000) if culture failure occurs or POC material is degraded.

All of the techniques examining POC chromosomal composition have drawbacks and especially can give misleading results when maternal DNA contamination (commonly referred to as maternal cell contamination (MCC)) is overlooked. POC degradation is not unusual given the fact that a missed abortion can go unnoticed for several days during which cell maceration has already started (De La Rochebrochard and Thonneau, 2002).

A bias towards an increased number of normal female karyotype reports in comparison to normal male karyotype reports has been noted (Bell et al., 1999; Jarrett et al., 2001; Lathi et al., 2014). However, not all laboratories fully address this important issue and its etiology (Nikitina et al., 2005). There are cases of possible misconception of a higher incidence of normal female karyotype results with the 69,XXX karyotype (Shen et al., 2016) when maternal DNA contamination was not considered.

While there are several factors possibly influencing the differing sex ratio in spontaneous abortions (Jarrett et al., 2001) like unrecognized 46,XX molar samples, maternal age at gestation, X-linked lethal mutations acting *in utero*, and sex chromosome-specific failure of chromosome preparation (Eiben et al., 1990; Hassold et al., 1983), studies have demonstrated that up to 59% of normal female karyotypes reported in POC testing are in fact cases of MCC, when contamination completely obscures the fetal material. The overall MCC rates of POC samples across different laboratories vary, but can occur in as high as in 89.7% of cases (Jarrett et al., 2001; Lathi et al., 2014; S. T. Romero et al., 2015), thus indicating different sample management and demonstrating that the general awareness of MCC in this context is limited and needs to be improved.

The recorded bias towards a higher number of 46,XX karyotype reports together with the existing problem of MCC in POC testing points to a limited awareness of the technical limitations and critical aspects of methodologies used for POC analysis. Crucially, this failing needs to be acknowledged by laboratory specialists and consulting physicians. Therefore, the aim of this study was to develop a protocol for MCC assessment and to formulate POC material handling, testing, and reporting recommendations.

3.3 Results and Discussion

3.3.1 Visual POC inspection and MCC genetic testing

POCs specimens are considered ones not containing any identifiable material from the *fetus proper* (e.g. cord, amnion), but rather consisting of villi, membranous material (Jarrett et al., 2001) and other tissues of unspecified origin. Visual inspection of the primary POC material (n = 86) resulted in the following observations: 55 were good quality samples, 19 compromised quality POCs with signs of tissue maceration, and 12 samples where no tissue with typical villous morphology could be detected – marked "no chorion". Four formalin fixed paraffin embedded (FFPE) samples were marked as compromised and one had no signs of villi.

Forty-seven sample pairs (POC and maternal genomic DNA) subjected to polymorphic microsatellite (short tandem repeat, STR) loci genotyping based MCC detection protocol developed by us revealed that in 33 (70.2%) of the POC samples maternal genome was not detected; of those, one was marked as compromised quality, while the remainder demonstrated good quality chorions. Eight samples (17.0%) showed the presence of MCC; of those, six were classified as compromised quality chorions and two showed no villi upon visual inspection; one sample with MCC was positive for the *SRY* region. Six POC samples (12.8%) showed only maternal genome; three were of poor quality and three showed no visual presence of villi.

Data from forty-one sample pairs (excluding samples showing only maternal genome) was used to calculate allelic frequencies (AF) of the STR loci included in the assay and is presented in S1. Each STR locus revealed 9.7 \pm 1.5 alleles (average \pm standard deviation (SD)). Out of 14 loci 8.5 \pm 2.0 (average \pm SD) were informative in distinguishing fetal and maternal genotypes. Theoretical probability of the assay being not-informative i.e., giving false perception that fetal sample contains only maternal genome, was calculated to be 1.9E-08. Thus, it can be assumed that MCC detection system provides reliable results and can be used with high confidence.

3.3.2 Chromosomal microarray analysis

All POC samples (n = 86) were subjected to aCGH analysis irrespective of biological material quality and MCC testing. In total, 34 samples corresponded to normal female karyotype and 16 to normal male karyotype (sex ratio 2.1:1). The remaining 36 (41.9%) samples exhibited some kind of chromosomal abnormality, out of those 12 contained an XX sex chromosome set, 11 contained XY (sex ratio 1:0.9), and 13 were associated with sex chromosome copy number variations (Table 3.1). The majority of chromosomal imbalances were autosomal trisomies, followed by pure monosomy X (four cases). Of seven cases showing

some kind of sex chromosome discrepancy, four indicated a mosaic form of X monosomy – arrmos(X)x1, while three cases were unable to be resolved using aCGH analysis alone. Lastly, following structural aberrations were detected: loss of 8p23.2p11.21, gain of 22q13.2q13.33, and combined gain of 11p15.5p15.2 and 15q26.1q26.3 in one sample.

Table 3.1

Chromosomal pathology	Cases
Trisomy 2	1
Trisomy 13	3
Trisomy 15	4
Trisomy 16	4
Trisomy 17	1
Trisomy 18	1
Trisomy 19	2
Mosaic trisomy 19	1
Trisomy 20	1
Trisomy 21	1
Trisomy 22	1
Monosomy X	4
Triploidy (69,XXY)	2
Sex chromosome discrepancies	7
Structural aberrations	3

Chromosomal pathology distribution across positive samples (n=36)

3.3.3 Analysis of POC with high risk of MCC

A result indicative of the 46,XX karyotype should be treated with caution since it might arise from the analysis of maternal cells, especially in samples of unsatisfactory visual quality. As seen from the Figure 3.1., the poorer the quality of the samples included in the analysis (visually inspected), the higher the proportion of 46,XX samples and the lower the fraction of 46,XY and chromosomally abnormal samples. This was also true for samples tested for MCC if samples with partial MCC were included in the calculations. A significant difference (p-value 0.02) in the observed genotypes distribution was seen between the group having no signs of contamination upon MCC testing and all samples group. 46,XY samples were completely absent in the groups "Compromised quality + No chorion" and "No chorion". The "Only maternal genome" group was not included since it contained solely 46,XX results upon aCGH testing as expected.


Figure 3.1 Distribution of karyotype results across different POC evaluation groups

Samples were grouped based on the MCC testing results (no signs of contamination; MCC; maternal genome only – not included in the figure since those contains only 46,XX results as expected) and visual sample evaluation (good quality chorion; compromised quality; no chorion). *Significant difference (p-value 0.02) in the observed genotypes distribution was seen between the groups "No signs of contamination" and "All samples". MCC – maternal cell contamination.

The origin of cells / tissue having the 46,XY karyotype or any chromosomal abnormality (n = 28) is indubitable (i.e. fetal). Figure 3.2 visually represents that vast majority of these cases (82.1%) concentrated among samples showing good visual quality and no signs of contamination upon MCC investigation. Nevertheless, four cases (14.3%) were found amongst compromised quality POC, three of them having a certain amount of MCC. One case indicative of a sex chromosome discrepancy upon aCGH analysis was localized in the "no chorion" group and also displayed MCC but was positive for the SRY region. Based on standard criteria samples of compromised visual quality would have been discarded (S. T. Romero et al., 2015), because having viable cells or POC with identifiable villi was crucial for cytogenetic and molecular cytogenetic techniques, e.g. FFPE samples typically required pathologist conclusion on fetal cells presence prior to DNA extraction. Here we demonstrate that simple and quick step of MCC evaluation can rescue some percentage of poor primary biological samples and increase number of correct diagnoses.



Figure 3.2 Distribution of MCC-high and -low risk karyotypes across different product of conception evaluation groups

Y-axis depicts sample evaluation based on MCC genetic testing using STR genotyping. X-axis depicts visual examination of primary biological sample. MCC-high risk are samples corresponding to "46,XX" karyotype (depicted as white X's) can arose from analysis of fetal cells or maternal cells thus masking any genuine fetal karyotype. MCC-low risk samples are the ones showing 46,XY karyotype or any chromosomal pathology (depicted as grey crosses). MCC – maternal cell contamination.

3.3.4 Recommendations to reduce MCC in POC testing

The identification of a chromosomal abnormality in POC material not only provides an explanation for the miscarriage but also removes the need for further investigations. Current American Society for Reproductive Medicine (ASRM) recommendations state that chromosome testing of miscarriage specimens may be of psychological benefit to the patient and may aid treatment decisions in the setting of treatment of recurrent pregnancy loss ("Evaluation and Treatment of Recurrent Pregnancy Loss: A Committee Opinion," 2012). The main reasons for unsuccessful POC testing are loss of cell viability (applies to cytogenetic techniques) and MCC (applies to a majority of methodologies) (Table 3.2). Therefore, the ASRM recommends that in the case of a 46,XX result, maternal blood should be obtained for the differentiation of maternal from fetal source of the euploid result by the means of microsatellite analysis ("Evaluation and Treatment of Recurrent Pregnancy Loss: A Committee Opinion", 2012). Solutions to MCC assessment are well documented for cases of prenatal genetic testing when the material for testing is obtained by the means of amniocentesis or chorionic villi sampling of ongoing pregnancy. Authorities in the field of medical genetics (American College of Medical Genetics, Association for Molecular Pathology) agree and emphasize that the presence of MCC that may interfere with the interpretation of fetal results must be excluded, using STR testing or exploiting technology capable of distinguishing MCC e.g. SNP-arrays (American College of Medical Genetics (ACMG), 2009; Monaghan et al., 2020; Nagan et al., 2011).

3.2	
Table	

S
5
≥
a
P
3
\Box
Ä.
$\mathbf{\tilde{\mathbf{z}}}$
-
H
£
-
ă
Ñ
S
.Ĕ.
 0
Ľ
<u> </u>
Z.
H
1
ē
Ξ
÷
9
5
£
Ξ.
Ĕ
Ξ
Ξ
S
٠Ë
a
ö
Ē
Ξ
2

				;; 5;
Reference	(Schlesinger et al., 1990; Simoni et al., 1983)	(Bell et al., 1999; Y. X. Zhang et al., 2009)	(Dória et al., 2010; Fejgin et al., 2005; Russo et al., 2016; Shearer et al., 2011)	(Ballif et al., 2006; Dong et al., 2016; S. Bin Lin et al., 2017; Sahoo et al., 2017; Schaeffer et al., 2004 Y. X. Zhang et al.,
Disadvantages / Limitations	Laborious. Degradation of primary biological material. Limited number of trophoblast cells within a sample. Limited number of metaphases (critical in case of mosaicism). Limited resolution. MCC.	More laborious than direct karyotyping. Degradation of primary biological material. Culture failure. Maternal cell overgrowth. Limited number of metaphases. Limited resolution. MCC.	Analysis of limited number of chromosomes. Can miss structural rearrangements. Structural or micro- rearrangements could be analyzed only on demand. Analysis can be compromised due to quality of primary biological material (mFISH). MCC.	Relatively laborious and expensive. Ploidy can be assessed only in certain cases – if chromosome Y is present, some polyploidies will be missed (e.g. 69,XXX). Cannot distinguish balanced aberrations and low-level mosaicism. Burdened interpretations of structural VUSs in case of high-resolution arrays. Analysis of parental samples may
Advantages	Relatively inexpensive. Assessment of the full set of chromosomes, structural / balanced aberrations, and ploidy in spontaneous mitoses.	Relatively inexpensive. Assessment of the full set of chromosomes, structural / balanced aberrations, and ploidy detection.	Relatively quick, simple, and inexpensive. Possibility to study non-cultured cells and FFPE samples. Analysis of metaphase (mFISH) and interphase cells (iFISH). Low-grade mosaicism, ploidy and sex discrepancies assessment.	Assessment of the full set of chromosomes. Broad resolutions available (possibility to detect submicroscopic changes). Analysis does not depend on the quality of the primary biological material. Possibility to analyze FFPE samples.
POC testing methodology	Direct karyotyping of non-cultivated cytotrophoblast / syncytiotrophoblast	Karyotyping of cultivated cytotrophoblast / syncytiotrophoblast	HSIH	aCGH
L		ogenetics	ţÇĴ	Cytogenetics Cytogenetics

				Table 3.2 continued
	POC testing methodology	Advantages	Disadvantages / Limitations	Reference
Molecular cytogenetics	SNP arrays	High resolution assessment of the full set of chromosomes. Analysis does not depend on the quality of the primary biological material. Possibility to analyze FFPE samples. Assessment of copy neutral loss of heterozygosity, uniparental disomy (heterodisomy), and triploidy (diandric, digynic). Detects chromosomal aberration's parent of origin. Mosaicism (up to ~10– 20%) and MCC detection.	Relatively laborious and expensive. Cannot distinguish balanced aberrations. Cannot detect tetraploidy caused by the failure of cytoplasmic cleavage at the first division in the zygote. Burdened interpretations of small structural VUSs – analysis of parental samples may be necessary for correct interpretation of the results.	(Lathi et al., 2012; B. Levy et al., 2014; S. A. Scott et al., 2010; Huimin Zhang et al., 2016)
	QF-PCR	Fast, simple, inexpensive copy number assessment of critical chromosomes. Analysis does not depend on the quality of the primary biological material. Possibility to analyze FFPE samples.	Limited number of chromosomes. Normally needs confirmatory analysis. Discrepancies in copy number call due to mosaicism and structural chromosome aberrations. MCC.	(Ari et al., 2018; Donaghue et al., 2010)
Molecular	MLPA	Relatively inexpensive. Analysis of the whole set of chromosomes (copy number assessment of subtelomeric regions). Ploidy detection. Analysis does not depend on the quality of the primary biological material. Possibility to analyze FFPE samples	Normally needs confirmatory analysis. Cannot distinguish balanced aberrations. Analysis of parental samples may be necessary for the correct interpretation of the results. Indicate only combined copy number of X and Y. Discrepancies in copy number call due to mosaicism and structural chromosome aberrations. MCC.	(Ari et al., 2018; Bruno et al., 2006; Saxena et al., 2016)
	NGS	Assessment of the whole set of chromosomes with broad possibility of resolution adjustment. Analysis does not depend on the quality of the primary biological material. Possibility to analyze FFPE samples. Possibility to assess copy neutral loss of heterozygosity.	Expensive, laborious, not routinely used for the POC analysis. Cannot reliably detect all types of polyploidy but can detect embryos with unbalanced sex chromosome ratios. Complicated interpretation. Maternal cell contamination (pipeline can be adjusted to detect MCC).	(S. Liu et al., 2015; Shen et al., 2016)

	POC testing methodology	Advantages	Disadvantages / Limitations	Reference
Other	Flow cytometry	Rapid, relatively inexpensive. Ploidy analysis. Possibility to analyze FFPE samples.	Only used to complement conventional methods with ploidy status. Analyzer routinely unavailable at genetic laboratories (cytology laboratory).	(Berezowsky et al., 1995; Hedley et al., 1983; Lomax et al., 2000)
G	C nucleuse of conce	ation: MCC motomed coll contention: EIC	U fluctuotion in cita habitation of the second second	omio huhaidizotion. EEDE

Table 3.2 continued

* POC – products of conception; MCC – maternal cell contamination; FISH – fluorescence in situ hybridization; aCGH – array comparative genomic hybridization; FFPE – formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded; SNP – single nucleotide polymorphism / variation; QF-PCR – quantitative fluorescent polymerase chain reaction; MLPA – multiple ligation probe amplification; NGS – next-generation sequencing.

Assessment of STR loci is widely used in human genetic identification (e.g. CODIS core loci (Karantzali et al., 2019)), because STRs are highly variable and evenly distributed throughout the genome; and while there are various ways to assess MCC in POC (Bell et al., 1999; Hassold et al., 1983), STR genotyping using commercially available or in-house tests is an easy and reliable way to perform MCC testing (American College of Medical Genetics, 2011; Jarrett et al., 2001; Schrijver et al., 2007).

Although MCC testing of prenatal samples is recommended in guidelines, only 60% of surveyed laboratories across US performed it without exception (Schrijver et al., 2007). Unfortunately, the exact data for the POC testing is unknown. However, as can be seen from the issues raised in literature the numbers might be similar. While the problem of MCC is universal to POC and prenatal samples, there are major differences in processing the both types of samples. Therefore, due to lack of comprehensive practice guidelines, we aimed to formulate recommendations addressing the entire workflow of POC samples handling from preanalytical, through the analytical stages.

As a starting point, clinicians carrying out the collection of primary material after curettage of a missed abortion need to be trained to visually inspect the tissues and collect the correct ones. It is not unusual that the transportation medium is unsuitable, e.g., distilled water or formalin. To reduce number of rejected samples, it is the responsibility of the laboratory to provide clinicians with unequivocal sampling guidelines and collection containers with the appropriate medium.

In comparison to curettage medically induced abortion is considered safer procedure for the female (Behnamfar et al., 2013; Kovavisarach and Jamnansiri, 2005; Niinimäki et al., 2006). This allows for the patient to collect the miscarried material herself in a stationary or home setting – the same also applies to the situations when the spontaneous abortion is clinically expected. While the laboratory cannot control the quality of the collected material, it can provide these patients with the instructions and a suitable container with the proper medium. Alternatively, if access to the collection medium is not possible, transportation without medium is possible. In all cases, the POC sample has to be transferred to the laboratory as quickly as possible, preferably within 24 hours, in order to preserve the viability of cells and ensure appropriate sample evaluation and processing prior to genetic testing. Sampling of maternal material (blood / buccal swab) concurrently with POC sampling / sample delivery to the laboratory is a beneficial practice to implement to avoid repeated visits to the clinic.

The next important step is the visual inspection of primary biological material by trained laboratory personnel. We did not find it necessary to perform POC dissection under a microscope since typical villous morphology can be clearly visualized with the naked eye. Chorion tissues need to be carefully separated and thoroughly washed with an appropriate buffer (saline, PBS) to remove any maternal decidua, blood, mucus (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.3 POC handling and testing workflow

Recommendations addressing the entire workflow of POC samples handling from preanalytical, through the analytical stages suitable for molecular / molecular cytogenetic techniques. POC – product of conception. FFPE – formalin fixed paraffin embedded samples; PBS – phosphate buffer saline; STR – short tandem repeats; aCGH – array comparative genomic hybridization; NGS – next generation sequencing, fPCR – fluorescent polymerase chain reaction.

From our investigations, we advise to avoid selection of poor specimens i.e., grossly necrotic tissues with no signs of typical villous morphology, if no MCC testing is performed, as they rarely contain fetal genome. It was suggested before that POC samples where only villi or a combination of villi and membranous material was identified and which resulted in normal female karyotype should be viewed with suspicion (Rodgers et al., 1996). In contrast, our experience shows that DNA extracted from samples displaying clear villous morphology do not have any signs of maternal genome and consequently is able to be processed without MCC

testing. Sampling of multiple (two or three) pieces and written witnessing of the sampled tissue quality are beneficial for downstream application results interpretation and proper reporting.

Depending on the POC testing methodology used, the impact of an arbitrary amount of maternal genome on the result can range from absolutely no effect to complete obscuration of the genuine fetal genome. Therefore, it is recommended that MCC systems capable of quantifying the amount of MCC are developed and also that the extents to which certain methodologies can tolerate the presence of MCC are validated. We exploited our MCC detection protocol solely for the qualitative evaluation of MCC. However, based on the peak height observed in our fluorescent PCR assay, it was possible to detect as low as approximately 5% of maternal genome in the POC sample, although such an amount is unlikely to obscure results obtained by molecular cytogenetic techniques and can be considered negligible.

It is the responsibility of the laboratory to evaluate the practicability and validity of any particular methodology before its application in clinical practice. Reporting should follow specific diagnostic reporting practices and all reports must be complemented with adequate counseling.

3.3.5 Further considerations to improve POC testing practice

In the era of genetic testing diversity, it is essential to choose the most precise, detailed and reliable techniques adding to cost-efficiency and overall utility for POC analysis e.g. aCGH which has demonstrated certain advantages over classic cytogenetic methodologies (Hyde and Schust, 2015; Lomax et al., 2000). A great tool for MCC confirmation without the need for additional MCC testing is SNP microarrays which also yields higher diagnostic return (Lathi et al., 2014; B. Levy et al., 2014). Additionally, more sophisticated primary biological material sampling practices (if applicable) could be adopted, e.g. precise chorion or embryo proper sampling *in utero* using hysteroscopic embryoscopy (Robberecht et al., 2012).

If, for any reason, MCC testing is unavailable, it is essential to estimate the probability of obtaining an unreliable 46,XX result. To demonstrate how biased POC reporting could be if a laboratory adopted a procedure of testing all samples without visual evaluation and MCC testing, we applied a suitable mathematical model developed by Nikitina and colleagues (Nikitina et al., 2005) to our results. The proposed model exploits samples having XX or XY sex chromosomes set excluding all cases with sex chromosome discrepancies (e.g., XO and XX / XY) and is largely based on the initially obtained MCC coefficient (k). Since we have performed MCC testing, we were able to calculate actual k (Table 3.3). The model demonstrated that the percentage of samples obscured by MCC could be as high as 21.24%

(16 samples in our scenario), which significantly (p-value 0.0006) changes expected distribution of the genotypes across the samples.

Table 3.3

Observed and expected genotypes distribution when corrected for maternal cell contamination
based on the approach described in (Nikitina et al., 2005)

Parameter	Value	Formula
Maternal cell contamination coefficient, k	0.32	Maternal genome only samples $(n = 6) / XX$ samples (n = 19)
Actual genotypes distribution excluding XO and XX	X / XY cases ((n = 73)
46,XX normal (A)	34	_
46,XX abnormal (B)	12	-
46,XY normal (C)	16	-
46,XY abnormal (D)	11	-
Number and distribution of genotypes obscured by	MCC	
Female normal A(fn)	18.49	A(1-k)-(ABk / C+D)
Female abnormal A(fa)	4.77	ABk / C + D
Male normal A(mn)	6.36	ACk / C + D
Male abnormal A(ma)	4.37	ADk / C + D
Percentage of wrongly genotyped samples	21.24%	(Afa + Amn + Ama) / N
Expected genotype distribution		
A expected	18	A = A(fn)
B expected	17	B + A(fa)
C expected	22	C + A(mn)
D expected	15	D + A(ma)
Chi-square (observed genotypes vs expected), p-value	0.0006	_

Samples with the 46,XX karyotype would be expected to fall from 0.47 to 0.25 when corrected for MCC, which is similar to our value of 0.27 obtained from samples having no signs of contamination upon MCC testing. Despite the theoretical nature of the model, it may be useful for estimating the MCC value in an established culture regimen in any laboratory, thus serving as a valuable tool for quality control (Nikitina et al., 2005).

We have demonstrated how different approaches of visual POC material evaluation complemented with MCC testing lead to predictable and reliable POC genetic testing outcomes. While our formulated recommendations covering all steps of POC material processing cannot influence the quality of primary biological samples, those once implemented by laboratories can actually improve their POC genetic testing practices, acknowledge, and diminish problem of MCC. Ultimately, through a combination of different techniques and the development of an up-to-date approaches to POC handling and testing, from the perspective of reproductive counseling a significant advancement could be achieved with the elucidation of the cause of miscarriage for most cases.

3.4 Materials and Methods

3.4.1 Patients

Patients experiencing miscarriage or spontaneous abortion before the 13th week of gestation were recruited to the study. POC material was either obtained by uterine curettage performed by a gynecologist or collected by patients themselves and transferred in 0.9% sodium phosphate buffer or without medium to the laboratory within one to two days after collection. Cases of *fetus proper* (n = 2) were excluded. Five samples were FFPE tissues. In total, 86 POC samples were included in the study. The gestational age at the time of early pregnancy loss was 8.6 ± 2.2 (average \pm SD) weeks and the patient age was 32.7 ± 5.5 (average \pm SD) years. Peripheral blood samples were obtained only from 47 women for genetic analysis of MCC, unfortunately we could not obtain blood specimens from rest of the patients.

3.4.2 Primary biological material handling

Upon receipt, each POC sample was visually inspected by trained laboratory personnel. Visual appearance of the sample was recorded as follows: "good quality chorion" – if presenting typical villous morphology; "poor quality chorion" – if presenting tissue maceration and only a few villi could be dissected; or "no chorion visualized" – if no tissues with typical villous morphology could be localized. Even in the absence of typical villous morphology, tissue sampling was performed for all the samples. Tissues were washed in 1x PBS [Thermo Fisher Scientific, UK] and three pieces of each sample were placed in separate tubes for subsequent nucleic acid extraction. DNA was extracted from fresh POC, FFPE tissues, and peripheral blood following the manufacturer's standard protocol [Qiagen, Germany].

3.4.3 POC chromosome analysis

Chromosome analysis was performed by aCGH for all the POC samples following the manufacturer's protocol [24sure; Illumina, USA]. Microchip slides were scanned with an InnoScan scanner [Innopsys, France]. Images in Tiff format were imported into BlueFuse Multi v.4.0 [Illumina] and the resulting copy number karyotypes were assessed. The given methodology detects unbalanced chromosomal material changes > 5Mb and can detect polyploidy if sex chromosomes are represented by at least one X and Y chromosomes.

3.4.4 MCC testing system design

To test for MCC signs in samples where maternal DNA was available (n = 47), we designed a detection system employing fluorescent PCR with visualization by capillary electrophoresis. The system encompassed 14 microsatellite (STR) loci, the AMEL region giving different amplicon lengths on X and Y, and the *SRY* region for the more precise genotyping of chromosome Y. In order to detect MCC, maternal DNA and DNA extracted from the POC sample need to be tested in parallel.

All loci of interest were located through the University of California Santa Cruz's genome browser (https://genome-preview.ucsc.edu/index.html). For all genomic regions, fluorescently tagged (5' end 6-FAM or HEX) primers for fluorescent PCR were located manually and specificity was confirmed using IDT's primer tool (https://eu.idtdna.com/ calc / analyzer) and Primer-BLAST (Ye et al., 2012). Primer pairs were multiplexed into four mixes, each containing four loci (S2).

The PCR mixture for each multiplex was as follows: $3.6 \ \mu$ l of ddH₂O, $7.5 \ \mu$ l of Type-it Master Mix [Qiagen], $0.32 \ \mu$ l of each primer ($0.2 \ \mu$ M, eight primers for one multiplex), and $1.5 \ \mu$ l of DNA (~50 ng / μ l) in a total reaction volume of $15.16 \ \mu$ l. The cycling conditions were: initial denaturation for 5 min at 95°C, followed by 28 cycles of 30 s at 95°C, 1 min 30 s at 60°C, and 30 s at 72°C; final extension for 10 min at 72°C. For the initial PCR product visualization as a quality control step, the amplified products were run on 2% agarose gels. Amplicon separation and sizing were carried out using capillary electrophoresis [ABI Prism 3500 DNA Analyzer; Applied Biosystems, USA] and GeneMapper v.4.0 software [Applied Biosystems], respectively.

STR marker is considered not-informative when the paternal allele transmitted to the conceptus being the same size as the non-inherited maternal allele – such situation can result in the false consistency of MCC. The probability of this event decreases with the usage of reasonable number of highly polymorphic STR markers, increasing overall informativeness of the assay (Nagan et al., 2011). A proposed minimum number of STR markers to be analyzed is four to six (Jarrett et al., 2001). Fourteen STR markers exploited here have previously been used for linkage analysis in preimplantation genetic testing and therefore are known to be biallelic and polymorphic, and the individual primer pair performance has already been checked (Ludmila Volozonoka et al., 2018). Since population AF of the STR markers used is unavailable, those were calculated from the genotyping data of POC and maternal genomic DNA sample pairs (n = 47); allele shared between mother and fetus was excluded from AF counting. Highest allelic frequencies of each locus were multiplied, thus estimating probability of the whole assay being not informative.

MCC testing results were classified as follows: "MCC" – in case of informative STR marker characterized by three alleles visible on electropherogram, two of which match the alleles of the mother (or two alleles, if mother was homozygous); "maternal genome only" – characterized by the complete allelic match of the two samples across all loci; "no signs of contamination" – characterized by the second allele in a fetus distinguishable from the mothers' alleles across informative markers. The developed STR testing system only allows for the qualitative not the quantitative evaluation of MCC based on STR loci differences between the genomes being compared.

3.4.5 Statistical analysis

Data were described with average values and SD if appropriate. Genotypes across different sample categories were compared using the Chi-square test. Statistical significance was assumed at p < 0.05. Statistical analyses used the Microsoft Excel 2019, Version 16.0.

3.4.6 Ethical considerations

The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki's ethical principles and its protocol was approved by the Central Medical Ethics Committee (14.04.2016. Nr.1/16-04-14). Patients considered for genetic testing were counseled and the testing principles were clearly explained. All the recruited patients signed an informed consent. Patients acknowledged that they could not be identified from the article as personal data were fully anonymized.

3.5 Declaration of interest statement

The authors report no conflict of interest.

3.6 Author contributions

Conceptualization: LV, DP, LG, LK, AM; Data curation: LV, LG, LK, AM; Methodology: LV, DP, LG, LK, AM; Software: LV, DP; Visualization: LV; Writing - original draft: LV; Writing – review and editing: LV, DP, LK, IK, VF, AM; Funding acquisition: LG, IK, VF; Project administration: LG, IK, VF, AM; Resources: LG, IK, VF, AM; Supervision: LG, IK, AM.

	S1. STR loci t from gen	used for	or maternal cell (or POC and mate	contam srnal g	uination assessm	ent ir	n products of con mairs (n = 47) H	liches	on (POC). Allelic t allelic frequenci	treq	Juencies of each : feach locus are n	allele v marke	vere obtained d in grev	
	D4S2936		D17S1791	• 	D4S3023		D17S647		D17S960		DXS8086		D17S906	
-	0.0265		0.0083	1	0.2301		0.0261		0.0690		0.0085		0.0450	
2	0.0177	5	0.1167	7	0.3451	5	0.4174	5	0.0776	5	0.1453	5	0.0450	
З	0.3097	З	0.0083	3	0.1504	З	0.1043	3	0.0259	ю	0.0171	3	0.2342	
4	0.2655	4	0.0583	4	0.0088	4	0.0435	4	0.0086	4	0.1795	4	0.1351	
Ś	0.1239	5	0.0500	5	0.1239	5	0.0087	5	0.0259	5	0.2051	5	0.0811	
9	0.1150	9	0.0250	9	0.0177	9	0.0174	9	0.1810	9	0.3077	9	0.0360	
$ \succ $	0.0442	7	0.0167	7	0.0885	7	0.1913	7	0.1724	7	0.0256	7	0.0360	
∞	0.0177	~	0.0583	8	0.0177	8	0.1652	8	0.0776	8	0.0342	~	0.3423	
6	0.0354	6	0.0167	6	0.0088	6	0.0087	6	0.2586	6	0.0513	6	0.0360	
10	0.0088	10	0.1500	10	0.0088	10	0.0174	10	0.1034	10	0.0256	10	0600.0	
11	0.0177	11	0.0750			I		I	I	I		I		
12	0.0177	12	0.1083			I		I	I	I		I		
I	I	13	0.2333	I		I		I	1	I	1	Ι	1	
	-	_	-		-							_		1
	DXS1215		DXS1200		D4S126		D4S127		DXS8011		DXS8377		D4S412	
1	0.0420	1	0.0336	1	0.0179	1	0.0086	1	0.0085	1	0.1167	1	0.0164	
2	0.0336	2	0.2185	2	0.0089	2	0.0517	2	0.0169	2	0.1583	2	0.2623	
З	0.3109	З	0.2689	3	0.0357	З	0.1983	3	0.2034	ю	0.0417	3	0.1967	
4	0.1681	4	0.1933	4	0.1071	4	0.1810	4	0.0339	4	0.0750	4	0.0410	
S	0.1765	5	0.2101	5	0.2054	5	0.0948	5	0.1695	5	0.2750	5	0.0246	
9	0.1092	9	0.0588	9	0.2679	9	0.1983	9	0.1610	9	0.0833	9	0.0738	
٢	0.1345	7	0.0168	7	0.1696	7	0.0776	7	0.2119	7	0.0500	7	0.2377	
∞	0.0252			8	0.1161	8	0.1034	8	0.1186	8	0.1750	8	0.1230	
			I	6	0.0268	6	0.0862	6	0.0763	6	0.0250	6	0.0246	

6 I

6 ī

I

I

9 0.0268 10 0.0446

I T

I I

I

I I

1

tail	y.
e ob	5 E
vere	l in
le v	ke
alle	nar
ch	reı
fea	IS a
is of	locu
ncie	ch]
lue	fea
îreg	S O
lic 1	ncie
vlle	lael
.). A	ireq
00	lic f
Ē	alle
tior	est a
cep	ghe
COD	H
of	4
lcts	 U
odu	LS (1
l pr	paiı
it in	ple
nen	am]
essi	A S
ass	Z
ion	nic
nati	non
imi	ge
onta	rna
ΠC	ate
l ce	l m
a	_
E	an
latern	OC an
r matern	g POC an
d for matern	ping POC an
used for matern	otyping POC an
oci used for matern	genotyping POC an
R loci used for matern	om genotyping POC an
STR loci used for matern	from genotyping POC an

3.7 Appendices

Locus	Repeat	Forward Primer	Reverse Primer	Length (bp)	Mix
SRY	NA	HEX-TCGCACTCCTTGTTTTTGA	ATCATCGCTGTTGAATACGCT	71	1
AMEL	NA	HEX-CTCACATTCTCAGGCTATCAATG	GCATGCCTAATATTTTCAGGGA	219(X) 222(Y)	1
D4S127	CA repeat	HEX-TACGGAAAGGAGAAGGGCAT	CTCTGAAGAGGTGGTTCGC	187	1
DXS8011	CA repeat	FAM-CAAAACCCTGTCTACACGC	TGAATCACCCAATTTTCTCAAAC	341	1
DXS1200	CA repeat	HEX-CCACTCTTAGCAATTGACAGC	TGTCGTTGGGTGGAATGATG	142	2
D4S412	CA repeat	FAM-AGGGATAAAGGAAATGTGCGA	GCACTGGTAAGCACCAATCT	218	2
DXS8377	Complex repeat	FAM-CAGCCTACATCTACCACTTCA	CCCACTGATACAGCAGGAAAG	310	2
D17S906	Complex repeat	FAM-TGAGCCTGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGG	CGTTCTAGCAGAGTGAAACTGT	418	2
D17S960	CA repeat	FAM-AGGCCTGTTTGGGGTTG	CTCCTGGCTACGTGGTGAT	163	3
D17S1791	CA repeat	FAM-ATGCTTGCAGCAAGAAGGC	GGGAGCTTTTGGTCAACCT	235	3
DXS8086	CA repeat	HEX-CCATTGGCTTTCTTGGGTTTC	TTGTGTATTAGCCAGGGTTCTC	271	3
D4S2936	CA repeat	FAM-TAAAAACACGCACACACAGGG	AACCATCGCCGGAGAAATAAT	433	3
D4S3023	CA repeat	FAM-CGGTCTAGATGCCTCAGAAAC	CTCACTGGAAACTAAATGGGAC	133	4
D17S647	Complex repeat	FAM-CAAGGCTCCCATCGAGATT	GCCTGGAGAAGAGAAGATGAA	165	4
DXS1215	CA repeat	FAM-ACTAGCAGATGTGTAAGCTTGG	CCTTCCTTGACTCTACA	220	4
D4S126	CA repeat	HEX-CCAAAGTTAGAGGTCAGAAAGAC	GGTAGCCGAGATCCTGTCA	266	4

testing
\mathbf{C}
$\overline{\mathbf{O}}$
Σ
for
used
ers
Prime
S2.

4 Genetic landscape of preterm birth due to cervical insufficiency: Comprehensive gene analysis and patient next-generation sequencing data interpretation

Published as:

Ludmila Volozonoka¹, Dmitrijs Rots¹, Inga Kempa¹, Anna Kornete², Dace Rezeberga², Linda Gailite^{1,a}, Anna Miskova^{2,a}, 2020. Genetic landscape of preterm birth due to cervical insufficiency: Comprehensive gene analysis and patient next-generation sequencing data interpretation. *PloS one*, *15*(3), e0230771. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0230771.

Affiliations:

¹ Scientific Laboratory of Molecular Genetics, Riga Stradins University, Riga, Latvia ² Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Riga Stradins University, Riga, Latvia

^a These authors share senior authorship

Personal input:

My personal input into this work includes study design, systematic literature and gene analysis, NGS data interpretation, writing the original draft of the manuscript. Please see supplementary files for the the signed forms from all the co-authors to use this manuscript for my thesis (Supplement 5).

4.1 Abstract

Preterm delivery is both a traumatizing experience for the patient and a burden on the healthcare system. A condition distinguishable by its phenotype in prematurity is cervical insufficiency, where certain cases exhibit a strong genetic component. Despite genomic advancements, little is known about the genetics of human cervix remodeling during pregnancy. Using selected gene approaches, a few studies have demonstrated an association of common gene variants with cervical insufficiency. However, until now, no study has employed comprehensive methods to investigate this important subject matter. In this study, we asked: i) are there genes reliably linked to cervical insufficiency and, if so, what are their roles? and ii) what is the proportion of cases of non-syndromic cervical insufficiency attributable to these genetic variations? We performed next-generation sequencing on 21 patients with a clinical presentation of cervical insufficiency. To assist the sequencing data interpretation, we retrieved all known genes implicated in cervical functioning through a systematic literature analysis and additional gene searches. These genes were then classified according to their relation to the questions being posed by the study. Patients' sequence variants were filtered for pathogenicity and assigned a likelihood of being contributive to phenotype development. Gene extraction and analysis revealed 12 genes primarily linked to cervical insufficiency, the majority of which are known to cause collagenopathies. Ten patients carried disruptive variants potentially contributive to the development of non-syndromic cervical insufficiency. Pathway enrichment analysis of variant genes from our cohort revealed an increased variation burden in genes playing roles in tissue mechanical and biomechanical properties, i.e., collagen biosynthesis and cell-extracellular matrix communications. Consequently, the proposed idea of cervical insufficiency being a subtle form of collagenopathy, now strengthened by our genetic findings, might open up new opportunities for improved patient evaluation and management.

Keywords: human uterine cervix, cervical insufficiency, precocious cervical ripening, preterm birth, preterm delivery, pregnancy loss, genetics, genetic etiology, collagenopathy, systematic literature analysis, gene.

4.2 Introduction

In order to carry a successful term pregnancy, different organs such as the uterus, cervix, placenta, and amniotic membranes as well as the fetus itself must cohesively interact and create a healthy symbiotic relationship with each other and the rest of the female body (Vink and Myers, 2018). However, preterm birth (PTB) remains the leading cause of perinatal morbidity, mortality, and hospitalization in the first year of life in the developed world. Approximately 5–12% of newborns worldwide are born preterm (< 37 weeks of gestation) (Chawanpaiboon et al., 2019). Prematurity is a tremendous burden on the healthcare system as outcomes are associated with disability-specific lifetime medical, special education, and lost productivity costs (Frey and Klebanoff, 2016).

A common phenotype of spontaneous PTB is primarily characterized by progressive cervical effacement, after which preterm premature rupture of membranes (PPROM), persistent uterine contractions, prolapsed fetal membranes, or uterine bleeding may be the reason for acute care seeking.

4.2.1 Isolated cervical insufficiency

A distinguishable medical condition in obstetrics in which the cervix spontaneously starts to dilate (open) and efface (become thinner) in the absence of the signs and symptoms of labor is cervical insufficiency. The cervix, a collagen-rich organ, must remain closed during pregnancy yet simultaneously undergo a progressive physiological remodeling to prepare for the birth. Physiological cervical remodeling along with uterine contractile activation are the two key events facilitating the birth of a child (Word et al., 2007). This remodeling can be loosely divided into four overlapping phases: 1) softening beginning in early pregnancy, 2) ripening shortly before the birth, 3) dilation starting with the onset of regular uterine contractions and resulting in cervical opening to allow passage of the term fetus, and 4) postpartum repair (Danforth, 1983; Timmons and Mahendroo, 2007; Word et al., 2007). In cases of cervical insufficiency, dilation of the cervix occurs without painful uterine contractions, leading to inability of the cervix to retain a term pregnancy. Repeating in consecutive pregnancies, cervical insufficiency is one of the causes of recurrent pregnancy loss (Vink and Feltovich, 2016) and can be a serious obstacle to the birth of a healthy child and complication-free postpartum period for the mother and newborn. In contrast, failure of the cervix to dilate would result in unsuccessful parturition (Banõs et al., 2015).

Clinically relevant isolated cervical insufficiency occurs in about 1–2% of all pregnancies, but is associated with as much as 5–15% of pregnancy losses in the second trimester (Mingione et al., 2003; S. W. Wang et al., 2016). However, as one of the factors in a complex PTB context, the condition is found much more frequently. In 2011, routine recording of cervical ripening was recommended by the Global Alliance to Prevent Prematurity and Stillbirth (Goldenberg et al., 2012), since a short cervix (defined as a transvaginal sonographic cervical length \leq 25 mm in the mid-trimester of pregnancy) is the best predictive factor for spontaneous PTB < 34 weeks of gestation in both singletons and twins (Di Renzo, 2015). The shorter the cervix, the higher the risk; cervical insufficiency is likely at the extreme of this continuum (Manuck, 2016).

Multiple factors such as age, inflammation, stress, nutrition, physical activity, socioeconomic status, vaginal microbiome, and uterine anomalies affect PTB (Bezold et al., 2013; Dunlop et al., 2015; R. Romero et al., 2014). Mid-trimester cervical weakness may be associated with a variety of events, e.g. cervical ablation (cryo, laser, or electro) or excision (knife, laser, or loop-electrosurgical), cervical intraepithelial neoplasia *per se*, cervical hypoplasia after diethylstilbestrol, or intrauterine infections (Kyrgiou et al., 2017).

PTB is currently perceived as a frequent complex medical condition which corresponds to the concept of a multifactorial disorder (Plunkett and Muglia, 2008) – analogous to, e.g., cardiovascular disease – the development of which depends on a number of interacting factors including environmental and genetic. Familial aggregation is evident in prematurity (Porter et al., 1997; Winkvist et al., 1998), including cases of cervical insufficiency, with up to 27% of patients having a first-degree relative with the same diagnosis on the mother's side (Raffi and Anumba, 2007; Warren et al., 2007). By contrast, the risk appears to be unaffected by a history of prematurity in the partner's family (Boyd et al., 2009). Epidemiological data show that

foetuses / neonates with Ehlers-Danlos syndrome (EDS), osteogenesis imperfecta, and restrictive dermopathy are at an increased risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes including PTB, PPROM, and cervical insufficiency (Anum et al., 2009; Young et al., 2007). A few studies have demonstrated a positive association of common gene variants in the mother's genome with cervical insufficiency (Sundtoft et al., 2016; Warren et al., 2007, 2009).

4.2.2 Current understanding of genetics of cervical remodeling during pregnancy is limited

Prior to the era of '-omics', the majority of studies investigating the role of genetics in prematurity targeted candidate genes with known biological roles potentially related to processes occurring during pregnancy (Plunkett and Muglia, 2008; Ribeiro de Andrade Ramos and da Silva, 2018). For example, common allelic variants / polymorphisms in *TNF*, *IL1B* and *IL6* genes have most consistently been associated with PTB (Varner and Esplin, 2005), underlining the role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of prematurity.

More recent studies on the genetics of PTB in humans can be roughly divided into two major categories. The first group is comprised of a small number of large-scale genomic studies investigating possible genetic risk factors for preterm delivery (Huusko et al., 2018; J. Li et al., 2017; McElroy et al., 2013; Heping Zhang et al., 2015). Unfortunately, none of these studies has addressed PTB as a result of cervical insufficiency. The second group consists of transcriptomic studies evaluating differential gene expression during different stages of gestation / parturition in eventless gestations (Bukowski et al., 2006; Hassan et al., 2009, 2010) and ones of particular phenotypes, e.g. cases of PTB (HP:0001622) or PPROM (HP:0001788; OMIM:610504) (Makieva et al., 2017; H. Xu et al., 2008). For a comprehensive evaluation, please refer to the excellent systematic review and meta-analysis of (Eidem et al., 2015).

Although the largest number of studies has focused on idiopathic PTB, this phenotype should be considered with caution since preterm delivery often encompasses cervical insufficiency, PPROM, placental abruption, uterine overdistension, or a combination of these complications (Manuck, 2016). This idea is further supported by a meta-analysis of gene expression studies across distinct gestational tissues and clinical phenotypes which demonstrated a limited overlap of genes identified as differentially expressed across the studies (Eidem et al., 2015). This suggests possible different physiological mechanisms underlying each phenotype and also indicates that large gaps still exist in the design of transcriptomic studies in prematurity.

Furthermore, in order to attain the true transcriptomic signature of a certain phenotype, the tissue of study should be chosen wisely. Considering the known heterogeneity of certain tissues, even the biopsy site may have an impact on the results. For example, a recent study has highlighted that it remains to be resolved whether a PPROM signature can be determined in the cervix as the gene expression patterns in cervical biopsies of PPROM in comparison to preterm labor samples did not share cluster membership, suggesting a distinct genetic signature specific to PPROM pathology (Makieva et al., 2017). Nonetheless, the authors proposed the notion that the rupture of membranes might be accelerated through PPROM-specific remodeling events within the cervix (Makieva et al., 2017). Of note, cervical insufficiency often results in unscheduled PPROM as well. Moreover, similar to the cervix, the mechanical strength of the fetal membranes is mainly ensured by the collagen network (Strauss, 2013; Uldbjerg et al., 1983). Indeed, collagen types I, III, IV, V, and VI, to name but a few, have been localized in both cervical (derived from the two paramesonephric ducts during embryogenesis) and fetal membrane (derived from the outer trophoblast layer of the implanting blastocyst) tissue (Malak and Bell, 1994; Minamoto et al., 1987).

Without doubt, our current understanding of human cervix remodeling in pregnancy is limited (Vink and Myers, 2018). This may be the reason for the bias of studied genes in relation to cervical insufficiency and the surprisingly little information that presently exists on the genetics of pathological cervical remodeling during pregnancy.

Since common variants detectable by genome-wide association studies (GWAS) typically explain only a minor proportion of the heritability of complex diseases (Asimit and Zeggini, 2010), there is a hypothesis that the rare variants in multiple genes implicated in PTB may cumulatively contribute to the predisposition of delivering preterm (Bezold et al., 2013; Strauss et al., 2018). We decided to test this hypothesis by performing next-generation sequencing (NGS) of the DNA of females with a positive anamnesis of isolated non-syndromic cervical insufficiency.

Due to the lack of knowledge of genes implicated in cervix functioning, we also conducted a systematic literature analysis to derive all possible studies on the genetics of the cervix. We subsequently composed a list of genes that play a role in the normal and pathological biology of the cervix in relation to pregnancy and prematurity and used this obtained knowledge to assist our NGS data interpretation. Given the described heritability of cervical insufficiency, the main questions we addressed in this study were: i) are there genes reliably linked to cervical insufficiency and, if so, what are their roles? and ii) how many cases of isolated non-syndromic cervical insufficiency are attributable to these genetic variations?

4.3 Materials and Methods

4.3.1 Identification of genes playing a role in the biology of the cervix

Systematic literature analysis: search strategy and study selection

We conducted a literature search according to the PRISMA guidelines (Moher et al., 2009) (Figure 4.1). The screening strategy aimed to retrieve studies focusing on genetic research of defective uterine cervix functioning leading to cervical insufficiency, preterm delivery, or pregnancy loss, as well as records on functional studies addressing the differential expression of genes within the cervix during different stages of normal / compromised pregnancy / parturition.



Figure 4.1 PRISMA flowchart depicting the literature search and gene extraction

The search was performed using the MeSH term "Uterine Cervical Incompetence" (D002581, which is indexed under two higher categories in the MeSH hierarchy: "Pregnancy Complications" and "Female Urogenital Diseases") OR the following keywords: "precocious cervical ripening", "cervical weakness", "cervical insufficiency", "istmocervical insufficiency", "cervical incompetence", "uterine cervix" AND "gene", "genetics", "gene expression", "gene transcription", "transcriptome" AND Humans [Mesh] NOT "cancer", "microbiome", "papilloma". The search was performed in PubMed, EBSCO Host database,

Web of Science, ProQuest database, and Primo database. The search was performed in parallel by two reviewers on December 16, 2019, without further restrictions on the publication date.

Inclusion criteria: Study published in a peer-reviewed journal; Study presents original data; Study concentrates on finding a genetic cause of cervical insufficiency and / or preterm delivery; Study concentrates on functional gene analysis of physiological cervical ripening, cervical insufficiency, and / or preterm delivery as a source using cervical tissues. Only human studies were included. Exclusion criteria: Study concentrates on miscarriage and / or the first trimester of pregnancy; Study concentrates on microRNA, lncRNA, cell-free DNA, ribosomal DNA, cervico-vaginal microbiome, cancer analysis; Study is not in humans; Study is not available in English (S1 Table).

From the eligible papers presenting original data (S2 Table), we extracted the following: gene symbols in a HUGO Gene Nomenclature Committee-approved manner; recorded patient phenotypes, i.e. condition, or relevancy to our study's questions if healthy individuals were analyzed; biological material used for the analysis (DNA, cervical biopsy, other); type of study, e.g. functional, association, or other; information on the gene selection approach (unbiased genome-wide or selected gene approach). Screening of all the reviews (n = 18) for original references did not yield any additional articles to those in the original search list.

Additional gene identification

Further, we searched the most relevant Human Phenotype Ontology (HPO) terms for association with certain genes as well as all EDS-, osteogenesis imperfecta-, and restrictive dermopathy-related genes through Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man (OMIM), Genetics Home Reference (GHR), and https://hpo.jax.org as they previously showed clinical association with cervical insufficiency. The following HP terms were screened: Premature birth following premature rupture of fetal membranes (HP:0005100); Premature rupture of membranes (HP:0001788); Premature birth (HP:0001622); Premature delivery because of cervical insufficiency or membrane fragility (HP:0005267); Uterine rupture (HP:0100718); Uterine prolapse (HP:000139); and Cervical insufficiency (HP:0030009).

4.3.2 Gene analysis

Based on the data obtained from all the eligible studies and additional syndromic gene searches, we composed three different lists of genes according to their relation to the genetics of the cervix. The first list encompassed genes primarily linked to cervical insufficiency and were either: i) studied directly in relation to cervical insufficiency alone or with any other

obstetrical condition; ii) shown to have an association with cervical insufficiency in cases of any genetic syndrome; or iii) shown to have an established gene-phenotype relationship with cervical insufficiency (HP:0030009; HP:0005267) as identified through the HPO / OMIM searches.

The second list contained genes with less evidence for cervical insufficiency than those in the first list and / or alleged collagen-related associations and were either: i) studied in relation to PPROM alone or with any other obstetrical condition; ii) shown to have an established gene-phenotype relationship with obstetrical complications (HP:0005100; HP:0001788; HP:0100718; HP:0000139; HP:0000140; HP:0001622 – not alone) as identified through the HPO / OMIM searches; iii) known to cause a genetic syndrome clinically associated with cervical insufficiency; or iv) studied in relation to cervical insufficiency but having no association as shown from case-control studies.

The third list consisted of genes demonstrating a function within the uterine cervix as shown from functional gene studies of physiological cervical ripening / pregnancy / parturition using either cervical biopsies / swabs from females without obstetrical complications or tissue cultures.

Additionally, to identify any differences in the biological information of genes studied exploiting selected gene approaches in comparison to those studied using unbiased approaches (i.e. genome-wide studies), we functionally annotated genes from both groups using the ConsensusPathDB interaction database (Kamburov et al., 2013) gene set analysis function 'over-representation analysis' and looked for 'Pathway-based sets' in all built-in pathway databases and 'Gene ontology categories' (level 2 categories) with a p-value cut-off of 0.01.

4.3.3 Next-generation sequencing of patients with cervical insufficiency

Ethical considerations

The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki's ethical principles. The study protocol was approved by the governmental Central Medical Ethics Committee (Nr.2/18-03-21). Patients considered for genetic testing were counseled and the testing principles were explained. All the patients recruited signed an informed consent.

Subjects

The study recruited 21 females of Caucasian ethnicity (attending Riga Maternity Hospital between 2017 and 2019) with presentation of painless cervical dilatation in the ongoing pregnancy (as identified during a standard cervical length measurement using transvaginal ultrasound between the 18th and 22nd week of gestation) and / or a positive anamnesis of pregnancy loss and / or preterm delivery due to cervical insufficiency without contractions in singleton pregnancies, and the absence of diagnosed genetic conditions. Vaginal infection (exclusion criterion) was ruled out by a pH assessment, where pH > 4.4 indicated the presence of infection.

Among the recruited females, the total number of pregnancies excluding legal abortion, indicated medical abortion, and extra-uterine pregnancies was 3.5 ± 2.2 (TP-OP group, Table 4.1.). Out of those, 52% resulted in late pregnancy loss (LPL, > 12 weeks < 22 weeks) or PTB (< 37 weeks) – a group most likely associated with cervical insufficiency. Early pregnancy losses (EPL, < 12 weeks) were separated as they are mostly related to fetal chromosomal abnormalities. Six out of the 21 patients experienced PPROM in one of their pregnancies. Table 4.1 was completed after the outcome of each patient's ongoing pregnancy was resolved.

Table 4.1

Age, years	35 ± 4.8
Weight, kg	73.2 ± 16.7
Height, m	1.7 ± 0.05
BMI, kg / m ²	26 ± 5.5
ТР	4.5 ± 2.5
OP	1.0 ± 1.1
TP-OP	3.5 ± 2.2
EPL	0.5 ± 1.0
LPL + PTB	1.9 ± 1.7
CL, cm	1.53 ± 0.5

Baseline demographic and clinical characteristics of participants

* BMI – Body Mass Index; TP – Total Pregnancies; OP – Other Pregnancies including legal abortion, indicated medical abortion and extra-uterine pregnancies; TP-OP – Total Pregnancies excluding OP; EPL – Early Pregnancy Loss (<12 weeks); LPL + PTB – Late Pregnancy Loss (>12 weeks < 22 weeks) and Preterm Birth (<37 weeks); CL – Cervical Length.

Next-generation sequencing analysis

Genomic DNA was isolated from whole peripheral blood using an adapted phenolchloroform extraction. NGS analysis was carried out using Illumina's TruSight One Sequencing Panel Capture Kit (USA) covering all genes currently reviewed in the clinical research setting (4810 genes) and generating indexed paired end (2×75) reads. Template DNA fragmentation and indexing (tagmentation) was followed by target capture and enrichment. Reads were dual indexed by Nextera i7 and i5 primers. Libraries were prepared for subsequent cluster generation and sequencing on Illumina's NextSeq 500 platform (USA) using a 150-cycle output flow cell (V2 reagents). Samples were run at an envisioned depth of $100 \times \text{per sample}$.

Bioinformatics analysis

Read mapping and variant calling were performed using Sentieon's DNAseq (Freed et al., 2017; Kendig et al., 2019) FASTQ to VCF pipeline implemented on the DNAnexus cloud [USA]. Briefly, sequence reads were aligned to the GRCh38 reference genome using the BWA-MEM algorithm (H. Li, 2013). Duplicate reads were removed from further analysis. Base Quality Score Recalibration and indel realignment was performed on the mapped reads. Sentieon Haplotyper was exploited to call the variants and produce GVCF files. Sentieon GVCFtyper produced the final variant calling output as a VCF file. Only variants passing standard Sentieon filter criteria were used in the further analysis. Functional annotation of the variants was made using VarAFT v.2.151 (Desvignes et al., 2018) – a comprehensive annotation system for contextualizing variants and examining their functional consequences supported by multiple layers of disease phenotype-related databases.

Variant filtering

The first filtering step retained non-synonymous exonic variants or variants affecting splice donor / acceptor sites (± 10 nt) of canonical (longest) transcripts. Minor allele frequency (MAF) cut-off < 1% was applied to 1000 Genomes, ExAC, and gnomAD genomic databases. Since only female samples were analyzed, autosomes and X chromosome variants were assessed identically. The second filtering step retained variants covered with at least 10 reads, with a variant allele frequency of at least 25%, and the following deleteriousness scores: Phred scaled CADD score (Kircher et al., 2014) score >10, DANN (Quang et al., 2015) score > 0.9, GERP (Cooper et al., 2005) score > 4, and excluded "benign" and "likely benign" variants of known clinical significance. Variants not assigned a particular score were also included in the further analyses.

Variant classification, prioritization, and gene set enrichment analysis

Each patient's gene variants retained after the second filtering step were pooled together to generate a single file containing rare deleterious variants. The list consisted of 1258 variants in total from 691 genes, 60 variants on average for each sample. Further, the pooled genetic variants were filtered using the three gene lists created by means of the systematic literature analysis (please refer to the 'Systematic literature analysis' section above for the detailed methodology).

The variants identified in genes from the first and second lists were considered to be of great interest and were consequently investigated more closely to discern the ones most likely to be contributive to the patients' phenotype. The pathogenicity of each variant from this list was assessed manually by three independent evaluators according to the American College of Medical Genetic (ACMG) guidelines (Richards et al., 2015) using MetaDome (Wiel et al., 2019) and automatically using the online tool VarSome (Kopanos et al., 2019). *In silico*-predicted mode of inheritance was assessed using the DOMINO tool (https://wwwfbm.unil.ch/domino/index.html). Gene expression patterns were assessed through a consensus dataset available at https://www.proteinatlas.org.

Variants located in splicing regions were analyzed using four splice prediction tools: SSF, MaxEntScan, NNSPLICE, and GeneSplicer (Pertea et al., 2001; Reese, 1997; Shapiro and Senapathy, 1987; Yeo and Burge, 2004) implemented on Alamut Visual v2.13. A variant was considered to have an effect on splicing if at least two of the four tools showed a > 2% difference between the predicted splice scores of the wild-type and variant alleles, as described previously (Sangermano et al., 2019).

Further, to obtain unbiased information on pathway enrichments across the genes having rare and deleterious variants in our cohort, we annotated genes from the pooled list of variants (n = 1258) using the ConsensusPathDB interaction database (Kamburov et al., 2013) over-representation analysis and looked for 'Pathway-based sets' with a p-value cut-off of 0.01. As a background, we used the TruSight One gene list to exclude any bias from the target genes present in the kit.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Systematic literature analysis

Publication data

We conducted a systematic literature analysis according to the PRISMA guidelines to cumulate published information on all genes assigned to cervical insufficiency and / or playing a role in the biology of the cervix during normal / compromised pregnancy / parturition.

Out of 105 eligible studies selected for the gene extraction (S1 Fig; S2 Table), 51 were solely association studies with the majority focusing on the analysis of common genetic variants in a limited number of candidate genes (selected gene approach). Of those, five studies exploited array genotyping of 206–1536 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs)

in 9–190 genes. One study performed NGS analysis of 329 candidate genes, while only a single study employed a genome-wide association approach using genome-wide SNP arrays.

Four studies sought to find a direct genetic involvement in preterm delivery, cervical insufficiency, or PPROM. However, all the studied patients were syndromic and not isolated cases of the aforementioned obstetrical complications. Thirty-eight studies were functional gene analyses performed on different sites of cervical biopsy, supracervical fetal membranes, and a few other tissues; 22 assessed differential RNA expression, while the remainder exploited other types of functional analysis. Again, the vast majority of the functional studies (31 in total) used selected gene approaches, with only seven employing the unbiased approach of genomewide RNA microarray analysis. The rest of the studies used a combined analysis or a more sophisticated unbiased data analysis, e.g., case-parent triad design.

Overall, only eight genetic studies addressed cervical insufficiency primarily or in connection with preterm delivery, PPROM, or an associated genetic disorder. One was a functional study, five were association studies linking the condition with common genetic variants, and two were syndromic studies. The majority of articles focused on preterm delivery (n = 66), whether primarily or in connection with PPROM. The rest of the studies were performed on healthy females at different times during pregnancy / parturition in order to study the physiological ripening of the uterine cervix and physiological pregnancy.

4.4.2 Gene analysis: genes linked to cervical insufficiency are mostly syndromic

The gene extraction from the 105 selected publications resulted in 1455 entities with duplicates. Duplicate removal yielded 1181 genes. Our phenotype-based gene search using HPO terms (OMIM, GHR, https://hpo.jax.org) related to prematurity yielded 50 unique genes. The addition of syndromic genes resulted in the final list of 1222 unique genes (1509 with duplicates; S3 Table). In total, 1024 genes (83.7%) were reported in the literature only once; the remainders were indexed at least twice. The most cited genes in relation to the genetics of the cervix were *IL6* (16 citations), *CXCL8* (12 citations), *IL1B* (10 citations), *TNF*, *PTGS2* (8 citations each), and *COL1A1*, *COL5A1* (7 citations each). Notably, *IL6* was mostly reported in publications focusing on selected gene approaches and was twice documented as being differentially expressed across seven genome-wide studies of RNA expression in cervical tissues.

Altogether, only 17 genes were primarily identified in relation to cervical insufficiency, with six being syndromic, i.e. *COL1A1* and *COL3A1* causing EDS; *FBN1* causing Marfan syndrome; *ZMPSTE24* and *LMNA* causing restrictive dermopathy; and *MATR3* causing myopathy. *COL3A1* was the only gene with an established gene-phenotype role as shown

through HPO term 'Cervical insufficiency' (HP:0030009) along with 'Premature delivery because of cervical insufficiency or membrane fragility' (HP:0005267), 'Uterine rupture' (HP:0100718), and 'Uterine prolapse' (HP:0000139), and is known to cause EDS, vascular type (OMIM:130050). The remaining genes were studied in association with cervical insufficiency using selected gene approaches. Five genes had no association (*ADRB2*, *IL1A*, *IL6R*, *LTA*, and *TNF*) as shown by case-control studies (Endres and Wang, 2003; R. Miller et al., 2015; Sundtoft et al., 2016). They were therefore excluded from the first list of genes primarily linked to cervical insufficiency (n = 12; summarized in Table 4) composed from the data of the literature analysis and additional gene searches. Lastly, only one functional study was conducted to analyze *HIF1A* gene expression in the amniotic fluid from patients with isolated cervical insufficiency and indicated cerclage (Song et al., 2019).

Table 4.2

Gene	Associations from the literature and additional searches*
COLIAI	Ehlers-Danlos syndrome; Cervical insufficiency; Preterm delivery; PPROM;
COLIAI	Physiological ripening of the uterine cervix; Physiological pregnancy
	Ehlers-Danlos Syndrome; Cervical insufficiency HP:0030009 / Premature delivery
	because of cervical insufficiency or membrane fragility HP:0005267 / Uterine
COL3A1	rupture HP:0100718 / Uterine prolapse HP:0000139; PPROM; Preterm delivery;
	Physiological ripening of the uterine cervix; Physiological pregnancy; Premature
	uterine contractions
FBN1	Marfan syndrome; Cervical insufficiency; PPROM; Premature uterine contractions
HIEIA	Cervical insufficiency; Physiological ripening of the uterine cervix; Physiological
ΠΓΙΑ	pregnancy
IL10	Cervical insufficiency; Preterm delivery
11 1 P	Cervical insufficiency; Preterm delivery; Physiological ripening of the uterine
ILID	cervix; Physiological pregnancy
116	Cervical insufficiency; Preterm delivery; Physiological ripening of the uterine
ILO	cervix; Physiological pregnancy
IMNA	Restrictive Dermopathy; Premature delivery because of cervical insufficiency or
LIVIIVA	membrane fragility HP:0005267; Premature rupture of membranes HP:0001788;
MATR3	Myopathy due to MATR3 mutations; Cervical insufficiency
MBL2	Cervical insufficiency; Preterm delivery
TCERI	Cervical insufficiency; Preterm delivery; Physiological ripening of the uterine
IGFDI	cervix; Physiological pregnancy
7MPSTF24	Restrictive Dermopathy; Premature delivery because of cervical insufficiency or
ZIVII SIL24	membrane fragility HP:0005267; PPROM; Preterm delivery

Genes primarily linked to cervical insufficiency (first list of genes)

* HPO term indicated if reported in https://hpo.jax.org.

Based on the previously described clearly distinguishable clinical pattern of cervical insufficiency from classical idiopathic preterm labor and its relatedness to PPROM through the role of connective tissue – particularly the role of collagens – we composed a second list

of genes (genes potentially linked to cervical insufficiency; S4 Table) comprising 91 entities also containing syndromic genes identified through the HPO/OMIM searches.

The third list contained 812 genes having a function within the uterine cervix as shown by differential gene expression studies of the physiology of pregnancy, cervical ripening, and labor (S5 Table). Studies focusing solely on idiopathic preterm delivery (both functional and DNA analysis) were excluded. A Venn diagram was constructed from the three lists (Oliveros, 2007) (S2 Fig). Certain genes occurred in more than one list, indicating multiple lines of evidence. The creation of all three lists can be replicated through S5 Table column E.

Functional annotation of genes studied using genome-wide versus selected gene approaches

Lastly, to assess the bias in the existing knowledge on the genetics of cervical functioning, we analyzed differences in the biological information of genes reported in studies using unbiased genome-wide approaches in comparison to selected gene approach studies. In total, 816 genes emanated from seven genome-wide studies (excluding genome-wide studies subjected to gene filters). They were all gene expression studies exploiting genome-wide expression arrays. Specifically, 64 genes (7.8%) were denoted as being differentially expressed in more than one study (with a maximum of five studies). Eighty-seven genes emerged from 53 studies exploiting selected gene approaches, with 27 of them occurring multiple times (with a maximum of six studies). There were 27 genes occurring in both selected gene approach and genome-wide approach studies.

The gene lists were annotated using the ConsensusPathDB interaction database (Kamburov et al., 2013) for Gene Ontology (GO) and pathway enrichments. Annotation showed a large overlap among the strongest entities (as indicated by the p-value; S6 Table, S7 Table) and were enriched for GO terms primarily related to extracellular matrix (ECM) organization (e.g., GO:0031012; GO:0005201; GO:0007155) and a variety of cellular responses including immune (GO:0006955). The pathway analysis showed a high enrichment of immune-related pathways overlapping between both gene lists (a variety of interleukins). Separately, each list showed different pathways, but, again, they could be accommodated under common denominators related to elastic fiber / collagen formation as well as immunity (e.g., 'ECM proteoglycans'; 'Elastic fiber formation'; 'Collagen formation'; etc.).

4.4.3 Patient NGS data analysis

Using Illumina's TruSight One NGS kit covering 4810 genes of known clinical significance, we sequenced the DNA from 21 patients presenting with isolated non-syndromic cervical insufficiency. The sequencing resulted in a median coverage depth of $135 \pm 38 \times$ of the target region, with 94.4% of target regions being covered at least 10 times and 89.7% being covered at least 20 times. Rare deleterious variants (filtered based on CADD, DANN, and GERP scores and known clinical significance; S8 Table) from all the patients were pooled and screened for the genetic variations in the three lists created from the literature analysis (Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.2 Each circle represents one of the three gene lists generated in the study

The smaller the list, the closer the association with cervical insufficiency. The number of genes covered in the TruSight NGS kit are mentioned, as well as the number of deleterious variants identified in our patients across each gene list.

Twenty heterozygous variants found in 14 of our patients (67%) and the first and second lists of genes were subjected to a closer analysis as they were considered most likely to contribute to the patients' phenotype based on existing knowledge (Table 4.3.). Nine patients had one variant, four patients had two variants, and one patient had three variants. Fourteen variants were found in 10 genes known to cause EDS, osteogenesis imperfecta, or Bethlem myopathy. According to manual classification following the ACMG guidelines, 14 variants were classified as variants of unknown significance (VUS, class 3) and two as likely pathogenic (class 4). The criteria were inapplicable to the remaining four variants (please see the full information about each variant in S9 Table)

ŀ		•)	(
e	Gene	Genotype (effect on protein if known)	GnomAD v2.1.1.	CADD score	ACMG Manual (Criteria)	Comments	Contribution to the phenotype of cervical insufficiency
	MYO1F (rs200225777)	NM_012335.4:c.[2461G > A]; [=] (NP_036467.2:p.Gly817Arg)	0.000106 (30/280708)	23.2	Not applicable ^a (PP3; BP6)	Mechanism of the disease is unknown and no phenotype for the gene is known. Likely recessive type of inheritance.	Unlikely
	FKBP14 (rs542254849)	NM_017946:c.[496_498del];[=] (NP_060416.1:p.Lys166del)	0.001070 (279/260856)	15	VUS (PP3; PM4; PM1)	Pathogenic variants in the gene cause EDS, which is associated with cervical insufficiency. Likely recessive type of inheritance.	Further investigation needed
	B4GALT7 (rs142476892)	NM_007255:c.[277C > T];[=] (NP_009186.1:p.His93Tyr)	0.001347 (379/278326)	26.7	VUS (PP3; PM1)	Pathogenic variants in the gene cause EDS; VUS previously found in EDS patients; Likely recessive type of inheritance.	Further investigation needed
	COLIA2	NM_000089:c.[1808C > T];[=] (NP_000080.2:p.Thr603Ile)	0	17	VUS (PP3;PM2)	Pathogenic variants in the gene cause EDS, which is associated with cervical insufficiency and PPROM; Strongest expression within the cervix. Likely dominant type of inheritance.	Further investigation needed

Closer analysis of variants most likely contributing to the development of cervical insufficiency in our patients

Sample	Gene	Genotype (effect on protein if known)	GnomAD v2.1.1.	CADD score	ACMG Manual (Criteria)	Comments	Contribution to the phenotype of cervical insufficiency
Case5	COL12A1 (rs201988277)	NM_004370.6:[c.7853C > T];[=] (NP_004361.3:p.Thr1454Met)	0.000311 (74/237906)	25.2	VUS (PP3)	Pathogenic variants in the gene cause Ehlers-Danlos / Bethlem- like myopathy overlap syndrome associated with both connective tissue abnormalities and muscle weakness. Likely dominant type of inheritance.	Further investigation needed
	COLIAI (rs537060488)	NM_000088:c.[529G > A];[=] (NP_000079.2:p.Val177Met)	0.000014 (4/281442)	23.2	VUS (PP2)	Pathogenic variants in the gene cause EDS; Strong expression within cervix; Likely dominant type of inheritance.	Further investigation needed
	CHST14 (rs144629123)	NM_130468:c.[635T > C];[=] (NP_569735.1:p.Val212Ala)	0.000513 (145/282534)	25	VUS (PP3; PM1; BS2)	Strong expression within cervix. Gene is associated with EDS. Likely dominant type of inheritance.	Further investigation needed
Case6	GK (rs371481560)	NM_000167:c.[989G > A];[=] (NP_976325.1:p.Arg330His)	0.00001 (4/204700)	25.6	VUS (PP3; PM1)	Phenotype of the disease associated with GK gene does not overlap with the phenotype of interest; Poor expression with within cervix. X linked recessive.	Unlikely
Case7	MYO1F (rs761308378)	NM_001348355:c.[2270G > A];[=] (NP_036467.2:p.Arg757Gln)	0.000224 (63/280790)	34	Not applicable ^a (PP3)	Mechanism of the disease is unknown and no phenotype for the gene is known. Likely recessive type of inheritance.	Unlikely

Table 4.3 continued

							Table 4.3 continued
Sample	Gene	Genotype (effect on protein if known)	GnomAD v2.1.1.	CADD score	ACMG Manual (Criteria)	Comments	Contribution to the phenotype of cervical insufficiency
Case7	COL4A3 (rs765655100)	NM_000091.4:c.[5010_*14del];[=] (NP_000082.2:p.His1670_ Ter1671delinsXaa)	0.000064 (16/249376)	40	LP (PP3; PM1; PM4; PM2)	Localized at the end of the gene (loss of stop-codon); Poor expression within cervix; Dominant or recessive.	Unlikely
Case8	TNXB	NM_001365276:c.[3793G > A];[=] (NP_001352205.1:p.Gly1265Arg)	0	25.9	VUS (PP3; PM2; BP1)	Gene is associated with EDS hypermobile type; Likely recessive type of inheritance.	Further investigation needed
Case9	B4GALT7 (rs142476892)	NM_007255:c.[277C > T];[=] (NP_009186.1:p.His93Tyr)	0.001347 (375/278326)	26.7	VUS (PP3; PM1)	Pathogenic variants in the gene cause EDS; VUS previously found in EDS patients; Likely recessive type of inheritance.	Further investigation needed
	TNXB (rs141190850)	NM_001365276:c.[2030A > G];[=] (NP_061978.6:p.Glu677Gly)	0.002140 (583/272438)	23.1	VUS (PP3; BP1)	Gene is associated with EDS hypermobile type; Likely recessive type of inheritance.	Further investigation needed
Case10	PLOD1 (rs772861343)	NM_000302:c.[475G > A];[=] (NP_001303249.1:p.Gly159Ser)	0.000035 (9/251374)	34	VUS (PP3; PM2)	Pathogenic variants in the gene cause EDS; VUS previously found in EDS patients; Strong expression within the cervix; Likely recessive type of inheritance.	Further investigation needed
Case11	P3HI (rs371232413)	NM_001146289:c.[1720+4G > A];[=]	0.000213 (59/276822)	5.4	SUV	Pathogenic variants in the gene known to cause Osteogenesis imperfecta, which was clinically associated with cervical insufficiency; Effect on splicing is not clear.	Further investigation needed

Contribution to the phenotype of cervical insufficiency	Further investigation needed	Unlikely	Unlikely	Unlikely
Comments	Pathogenic variants in the gene known to cause Osteogenesis imperfecta, which was clinically associated with cervical insufficiency; Effect on splicing is no clear; Likely recessive type of inheritance.	Associated with EDS, but gene- disease association is dubious (one missense variant reported in publication); Likely recessive type of inheritance.	Mechanism of the disease is unknown and no phenotype for the gene is known. Variant does not have a consistent impact on the splice site; Likely recessive type of inheritance.	Gene is not associated with phenotype; Study, from which information is extracted, looked only for SNP and did not find any association with cervical insufficiency; Likely dominant inheritance.
ACMG Manual (Criteria)	SUV	VUS (PP3; BS1)	Not applicable ^a (BP4)	Not applicable ^a (BP1; BP4)
CADD score	5.4	22.4	0	12.5
GnomAD v2.1.1.	0.000213 (59/ 276822)	0.000438 (124/ 282870)	0.000039 (11/280872)	0.000074 (28/282828)
Genotype (effect on protein if known)	NM_001146289:c.[1720 + 4G > A];[=]	NM_001734:c.[100A > G];[=] (NP_001725.1:p.Ser34Gly)	NM_001348355:c.[1170 + 4C > T];[=]	NM_000024:c.[1072G > C];[=] (NP_000015.1:p.Gly358Arg)
Gene	P3H1 (rs371232413)	CIS (rs148105120)	MY01F (rs747756979)	ADRB2 (rs753894727)
Sample		Case12		Case13

* a Not applicable – if mechanism of disease is not known, or phenotype is not known; VUS – variant of unknown significance, LP – likely pathogenic.

Two variants were located at non-canonical splicing sites (> 2nt from exon / intron junction). Based on splicing predictions, variant P3H1:c.1720 + 4G > A (found in two patients) strengthens the existing donor site and may have a mild effect on the creation of a new acceptor site at position c.1720 + 23. The variant MYO1F:c.1170 + 4C > T does not have a consistent impact on the splice site.

Ultimately, based on a comprehensive curation of the variants' pathogenicity, including known gene-disease / gene-phenotype associations, gene expression patterns within cervical tissues (S3 Fig), and mechanisms of diseases of particular genes, etc. (all criteria used for the curation can be found in S9 Table), we assigned a likelihood for contribution of the variant to the patient's phenotype (last column in Table 4.3.). A variant was *unlikely contributing* (n = 7) if classified as benign / likely benign according to the manual pathogenicity curation, did not show any or poor expression within the cervix, or known gene-disease / gene-phenotype associations did not correspond to the phenotype of interest. A variant *needs further investigation* (n = 13) if it showed a theoretical potential to increase susceptibility to the development of the phenotype of interest based on the criteria assessed, but more data are required to declare the variant as definitively contributive to the development of cervical insufficiency.

4.4.4 Gene pathway enrichment analysis

To determine whether the genes having rare deleterious variants identified in our highly selective patient cohort exhibited any phenotype-relevant pathway enrichment, we annotated all the genes (n = 694) using the ConsensusPathDB interaction database (Kamburov et al., 2013) with the TruSight One gene list (n = 4810) as background. As illustrated by the 20 most significant entities (Table 4.4), the analysis revealed a high overrepresentation of pathways related to tissue mechanical and biomechanical properties (collagens and proteoglycans, integrins). There was not only high enrichment of ECM pathways, but also of cell to ECM communication (e.g. hemidesmosomes, focal adhesion) and basal membrane components (laminins). Moreover, a number of the pathways identified here matched ones shown to be enriched with genes studied in relation to the genetics of the cervix as identified from our literature search (marked with an asterix, Table 4.4).

Table 4.4

•)	ı		•	
	Pathway set size				
Pathway name	(Number in the background gene list)	Genes contained in the analyzed list	p-value	q-value	Pathway Source
Collagen formation*	92(59)	24 (40.7%)	3.30E-07	4.71E-04	Reactome
ECM-receptor interaction – Homo sapiens (human)	82(60)	24 (40.0%)	4.80E-07	4.71E-04	KEGG
Extracellular matrix organization*	294(180)	47 (26.1%)	7.21E-06	4.33E-03	Reactome
Collagen biosynthesis and modifying enzymes*	68(40)	17 (42.5%)	8.82E-06	4.33E-03	Reactome
Type I hemidesmosome assembly	6(6)	7 (77.8%)	2.76E-05	9.10E-03	Reactome
Assembly of collagen fibrils and other multimeric structures	48(39)	16 (41.0%)	2.78E-05	9.10E-03	Reactome
Laminin interactions	23(19)	10 (52.6%)	7.26E-05	2.04E-02	Reactome
Axon guidance	358(160)	40 (25.0%)	1.02E-04	2.51E-02	Reactome
Collagen chain trimerization	44(28)	12 (42.9%)	1.73E-04	3.78E-02	Reactome
Human papillomavirus infection - Homo sapiens (human)	339(173)	41 (23.7%)	2.95E-04	5.79E-02	KEGG
Integrin*	124(75)	22 (29.3%)	3.71E-04	6.63E-02	HONI
Non-integrin membrane-ECM interactions*	42(31)	12 (38.7%)	5.39E-04	8.83E-02	Reactome
ECM proteoglycans*	57(41)	14 (34.1%)	8.36E-04	1.24E-01	Reactome
Beta1 integrin cell surface interactions*	66(55)	17 (30.9%)	8.85E-04	1.24E-01	PID
Protein-protein interactions at synapses	88(33)	12 (36.4%)	1.04E-03	1.36E-01	Reactome
Focal adhesion - Homo sapiens (human)	199(113)	28 (24.8%)	1.30E-03	1.59E-01	KEGG
Alpha6 beta4 integrin-ligand interactions	11(11)	6 (54.5%)	1.77E-03	2.05E-01	PID
Developmental Biology	620(262)	53 (20.2%)	2.40E-03	2.55E-01	Reactome
Interaction between L1 and Ankyrins	29(23)	9 (39.1%)	2.47E-03	2.55E-01	Reactome
Myo-inositol de novo biosynthesis	4(3)	3 (100.0%)	2.70E-03	2.65E-01	Human Cyc

Pathway enrichment analysis of genes having rare deleterious variants in patients with cervical insufficiency

* Pathways in bold are related to tissue mechanical and biomechanical properties. Pathways marked with an asterix were found to be enriched with genes studied in relation to the genetics of the cervix as identified from our literature search.

4.5 Discussion

An evidence-based, effective system of pregnancy and maternity care identifying risks and localizing problems in a timely manner is one of the fundamental public health elements for maintaining the well-being and demography of a population. However, obstetrics and gynecology practice is associated with a plethora of different complications, thus placing a burden on the healthcare and socio-economic systems and is a traumatizing experience for the patient. A distinct risk factor for pregnancy loss and preterm delivery is cervical insufficiency. Currently, cervical insufficiency is clinically distinguishable only in the ongoing pregnancy or based on a patient's anamnesis.

A strong genetic component is expected in certain cases of preterm delivery and cervical insufficiency (Raffi and Anumba, 2007; Warren et al., 2007). However, despite genomic advancements, we know surprisingly little about the genetics of prematurity. Indeed, until recently, there was not a single gene unequivocally linked to the specific phenotypes associated with cervical insufficiency or PPROM and PTB.

In this work, we aimed to comprehensively explicate the existing genetic studies on prematurity with cervical insufficiency as the focal point. To accomplish this, we performed a systematic literature analysis followed by a gene extraction and data analysis. We wanted to evaluate whether there is a bias in our understanding of the genetics of the cervix and estimate how many genes can be reliably linked to cervical insufficiency and explore their possible roles. We subsequently applied the obtained knowledge from the literature to the analysis of NGS data of 21 patients with an anamnesis of isolated cervical insufficiency. As evidenced in previously conducted research, it is still not clear whether the mother or the preterm-delivered infant should be considered the proband, and as a result, which individual's DNA should be examined (Plunkett and Muglia, 2008). Based on the available evidence, we hypothesized that issues relating to the cervix during pregnancy are most likely to be dictated by the maternal genome. Therefore, we analyzed the mother's genomic DNA.

4.5.1 Collagenopathic nature of cervical insufficiency

Our literature analysis revealed that at present there are only eight studies directly addressing the link between genetics and cervical insufficiency, and 12 genes are primarily linked to the condition. A few of them are known to cause syndromic forms of cervical insufficiency associated with collagen disorders such as EDS, Marfan syndrome, restrictive dermopathy, and myopathy due to *MATR3* mutations. Notably, no studies have been conducted to identify direct genetic implications in the non-syndromic form of cervical insufficiency,
highlighting the insufficient knowledge on the genetics of (patho)physiological cervical remodeling during pregnancy.

All the genes retrieved in this study were classified into three lists according to their relation to the question being posed. The second list contained genes (n = 91) procured based on knowledge of the importance of collagen for proper cervical morphophysiology. Not surprisingly, 32 of the genes in the list (approximately one third) have been shown to associate with collagenopathy syndromes. Consequently, we anticipated that a large number of these genes also play a crucial role in the development of cervical insufficiency. Therefore, we comprehensively evaluated our patients' NGS variants identified in genes classified in the first and second gene lists by adhering to the robust framework for variant interpretation in the research setting in order to identify ones potentially contributive to the development of cervical insufficiency.

Currently, only one gene – COL3A1 – has an established gene-disease relationship with cervical insufficiency as shown through HPO term association (HP:0030009). This gene is also linked to 'Premature delivery because of cervical insufficiency or membrane fragility' (HP:0005267), as are the genes *ZMPSTE24* and *LMNA*. Further, *COL5A1* is the only gene associated with 'Premature birth following premature rupture of fetal membranes' (HP:0005100) and 'Premature rupture of membranes' (HP:0001788), with a few other genes (*PLOD1*, *ADAMTS2*, *SERPINH1*, *ZMPSTE24*, *LMNA*, and *ATP6V0A2*) associated with PPROM alone. Notably, we identified only one VUS in these genes in our patient cohort. The patient carrying the *PLOD1*:c.475G > A variant had two preterm deliveries, a cervical length of 1.8 cm as identified during her last pregnancy, and no history of PPROM. However, the variant's contribution to the patient's phenotype needs to be investigated further as the suggested inheritance is autosomal recessive and the described gene-phenotype correlation is more severe.

Another collagen gene – COL1A1 – has already been implicated in the development of cervical insufficiency from the data of large case-control studies (Sundtoft et al., 2016; Warren et al., 2007) showing a positive genetic association (OR > 3) and pathogenic variants in which known to cause EDS similarly to COL1A2 gene. We believe both genes, COL1A1 and COL1A2, are good candidate genes for involvement in the development of isolated cervical insufficiency. Nonetheless, the variants identified in our cohort, COL1A1:c.1663C > T, COL1A1:c.529G > A, and COL1A2:c.1808C > T, require more in-depth investigation and replication to be reliably assigned as causative.

Further, we identified the same variant in the B4GALT7 gene in two of our patients. This gene is known to cause EDS, autosomal recessive type. Similarly, two patients were found to carry the same variant in the P3H1 gene causing autosomal recessive osteogenesis imperfecta. Notably, all the other likely pathogenic variants and VUSs, excluding ones classified as unlikely contributive, were identified in genes in which pathogenic variants / mutations might lead to the development of certain types of collagenopathy. Such a situation raises the question: is it the case that patients carrying variants likely causing certain connective tissue disorders, do not exhibit any other collagenopathic features? Indeed, no one, to our knowledge, has evaluated cervical insufficiency as an expression point in a phenotypic continuum of collagenopathies when no other symptoms or subtle symptoms are apparent – and neither did we. Therefore, our findings allow us to hypothesize further that cervical insufficiency could be expressed as one of the mild forms of collagenopathy, a condition which is known to range from mildly loose joints to life-threatening complications such as aortal rupture. In order to substantiate this, a rigorous phenotyping following a custom-developed assessment protocol would have to be conducted as at present the only existing and validated scale used worldwide for collagenopathies is the Beighton joint hypermobility score (Beighton and Horan, 1969), which does not address any other disease-related symptoms apart from hypermobility of joints.

In general, reports linking obstetrical complications with EDS date back to the 1990s with descriptions of patients with hypermobile joints, kyphoscoliosis, and hyper elastic skin having cervical insufficiency and PPROM (De Vos et al., 1999; Leduc and Wasserstrum, 1992). Additional complications in cases of EDS might include scoliosis (causing problems with anaesthesia), atonic uterus, vaginal and / or perineal tearing, pelvic organ prolapse, symphysiolysis, abdominal herniation, wound dehiscence, severe varicosities, and postpartum hemorrhage. Maternal mortality risk is heightened due to uterine rupture or rupture of large vessels (De Paepe et al., 1989; Rudd et al., 1983). It is also known that the coincidence of Marfan syndrome and pregnancy means a high risk for mother and child as it might be complicated by PPROM, premature uterine contractions, and cervical insufficiency (Tzialidou et al., 2007). Therefore, knowledge that the patient is suspected of having or indeed has a connective tissue disorder or a tendency towards connective tissue laxity (perhaps only in certain scenarios) would provide a unique opportunity for the multidisciplinary team members to more effectively support pregnant women through increased understanding and awareness (Pezaro et al., 2018).

4.5.2 Main pathways involved in cervical functioning

Candidate genes from a variety of pathways have been shown to be important in prematurity: hemostasis and coagulation, local inflammation, collagen metabolism, and matrix degradation in PPROM (Makieva et al., 2017); focal adhesion, cell communication, and ECM receptor interaction in spontaneous PTB (Myking et al., 2011). No functional gene studies with subsequent pathway enrichment analysis have been performed in relation to cervical insufficiency.

In this study, we wanted to evaluate whether there is a bias in the cervix-related genes studied exploiting selected gene approaches in contrast to unbiased genome-wide approach studies. Our pathway and GO enrichment analysis of both groups did not identify a large difference in the overrepresented GO terms / enriched biological pathways and showed a certain overlap with other phenotypes in prematurity. The genes studied in relation to cervical patho(physiology) during pregnancy / parturition were found to be mostly enriched for the two main functional categories – immunity / inflammation and connective tissue remodeling. This indicates that the genes chosen for the selected gene approach studies follow the existing understanding of the most well-known biological pathways in cervical remodeling.

Importantly, the process of parturition at both term and preterm is consistently associated with the induction of many proinflammatory mediators, suggesting that these components are central for the parturition cascade in humans (Keelan et al., 2003). In turn, the inflammatory infiltrate *per se* activates fibrinolysis (De Vos et al., 1999). As a consequence, true (transcript)omic signature comprising less known pathways of the specific phenotype might simply be masked by the massive expression of (pro)inflammatory agents followed by fibrinolysis. It is worth mentioning that the first two phases of cervical remodeling, namely, softening and ripening, are not dependent on inflammatory processes (Sakamoto et al., 2004), and so may dictate the timing of sampling in at least physiological pregnancy / parturition studies.

Despite study limitation of relatively small sample cohort, our unbiased *in silico* pathway enrichment analysis of genes having rare deleterious variants in our patients – specifically selected for isolated non-syndromic cervical insufficiency – identified an increased variant burden in genes involved in collagen and / or ECM production. These results not only strengthen our target gene variation findings that pathways involved in collagen biosynthesis play a major role in cervical insufficiency, but also imply that cell-ECM communication pathways, in which molecules such as integrins, laminins, keratins, and fibronectins participate, might be involved in the development of cervical insufficiency. For example, one

of the enriched pathways was 'Type I hemidesmosome assembly'. Hemidesmosomes play a critical role in the maintenance of tissue integrity and are highly dynamic structures capable of disassembling quickly during cell division, differentiation, or migration (Litjens et al., 2006). Desmosomes present in the uterine cervix (Jordan et al., 2009) – the functioning of which might be compromised due to genetic variations – can also affect the integrity of the cervix. There is currently insufficient information on the genes of these pathways to reliably implicate them in the pathology of the cervix. Therefore, this could be a focus for future studies.

4.5.3 Overview and future perspectives

The findings of our systematic overview of the genes related to (patho)physiological cervical remodeling are a further step towards unraveling the complex genomics of prematurity. Specifically, the obtained data should help to fill in the gaps in our knowledge about cervical insufficiency, as there is still controversy surrounding this condition's development and treatment due to a largely unclear pathophysiology (Warren et al., 2007). In the future, findings from molecular-based studies could potentially be translated into outcome changes for women at risk, as they may lead to the discovery of a particular metabolite's deficit and consequently the development of screening tests. Since the biophysical properties of the cervix are mainly determined by collagen content (Uldbjerg et al., 1983), perhaps the basis of future screening tests lies in the observed collagen changes during cervical remodeling. It has been demonstrated that women with cervical insufficiency exhibited a markedly lower median cervical hydroxyproline (the most abundant amino acid in the collagen molecule) concentration, high collagen extractabilities and collagenolytic activities, and their biomechanically tested biopsy specimens had low strength and high extensibility (Rechberger et al., 1988), even in the non-pregnant state (Petersen and Uldbjerg, 1996). Unfortunately, our patients did not undergo such testing.

We have demonstrated for the first time that rare pathogenic allelic variants leading to collagenopathies might be responsible for the increased susceptibility of the development of isolated cervical insufficiency in non-syndromic patients. Nonetheless, the genetic landscape summarized within the scope of this work points to a wider genetic heterogeneity of the condition. At present, the majority of genes (particularly those listed in the third list of genes; S5 Table) cannot with certainty be implicated in the development of cervical malfunctioning. The third gene list contains data from functional studies and encompasses genes shown to be differentially expressed within the cervix during physiological pregnancy in healthy females. With the current knowledge, it is difficult to interpret the contribution of the deleterious variants identified in those genes (n = 67). However, the genes are still likely to play an important role

in cervical functioning and / or preterm delivery and further evidence might emerge as knowledge increases over time. Further studies with larger patient cohorts and perhaps better designs – specifically, precise tissue selection in combination with the timing of sampling during physiological / compromised pregnancy / labor, and most importantly precise phenotyping of patients – are necessary before any conclusions regarding thorough genetics of cervical insufficiency and clinical applicability of any genetic testing can be drafted.

A possible limitation of our extensive literature analysis could be an issue with multiple terms associated with cervical insufficiency. For example, the term PreCocious Cervical Ripening (PCCR) was initially coined by Papiernik *et al.* in 1986 (Papiernik et al., 1986) and was proposed as more appropriate and less confusing (Caritis and Simhan, 2012; Odibo, 2014) than others such as cervical weakness / incompetence, (istmo)cervical insufficiency, premature cervical shortening / remodelling / failure, or failing cervix. Although all of them are used, we encourage usage of 'cervical insufficiency' since this is adopted by the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, HPO, and MeSH. We tried to include all known terms of the condition in our literature search, but specific forms may have been omitted.

Another limitation of our study is the usage of a limited NGS panel (4810 genes) to study the DNA of our patients. Nevertheless, we were able to analyze all the genes primarily linked to cervical insufficiency as revealed by our literature analysis results. Having a relatively small patient cohort, we wanted to elucidate the particular roles of rare pathogenic variants since they are thought to have greater effects on the development of complex human diseases in comparison to common genetic variants, testing of which exploits the idea 'common disease – common variation' (Bomba et al., 2017) and demands enormous patient cohorts. Ultimately, by means of the target gene variation analysis and pathway enrichment analysis, we were able to demonstrate that the development of isolated cervical insufficiency is likely influenced by rare variations in genes involved in ECM / collagen production and synthesis.

Despite the distinctive phenotypical pattern of cervical insufficiency in contrast to idiopathic preterm delivery, it still remains a multifactorial condition, development of which depends on a number of factors. Therefore, no marker will be 100% sensitive or specific. From the genetic point of view, the most likely scenario is that a combination of both multiple rare and common variants in a number of genes contributes to disease development risk.

However, before the era of genetic testing enters obstetrics and gynecology, there are measures that can be introduced now into clinical practice. For instance, routine cervical length screening is not always performed on low-risk women. This paucity of screening may lead to a clinically unrecognized short cervix being missed and ultimately preterm labor (Manuck, 2016). Additionally, a number of EDS types are poorly recognized, with symptoms / complaints

of generalized joint hypermobility and / or chronic musculoskeletal pain being wrongly attributed to rheumatologic disorders (De Vos et al., 1999) or other non-specific conditions. Therefore, awareness regarding the nature of cervical insufficiency needs to be raised among obstetrical and gynecological teams to, at best, avoid complications or, at least, successfully manage them.

4.6 Conclusions

Isolated cervical insufficiency is a distinct phenotype in prematurity with a heterogeneous etiology. Our current understanding of the genetic landscape of the (patho) biology of the cervix is incomplete. One of the causes of non-syndromic cervical insufficiency may be associated with pathogenic variants in genes involved in collagen synthesis and production, allelic variants in which are known to cause connective tissue disorders. The notion that cervical insufficiency is an expression point in a phenotypic continuum of collagenopathies should be investigated further using multiple approaches.

4.7 Funding

The study was supported by a Riga Stradins University Internal Study Grant (to LV).

4.8 Acknowledgments

We would like to express our special thanks of gratitude to Riga Stradins University librarian Natalija Kislakova for her the help in the literature search.

4.9 Supporting information

S1 Table. Full text articles assessed for eligibility according to the PRISMA guidelines. (Online version available).

S2 Table. Publication analysis. (Online version available).

S3 Table. Full list of genes. All genes with duplicates obtained from a literature analysis and additional gene searches. (Online version available).

S4 Table. The second list of genes. Containing genes selected for association with cervical insufficiency, PPROM, or other connective tissue-related issues. (Online version available).

S5 Table. The third list of genes. Containing genes having a function within the cervix as identified from functional studies of physiological / compromised pregnancy / parturition. (Online version available).

S6 Table. GO analysis of genes identified from genome-wide and selected gene approaches. (Online version available).

S7 Table. Pathway analysis of genes identified from genome-wide and selected gene approaches. (Online version available).

S8 Table. Sequence variants retained after each filtering step. (Online version available).

S9 Table. Full analysis of selected gene variants of interest. (Online version available).



S1 Fig. Genetic studies included in the study. All studies included for the gene selection (left) and ones focusing primarily on cervical insufficiency (right)



S2 Fig. Venn diagram of the three gene lists created from publication data and additional gene searches.

Gene expression in the uterine cervix



S3 Fig. Gene expression in the uterine cervix. Genes found to be mutated in our patient cohort as shown through the 1st and 2nd gene list analysis. Data obtained through an RNA expression dataset available at https://www.proteinatlas.org. In our cohort, none of the rare or pathogenic variants were found in the COL3A1 gene; however, it is included as it is the only gene unequivocally linked to cervical insufficiency

5 General Discussion

Comparing to other mammalian species, human fecundity is less efficient – the probability of achieving a pregnancy within one menstrual cycle is about 20–30%. For example, in baboons, this number reaches 80%, and is as high as 90% in rabbits (Chard, 1991; Foote and Carney, 1988; Stevens, 1997). There are several non-biological factors influencing reproduction in modern societies, such as the delayed first conception, new social models, environmental pollution, and chemical expositions. However, it all could mask the biological basis of reproductive failure (Vendrell, 2018).

The first success in the identification of monogenic forms of female reproductive failure using molecular techniques came in the nineties, when numerous researchers with an aim of Sanger sequencing and segregation analysis started to shed light on the phenotypes associated with disturbances in the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis. A further breakthrough was possible due to the technological evolution in genetics and broad usage of ARTs for couples experiencing difficulties to conceive – this in turn allowed for an array of previously unobserved phenotypes (or phenotypes collected under the denominator of idiopathic infertility) ultimately to reveal themselves. Thus, the number of genes implicated in female gonadal disorders (especially POF), oocyte maturation arrest and early embryonic arrest are constantly growing, which mirrors what has long been appreciated in animal models, i.e., many genes are required for normal fertility in females (Maddirevula et al., 2020). However, we still face a quite limited number of confident gene-disease relationships in female reproduction failure. The scarcity of reliable genetic markers unfortunately also results in poor allocation of the up-to-date genetic and genomic methodologies to female reproductive failure in clinics. Karyotyping was the first test employed to investigate the presence of genetic abnormalities in failed female reproduction and to this day remains the most widely used diagnostic test.

This work demonstrated application of advanced genomic techniques and / or adaptation of certain genomic methodology in three different stages of female reproduction: i) at the level of a preimplantation embryo to increase a couple's chances to conceive a healthy child, ii) to improve the reliability of genetic testing in early pregnancy loss, aiding clinical decision making, iii) to unravel the underlying genetic cause in female genome of preterm delivery due to cervical insufficiency.

5.1 Selecting the best technology for multifactor preimplantation genetic testing

The first practical part of this thesis described in Chapter 2 addressed the preimplantation embryo analysis for the couples with an increased likelihood of delivering a child with monogenic disorder. Apart from aiming to meet the highest PGT safety standards, we prioritized the purpose of achieving desired pregnancy for every couple. Since no existing testing systems were available on the market, we designed the whole testing protocol from a scratch, at the very beginning facing the challenge of choosing the right tools i.e., reagents and methodologies. This is why we decided i) to compare the two most popular whole genome amplification techniques on a subset of downstream applications and ii) to share in detail our practical experience with those facing the same challenge.

Subsequently, we were satisfied with our performance as eight couples out of nine (unpublished data) delivered healthy kids, which was confirmed postnatally. Only for one case (*MTM1*), no oocytes were successfully fertilized perturbing the couple's opportunity to conceive. In addition, three embryo transfers resulted in a failed implantation making the overall birth rate per embryo transfer 72.7%, which is still above the average reported in the literature (Butler et al., 2019; Theobald et al., 2020). A small number of the cases processed makes it difficult to predict the trend of high pregnancy rates in the long run, but we associate those with the exclusion of embryonic factors of reproductive failure in all transferred embryos (aneuploid embryo rate 37.5%). However, it is highlighted that randomized controlled trials are needed to conclude the clinical effect of PGT-A for PGT-M (Toft et al., 2020).

Out of 73 embryos processed, 39 were amplified using MDA technology and 34 – using SurePlex to assess the performance of both whole genome amplifiers in the four different downstream application and choose the most suitable one. Our results reaffirm the known fact that MDA amplifier is suitable for locus specific applications, as we demonstrate – regardless of the downstream application technology, and SurePlex fully meets the criteria for the genomic applications like aCGH or NGS. Although in only two families we were able to use both WGA methods simultaneously, we found it practical and pragmatic as this allows for more versatile PGT experience since chromosome microarray analysis in case of MDA is possible only for approximately two thirds of the cases and only for the whole chromosomes, but not the partial copy number variations. As we cross validated performance of different applications, we can conclude that both amplifiers can be used for any downstream application with sensitivity good enough if best practice guidelines of PGT-M (Hellani et al., 2004; Piyamongkol et al., 2003) are followed. After all, our endeavors allow for the adaptation of the developed testing system for the virtually any single gene disorder.

5.2 Improving reliability of genetic testing in early pregnancy loss

The next practical work described in Chapter 3 – genetic testing of products of conception to exclude fetal chromosomal rearrangements – was initiated due to a clinical demand. Despite the controversial status of POC testing (Carp, 2007), there are scenarios where knowing the karyotype of a miscarried fetus can help in clinical management (Lathi et al., 2012), since any prognosis is empirical if the karyotype of the abortus is unknown. However, the known problem of MCC can jeopardize the whole intentions to provide the best management to these patients.

As aCGH was shown as a rescue karyotyping methodology (Kudesia et al., 2014), we selected it as the most suitable tool for the clinical application. However, soon after we faced an issue of an increased number of apparently normal female karyotypes. POC testing demonstrates that modern technology application can be disappointing if used without an understanding of the peculiarities of the certain methodology and / or the specifics of the particular biological material. This forced us to pursue the development of a foolproof protocol capable to acknowledge MCC in case of its presence for every sample. The work resulted in the development of an MCC detection protocol, which is low-resource setting addition to any existing POC testing protocol having a considerable implication in improving clinical management of the patients dealing with early pregnancy loss. Not only we offered a new set of polymorphic STR markers as reliable as the commercially available kits (e.g., Identifiler by Thermofisher), but this is also a low-cost solution, which can be an important consideration for certain countries. Our approach of aCHG combined with MCC testing is an alternative between the SNP-arrays able to detect MCC constitutionally (Lathi et al., 2014) but being quite expensive and laborious, and the cytogenetic testing which leaves a significant proportion of samples without an answer due to the lost viability of the cells. Our practical recommendations on how to reduce MCC in POC testing will be found useful by those only initiating POC testing.

5.3 Deciphering genetic etiology of cervical insufficiency

As described in Chapter 4, PTB is considered a multifactorial disorder. From the genetic epidemiology, it is known that a substantial part of the etiology of common diseases is a genetic risk behaving as a complex trait (Polychronakos, 2008). The identification of complex disease genes has largely relied on population-based approaches, e.g. GWAS, mainly owing to their unbiased and hypothesis-free nature (Agler and Divaris, 2020). Unfortunately, till now GWAS failed to identify common alleles as reliable markers for PTB.

A condition causing PTB with even less clear genetic background is cervical insufficiency. We attempted to address its genetic etiology using NGS in 21 well phenotyped patients. It is important to admit that the topic of this study arose from a prominent clinical need since possibilities to timely predict and prevent consequences of the condition in clinics currently are very limited due to its unclear nature (Artymuk et al., 2019). Since the gene number associated with cervical functioning at the beginning of our study was countable on one hand, severely limiting NGS analysis opportunities in our patients, we armed ourselves with the *a priori* knowledge by performing comprehensive and systematic gene analysis. In total, we identified 12 genes primarily linked to cervical insufficiency, six of which (COLIAI, COL3A1, FBN1, LMNA, MATR3, ZMPSTE24) were known to cause certain collagenopathies, while MBL2 deficiency has been associated with susceptibility to autoimmune and infectious diseases, *IL6*, *IL1B*, *IL10* – are all mediators of the inflammatory process, *TGFB1* regulates cell proliferation and growth, and HIF1A is a transcription factor. Further, we identified 91 genes potentially linked to cervical insufficiency. Both gene lists subsequently were used for NGS data analysis. After careful variant filtering, exploiting ACMG best practice guidelines, we identified 13 deleterious variants of high interest in 10 patients. Being apprehensive with the variant interpretation, we called these variants "variants showing a theoretical potential to increase susceptibility to the development of the cervical insufficiency needing further investigation". Most importantly, 11 variants were in genes associated with EDS development and two in genes associated with Osteogenesis imperfecta.

While collagen role has long been implicated in the development of cervical insufficiency, direct evidence from clinical studies to this was largely missing. We were first to attempt and demonstrate rare variants involvement in this phenotype development since before only associations with common collagen gene variants were described. Importantly, such implication of rare variants not detectable by association studies into the biology of complex phenotypes was predicted already long ago (S. Levy et al., 2007; Polychronakos, 2008).

After of our manuscript publishing, another novel study aiming to identify the molecular signature through which cervix opening is being controlled under progesterone and interleukin IL-1 β signaling (Kniss and Summerfield, 2020) came out indirectly supporting our findings.

Evidence of the therapeutic utility of progesterone for the prevention of preterm cervical ripening and preterm labor in women at-risk is well known (Conde-Agudelo and Romero, 2016), because progesterone receptor signaling underpins many of the physiological processes opposing untimely cervical dilation (Word et al., 2007). However, unanswered questions persist regarding the mechanisms through which progesterone acts. Authors of the study exploited a primary culture model of human cervical stromal fibroblasts treated with progesterone,

interleukin-1 β or the combination of both. Results demonstrated that interleukin-1 β induced differential expression of extracellular matrix proteins, ECM-degrading enzymes, and enzymes involved in glycosaminoglycan biosynthesis (particularly *COL3A1* [HGNC:2201] – the only gene with an established gene-phenotype role as shown through HPO term 'Cervical insufficiency', *ELN* [HGNC:3327], *COL4A1* [HGNC:2202], *HAS2* [HGNC:4819] – all included in our gene lists, as well as *B4GALT1* [HGNC:924], *CHST11* [HGNC:17422], *EXT1* [HGNC:3512], *FUT8* [HGNC:4019], and *HS3ST3B1* [HGNC:5198]) – all to a lesser or higher degree involved in extracellular matrix interactions, tissue mechanical and biomechanical strength (Kniss and Summerfield, 2020). These findings echo our pathway and GO enrichment analysis findings on the significance of the collagen-related pathways in the cervical remodeling, and also provide an insight into the control of these events by the progesterone signaling (Kniss and Summerfield, 2020).

Simultaneously with our manuscript an interesting case-control study by Ben-Zvi on the association of cervical insufficiency with pelvic organ prolapse (POP) and urinary symptoms was published (Ben-Zvi et al., 2020). The assessment demonstrated that women with a history of cervical incompetence experienced a higher rate of POP and urinary symptoms (odds ratio 12.8), demonstrating that both conditions have a similar pathophysiological mechanism (Ben-Zvi et al., 2020). Indeed, evidence exists that the integrity of the pelvic organs and their supportive tissue is mostly maintained by the fibrillar extracellular matrix components (Carley and Schaffer, 2000; X. Liu et al., 2006). Similarly, as weakened connective tissue leads to cervical insufficiency, it cannot properly support the organs resting on the pelvic floor leading to POP (Ben-Zvi et al., 2020). Since we were fascinated by the preliminary results of our pilot-study, it was decided to pursue a further investigation on the collagenopathic nature of the cervical insufficiency (FLPP Project Nr. 2020/1-0042, 2021-2023). Currently, a study design is under development, it also involves a comprehensive assessment of the collagen-related phenotypical features of the patients including POP and urinary symptom evaluation. We look forward to the results and opportunity to compare those with the findings of Ben-Zvi.

5.4 Recommendations for assessing genetics of female reproductive failure in research and clinics

It is possible to conclude that currently the field of genetics of female reproduction is still in its embryonic stage looking forward to new discoveries. In order to improve the current situation in female reproduction genetics, field specialists have to arm themselves with the best existing tools – state of the art methodologies and study designs. Below are few

recommendations, application of which should accelerate the progress in human reproduction genetics as well as its clinical implementation.

5.4.1 Standardized gene-disease association clinical validity assessment

Clinical testing of genes with an unclear role in disease is exceedingly difficult and could lead to incorrect diagnoses, mismanagement of the patients and prevent further evaluations of the gene role. In order to robustly link gene dysfunction to disease and use it as a diagnostic marker in clinics, a standardized clinical validity assessment considering multiple levels of evidence has to be performed. Gene curation is a fundamental process of gene inclusion into genetic testing panels for clinical application. An example of such framework for clinical validity assessment of gene-disease relationships is the one developed by the NIH-funded Clinical Genome Resource (ClinGen) (Strande et al., 2017) and its simplified version offered by Smith (Smith et al., 2017).

Highlighting this important matter, we have now attempted to characterize all genes ever described in relation to female reproductive failure. Our preliminary results show that at least 16 genes have definitive (the highest) association with the condition, 30 - strong and 17 - moderate link to the diseases of female reproductive failure, thus providing a very positive direction towards the soon establishment of testing panels and guidelines.

5.4.2 The need to update best practice guidelines on genetic testing for female reproductive failure

Very few tests are routinely recommended in clinics to investigate failed female reproduction (Cariati et al., 2019). No specific guidelines or committee opinions can be identified in the available resources specifically addressing this important matter. Only Foresta with colleagues in his "Guidelines for the appropriate use of genetic tests in infertile couples" in 2002 recommends karyotype, *FMR1* expansion, *KAL1*, and *CFTR* testing (Foresta et al., 2002). Even relatively recent works also highlight mainly well-known facts. For example, Harper is his "Recent developments in genetics and medically assisted reproduction: from research to clinical applications" says that chromosomal aberrations remain a major known cause of POI and recurrent miscarriages, and that a sizeable proportion of disorders of sexual development are caused by gonosomal (X and Y chromosomes) aberrations (Harper et al., 2018). The recommendation for assessing the karyotype and a handful of genes seems outdated and despite the existing shortcomings, there is enough reliable basis collected for the guideline update. Even more data exist to be stratified and systematized in order to compose guidelines suitable for the 21st century.

5.4.3 Importance of genetic counselling

It is important to bear in mind that infertility naturally prevents the transmission of gene variants causing the condition itself and possibly *de novo* genetic variations arising in the gametes of a patient. As we know ART might bypass this situation (J. Wu et al., 2021). Consequently, the frequency of infertility is likely to increase in future generations conceived through ART, especially given the fact that more and more children are being conceived using ART (Hyrapetian, Loucaides, and Sutcliffe, 2014). Therefore, efforts in the area of ART should focus on achieving not only a successful pregnancy, but most importantly – a healthy baby at home.

Moreover, there are series of genetic peculiarities, which can jeopardize almost any genetic testing results and, without a proper geneticist consultation, could lead to unpredictable outcomes. An example of such an issue is genetic mosaicism. Every human is mosaic. Genetic mosaicism can go unnoticed, underlie a genetic disease, and may be transmitted to the next generation. A wide array of Mendelian disorders have been observed in the mosaic state (e.g. Duchene muscular dystrophy, hemophilia, Marfan syndrome) (Erickson, 2010). The developmental stage and timing of de novo variants influences their phenotypic effects and the chance of transmission (Campbell et al., 2014). We know that variants arising after primordial germ cell migration to the gonadal ridge can result in germline mosaicism. Embryo mosaicism is a well characterized phenomenon having implications in the PGT and whole ART success.

In order to avoid "genetic speculation" and similar peripetias described in the historical context of genetic test development almost a century ago, all genetic testing and preferably any ART procedure should be accompanied by genetic counselling. Consequently, in the era of genetic testing, genetic counselling cannot be disregarded but should be treated as a cornerstone of reproductive medicine.

5.4.4 Importance of thorough patient phenotyping

"From a genetic point of view, there is a natural continuum from death in utero to sterile states in the adult – all result in failure to transmit genes to the succeeding generation. However, from the point of view of the physician, the divisions are meaningful since each poses different problems" (J. R. Miller, 1965). Impossible to disagree with the quotation of Miller, but in the scope of the current thesis I would like to replace the words "genetic point of view" with the words "evolutionary point of view" since in most of the cases those are exactly different underlying genetic mechanisms driving "different problems".

Female reproductive failure and female infertility are terms too broad to apply without classification and specification nor in clinics nor research. As was already highlighted before, precise patient phenotyping is extremely important for genetic studies. Idiopathic infertility often encloses series of distinct syndromes sometimes recognizable only under certain conditions, e.g., when using ART (in this sense ART serves not only as a therapeutic but diagnostic tool as well). Importantly, such pre-work of thorough phenotyping helps to separate patients with highly expected genetic defect from the ones whose phenotype is attributable to the external factors or at least – completely different genetic mechanism(s) thus increasing the likelihood for the whole study to identify certain genetic marker. Standardization of reproductive phenotypes reporting should also improve data storage, sharing, and comparison, as well as facilitate collaboration between the groups.

5.4.5 NGS – an effective method to identify genetic causes of female reproductive failure, and the power of gene panels

When the right cohort of patients is selected, the next important step to consider is the methodology. Despite the success of targeted Sanger sequencing that has led us to the causative gene identifications in the past, a fundamental issue with the candidate gene approach is its susceptibility to the winner's curse. Latter success was indeed achieved mostly due to the exploitation of NGS. Since its discovery, NGS revolutionized gene sequencing by overcoming many of the limitations of the Sanger technique (Goodwin et al., 2016) allowing to excel causative gene discovery mostly because of its unbiased approach and opportunity to screen very large cohorts of patients and controls (Boycott et al., 2013; Fernandez-Marmiesse et al., 2017).

Usage of one NGS assay in comparison to multiple diagnostic assays, each one addressing a separate class of DNA variants, not only leads to a potential reduction in cost but also decreases the turnaround time required to make a definitive diagnosis (Patel et al., 2018). However, like any other methodology, NGS has shortcomings. Special data analysis pipelines have to be established in order to detect certain classes of genetic variations, e.g., CNV, mosaicism, trinucleotide expansions. Often validation of the results may be required. To ensure optimal NGS performance, appropriate quality thresholds have to be established, which as shown leads to very high validation rates (>99%) eventually removing the necessity for orthogonal validation (Beck et al., 2016) for at least some genetic variation classes.

Recent study of Maddirevula with colleagues demonstrates the success of NGS application to well phenotyped patients of female reproductive failure. WES revealed variants in the known genes in 43% of patients with infertility and 13% with RPL (Maddirevula et al., 2020).

Perhaps it is too early to apply exome analysis for female reproductive failure in a diagnostic setting, because of the field's current *modus operandi*, but targeted assays including well characterized genes could be easily implemented into clinical practice due to their competitive price, easy implementation, and scalability. It is not expected that diagnostic pickup rates will rise immediately. But even a slight improvement will be a big step towards patients' wellbeing, minimizing unnecessary investigations and manipulations, and accelerating the turnaround time to the proper reproductive solution. In different clinical fields, the use of gene panels has been the method of choice already for some time (Kamps et al., 2017), e.g., targeted NGS assays have proven themselves in diagnostics of inherited breast cancer (Neveling et al., 2017).

It is also feasible that in the nearest future WGS will be performed routinely for every diagnostic question as a generic test and particular genes of interest will be targeted ad-hoc *in silico* for each specific case. Such approach would also leave an opportunity to reanalyze the data later without the need to perform additional testing, since the whole data will be stored on the cloud.

5.5 Finalizing remarks

An umbrella denominator of female reproductive failure covers extremely diverse and distinct phenotypes, all of which might be influenced by the individual's genetic background. Genetic testing is becoming increasingly requested in almost each step of failed female reproduction, from the non-functioning ovaries through unsuccessful attempts to conceive, to a missed pregnancy. Some genomic technologies are suitable to meet the increasing demands of the field – each chapter of this thesis demonstrated a reliable application of a certain methodology to the certain reproductive issue. It is possible to conclude that the possessed hypothesis of the thesis – that advanced genetic technologies could be successfully used to reliably assess several classes of genetic variations perturbing female reproductive potential – is confirmed.

I anticipate that the number of genes discovered to date after an awaited systematic gene-disease clinical validity evaluation will form the basis for the targeted gene panels implementation in the nearest future. Together with updated best practice guidelines and proper

genetic counseling, this should increase the number of positive diagnoses and patient-tailored ARTs usage, bringing the overall wellbeing of reproductive medicine to a new level.

Disorders related to female reproduction, preventing natural propagation of the causative variants, are expected to be highly heterogenous (Laissue, 2015). In mice more than 500 genes have already been associated with female infertility, many more disease genes are waiting to be identified in humans in the coming years (Harper et al., 2018). To uncover this data, a variety of deliberative genomic approaches and sophisticated study designs in large patient cohorts, followed by functional validation studies, have to be exploited.

Importantly, different approaches have to be applied when studying inbred and outbred populations. In inbred populations the majority of the causative variants are biallelic gene disruptions, whereas in outbred populations a combination of different disease mechanisms can be expected. For example, the exciting initiative of Prof. Joris Veltman to explore the *de novo* variation hypothesis for male infertility has already resulted in the certain success (Stouffs et al., 2014). I believe that *de novo* variants are responsible for the development of a proportion of female reproduction phenotypes in the outbred populations as well, though this exciting hypothesis has to be adequately addressed. Moreover, there are some indirect hints to this hypothesis unraveled by the ExAC consortium data analysis. Respectively, in the human genome there are 3230 genes identified to be loss-of-function sensitive, with 72% of those having no associated human disease phenotype. These genes not necessarily are disease genes, but probably those are genes in which heterozygous loss of function has been reproductively disadvantageous over recent human history (Lek et al., 2016).

To date, the total number of genes with phenotype-causing mutation identified reaches more than 4000 (OMIM, 2020). Overall, there are more than 20000 genes in a human genome, meaning that more than 16000 genes without known clinical significance still have the potential to be involved in female reproduction as a single cause or in complex.

A variety of phenotypes and their genetic origins are to be discovered which now are hindered from our eyes. For example, thirty percent of pregnancies are lost between implantation and the sixth week of pregnancy (Jeve and Davies, 2014; Nybo Andersen et al., 2000), currently this time span is completely inaccessible for analysis, as is the moment of embryo-endometrial talk. Similarly, there are no studies focusing on phenotypic effects of mosaicism associated with human infertility. Could that explain the proportion of the POF / POI cases?

I believe, in the years to come, the number of novel genes described for female reproductive failure will increase rapidly. Molecular and genetic understanding of the patient's phenotype will provide unprecedented opportunity to establish new targets for the therapy or prevention of certain conditions in female reproduction failure, bringing personalized medicine to the forefront of reproductive medicine.

Conclusions

- Multiple displacement apmlification methodology performs better for single locus applications, while SurePlex technology suits genomic application needs, usage of both amplifiers simultaneously allows for a versatile and reliable analysis of embryos to select ones free of single-gene disorders and chromosomal aberrations facilitating healthy conception.
- Fourteen STR loci-based protocol for the detection of maternal cell contamination in a combination with an array comparative genomic hybridization reduces misdiagnosis in genetic testing for early pregnancy loss and has implication to foster informed decisionmaking by clinicians and patients.
- 3. Systematic literature and gene analysis identified 11 genes primarily associated with cervical insufficiency with the majority causing collagenopathies, thus efficiently complementing patient NGS data analysis.
- 4. Pathway enrichment analysis and stringent filtering pipeline of genes and gene variants identified through NGS application discovered increased gene variation burden in pathways related to tissue mechanical and biomechanical strength and localized 13 sequence variants in genes causing collagenopathies that potentially increase the likelihood of cervical insufficiency development.

List of author's publications

Scientific publications in journals included in international databases

- 1. Dmitrijs Perminovs, Ludmila Voložonoka, Liene Korņejeva, Evija Jokste-Pīrmane, Arita Blumberga, Sandra Krasucka, Nellija Seimuškina, Irina Kovaļova and Violeta Fodina. "First preimplantation genetic testing case for monogenic disease in Latvia". *Gynecological Endocrinology* 33, no. sup1 (2017): 47–49.
- 2. Ludmila Voložonoka, Dmitrijs Perminovs, Liene Korņejeva, Baiba Alkšere, Natālija Novikova, Evija Jokste-Pīmane, Arita Blumberga, Inga Kempa, Anna Miskova, Linda Gailīte and Violeta Fodina. "Performance comparison of two whole genome amplification techniques in frame of multifactor preimplantation genetic testing". *Journal of assisted reproduction and genetics* 35, no. 8 (2018): 1457–1472.
- 3. Oud, Manon, Ludmila Voložonoka, Roos M. Smits, Lisenka ELM Vissers, Liliana Ramos and Joris A. Veltman. "A systematic review and standardized clinical validity assessment of male infertility genes". *Human Reproduction* 34, no. 5 (2019): 932–941.
- 4. Ludmila Voložonoka, Dmitrijs Rots, Inga Kempa, Anna Kornete, Dace Rezeberga, Linda Gailīte and Anna Miskova. "Genetic landscape of preterm birth due to cervical insufficiency: Comprehensive gene analysis and patient next-generation sequencing data interpretation". *PloS one* 15, no. 3 (2020): e0230771.
- 5. Ludmila Voložonoka, Linda Gailīte, Dmitrijs Perminovs, Liene Kornejeva, Violeta Fodina, Inga Kempa and Anna Miskova. "Reducing misdiagnosis caused by maternal cell contamination in genetic testing for early pregnancy loss". *Systems Biology in Reproductive Medicine* (2020): 1–11.
- 6. Oud Manon, Ludmila Voložonoka, Corinna Friedrich, Sabine Kliesch, Liina Nagirnaja, Christian Gilissen, Moira K. O'Bryan et al. "Lack of evidence for a role of PIWIL1 variants in human male infertility". *Cell* 184, no. 8 (2021): 1941–1942.
- 7. Oud Manon, Brendan Houston, Ludmila Voložonoka, Kumara Mastrorosa, Bialal Alobaidi, Petra deVries, Galuh Astuti, Liliana Ramos, Robert McLachlan, Moira O'Bryan, Joris Veltman, Hector Chemes, Harsh Sheth. "Exome sequencing reveals variants in known and novel candidate genes for severe sperm motility disorders". *Human Reproduction* (2021): deab099.
- 8. Ludmila Voložonoka, Anna Miskova, Liene Kornejeva, Inga Kempa, Veronika Bargatina, Linda Gailite. A systematic review and standartized clinical validity assessment of genes involved in female reproductive failure. Submitted to *Human Reproduction*.

Scientific articles published in peer-reviewed journals in Latvia

1. Ludmila Voložonoka, Liene Korņejeva, Anna Miskova, Violeta Fodina. "Preimplantation Genetic Screening – Summary of First Results in Patients with Complicated Reproductive History". *Riga Stradins University Scientific Proceedings*. (2015): 241–45.

Presentation at an international scientific conference with an oral report or thesis

- 1. Voložonoka, L., Korņejeva, L., Novikova, N., Fodina, V. Benefits of combined preimplantation genetic screening and endometrial receptivity assessment on IVF outcome for complicated reproductive history patients. Poster presentation at 49th European Human Genetics Conference. Barcelona, Spain. May 21–24, 2016.
- 2. Voložonoka, L., Fodina, V., Kornejeva, L. Molecular karyotyping of products of conception evaluation of performance and capacity. Poster presentation at ESHRE 32nd Annual Meeting. Helsinki, Finland. 3–6 July 2016.

- 3. Voložonoka, L., Perminovs, D., Korņejeva, L., Kempa, I., Miskova, A., Šterna, O., Fodina, V. Preimplantation genetic testing of monogenic diseases and aneuploidies using single blastocyst biopsy approach. Poster presentation at the European Human Genetics Conference, May 27–30, 2017.
- 4. Voložonoka, L., Perminov, D., Korņejeva, L., Alkšere, B., Kempa, I., Miskova, A., Gailīte, L., Fodina, V. Development and application of individualized customizable preimplantation genetic testing algorithm. Balkan Journal of Medical Genetics, ICGEB Workshop Next generation diagnostics, Vol 21, 2018, Supplement 1:71.
- Voložonoka, L., Kornete, A., Krūmiņa, Z., Rota, A., Gailīte, L., Kempa, I., Rezeberga, D., Miskova, A. Clinical Characterization and Collagenopathic Phenotyping in Preterm Birth due to Cervical Insufficiency. Knowledge for Use in Practice, Riga, Latvia, 24–26 March, 2021.

Presentation at a local scientific conference with an oral report or thesis

- 1. Voložonoka, L. Clinical application of embryo preimplantation genetic testing by comparative genomic hybridization on microchips in frame of reproductive medicine. Oral presentation at Latvian Obstetrics and Gynecology Specialist Congress. October 16–18, 2014.
- 2. Voložonoka, L., Miskova, A. Assessing molecular karyotyping applicability in recurrent early pregnancy loss etiology determination. Abstract for Latvian Obstetrics and Gynecology Specialist Congress. October 16–18, 2014.
- 3. Voložonoka, L., Korņejeva, L. Miskova, A. Fodina, V. Embryo preimplantation genetic screening effectiveness in ART cycles for the patients with burdened reproductive history first results. Poster presentation at Riga Stradins University scientific conference. March 26–27, 2015.
- 4. Voložonoka, L. Array Comparative Genomic Hybridization application in reproductive genetics. Oral presentation at The Second Annual International Reproductive, Genetic and Biotechnology Conference. Riga, Latvia. 14 October 2016.
- 5. Novikova, N., Perminovs, D., Voložonoka, L., Korņejeva, L., Fodina, V. Non-invasive fetal rhesus factor genotyping assay development and validation. Poster presentation at the 75th Scientific Conference of the University of Latvia. Riga, Latvia. February 24, 2017.
- 6. Voložonoka, L., Gailīte, L., Miskova, A., Kempa, I. Next generation sequencing identifies pathogenic variants in genes involved in collagen production in patients with preterm birth due to precocious cervical ripening. Poster presentation at RSU Research Week 2019. Knowledge For Use In Practice. April 1–3, 2019.

References

- 1. Abulí, A., Boada, M., Rodríguez-Santiago, B., Coroleu, B., Veiga, A., Armengol, L., Barri, P. N., Pérez-Jurado, L. A. and Estivill, X. 2016. NGS-Based Assay for the Identification of Individuals Carrying Recessive Genetic Mutations in Reproductive Medicine. *Human Mutation*, 37(6), 516–523. https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.22989.
- 2. Agarkova, I. 2010. Non-developing pregnancy: assessment of risk factors and prognosis (review) (Неразвивающаяся беременность: оценка факторов риска и прогнозирование (обзор)). *Медицинский Альманах*, 4(13), 82–88.
- 3. Agler, C. S. and Divaris, K. 2020. Sources of bias in genomics research of oral and dental traits: [special issue of community dental health, to be disseminated at 'Random and systematic bias in population oral health research' IADR symposium, March 2020, Washington DC.]. *Community Dental Health*, 37(1), 102–106. https://doi.org/10.1922/CDH_SpecialIssue_Divaris05.
- 4. Aittomäki, K, Herva, R., Stenman, U. H., Juntunen, K., Ylöstalo, P., Hovatta, O. and de la Chapelle, A. 1996. Clinical features of primary ovarian failure caused by a point mutation in the follicle-stimulating hormone receptor gene. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 81(10), 3722–3726. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.81.10.8855829.
- Aittomäki, Kristiina, Dieguez Lucena, J., Pakarinen, P., Sistonen, P., Tapanainen, J., Gromoll, J., Kaskikari, R., Sankila, E. M., Lehväslaiho, H., Reyes Engel, A., Nieschlag, E., Huhtaniemi, I. and de la Chapelle, A. 1995. Mutation in the follicle-stimulating hormone receptor gene causes hereditary hypergonadotropic ovarian failure. *Cell*, 82(6), 959–968. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(95)90275-9.
- AlAsiri, S., Basit, S., Wood-Trageser, M. A., Yatsenko, S. A., Jeffries, E. P., Surti, U., Ketterer, D. M., Afzal, S., Ramzan, K., Faiyaz-Ul Haque, M., Jiang, H., Trakselis, M. A. and Rajkovic, A. 2015. Exome sequencing reveals MCM8 mutation underlies ovarian failure and chromosomal instability. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 125(1), 258–262. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI78473.
- Alazami, A. M., Awad, S. M., Coskun, S., Al-Hassan, S., Hijazi, H., Abdulwahab, F. M., Poizat, C. and Alkuraya, F. S. 2015. TLE6 mutation causes the earliest known human embryonic lethality. *Genome Biology*, 16(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-015-0792-0.
- 8. Altmüller, J., Palmer, L. J., Fischer, G., Scherb, H. and Wjst, M. 2001. Genomewide scans of complex human diseases: True linkage is hard to find. In *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 69(5), 936–950. https://doi.org/10.1086/324069.
- 9. American College of Medical Genetics. 2011. Technical Standards and Guidelines for CFTR Mutation Testing Standards. *Am Coll Med Genet*. https://doi.org/10.1097/01. GIM.0000031065.72493.BC.
- 10. American College of Medical Genetics (ACMG). 2009. STANDARDS AND GUIDELINES FOR CLINICAL GENETICS LABORATORIES, Section E: CLINICAL CYTOGENETICS, 2010.
- Anum, E. A., Hill, L. D., Pandya, A. and Strauss, J. F. 2009. Connective Tissue and Related Disorders and Preterm Birth: Clues to Genes Contributing to Prematurity. *Placenta*, 30(3), 207–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2008.12.007.
- 12. Ari, E., Ozdemir, O., Djurovic, J. and Silan, F. 2018. Prenatal diagnosis of aneuploidies and microdelation/duplication in amniotic fluid and fetal aborted material by QF-PCR and MLPA analysis. *Biomedical Genetics and Genomics*, 3(1). https://doi.org/10.15761/bgg.1000136.
- Arnhold, I. J., Lofrano-Porto, A. and Latronico, A. C. 2009. Inactivating mutations of luteinizing hormone β-subunit or luteinizing hormone receptor cause oligo-amenorrhea and infertility in women. In *Hormone Research*, 71(2), 75–82. https://doi.org/10.1159/000183895.

- Artymuk, N. V., Belokrinickaya, T. E., Zaharova, U. A., Ksenofontova, O. L., Kulikov, A. V., Leshenko, O. Y., Martirosyan, S. V., Oboskalova, T. A., Olenev, A. S., Perevozkina, O. V., Radzinskiy, V. E., Salimova, I. V., Sevostyanova, O. Y., Simonovskaya, H. Y. Tetruashvili, N. K. and Shifman, E. M. 2019. Истмико-цервикальная недостаточность: распространенность и клинико-анамнестические особенности. (Cervical Insufficiency. Clinical Recommendations (Treatment Protocol). Акушерство и Гинекология: Новости, Мнения, Обучение, 3(25).
- 15. Ashraf, N., Visweshwar, N., Jaglal, M., Sokol, L. and Laber, D. 2019. Evolving paradigm in thrombophilia screening. *Blood Coagulation and Fibrinolysis*, 30(5), 249–252. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/MBC.00000000000809.
- 16. Asimit, J. and Zeggini, E. 2010. Rare variant association analysis methods for complex traits. *Annual Review of Genetics*, 44, 293–308. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-genet-102209-163421.
- Awonuga, A., Govindbhai, J., Zierke, S. and Schnauffer, K. 1998. Continuing the debate on empty follicle syndrome: Can it be associated with normal bioavailability of β-human chorionic gonadotrophin on the day of oocyte recovery? *Human Reproduction*, 13(5), 1281–1284. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/13.5.1281.
- 18. Bahlo, M., Bennett, M. F., Degorski, P., Tankard, R. M., Delatycki, M. B. and Lockhart, P. J. 2018. Recent advances in the detection of repeat expansions with short-read next-generation sequencing. *F1000Research*, 7. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.13980.1.
- Ballif, B. C., Kashork, C. D., Saleki, R., Rorem, E., Sundin, K., Bejjani, B. A. and Shaffer, L. G. 2006. Detecting sex chromosome anomalies and common triploidies in products of conception by array-based comparative genomic hybridization. *Prenatal Diagnosis*, 26(4), 333–339. https://doi.org/10.1002/pd.1411.
- 20. Banõs, N., Migliorelli, F., Posadas, E., Ferreri, J. and Palacio, M. 2015. Definition of Failed Induction of Labor and Its Predictive Factors: Two Unsolved Issues of an Everyday Clinical Situation. In *Fetal Diagnosis and Therapy*, 38(3), 161–169. https://doi.org/10.1159/000433429.
- Bashamboo, A., Ferraz-De-Souza, B., Loureno, D., Lin, L., Sebire, N. J., Montjean, D., Bignon-Topalovic, J., Mandelbaum, J., Siffroi, J. P., Christin-Maitre, S., Radhakrishna, U., Rouba, H., Ravel, C., Seeler, J., Achermann, J. C. and McElreavey, K. 2010. Human male infertility associated with mutations in NR5A1 encoding steroidogenic factor 1. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 87(4), 505–512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2010.09.009.
- 22. Bashiri, A., Halper, K. I. and Orvieto, R. 2018. Recurrent Implantation Failure-update overview on etiology, diagnosis, treatment and future directions 11 Medical and Health Sciences 1114 Paediatrics and Reproductive Medicine. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology*, 16(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12958-018-0414-2.
- 23. Bates, S. M., Greer, A., Middeldorp, S., Veenstra, D. L., Prabulos, A. M. and Vandvik, P. O. 2012. VTE, thrombophilia, antithrombotic therapy, and pregnancy Antithrombotic therapy and prevention of thrombosis, 9th ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. *Chest*, 141(2 Supl.), e691S-e736S. https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.11-2300.
- 24. Beall, S., Brenner, C. and Segars, J. 2010. Oocyte maturation failure: A syndrome of bad eggs. *Fertility and Sterility*, 94(7), 2507–2513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2010.02.037.
- 25. Beau, I., Touraine, P., Meduri, G., Gougeon, A., Desroches, A., Matuchansky, C., Milgrom, E., Kuttenn, F. and Misrahi, M. 1998. A novel phenotype related to partial loss of function mutations of the follicle stimulating hormone receptor. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 102(7), 1352–1359. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI3795.
- 26. Bebbere, D., Masala, L., Albertini, D. F. and Ledda, S. 2016. The subcortical maternal complex: multiple functions for one biological structure? In *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics*, 33(11), 1431–1438. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10815-016-0788-z.

- 27. Beck, T. F., Mullikin, J. C. and Biesecker, L. G. 2016. Systematic evaluation of sanger validation of next-generation sequencing variants. *Clinical Chemistry*, 62(4), 647–654. https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2015.249623.
- 28. Behnamfar, F., Mahdian, M., Rahimi, F. and Samimi, M. 2013. Misoprostol abortion: Ultrasonography versus beta-hCG testing for verification of effectiveness. *Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences*, 29(6). https://doi.org/10.12669/pjms.296.3361.
- 29. Beighton, P. and Horan, F. 1969. Orthopaedic aspects of the Ehlers-Danlos syndrome. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery*. *British Volume*, 51(3), 444–453. https://doi.org/10.1302/0301-620x.51b3.444.
- 30. Bell, K. A., van Deerlin, P. G., Haddad, B. R. and Feinberg, R. F. 1999. Cytogenetic diagnosis of "normal 46,XX" karyotypes in spontaneous abortions frequently may be misleading. *Fertility and Sterility*, 71(2), 334–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0015-0282(98)00445-2.
- 31. Ben-Zvi, M., Herman, H. G., Bar, J., Condrea, A. and Ginath, S. 2020. Are women with cervical incompetence at a higher risk of experiencing urinary and pelvic organ prolapse symptoms? *International Urogynecology Journal*, 31(2), 385–389. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00192-019-03979-w.
- 32. Ben Khelifa, M., Ghieh, F., Boudjenah, R., Hue, C., Fauvert, D., Dard, R., Garchon, H. J. and Vialard, F. 2018. A MEI1 homozygous missense mutation associated with meiotic arrest in a consanguineous family. *Human Reproduction*, 33(6), 1034–1037. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dey073.
- 33. Berezowsky, J., Zbieranowski, I., Demers, J. and Murray, D. 1995. DNA ploidy of hydatidiform moles and nonmolar conceptuses: A study using flow and tissue section image cytometry. *Modern Pathology*, 8(7), 775–781.
- 34. Bezold, K. Y., Karjalainen, M. K., Hallman, M., Teramo, K. and Muglia, L. J. 2013. The genomics of preterm birth: From animal models to human studies. In *Genome Medicine*, 5(4). https://doi.org/10.1186/gm438.
- 35. Bhagavath, B., Xu, N., Ozata, M., Rosenfield, R. L., Bick, D. P., Sherins, R. J. and Layman, L. C. 2007. KAL1 mutations are not a common cause of idiopathic hypogonadotrophic hypogonadism in humans. *Molecular Human Reproduction*, 13(3), 25–30. https://doi.org/10.1093/molehr/gal108.
- 36. Bianchi, E. and Wright, G. J. 2016. Sperm Meets Egg: The Genetics of Mammalian Fertilization. *Annual Review of Genetics*, 50, 93–111. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-genet-121415-121834.
- 37. Bick, D. P. and Lau, E. C. 2006. Preimplantation Genetic Diagnosis. In *Pediatric Clinics of North America*, 53(4), 559–577. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcl.2006.05.006.
- 38. Blue, N. R., Page, J. M. and Silver, R. M. 2019. Genetic abnormalities and pregnancy loss. In *Seminars in Perinatology*, 43(2), 66–73. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.semperi.2018.12.002.
- 39. Bolor, H., Mori, T., Nishiyama, S., Ito, Y., Hosoba, E., Inagaki, H., Kogo, H., Ohye, T., Tsutsumi, M., Kato, T., Tong, M., Nishizawa, H., Pryor-Koishi, K., Kitaoka, E., Sawada, T., Nishiyama, Y., Udagawa, Y. and Kurahashi, H. 2009. Mutations of the SYCP3 Gene in Women with Recurrent Pregnancy Loss. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 84(1), 14–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2008.12.002.
- 40. Bomba, L., Walter, K. and Soranzo, N. 2017. The impact of rare and low-frequency genetic variants in common disease. In *Genome Biology*, 18(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-017-1212-4.
- 41. Börgstrom, E., Paterlini, M., Mold, J. E., Frisen, J. and Lundeberg, J. 2017. Comparison of whole genome amplification techniques for human single cell exome sequencing. *PLoS ONE*, 12(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0171566.
- 42. Boué, J., Taillemite, J. L., Hazael-Massieux, P., Léonard, C. and Boué, A. 1975. Association of pericentric inversion of chromosome 9 and reproductive failure in ten unrelated families. *Humangenetik*, 30(3), 217–224. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00279187.

- 43. Bouilly, J., Bachelot, A., Broutin, I., Touraine, P. and Binart, N. 2011. Novel NOBOX loss-offunction mutations account for 6.2% of cases in a large primary ovarian insufficiency cohort. *Human Mutation*, 32(10), 1108–1113. https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.21543.
- 44. Boycott, K. M., Vanstone, M. R., Bulman, D. E. and MacKenzie, A. E. 2013. Rare-disease genetics in the era of next-generation sequencing: Discovery to translation. In *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 14(10), 681–691. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg3555.
- 45. Boyd, H. A., Poulsen, G., Wohlfahrt, J., Murray, J. C., Feenstra, B. and Melbye, M. 2009. Maternal Contributions to Preterm Delivery. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 170(11), 1358–1364. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwp324.
- Brockway, H. M., Kallapur, S. G., Buhimschi, I. A., Buhimschi, C. S., Ackerman, W. E., Muglia, L. J. and Jones, H. N. 2019. Unique transcriptomic landscapes identified in idiopathic spontaneous and infection related preterm births compared to normal term births. *PLoS ONE*, 14(11). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0225062.
- 47. Brubaker, D., Liu, Y., Wang, J., Tan, H., Zhang, G., Jacobsson, B., Muglia, L., Mesiano, S. and Chance, M. R. 2016. Finding lost genes in GWAS via integrative-omics analysis reveals novel sub-networks associated with preterm birth. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 25(23), 5254–5264. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddw325.
- 48. Bruno, D. L., Burgess, T., Ren, H., Nouri, S., Pertile, M. D., Francis, D. I., Norris, F., Kenney, B. K., Schouten, J., Choo, K. H. A. and Slater, H. R. 2006. High-throughput analysis of chromosome abnormality in spontaneous miscarriage using an MLPA subtelomere assay with an ancillary FISH test for polyploidy. *American Journal of Medical Genetics, Part A*, 140(24), 2786–2793. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.31552.
- 49. Bukowski, R., Hankins, G. D. V., Saade, G. R., Anderson, G. D. and Thornton, S. 2006. Laborassociated gene expression in the human uterine fundus, lower segment, and cervix. *PLoS Medicine*, 3(6), 0918–0930. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.0030169.
- 50. Butler, R., Nakhuda, G., Guimond, C., Jing, C., Lee, N., Hitkari, J., Tallon, N., Taylor, B. and Yuzpe, A. 2019. Analysis of PGT-M and PGT-SR outcomes at a Canadian fertility clinic. *Prenatal Diagnosis*, 39(10), 866–870. https://doi.org/10.1002/pd.5496.
- Caburet, S., Arboleda, V. A., Llano, E., Overbeek, P. A., Barbero, J. L., Oka, K., Harrison, W., Vaiman, D., Ben-Neriah, Z., García-Tuñón, I., Fellous, M., Pendás, A. M., Veitia, R. A. and Vilain, E. 2014. Mutant Cohesin in Premature Ovarian Failure. *New England Journal* of *Medicine*, 370(10), 943–949. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1309635.
- 52. Campbell, I. M., Stewart, J. R., James, R. A., Lupski, J. R., Stankiewicz, P., Olofsson, P. and Shaw, C. A. 2014. Parent of origin, mosaicism, and recurrence risk: Probabilistic modeling explains the broken symmetry of transmission genetics. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 95(4), 345–359. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2014.08.010.
- 53. Capalbo, A., Rienzi, L. and Ubaldi, F. M. 2016. New approaches for multifactor preimplantation genetic diagnosis of monogenic diseases and aneuploidies from a single biopsy. *Fertility and Sterility*, 105(2), 297–298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2015.10.039.
- 54. Cariati, F., D'Argenio, V. and Tomaiuolo, R. 2019. The evolving role of genetic tests in reproductive medicine. In *Journal of Translational Medicine*, 17(1). https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s12967-019-2019-8.
- 55. Caritis, S. N. and Simhan, H. 2012. Cervical pessary use and preterm birth: How little we know. *The Lancet*, 379(9828), 1769–1770. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60116-0.
- 56. Carley, M. E. and Schaffer, J. 2000. Urinary incontinence and pelvic organ prolapse in women with Marfan or Ehlers-Danlos syndrome. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 182(5), 1021–1023. https://doi.org/10.1067/mob.2000.105410.
- 57. Carp, H. J. A. 2007. Recurrent pregnancy loss: Causes, controversies and treatment. In *Recurrent Pregnancy Loss: Causes, Controversies and Treatment*. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/14647270701712928.

- 58. Carr, D. H. 1963. Chromosome Studies in Abortuses and Stillborn Infants. *The Lancet*, 282(7308), 603–606. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(63)90396-9.
- 59. Centogene. (n.d.). *Infertility panel*. Eurofins. https://www.centogene.com/diagnostics/infertility-testing.html.
- 60. Chard, T. 1991. 11 Frequency of implantation and early pregnancy loss in natural cycles. *Bailliere's Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 5(1), 179–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0950-3552(05)80077-X.
- 61. Chaudhari, B. P., Plunkett, J., Ratajczak, C. K., Shen, T. T., Defranco, E. A. and Muglia, L. J. 2008. The genetics of birth timing: Insights into a fundamental component of human development. *Clinical Genetics*, 74(6), 493–501. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-0004.2008.01124.x.
- Chawanpaiboon, S., Vogel, J. P., Moller, A. B., Lumbiganon, P., Petzold, M., Hogan, D., Landoulsi, S., Jampathong, N., Kongwattanakul, K., Laopaiboon, M., Lewis, C., Rattanakanokchai, S., Teng, D. N., Thinkhamrop, J., Watananirun, K., Zhang, J., Zhou, W. and Gülmezoglu, A. M. 2019. Global, regional, and national estimates of levels of preterm birth in 2014: a systematic review and modelling analysis. *The Lancet Global Health*, 7(1), e37–e46. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30451-0.
- 63. Chen, B., Zhang, Z., Sun, X., Kuang, Y., Mao, X., Wang, X., Yan, Z., Li, B., Xu, Y., Yu, M., Fu, J., Mu, J., Zhou, Z., Li, Q., Jin, L., He, L., Sang, Q., and Wang, L. 2017. Biallelic Mutations in PATL2 Cause Female Infertility Characterized by Oocyte Maturation Arrest. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 101(4), 609–615. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2017.08.018.
- 64. Chen, C., Xu, X., Kong, L., Li, P., Zhou, F., Zhao, S., Xin, X., Tan, J. and Zhang, X. 2018. Novel homozygous nonsense mutations in LHCGR lead to empty follicle syndrome and 46, XY disorder of sex development. *Human Reproduction*, 33(7), 1364–1369. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/humrep/dey215.
- 65. Chen, S. U., Su, Y. N., Fang, M. Y., Chang, L. J., Tsai, Y. Y., Lin, L. T., Lee, C. N. and Yang, Y. S. 2008. PGD of β-thalassaemia and HLA haplotypes using OmniPlex whole genome amplification. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*, 17(5), 699–705. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1472-6483(10)60319-7.
- 66. Chen, T., Bian, Y., Liu, X., Zhao, S., Wu, K., Yan, L., Li, M., Yang, Z., Liu, H., Zhao, H. and Chen, Z. J. 2017. A Recurrent Missense Mutation in ZP3 Causes Empty Follicle Syndrome and Female Infertility. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 101(3), 459–465. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ajhg.2017.08.001.
- 67. Cimadomo, D., Capalbo, A., Ubaldi, F. M., Scarica, C., Palagiano, A., Canipari, R. and Rienzi, L. 2016. The Impact of Biopsy on Human Embryo Developmental Potential during Preimplantation Genetic Diagnosis. In *BioMed Research International*, 2016. https://doi.org/ 10.1155/2016/7193075.
- 68. Conde-Agudelo, A. and Romero, R. 2016. Vaginal progesterone to prevent preterm birth in pregnant women with a sonographic short cervix: Clinical and public health implications. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 214(2), 235–242. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ajog.2015.09.102.
- 69. Cooper, G. M., Stone, E. A., Asimenos, G., Green, E. D., Batzoglou, S. and Sidow, A. 2005. Distribution and intensity of constraint in mammalian genomic sequence. *Genome Research*, 15(7), 901–913. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.3577405.
- 70. Cordts, E. B., Christofolini, D. M., Dos Santos, A. A., Bianco, B. and Barbosa, C. P. 2011. Genetic aspects of premature ovarian failure: A literature review. In *Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics*, 283(3), 635–643. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00404-010-1815-4.
- Coughlan, C., Ledger, W., Wang, Q., Liu, F., Demirol, A., Gurgan, T., Cutting, R., Ong, K., Sallam, H. and Li, T. C. 2014. Recurrent implantation failure: Definition and management. In *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*, 28(1), 14–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rbmo.2013.08.011.

- 72. Coulam, C. B., Bustillo, M. and Schulman, J. D. 1986. Empty follicle syndrome. *Fertility and Sterility*, 46(6), 1153–1155. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0015-0282(16)49898-5.
- 73. Cozette, C., Scheffler, F., Lombart, M., Massardier, J., Bolze, P. A., Hajri, T., Golfier, F., Touitou, I., Rittore, C., Gondry, J., Merviel, P., Benkhalifa, M. and Cabry, R. 2020. Pregnancy after oocyte donation in a patient with NLRP7 gene mutations and recurrent molar hydatidiform pregnancies. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics*, 37(9), 2273–2277. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10815-020-01861-z.
- 74. Cozzolino, M., Diaz-Gimeno, P., Pellicer, A. and Garrido, N. 2020. Evaluation of the endometrial receptivity assay and the preimplantation genetic test for aneuploidy in overcoming recurrent implantation failure. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics*, 37(12), 2989–2997. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10815-020-01948-7.
- 75. Da Silva Rios, S., Monteiro, I. C. M., Santos, L. G. B., Dos Garcia Caldas, N., Chen, A. C. R., Chen, J. R. and Silva, H. S. C. 2015. A case of swyer syndrome associated with advanced gonadal dysgerminoma involving long survival. *Case Reports in Oncology*, 8(1), 179–184. https://doi.org/10.1159/000381451.
- 76. Dahdouh, E. M., Balayla, J., Audibert, F., Wilson, R. D., Brock, J. A., Campagnolo, C., Carroll, J., Chong, K., Gagnon, A., Johnson, J. A., MacDonald, W., Okun, N., Pastuck, M. and Vallée-Pouliot, K. 2015. Technical Update: Preimplantation Genetic Diagnosis and Screening. *Journal* of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada, 37(5), 451–463. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1701-2163(15)30261-9.
- 77. Dai, C., Chen, Y., Hu, L., Du, J., Gong, F., Dai, J., Zhang, S., Wang, M., Chen, J., Guo, J., Zheng, W., Lu, C., Wu, Y., Lu, G. and Lin, G. 2019. ZP1 mutations are associated with empty follicle syndrome: Evidence for the existence of an intact oocyte and a zona pellucida in follicles up to the early antral stage. A case report. *Human Reproduction*, 34(11), 2201–2207. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dez174.
- 78. Dai, C., Hu, L., Gong, F., Tan, Y., Cai, S., Zhang, S., Dai, J., Lu, C., Chen, J., Chen, Y., Lu, G., Du, J. and Lin, G. 2019. ZP2 pathogenic variants cause in vitro fertilization failure and female infertility. *Genetics in Medicine*, 21(2), 431–440. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41436-018-0064-y.
- 79. Danforth, D. N. 1983. The morphology of the human cervix. *Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 26(1), 7–13. https://doi.org/10.1097/00003081-198303000-00005.
- 80. Davis, A. R., Horvath, S. K. and Castaño, P. M. 2017. Trends in gestational age at time of surgical abortion for fetal aneuploidy and structural abnormalities. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 216(3), 278.e1-278.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2016.10.031.
- 81. Day, F., Karaderi, T., Jones, M. R., Meun, C., He, C., Drong, A., Kraft, P., Lin, N., Huang, H., Broer, L., Magi, R., Saxena, R., Laisk, T., Urbanek, M., Hayes, M. G., Thorleifsson, G., Fernandez-Tajes, J., Mahajan, A., Mullin, B. H., Welt, C. K. 2018. Large-scale genome-wide meta-analysis of polycystic ovary syndrome suggests shared genetic architecture for different diagnosis criteria. *PLoS Genetics*, 14(12). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1007813.
- 82. De Bourcy, C. F. A., de Vlaminck, I., Kanbar, J. N., Wang, J., Gawad, C. and Quake, S. R. 2014. A quantitative comparison of single-cell whole genome amplification methods. *PLoS ONE*, 9(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0105585.
- 83. De Jong, P. G., Kaandorp, S., di Nisio, M., Goddijn, M. and Middeldorp, S. 2014. Aspirin and/or heparin for women with unexplained recurrent miscarriage with or without inherited thrombophilia. In *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2014(7). https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD004734.pub4.
- 84. De la Rochebrochard, E. and Thonneau, P. 2002. Paternal age and maternal age are risk factors for miscarriage; Results of a multicentre European study. *Human Reproduction*, 17(6), 1649–1656. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/17.6.1649.

- 85. De Paepe, A., Thaler, B., van Gijsegem, M., van Hoecke, D. and Matton, M. 1989. Obstetrical problems in patients with Ehlers-Danlos syndrome type IV; a case report. *European Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, 33(2), 189–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/0028-2243(89)90214-1.
- 86. De Roux, N., Young, J., Misrahi, M., Genet, R., Chanson, P., Schaison, G. and Milgrom, E. 1997. A Family with Hypogonadotropic Hypogonadism and Mutations in the Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Receptor. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 337(22), 1597–1603. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm199711273372205.
- 87. De Vos, M., Nuytinck, L., Verellen, C. and de Paepe, A. 1999. Preterm premature rupture of membranes in a patient with the hypermobility type of the Ehlers-Danlos syndrome. A case report. *Fetal Diagnosis and Therapy*, 14(4), 244–247. https://doi.org/10.1159/000020930.
- 88. De Vries, L., Behar, D. M., Smirin-Yosef, P., Lagovsky, I., Tzur, S. and Basel-Vanagaite, L. 2014. Exome sequencing reveals SYCE1 mutation associated with autosomal recessive primary ovarian insufficiency. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 99(10), E2129–E2132. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2014-1268.
- 89. Dean, J. 2016. Exacting Requirements for Development of the Egg. In *New England Journal* of *Medicine*, 374(3), 279–280. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejme1515512.
- Desvignes, J. P., Bartoli, M., Delague, V., Krahn, M., Miltgen, M., Béroud, C. and Salgado, D. 2018. VarAFT: A variant annotation and filtration system for human next generation sequencing data. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 46(W1), W545–W553. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gky471.
- 91. Di Pasquale, E., Beck-Peccoz, P. and Persani, L. 2004). Hypergonadotropic ovarian failure associated with an inherited mutation of human bone morphogenetic protein-15 (BMP15) gene. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 75(1), 106–111. https://doi.org/10.1086/422103.
- 92. Di Renzo, G. C. 2015. Best practice in maternal-fetal medicine. *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics*, 128(1), 80–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2014.10.011.
- Donaghue, C., Mann, K., Docherty, Z., Mazzaschi, R., Fear, C. and Ogilvie, C. 2010. Combined QF-PCR and MLPA molecular analysis of miscarriage products: An efficient and robust alternative to karyotype analysis. *Prenatal Diagnosis*, 30(2), 133–137. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/pd.2424.
- 94. Dong, Y., Yi, Y., Yao, H., Yang, Z., Hu, H., Liu, J., Gao, C., Zhang, M., Zhou, L., Yi, X. and Liang, Z. 2016. Targeted next-generation sequencing identification of mutations in patients with disorders of sex development. *BMC Medical Genetics*, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12881-016-0286-2.
- 95. Dória, S., Lima, V., Carvalho, B., Moreira, M. L., Sousa, M., Barros, A. and Carvalho, F. 2010. Application of touch FISH in the study of mosaic tetraploidy and maternal cell contamination in pregnancy losses. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics*, 27(11), 657–662. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10815-010-9460-1.
- 96. Dubicke, A., Fransson, E., Centini, G., Andersson, E., Byström, B., Malmström, A., Petraglia, F., Sverremark-Ekström, E. and Ekman-Ordeberg, G. 2010. Pro-inflammatory and antiinflammatory cytokines in human preterm and term cervical ripening. *Journal of Reproductive Immunology*, 84(2), 176–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jri.2009.12.004.
- 97. Dunlop, A. L., Mulle, J. G., Ferranti, E. P., Edwards, S., Dunn, A. B. and Corwin, E. J. 2015. Maternal Microbiome and Pregnancy Outcomes That Impact Infant Health: A Review. In Advances in Neonatal Care, 15(6), 377–385. https://doi.org/10.1097/ ANC.00000000000218.
- Edwards, J. G., Feldman, G., Goldberg, J., Gregg, A. R., Norton, M. E., Rose, N. C., Schneider, A., Stoll, K., Wapner, R., and Watson, M. S. 2015. Expanded carrier screening in reproductive medicine-points to consider. In *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 125(3), 653–662. https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.00000000006666.

- 99. Eiben, B., Bartels, I., Bahr-Porsch, S., Borgmann, S., Gatz, G., Gellert, G., Goebel, R., Hammans, W., Hentemann, M., Osmers, R., Rauskolb, R. and Hansmann, I. 1990. Cytogenetic analysis of 750 spontaneous abortions with the direct-preparation method of chorionic villi and its implications for studying genetic causes of pregnancy wastage. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 47(4), 656–663.
- Eidem, H. R., Ackerman, W. E., McGary, K. L., Abbot, P. and Rokas, A. 2015. Gestational tissue transcriptomics in term and preterm human pregnancies: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Medical Genomics*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12920-015-0099-8.
- Endres, L. K. and Wang, E. Y. 2003. Relationship between tumor necrosis factor-alpha genotype and success of emergent cerclage. *American Journal of Perinatology*, 20(3), 109–113. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2003-40013.
- Erickson, R. P. 2010. Somatic gene mutation and human disease other than cancer: An update. In *Mutation Research Reviews in Mutation Research*, 705(2), 96–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrrev.2010.04.002.
- 103. Evaluation and treatment of recurrent pregnancy loss: A committee opinion. 2012. *Fertility and Sterility*, 98(5), 1103–1111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2012.06.048.
- 104. Everett, C. 1997. Incidence and outcome of bleeding before the 20th week of pregnancy: Prospective study from general practice. *British Medical Journal*, 315(7099), 32–34. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.315.7099.32.
- 105. Fauchereau, F., Shalev, S., Chervinsky, E., Beck-Fruchter, R., Legois, B., Fellous, M., Caburet, S. and Veitia, R. A. 2016. A non-sense MCM9 mutation in a familial case of primary ovarian insufficiency. *Clinical Genetics*, 89(5), 603–607. https://doi.org/10.1111/cge.12736.
- 106. Fejgin, M. D., Pomeranz, M., Liberman, M., Fishman, A. and Amiel, A. 2005. Fluorescent in situ hybridization: An effective and less costly technique for genetic evaluation of products of conception in pregnancy losses. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, 84(9), 860– 863. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0001-6349.2005.00757.x.
- 107. Feng, R., Yan, Z., Li, B., Yu, M., Sang, Q., Tian, G., Xu, Y., Chen, B., Qu, R., Sun, Z., Sun, X., Jin, L., He, L., Kuang, Y., Cowan, N. J. and Wang, L. 2016. Mutations in TUBB8 cause a multiplicity of phenotypes in human oocytes and early embryos. *Journal of Medical Genetics*, 53(10), 662–671. https://doi.org/10.1136/jmedgenet-2016-103891.
- 108. Fernandez-Marmiesse, A., Gouveia, S. and Couce, M. L. 2017. NGS Technologies as a Turning Point in Rare Disease Research, Diagnosis and Treatment. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 25(3), 404–432. https://doi.org/10.2174/0929867324666170718101946.
- 109. Fiorentino, F. 2012. Molecular genetic analysis of single cells. *Seminars in Reproductive Medicine*, 30(4), 267–282. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0032-1313906.
- 110. Fiorentino, F., Biricik, A., Bono, S., Spizzichino, L., Cotroneo, E., Cottone, G., Kokocinski, F. and Michel, C. E. 2014. Development and validation of a next-generation sequencing-based protocol for 24-chromosome aneuploidy screening of embryos. *Fertility and Sterility*, 101(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2014.01.051.
- 111. Fiorentino, F., Bono, S., Biricik, A., Nuccitelli, A., Cotroneo, E., Cottone, G., Kokocinski, F., Michel, C. E., Minasi, M. G. and Greco, E. 2014. Application of next-generation sequencing technology for comprehensive aneuploidy screening of blastocysts in clinical preimplantation genetic screening cycles. *Human Reproduction*, 29(12), 2802–2813. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deu277.
- 112. Foote, R. H. and Carney, E. W. 1988. Factors Limiting Reproductive Efficiency in Selected Laboratory Animals. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 541(1), 683–696. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1988.tb22306.x.
- 113. Ford, C. E., Jones, K. W., Polani, P. E., de Almeida, J. C. and Briggs, J. H. 1959. a Sex-Chromosome Anomaly in a Case of Gonadal Dysgenesis (Turner'S Syndrome). *The Lancet*, 273(7075), 711–713. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(59)91893-8.

- 114. Foresta, C., Ferlin, A., Gianaroli, L. and Dallapiccola, B. 2002. Guidelines for the appropriate use of genetic tests in infertile couples. *European Journal of Human Genetics*, 10(5), 303–312. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ejhg.5200805.
- 115. Forman, E. J., Hong, K. H., Ferry, K. M., Tao, X., Taylor, D., Levy, B., Treff, N. R. and Scott, R. T. 2013. In vitro fertilization with single euploid blastocyst transfer: A randomized controlled trial. *Fertility and Sterility*, 100(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.02.056.
- 116. Fortuño, C. and Labarta, E. 2014. Genetics of primary ovarian insufficiency: a review. *Journal* of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics, 31(12), 1573–1585. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10815-014-0342-9.
- 117. França, M. M., Funari, M. F. A., Nishi, M. Y., Narcizo, A. M., Domenice, S., Costa, E. M. F., Lerario, A. M. and Mendonca, B. B. 2018. Identification of the first homozygous 1-bp deletion in GDF9 gene leading to primary ovarian insufficiency by using targeted massively parallel sequencing. *Clinical Genetics*, 93(2), 408–411. https://doi.org/10.1111/cge.13156.
- 118. França, Monica M., Funari, M. F. A., Lerario, A. M., Nishi, M. Y., Pita, C. C., Fontenele, E. G. P. and Mendonca, B. B. 2017. A novel homozygous 1-bp deletion in the NOBOX gene in two Brazilian sisters with primary ovarian failure. *Endocrine*, 58(3), 442–447. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12020-017-1459-2.
- 119. Freed, D., Aldana, R., Weber, J. A. and Edwards, J. S. 2017. The Sentieon Genomics Tools A fast and accurate solution to variant calling from next-generation sequence data. *BioRxiv*. https://doi.org/10.1101/115717.
- 120. Frey, H. A. and Klebanoff, M. A. 2016. The epidemiology, etiology, and costs of preterm birth. In *Seminars in Fetal and Neonatal Medicine*, 21(2), 68–73. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.siny.2015.12.011.
- 121. Gaasenbeek, M., Powell, B. L., Sovio, U., Haddad, L., Gharani, N., Bennett, A., Groves, C. J., Rush, K., Goh, M. J., Conway, G. S., Ruokonen, A., Martikainen, H., Pouta, A., Taponen, S., Hartikainen, A. L., Halford, S., Järvelin, M. R., Franks, S. and McCarthy, M. I. 2004). Large-Scale Analysis of the Relationship between CYP11A Promoter Variation, Polycystic Ovarian Syndrome, and Serum Testosterone. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 89(5), 2408–2413. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2003-031640.
- 122. Garrisi, J. G., Colls, P., Ferry, K. M., Zheng, X., Garrisi, M. G. and Munné, S. 2009. Effect of infertility, maternal age, and number of previous miscarriages on the outcome of preimplantation genetic diagnosis for idiopathic recurrent pregnancy loss. *Fertility and Sterility*, 92(1), 288–295. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2008.05.056.
- 123. Gazizova, G. R., Valeeva, F. V., Shaydullina, M. R. and Akbirova, E. I. 2020. *Swyer Syndrome*. Medical Herald of the South of Russia. https://doi.org/10.21886/2219-8075-2020-11-3-65-68.
- 124. Gekas, J., Thepot, F., Turleau, C., Siffroi, J. P., Dadoune, J. P., Briault, S., Rio, M., Bourouillou, G., Carré-Pigeon, F., Wasels, R., Benzacken, B., Montagnon, M., Rives, N., Clotteau, L., Malingue, M. C., Darabi, P., Poitot, C., Baverel, F., Lesourd, S., Cartault, F. 2001. Chromosomal factors of infertility in candidate couples for ICSI: An equal risk of constitutional aberrations in women and men. *Human Reproduction*, 16(1), 82–90. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/16.1.82.
- 125. Genetics Home Reference. 2020. *Kallmann syndrome. Inheritance*. https://medlineplus.gov/genetics/condition/kallmann-syndrome/#inheritance.
- 126. Goldenberg, R. L., Gravett, M. G., Iams, J., Papageorghiou, A. T., Waller, S. A., Kramer, M., Culhane, J., Barros, F., Conde-Agudelo, A., Bhutta, Z. A., Knight, H. E. and Villar, J. 2012. The preterm birth syndrome: Issues to consider in creating a classification system. *American Journal* of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 206(2), 113–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2011.10.865.
- 127. Goodwin, S., McPherson, J. D. and McCombie, W. R. 2016. Coming of age: Ten years of next-generation sequencing technologies. In *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 17(6), 333–351. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg.2016.49.

- 128. Goswami, D. and Conway, G. S. 2005. Premature ovarian failure. In *Human Reproduction Update*, 11(4), 391–410. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dmi012.
- 129. Greco, E., Bono, S., Ruberti, A., Lobascio, A. M., Greco, P., Biricik, A., Spizzichino, L., Greco, A., Tesarik, J., Minasi, M. G. and Fiorentino, F. 2014. Comparative genomic hybridization selection of blastocysts for repeated Implantation Failure Treatment: A Pilot Study. *BioMed Research International*, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/457913.
- Groff, A. F., Resetkova, N., di Domenico, F., Sakkas, D., Penzias, A., Rinn, J. L. and Eggan, K. 2019. RNA-seq as a tool for evaluating human embryo competence. *Genome Research*, 29(10), 1705–1718. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.252981.119.x.
- 131. Gueye, N. A., Jalas, C., Tao, X., Taylor, D., Scott, R. T. and Treff, N. R. 2014. Improved sensitivity to detect recombination using qPCR for Dyskeratosis Congenita PGD. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics*, 31(9), 1227–1230. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10815-014-0298-9.
- 132. Haataja, R., Karjalainen, M. K., Luukkonen, A., Teramo, K., Puttonen, H., Ojaniemi, M., Varilo, T., Chaudhari, B. P., Plunkett, J., Murray, J. C., McCarroll, S. A., Peltonen, L., Muglia, L. J., Palotie, A. and Hallman, M. 2011. Mapping a new spontaneous preterm birth susceptibility gene, IGF1R, using linkage, haplotype sharing, and association analysis. *PLoS Genetics*, 7(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1001293.
- 133. Hammouda, A. A. 1964. *Recurrent hydatidiform mole*. Obstetrical and Gynecological Survey. https://doi.org/10.1097/00006254-196402000-00014.
- Handyside, A. H., Kontogianni, E. H., Hardy, K. and Winston, R. M. L. 1991. Pregnancies from biopsied human preimplantation embryos sexed by Y-specific DNA amplification. *Obstetrical* and Gynecological Survey, 46(7), 477–478. https://doi.org/10.1097/00006254-199107000-00024.
- 135. Handyside, Alan, H., Harton, G. L., Mariani, B., Thornhill, A. R., Affara, N., Shaw, M. A. and Griffin, D. K. 2010. Karyomapping: A universal method for genome wide analysis of genetic disease based on mapping crossovers between parental haplotypes. *Journal of Medical Genetics*, 47(10), 651–658. https://doi.org/10.1136/jmg.2009.069971.
- 136. Handyside, Alan, H., Robinson, M. D., Simpson, R. J., Omar, M. B., Shaw, M. A., Grudzinskas, J. G. and Rutherford, A. 2004). Isothermal whole genome amplification from single and small numbers of cells: A new era for preimplantation genetic diagnosis of inherited disease. *Molecular Human Reproduction*, 10(10), 767–772. https://doi.org/10.1093/molehr/gah101.
- 137. Hansen, A. W., Chayed, Z., Pallesen, K., Codruta Vasilescu, I. and Bygum, A. 2020. *Hereditary leiomyomatosis and renal cell cancer*. Acta Dermato-Venereologica. https://doi.org/10.2340/00015555-3366.
- 138. Harnden, D. G. and Jacobs, P. A. 1961. Cytogenetics of abnormal sexual development in man. *British Medical Bulletin*, 17(3), 206–212. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.bmb.a069910.
- 139. Harper, J. C., Aittomäki, K., Borry, P., Cornel, M. C., De Wert, G., Dondorp, W., Geraedts, J., Gianaroli, L., Ketterson, K., Liebaers, I., Lundin, K., Mertes, H., Morris, M., Pennings, G., Sermon, K., Spits, C., Soini, S., van Montfoort, A. P. A., Veiga, A., Macek, M. 2018. Recent developments in genetics and medically assisted reproduction: From research to clinical applications. In *European Journal of Human Genetics*, 26(1), 12–33. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41431-017-0016-z.
- 140. Harton, G. L., de Rycke, M., Fiorentino, F., Moutou, C., Sengupta, S., Traeger-Synodinos, J. and Harper, J. C. 2011. ESHRE PGD consortium best practice guidelines for amplification-based PGD. *Human Reproduction*, 26(1), 33–40. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deq231.

- 141. Hassan, S. S., Romero, R., Tarca, A. L., Nhan-Chang, C. L., Mittal, P., Vaisbuch, E., Gonzalez, J. M., Chaiworapongsa, T., Ali-Fehmi, R., Dong, Z., Than, N. G. and Kim, C. J. 2010. The molecular basis for sonographic cervical shortening at term: Identification of differentially expressed genes and the epithelial-mesenchymal transition as a function of cervical length. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 203(5), 472.e1-472.e14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2010.06.076.
- 142. Hassan, S. S., Romero, R., Tarca, A. L., Nhan-Chang, C. L., Vaisbuch, E., Erez, O., Mittal, P., Kusanovic, J. P., Mazaki-Tovi, S., Yeo, L., Draghici, S., Kim, J. S., Uldbjerg, N. and Kim, C. J. 2009. The transcriptome of cervical ripening in human pregnancy before the onset of labor at term: Identification of novel molecular functions involved in this process. *Journal of Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine*, 22(12), 1183–1193. https://doi.org/10.3109/14767050903353216.
- 143. Hassold, T., Quillen, S. D. and Yamane, J. A. 1983. Sex ratio in spontaneous abortions. *Annals of Human Genetics*, 47(1), 39–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-1809.1983.tb00968.x.
- 144. Hayward, B. E., de Vos, M., Talati, N., Abdollahi, M. R., Taylor, G. R., Meyer, E., Williams, D., Maher, E. R., Setna, F., Nazir, K., Hussaini, S., Jafri, H., Rashid, Y., Sheridan, E. and Bonthron, D. T. 2009. Genetic and epigenetic analysis of recurrent hydatidiform mole. *Human Mutation*, 30(5). https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.20993.
- 145. Heazell, A. E. P., Newman, L., Lean, S. C. and Jones, R. L. 2018. Pregnancy outcome in mothers over the age of 35. In *Current Opinion in Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 30(6), 337–343. https://doi.org/10.1097/GCO.000000000000494.
- 146. Hedley, D. W., Friedlander, M. L., Taylor, I. W., Rugg, C. A. and Musgrave, E. A. 1983. Method for analysis of cellular DNA content of paraffin-embedded pathological material using flow cytometry. *Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry*, 31(11), 1333–1335. https://doi.org/10.1177/31.11.6619538.
- 147. Hellani, A., Coskun, S., Tbakhi, A. and Al-Hassan, S. 2004). The Preimplantation Genetic Diagnosis International Society (PGDIS): Guidelines for good practice in PGD. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*, 9(4), 430–434. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1472-6483(10)61279-5.
- 148. Hernández-López, D., Geisinger, A., Trovero, M. F., Santiñaque, F. F., Brauer, M., Folle, G. A., Benavente, R. and Rodríguez-Casuriaga, R. 2020. Familial primary ovarian insufficiency associated with an SYCE1 point mutation: Defective meiosis elucidated in humanized mice. *Molecular Human Reproduction*, 26(7), 485–497. https://doi.org/10.1093/molehr/gaaa032.
- 149. Hickey, S. E., Curry, C. J. and Toriello, H. V. 2013. ACMG practice guideline: Lack of evidence for MTHFR polymorphism testing. *Genetics in Medicine*, 15(2), 153–156. https://doi.org/10.1038/gim.2012.165.
- 150. Hou, Y., Wu, K., Shi, X., Li, F., Song, L., Wu, H., Dean, M., Li, G., Tsang, S., Jiang, R., Zhang, X., Li, B., Liu, G., Bedekar, N., Lu, N., Xie, G., Liang, H., Chang, L., Wang, T., Wang, J. 2015. Comparison of variations detection between whole-genome amplification methods used in single-cell resequencing. *GigaScience*, 4(1), 37. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13742-015-0068-3.
- 151. Huang, H.-L., Lv, C., Zhao, Y.-C., Li, W., He, X.-M., Li, P., Sha, A.-G., Tian, X., Papasian, C. J., Deng, H.-W., Lu, G.-X., and Xiao, H.-M. 2014. Mutant ZP1 in Familial Infertility. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 370(13), 1220–1226. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1308851.
- 152. Huang, L., Tong, X., Luo, L., Zheng, S., Jin, R., Fu, Y., Zhou, G., Li, D. and Liu, Y. 2017. Mutation analysis of the TUBB8 gene in nine infertile women with oocyte maturation arrest. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*, 35(3), 305–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rbmo.2017.05.017.
- 153. Huusko, J. M., Karjalainen, M. K., Graham, B. E., Zhang, G., Farrow, E. G., Miller, N. A., Jacobsson, B., Eidem, H. R., Murray, J. C., Bedell, B., Breheny, P., Brown, N. W., Bødker, F. L., Litterman, N. K., Jiang, P. P., Russell, L., Hinds, D. A., Hu, Y., Rokas, A., Muglia, L. J. 2018. Whole exome sequencing reveals HSPA1L as a genetic risk factor for spontaneous preterm birth. *PLoS Genetics*, 14(7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1007394.
- 154. Hyde, K. J. and Schust, D. J. 2015. Genetic considerations in recurrent pregnancy loss. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine*, 5(3). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a023119.

- 155. Inhorn, M. C. and Patrizio, P. 2014. Infertility around the globe: New thinking on gender, reproductive technologies and global movements in the 21st century. *Human Reproduction Update*, 21(4), 411–426. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dmv016.
- 156. Jarrett, K. L., Michaelis, R. C., Phelan, M. C., Vincent, V. A. and Best, R. G. 2001. Microsatellite analysis reveals a high incidence of maternal cell contamination in 46,XX products of conception consisting of villi or a combination of villi and membranous material. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 185(1), 198–203. https://doi.org/10.1067/mob.2001.114692.
- 157. Jeve, Y. B. and Davies, W. 2014. Evidence-based management of recurrent miscarriages. In *Journal of Human Reproductive Sciences*, 7(3), 159–169. https://doi.org/10.4103/0974-1208.142475.
- 158. Jia, Y., Li, K., Zheng, C., Tang, Y., Bai, D., Yin, J., Chi, F., Zhang, Y., Li, Y., Tu, Z., Wang, Y., Pan, J., Liang, S., Guo, Y., Ruan, J., Kong, P., Wu, B., Hu, Y., Wang, H., Gao, S. 2020. Identification and rescue of a novel TUBB8 mutation that causes the first mitotic division defects and infertility. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics*, 37(11), 2713–2722. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10815-020-01945-w.
- 159. Jordan, J. A., Singer, A., Jones, H. W. and Shafi, M. I. 2009. The Cervix. In *The Cervix: Second Edition*. Wiley-Blackwell. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781444312744.
- 160. Kamburov, A., Stelzl, U., Lehrach, H. and Herwig, R. 2013. The ConsensusPathDB interaction database: 2013 Update. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 41(D1). https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks1055.
- 161. Kamps, R., Brandão, R. D., van den Bosch, B. J., Paulussen, A. D. C., Xanthoulea, S., Blok, M. J. and Romano, A. 2017. Next-generation sequencing in oncology: Genetic diagnosis, risk prediction and cancer classification. In *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 18(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18020308.
- 162. Kaplan, I. I. 1954. Third generation follow-up of women treated by X-ray therapy for menstrual dysfunction and sterility twenty-eight years ago, with detailed histories of the grandchildren born to these women. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 67(3), 484–490. https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9378(54)90040-X.
- 163. KAPLAN, I. I. 1956. Genetic speculation based upon animal experimentation in relation to actual human experiences, in the treatment of female infertility and sterility by x-ray therapy. *The Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology of the British Empire*, 63(3), 397–399. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.1956.tb05508.x.
- 164. Karantzali, E., Rosmaraki, P., Kotsakis, A., Le Roux-Le Pajolec, M. G. and Fitsialos, G. 2019. The effect of FBI CODIS Core STR Loci expansion on familial DNA database searching. *Forensic Science International: Genetics*, 43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsigen.2019.07.008.
- Keelan, J. A., Blumenstein, M., Helliwell, R. J. A., Sato, T. A., Marvin, K. W. and Mitchell, M. D. 2003. Cytokines, prostaglandins and parturition A review. *Placenta*, 24(Suppl. A). https://doi.org/10.1053/plac.2002.0948.
- 166. Kendig, K. I., Baheti, S., Bockol, M. A., Drucker, T. M., Hart, S. N., Heldenbrand, J. R., Hernaez, M., Hudson, M. E., Kalmbach, M. T., Klee, E. W., Mattson, N. R., Ross, C. A., Taschuk, M., Wieben, E. D., Wiepert, M., Wildman, D. E. and Mainzer, L. S. 2019. SentIeon DNaSeq variant calling workflow demonstrates strong computational performance and accuracy. *Frontiers in Genetics*, 10(JUL). https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2019.00736.
- 167. Kieffer, E., Nicod, J. C., Gardes, N., Kastner, C., Becker, N., Celebi, C., Pirrello, O., Rongières, C., Koscinski, I., Gosset, P. and Moutou, C. 2016. Improving preimplantation genetic diagnosis for Fragile X syndrome: Two new powerful single-round multiplex indirect and direct tests. *European Journal of Human Genetics*, 24(2), 221–227. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejhg.2015.96.
- 168. Kircher, M., Witten, D. M., Jain, P., O'roak, B. J., Cooper, G. M. and Shendure, J. 2014. A general framework for estimating the relative pathogenicity of human genetic variants. *Nature Genetics*, 46(3), 310–315. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2892.

- 169. Kniss, D. A. and Summerfield, T. L. 2020. Progesterone Receptor Signaling Selectively Modulates Cytokine-Induced Global Gene Expression in Human Cervical Stromal Cells. *Frontiers in Genetics*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2020.00883.
- 170. Knochenhauer, E. S., Key, T. J., Kahsar-Miller, M., Waggoner, W., Boots, L. R. and Azziz, R. 1998. Prevalence of the polycystic ovary syndrome in unselected black and white women of the Southeastern United States: A prospective study. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 83(9), 3078–3082. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.83.9.3078.
- 171. Kochhar, P. K. and Ghosh, P. 2013. Reproductive outcome of couples with recurrent miscarriage and balanced chromosomal abnormalities. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Research*, 39(1), 113–120. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1447-0756.2012.01905.x.
- 172. Konstantinidis, M., Prates, R., Goodall, N. N., Fischer, J., Tecson, V., Lemma, T., Chu, B., Jordan, A., Armenti, E., Wells, D. and Munné, S. 2015. Live births following Karyomapping of human blastocysts: Experience from clinical application of the method. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*, 31(3), 394–403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rbmo.2015.05.018.
- 173. Koot, Y. E. M., van Hooff, S. R., Boomsma, C. M., Van Leenen, D., Koerkamp, M. J. A. G., Goddijn, M., Eijkemans, M. J. C., Fauser, B. C. J. M., Holstege, F. C. P. and Macklon, N. S. 2016. An endometrial gene expression signature accurately predicts recurrent implantation failure after IVF. *Scientific Reports*, 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep19411.
- 174. Kopanos, C., Tsiolkas, V., Kouris, A., Chapple, C. E., Albarca Aguilera, M., Meyer, R. and Massouras, A. 2019. VarSome: the human genomic variant search engine. *Bioinformatics*, 35(11), 1978–1980. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bty897.
- 175. Kovanci, E., Rohozinski, J., Simpson, J. L., Heard, M. J., Bishop, C. E. and Carson, S. A. 2007. Growth differentiating factor-9 mutations may be associated with premature ovarian failure. *Fertility and Sterility*, 87(1), 143–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2006.05.079.
- 176. Kovavisarach, E. and Jamnansiri, C. 2005. Intravaginal misoprostol 600 μg and 800 μg for the treatment of early pregnancy failure. *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics*, 90(3), 208–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2005.04.016.
- 177. Krausz, C., Riera-Escamilla, A., Moreno-Mendoza, D., Holleman, K., Cioppi, F., Algaba, F., Pybus, M., Friedrich, C., Wyrwoll, M. J., Casamonti, E., Pietroforte, S., Nagirnaja, L., Lopes, A. M., Kliesch, S., Pilatz, A., Carrell, D. T., Conrad, D. F., Ars, E., Ruiz-Castañé, E., Tüttelmann, F. 2020. Genetic dissection of spermatogenic arrest through exome analysis: clinical implications for the management of azoospermic men. *Genetics in Medicine*, 22(12), 1956–1966. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41436-020-0907-1.
- 178. Kudesia, R., Li, M., Smith, J., Patel, A. and Williams, Z. 2014. Rescue karyotyping: A case series of array-based comparative genomic hybridization evaluation of archival conceptual tissue. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology*, 12(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7827-12-19.
- 179. Kumar, T. R., Wang, Y., Lu, N. and Matzuk, M. M. 1997. Follicle stimulating hormone is required for ovarian follicle maturation but not male fertility. *Nature Genetics*, 15(2), 201–204. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng0297-201.
- Kupferminc, M. J., Eldor, A., Steinman, N., Many, A., Bar-Am, A., Jaffa, A., Fait, G. and Lessing, J. B. 1999. Increased Frequency of Genetic Thrombophilia in Women with Complications of Pregnancy. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 340(1), 9–13. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm199901073400102.
- 181. Kyrgiou, M., Athanasiou, A., Kalliala, I. E. J., Paraskevaidi, M., Mitra, A., Martin-Hirsch, P. P. L., Arbyn, M., Bennett, P. and Paraskevaidis, E. 2017. Obstetric outcomes after conservative treatment for cervical intraepithelial lesions and early invasive disease. In *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2017(11). https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD012847.
- 182. Laissue, P. 2015. Aetiological coding sequence variants in non-syndromic premature ovarian failure: From genetic linkage analysis to next generation sequencing. In *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 411, 243–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2015.05.005.

- 183. Laissue, P., Christin-Maitre, S., Touraine, P., Kuttenn, F., Ritvos, O., Aittomaki, K., Bourcigaux, N., Jacquesson, L., Bouchard, P., Frydman, R., Dewailly, D., Reyss, A. C., Jeffery, L., Bachelot, A., Massin, N., Fellous, M. and Veitia, R. A. 2006. Mutations and sequence variants in GDF9 and BMP15 in patients with premature ovarian failure. *European Journal of Endocrinology*, 154(5), 739–744. https://doi.org/10.1530/eje.1.02135.
- Laissue, P., Vinci, G., Veitia, R. A. and Fellous, M. 2008. Recent advances in the study of genes involved in non-syndromic premature ovarian failure. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 282(1–2), 101–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2007.11.005.
- 185. Lathi, R. B., Gustin, S. L. F., Keller, J., Maisenbacher, M. K., Sigurjonsson, S., Tao, R. and Demko, Z. 2014. Reliability of 46,XX results on miscarriage specimens: A review of 1,222 first-trimester miscarriage specimens. *Fertility and Sterility*, 101(1), 178–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.09.031.
- 186. Lathi, R. B., Loring, M., Massie, J. A. M., Demko, Z. P., Johnson, D., Sigurjonsson, S., Gemelos, G. and Rabinowitz, M. 2012. Informatics enhanced SNP microarray analysis of 30 miscarriage samples compared to routine cytogenetics. *PLoS ONE*, 7(3). https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0031282.
- Layman, L. C. 2013. The genetic basis of female reproductive disorders: Etiology and clinical testing. In *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 370(1–2), 138–148. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.mce.2013.02.016.
- 188. Layman, L. C., Cohen, D. P., Jin, M., Xie, J., Li, Z., Reindollar, R. H., Bolbolan, S., Bick, D. P., Sherins, R. R., Duck, L. W., Musgrove, L. C., Sellers, J. C. and Neill, J. D. 1998. Mutations in gonadotropin-releasing hormone receptor gene cause hypogonadotropic hypogonadism. *Nature Genetics*, 18(1), 14–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng0198-14.
- 189. Layman, L. C., Lee, E.-J., Peak, D. B., Namnoum, A. B., Vu, K. V., van Lingen, B. L., Gray, M. R., McDonough, P. G., Reindollar, R. H. and Jameson, J. L. 1997. Delayed Puberty and Hypogonadism Caused by Mutations in the Follicle-Stimulating Hormone β-Subunit Gene. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 337(9), 607–611. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm199708283370905.
- Le Quesne Stabej, P., Williams, H. J., James, C., Tekman, M., Stanescu, H. C., Kleta, R., Ocaka, L., Lescai, F., Storr, H. L., Bitner-Glindzicz, M., Bacchelli, C., Conway, G. S. and Sgene, G. O. 2016. STAG3 truncating variant as the cause of primary ovarian insufficiency. *European Journal* of Human Genetics, 24(1), 135–138. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejhg.2015.107.
- 191. Leduc, L. and Wasserstrum, N. 1992. Successful Treatment with the Smith-Hodge Pessary of Cervical Incompetence Due to Defective Connective Tissue in Ehlers-Danlos Syndrome. *American Journal of Perinatology*, 9(1), 25–27. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2007-994664.
- 192. Lek, M., Karczewski, K. J., Minikel, E. V., Samocha, K. E., Banks, E., Fennell, T., O'Donnell-Luria, A. H., Ware, J. S., Hill, A. J., Cummings, B. B., Tukiainen, T., Birnbaum, D. P., Kosmicki, J. A., Duncan, L. E., Estrada, K., Zhao, F., Zou, J., Pierce-Hoffman, E., Berghout, J., Williams, A. L. 2016. Analysis of protein-coding genetic variation in 60,706 humans. *Nature*, 536(7616), 285–291. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature19057.
- 193. Levy, B., Sigurjonsson, S., Pettersen, B., Maisenbacher, M. K., Hall, M. P., Demko, Z., Lathi, R. B., Tao, R., Aggarwal, V., and Rabinowitz, M. 2014. Genomic imbalance in products of conception: Single-nucleotide polymorphism chromosomal microarray analysis. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 124(2 PART1), 202–209. https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.00000000000325.
- 194. Levy, S., Sutton, G., Ng, P. C., Feuk, L., Halpern, A. L., Walenz, B. P., Axelrod, N., Huang, J., Kirkness, E. F., Denisov, G., Lin, Y., MacDonald, J. R., Pang, A. W. C., Shago, M., Stockwell, T. B., Tsiamouri, A., Bafna, V., Bansal, V., Kravitz, S. A., Venter, J. C. 2007. The diploid genome sequence of an individual human. *PLoS Biology*, 5(10), 2113–2144. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pbio.0050254.
- 195. Li, H. 2013. Aligning sequence reads, clone sequences and assembly contigs with BWA-MEM. *ArXiv Preprint ArXiv*. https://doi.org/arXiv:1303.3997 [q-bio.GN].
- 196. Li, J., Oehlert, J., Snyder, M., Stevenson, D. K. and Shaw, G. M. 2017. Fetal de novo mutations and preterm birth. *PLoS Genetics*, 13(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1006689.
- 197. Li, Lei, Baibakov, B. and Dean, J. 2008. A Subcortical Maternal Complex Essential for Preimplantation Mouse Embryogenesis. *Developmental Cell*, 15(3), 416–425. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.devcel.2008.07.010.
- 198. Li, Lei, Zheng, P. and Dean, J. 2010. Maternal control of early mouse development. In *Development*, 137(6), 859–870. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.039487.
- 199. Li, Lin, Wang, B., Zhang, W., Chen, B., Luo, M., Wang, J., Wang, X., Cao, Y. and Kee, K. 2017. A homozygous NOBOX truncating variant causes defective transcriptional activation and leads to primary ovarian insufficiency. *Human Reproduction*, 32(1), 248–255. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dew271.
- 200. Liao, W. X., Roy, A. C., Chan, C., Arulkumaran, S. and Ratnam, S. S. 1998. A new molecular variant of luteinizing hormone associated with female infertility. *Fertility and Sterility*, 69(1), 102–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0015-0282(97)00445-7.
- 201. Lin, S. Bin, Xie, Y. J., Chen, Z., Zhou, Y., Wu, J. Z., Zhang, Z. Q., Shi, S. S., Chen, B. J. and Fang, Q. 2015. Improved assay performance of single nucleotide polymorphism array over conventional karyotyping in analyzing products of conception. *Journal of the Chinese Medical Association*, 78(7), 408–413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcma.2015.03.010.
- 202. Lin, J., Xu, H., Chen, B., Wang, W., Wang, L., Sun, X. and Sang, Q. 2020. Expanding the genetic and phenotypic spectrum of female infertility caused by TLE6 mutations. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics*, 37(2), 437–442. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10815-019-01653-0.
- 203. Lind, J. and Wallenburg, H. C. S. 2002. Pregnancy and the Ehlers-Danlos syndrome: A retrospective study in a Dutch population. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, 81(4), 293–300. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0412.2002.810403.x.
- 204. Litjens, S. H. M., de Pereda, J. M. and Sonnenberg, A. 2006. Current insights into the formation and breakdown of hemidesmosomes. In *Trends in Cell Biology*, 16(7), 376–383. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2006.05.004.
- 205. Liu, S., Song, L., Cram, D. S., Xiong, L., Wang, K., Wu, R., Liu, J., Deng, K., Jia, B., Zhong, M. and Yang, F. 2015. Traditional karyotyping vs copy number variation sequencing for detection of chromosomal abnormalities associated with spontaneous miscarriage. *Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 46(4), 472–477. https://doi.org/10.1002/uog.14849.
- 206. Liu, X., Zhao, Y., Pawlyk, B., Damaser, M. and Li, T. 2006. Failure of elastic fiber homeostasis leads to pelvic floor disorders. *American Journal of Pathology*, 168(2), 519–528. https://doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2006.050399.
- 207. Liu, Z., Zhu, L., Wang, J., Luo, G., Xi, Q., Zhou, X., Li, Z., Yang, X., Duan, J., Jin, L. and Zhang, X. 2020. Novel homozygous mutations in PATL2 lead to female infertility with oocyte maturation arrest. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics*, 37(4), 841–847. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10815-020-01698-6.
- 208. Lomax, B., Tang, S., Separovic, E., Phillips, D., Hillard, E., Thomson, T. and Kalousek, D. K. 2000. Comparative genomic hybridization in combination with flow cytometry improves results of cytogenetic analysis of spontaneous abortions. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 66(5), 1516–1521. https://doi.org/10.1086/302878.
- 209. Maddirevula, S., Awartani, K., Coskun, S., AlNaim, L. F., Ibrahim, N., Abdulwahab, F., Hashem, M., Alhassan, S. and Alkuraya, F. S. 2020. A genomics approach to females with infertility and recurrent pregnancy loss. *Human Genetics*, 139(5), 605–613. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-020-02143-5.
- 210. Makieva, S., Dubicke, A., Rinaldi, S. F., Fransson, E., Ekman-Ordeberg, G. and Norman, J. E. 2017. The preterm cervix reveals a transcriptomic signature in the presence of premature prelabor rupture of membranes. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2017.02.009.

- 211. Mäkinen, N., Mehine, M., Tolvanen, J., Kaasinen, E., Li, Y., Lehtonen, H. J., Gentile, M., Yan, J., Enge, M., Taipale, M., Aavikko, M., Katainen, R., Virolainen, E., Böhling, T., Koski, T. A., Launonen, V., Sjöberg, J., Taipale, J., Vahteristo, P. and Aaltonen, L. A. 2011. MED12, the mediator complex subunit 12 gene, is mutated at high frequency in uterine leiomyomas. *Science*, 334(6053), 252–255. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1208930.
- 212. Malak, T. M. and Bell, S. C. 1994. Structural characteristics of term human fetal membranes: a novel zone of extreme morphological alteration within the rupture site. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 101(5), 375–386. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.1994.tb11908.x.
- 213. Manuck, T. A. 2016. The genomics of prematurity in an era of more precise clinical phenotyping: A review. In *Seminars in Fetal and Neonatal Medicine*, 21(2), 89–93). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.siny.2016.01.001.
- 214. Maor-Sagie, E., Cinnamon, Y., Yaacov, B., Shaag, A., Goldsmidt, H., Zenvirt, S., Laufer, N., Richler, C. and Frumkin, A. 2015. Deleterious mutation in SYCE1 is associated with nonobstructive azoospermia. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics*, 32(6), 887–891. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10815-015-0445-y.
- 215. Marshall, J., Tiewsiri, K., Thaijaroen, P., Benjaponwattana, P., Pingsuthiwong, S., Jantapanon, T. and Jiaranai, P. 2015. AB094. Efficacy of combined preimplantation genetic diagnosis (PGD) and preimplantation genetic screening (PGS) cycles—early results. *Annals of Translational Medicine*, 3.
- 216. Mascarenhas, M. N., Flaxman, S. R., Boerma, T., Vanderpoel, S. and Stevens, G. A. 2012. National, Regional, and Global Trends in Infertility Prevalence Since 1990: A Systematic Analysis of 277 Health Surveys. *PLoS Medicine*, 9(12). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001356.
- 217. Matthews, C. and Chatterjee, V. K. 1997. Isolated Deficiency of Follicle-Stimulating Hormone Re-Revisited. In *New England Journal of Medicine*, 337(9), 642–642). https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm199708283370918.
- 218. Matthews, C. H., Borgato, S., Beck-Peccoz, P., Adams, M., Tone, Y., Gambino, G., Casagrande, S., Tedeschini, G., Benedetti, A. and Chatterjee, V. K. K. 1993. Primary amenorrhoea and infertility due to a mutation in the β-subunit of follicle-stimulating hormone. *Nature Genetics*, 5(1), 83–86. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng0993-83.
- 219. McElroy, J. J., Gutman, C. E., Shaffer, C. M., Busch, T. D., Puttonen, H., Teramo, K., Murray, J. C., Hallman, M. and Muglia, L. J. 2013. Maternal coding variants in complement receptor 1 and spontaneous idiopathic preterm birth. *Human Genetics*, 132(8), 935–942. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-013-1304-5.
- 220. McGee, E. A. and Hsueh, A. J. W. 2000. Initial and cyclic recruitment of ovarian follicles. In *Endocrine Reviews*, 21(2), 200–214). https://doi.org/10.1210/er.21.2.200.
- 221. McKusick, V. A. 1962. On the X chromosome of man. *The Quarterly Review of Biology*, 37, 69–175. https://doi.org/10.1086/403631.
- 222. McNamee, K., Dawood, F. and Farquharson, R. 2012. Recurrent miscarriage and thrombophilia: An update. In *Current Opinion in Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 24(4), 229–234). https://doi.org/10.1097/GCO.0b013e32835585dc.
- 223. Middeldorp, S. 2011. Is thrombophilia testing useful? In *Hematology / the Education Program* of the American Society of Hematology. American Society of Hematology. Education Program, 2011, 150–155. https://doi.org/10.1182/asheducation-2011.1.150.
- 224. Milewski, R., Kuć, P., Kuczyńska, A., Stankiewicz, B., Łukaszuk, K. and Kuczyński, W. 2015. A predictive model for blastocyst formation based on morphokinetic parameters in time-lapse monitoring of embryo development. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics*, 32(4), 571–579. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10815-015-0440-3.

- 225. Miller, J. R. 1965. Some genetic factors in human infertility. *Fertility and Sterility*, 16(4), 455–460. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0015-0282(16)35645-X.
- 226. Miller, R., Smiley, R., Thom, E. A., Grobman, W. A., Iams, J. D., Mercer, B. M., Saade, G., Tita, A. T., Reddy, U. M., Rouse, D. J., Sorokin, Y., Blackwell, S. C., Esplin, M. S., Tolosa, J. E. and Caritis, S. N. 2015. The association of beta-2 adrenoceptor genotype with short-cervix mediated preterm birth: A case-control study. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 122(10), 1387–1394. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.13243.
- 227. Minamoto, T., Arai, K., Hirakawa, S. and Nagai, Y. 1987. Immunohistochemical studies on collagen types in the uterine cervix in pregnant and nonpregnant states. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 156(1), 138–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9378(87)90225-0.
- 228. Mingione, M. J., Scibetta, J. J., Sanko, S. R. and Phipps, W. R. 2003. Clinical outcomes following interval laparoscopic transabdominal cervico-isthmic cerclage placement: Case series. *Human Reproduction*, 18(8), 1716–1719. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deg345.
- 229. Mitri, F., Bentov, Y., Behan, L. A., Esfandiari, N. and Casper, R. F. 2014. A novel compound heterozygous mutation of the luteinizing hormone receptor Implications for fertility. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics*, 31(7), 787–794. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10815-014-0249-5.
- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J. and Altman, D. G. 2009. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 62(10), 1006–1012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2009.06.005.
- 231. Monaghan, K. G., Leach, N. T., Pekarek, D., Prasad, P. and Rose, N. C. 2020. The use of fetal exome sequencing in prenatal diagnosis: a points to consider document of the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics (ACMG). *Genetics in Medicine*, 22(4), 675–680. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41436-019-0731-7.
- 232. Monangi, N. K., Brockway, H. M., House, M., Zhang, G. and Muglia, L. J. 2015. The genetics of preterm birth: Progress and promise. In *Seminars in Perinatology*, 39(8), 574–583. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.semperi.2015.09.005.
- 233. Montanelli, L., Delbaere, A., di Carlo, C., Nappi, C., Smits, G., Vassart, G. and Costagliola, S. 2004). A mutation in the follicle-stimulating hormone receptor as a cause of familial spontaneous ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 89(3), 1255–1258. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2003-031910.
- 234. Mu, J., Wang, W., Chen, B., Wu, L., Li, B., Mao, X., Zhang, Z., Fu, J., Kuang, Y., Sun, X., Li, Q., Jin, L., He, L., Sang, Q. and Wang, L. 2019. Mutations in NLRP2 and NLRP5 cause female infertility characterised by early embryonic arrest. *Journal of Medical Genetics*, 56(7), 471–480. https://doi.org/10.1136/jmedgenet-2018-105936.
- 235. Munne, S., Alikani, M., Tomkin, G., Grifo, J. and Cohen, J. 1996. Embryo morphology, developmental rates, and maternal age are correlated with chromosome abnormalities. *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics*, 52(3), 329–329. https://doi.org/10.1016/0020-7292(96)84546-2.
- 236. Murdoch, S., Djuric, U., Mazhar, B., Seoud, M., Khan, R., Kuick, R., Bagga, R., Kircheisen, R., Ao, A., Ratti, B., Hanash, S., Rouleau, G. A. and Slim, R. 2006. Mutations in NALP7 cause recurrent hydatidiform moles and reproductive wastage in humans. *Nature Genetics*, 38(3), 300–302. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1740.
- 237. Murray, M. L., Pepin, M., Peterson, S. and Byers, P. H. 2014. Pregnancy-related deaths and complications in women with vascular Ehlers-Danlos syndrome. *Genetics in Medicine*, 16(12), 874–880. https://doi.org/10.1038/gim.2014.53.
- 238. Myking, S., Myhre, R., Gjessing, H. K., Morken, N. H., Sengpiel, V., Williams, S. M., Ryckman, K. K., Magnus, P. and Jacobsson, B. 2011. Candidate gene analysis of spontaneous preterm delivery: New insights from re-analysis of a case-control study using case-parent triads and control-mother dyads. *BMC Medical Genetics*, 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2350-12-174.

- 239. Nagan, N., Faulkner, N. E., Curtis, C. and Schrijver, I. 2011. Laboratory guidelines for detection, interpretation, and reporting of maternal cell contamination in prenatal analyses: A report of the association for molecular pathology. In *Journal of Molecular Diagnostics*, 13(1), 7–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmoldx.2010.11.013.
- 240. Najafi, K., Gholami, S., Moshtagh, A., Bazrgar, M., Sadatian, N., Abbasi, G., Rostami, P., Khalili, S., Babanejad, M., Nourmohammadi, B., Faramarzi Garous, N., Najmabadi, H. and Kariminejad, R. 2019. Chromosomal aberrations in pregnancy and fetal loss: Insight on the effect of consanguinity, review of 1625 cases. *Molecular Genetics and Genomic Medicine*, 7(8). https://doi.org/10.1002/mgg3.820.
- 241. Neri-Castracane, G. 2015. Does the business judgment rule help promote corporate social responsibility? *Frontiers of Law in China*, 10(1), 8–23. https://doi.org/10.3868/s050-004-015-0003-8.
- Neveling, K., Mensenkamp, A. R., Derks, R., Kwint, M., Ouchene, H., Steehouwer, M., Lier, B. van Bosgoed, E., Rikken, A., Tychon, M., Zafeiropoulou, D., Castelein, S., Hehir-Kwa, J., Thung, D. T., Hofste, T., Lelieveld, S. H., Bertens, S. M. M., Adan, I. B. J. F., Eijkelenboom, A., Hoischen, A. 2017. BRCA testing by single-molecule molecular inversion probes. *Clinical Chemistry*, 63(2), 503–512. https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2016.263897.
- 243. Nguyen, N. M. P., Ge, Z. J., Reddy, R., Fahiminiya, S., Sauthier, P., Bagga, R., Sahin, F. I., Mahadevan, S., Osmond, M., Breguet, M., Rahimi, K., Lapensee, L., Hovanes, K., Srinivasan, R., van den Veyver, I. B., Sahoo, T., Ao, A., Majewski, J., Taketo, T. and Slim, R. 2018. Causative Mutations and Mechanism of Androgenetic Hydatidiform Moles. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 103(5), 740–751. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2018.10.007.
- 244. Niinimäki, M., Jouppila, P., Martikainen, H. and Talvensaari-Mattila, A. 2006. A randomized study comparing efficacy and patient satisfaction in medical or surgical treatment of miscarriage. *Fertility and Sterility*, 86(2), 367–372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2005.12.072.
- 245. Nikitina, T. V., Lebedev, I. N., Sukhanova, N. N., Sazhenova, E. A. and Nazarenko, S. A. 2005. A mathematical model for evaluation of maternal cell contamination in cultured cells from spontaneous abortions: Significance for cytogenetic analysis of prenatal selection factors. *Fertility and Sterility*, 83(4), 964–972. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2004.12.009.
- 246. Norling, A., Hirschberg, A. L., Rodriguez-Wallberg, K. A., Iwarsson, E., Wedell, A. and Barbaro, M. 2014. Identification of a duplication within the GDF9 gene and novel candidate genes for primary ovarian insufficiency (POI) by a customized high-resolution array comparative genomic hybridization platform. *Human Reproduction*, 29(8), 1818–1827. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deu149.
- 247. Nybo Andersen, A. M., Wohlfahrt, J., Christens, P., Olsen, J. and Melbye, M. 2000. Maternal age and fetal loss: Population based register linkage study. *British Medical Journal*, 320 (7251), 1708–1712. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.320.7251.1708.
- 248. Odibo, A. 2014. Practice Bulletin No. 142. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 123(2), 372–379. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.aog.0000443276.68274.cc.
- 249. Okutman, Ö., Demirel, C., Tülek, F., Pfister, V., Büyük, U., Muller, J., Charlet-Berguerand, N. and Viville, S. 2020. Homozygous splice site mutation in ZP1 causes familial oocyte maturation defect. *Genes*, 11(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/genes11040382.
- 250. Oliveros, J. C. 2007. VENNY. An interactive tool for comparing lists with Venn. http://bioinfogp.cnnb.csic.es/tools/venny/index.html.
- 251. OMIM. 2020. *OMIM Gene Map Statistics*. Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man. https://www.omim.org/statistics/geneMap.
- 252. Önalan, G., Pabuçcu, R., Önalan, R., Ceylaner, S. and Selam, B. 2003. Empty follicle syndrome in two sisters with three cycles: Case report. *Human Reproduction*, 18(9), 1864–1867. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deg371.

- 253. Ott, J. and Wang, J. 2011. Multiple phenotypes in genome-wide genetic mapping studies. In *Protein and Cell*, 2(7), 519–522. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13238-011-1059-5.
- 254. Oud, M. S., Volozonoka, L., Smits, R. M., Vissers, L. E. L. M., Ramos, L. and Veltman, J. A. 2019. A systematic review and standardized clinical validity assessment of male infertility genes. *Human Reproduction (Oxford, England)*, 34(5), 932–941. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/humrep/dez022.
- 255. Owczarzy, R., Tataurov, A. V., Wu, Y., Manthey, J. A., McQuisten, K. A., Almabrazi, H. G., Pedersen, K. F., Lin, Y., Garretson, J., McEntaggart, N. O., Sailor, C. A., Dawson, R. B. and Peek, A. S. 2008. IDT SciTools: a suite for analysis and design of nucleic acid oligomers. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 36(Web Server issue). https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkn198.
- 256. Painter, J. N., Anderson, C. A., Nyholt, D. R., MacGregor, S., Lin, J., Lee, S. H., Lambert, A., Zhao, Z. Z., Roseman, F., Guo, Q., Gordon, S. D., Wallace, L., Henders, A. K., Visscher, P. M., Kraft, P., Martin, N. G., Morris, A. P., Treloar, S. A., Kennedy, S. H., Zondervan, K. T. 2011. Genome-wide association study identifies a locus at 7p15.2 associated with endometriosis. *Nature Genetics*, 43(1), 51–54. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.731.
- 257. Paliwal, P., Sharma, A., Birla, S., Kriplani, A., Khadgawat, R., and Sharma, A. 2011. Identification of novel SRY mutations and SF1 (NR5A1) changes in patients with pure gonadal dysgenesis and 46,XY karyotype. *Molecular Human Reproduction*, 17(6), 372–378. https://doi.org/10.1093/molehr/gar002.
- 258. Papiernik, E., Bouyer, J., Collin, D., Winisdoerffer, G. and Dreyfus, J. 1986. Precocious cervical ripening and preterm labor. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 67(2), 238–242. https://doi.org/10.1097/00006250-198602000-00014.
- 259. Parry, D. A., Logan, C. V., Hayward, B. E., Shires, M., Landolsi, H., Diggle, C., Carr, I., Rittore, C., Touitou, I., Philibert, L., Fisher, R. A., Fallahian, M., Huntriss, J. D., Picton, H. M., Malik, S., Taylor, G. R., Johnson, C. A., Bonthron, D. T. and Sheridan, E. G. 2011. Mutations causing familial biparental hydatidiform mole implicate C6orf221 as a possible regulator of genomic imprinting in the human oocyte. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 89(3), 451–458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2011.08.002.
- 260. Pashaei, M., Rahimi Bidgoli, M. M., Zare-Abdollahi, D., Najmabadi, H., Haji-Seyed-Javadi, R., Fatehi, F., and Alavi, A. 2020. The second mutation of SYCE1 gene associated with autosomal recessive nonobstructive azoospermia. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics*, 37(2), 451–458. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10815-019-01660-1.
- Patel, B., Parets, S., Akana, M., Kellogg, G., Jansen, M., Chang, C., Cai, Y., Fox, R., Niknazar, M., Shraga, R., Hunter, C., Pollock, A., Wisotzkey, R., Jaremko, M., Bisignano, A., and Puig, O. 2018. Comprehensive genetic testing for female and male infertility using next-generation sequencing. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics*, 35(8), 1489–1496. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10815-018-1204-7.
- 262. Payne, D., Flaherty, S. P., Barry, M. F. and Matthews, C. D. 1997. Preliminary observations on polar body extrusion and pronuclear formation in human oocytes using time-lapse video cinematography. *Human Reproduction*, 12(3), 532–541. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/humrep/12.3.532.
- 263. Pereza, N., Ostojić, S., Kapović, M. and Peterlin, B. 2017. Systematic review and meta-analysis of genetic association studies in idiopathic recurrent spontaneous abortion. *Fertility and Sterility*, 107(1), 150-159.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2016.10.007.
- 264. Pertea, M., Lin, X. and Salzberg, S. L. 2001. GeneSplicer: A new computational method for splice site prediction. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 29(5), 1185–1190. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/nar/29.5.1185.
- 265. Petersen, L. K. and Uldbjerg, N. 1996. Cervical collagen in non-pregnant women with previous cervical incompetence. *European Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, 67(1), 41–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/0301-2115(96)02440-2.

- 266. Petrozza, J. C., Gray, M. R., Davis, A. J. and Reindollar, R. H. 1997. Congenital absence of the uterus and vagina is not commonly transmitted as a dominant genetic trait: Outcomes of surrogate pregnancies. *Fertility and Sterility*, 67(2), 387–389. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0015-0282(97)81927-9.
- 267. Pezaro, S., Pearce, G. and Reinhold, E. 2018. Hypermobile Ehlers-Danlos Syndrome during pregnancy, birth and beyond. *British Journal of Midwifery*, 26(4), 217–223. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjom.2018.26.4.217.
- 268. Philibert, P., Biason-Lauber, A., Rouzier, R., Pienkowski, C., Paris, F., Konrad, D., Schoenle, E. and Sultan, C. 2008. Identification and functional analysis of a new WNT4 gene mutation among 28 adolescent girls with primary amenorrhea and Müllerian duct abnormalities: A French collaborative study. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 93(3), 895–900. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2007-2023.
- 269. Piyamongkol, W., Bermúdez, M. G., Harper, J. C. and Wells, D. 2003. Detailed investigation of factors influencing amplification efficiency and allele drop-out in single cell PCR: Implications for preimplantation genetic diagnosis. *Molecular Human Reproduction*, 9(7–8), 411–420. https://doi.org/10.1093/molehr/gag051.
- 270. Plunkett, J. and Muglia, L. J. 2008. Genetic contributions to preterm birth: Implications from epidemiological and genetic association studies. In *Annals of Medicine*, 40(3), 167–179. https://doi.org/10.1080/07853890701806181.
- 271. Polychronakos, C. 2008. Common and rare alleles as causes of complex phenotypes. In *Current Atherosclerosis Reports*, 10(3), 194–200. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11883-008-0031-1.
- 272. Porter, T. F., Fraser, A. M., Hunter, C. Y., Ward, R. H. and Varner, M. W. 1997. The risk of preterm birth across generations. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 90(1), 63–67. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0029-7844(97)00215-9.
- 273. Quade, B. J., Yuan, L., Nucci, M. R. and Howitt, B. E. 2017. Frequent non-syndromic deletion and transcript reduction of COL4A5 and COL4A6 in uterine leiomyosarcoma. *Laboratory Investigation*, 97, 304A.
- 274. Quang, D., Chen, Y. and Xie, X. 2015. DANN: A deep learning approach for annotating the pathogenicity of genetic variants. *Bioinformatics*, 31(5), 761–763. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/bioinformatics/btu703.
- 275. Rabinowitz, D., Benveniste, R., Lindner, J., Lorber, D. and Daniell, J. 1979. Isolated Follicle-Stimulating Hormone Deficiency Revisited. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 300(3), 126–128. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm197901183000306.
- 276. Rabinowitz, M., Ryan, A., Gemelos, G., Hill, M., Baner, J., Cinnioglu, C., Banjevic, M., Potter, D., Petrov, D. A. and Demko, Z. 2012. Origins and rates of aneuploidy in human blastomeres. *Fertility and Sterility*, 97(2), 395–401. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2011.11.034.
- 277. Raffi, F. and Anumba, D. 2007. Cervical weakness causing recurrent premature births: Could this be familial? *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 27(4), 430–431. https://doi.org/10.1080/01443610701327271.
- 278. Ramanujam, L., Liao, W. X., Roy, A. C., Ng, S. C. and Ratnam, S. S. 1998. Molecular variants of luteinizing hormone in three populations of Southeast Asia. *Human Heredity*, 48(4), 232–234. https://doi.org/10.1159/000022807.
- 279. Rambaldi, M. P., Mecacci, F., Guaschino, S. and Paidas, M. J. 2014. Inherited and acquired thrombophilias. In *Reproductive Sciences*, 21(2), 167–182. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1933719113497282.
- 280. Rechberger, T., Uldbjerg, N. and Oxlund, H. 1988. Connective tissue changes in the cervix during normal pregnancy and pregnancy complicated by cervical incompetence. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 71(4), 563–567.

- 281. Rechitsky, S., Pakhalchuk, T., San Ramos, G., Goodman, A., Zlatopolsky, Z. and Kuliev, A. 2015. First systematic experience of preimplantation genetic diagnosis for single-gene disorders, and / or preimplantation human leukocyte antigen typing, combined with 24- chromosome aneuploidy testing. *Fertility and Sterility*, 103(2), 503–512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2014.11.007.
- 282. Reese, M. G. 1997. Improved splice site detection in Genie. *Journal of Computational Biology*, 4(3), 311–323. https://doi.org/10.1089/cmb.1997.4.311.
- 283. Reichman, D. E., White, P. C., New, M. I. and Rosenwaks, Z. 2014. Fertility in patients with congenital adrenal hyperplasia. In *Fertility and Sterility*, 101(2), 301–309. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.11.002.
- 284. Reindollar, R. H., Novak, M., Tho, S. P. T. and McDonough, P. G. 1986. Adult-onset amenorrhea: A study of 262 patients. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 155(3), 531–541. https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9378(86)90274-7.
- 285. Renwick, P. J., Trussler, J., Ostad-Saffari, E., Fassihi, H., Black, C., Braude, P., Ogilvie, C. M. and Abbs, S. 2006. Proof of principle and first cases using preimplantation genetic haplotyping A paradigm shift for embryo diagnosis. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*, 13(1), 110–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1472-6483(10)62024-X.
- 286. Revelli, A., Carosso, A., Grassi, G., Gennarelli, G., Canosa, S. and Benedetto, C. 2017. Empty follicle syndrome revisited: definition, incidence, aetiology, early diagnosis and treatment. In *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*, 35(2), 132–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rbmo.2017.04.012.
- 287. Rezaei, M., Nguyen, N. M. P., Foroughinia, L., Dash, P., Ahmadpour, F., Verma, I. C., Slim, R. and Fardaei, M. 2016. Two novel mutations in the KHDC3L gene in Asian patients with recurrent hydatidiform mole. *Human Genome Variation*, 3. https://doi.org/10.1038/hgv.2016.27.
- 288. Ribeiro de Andrade Ramos, B. and da Silva, M. G. 2018. The Burden of Genetic and Epigenetic Traits in Prematurity. In *Reproductive Sciences*, 25(4), 471–479. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1933719117718270.
- 289. Richards, S., Aziz, N., Bale, S., Bick, D., Das, S., Gastier-Foster, J., Grody, W. W., Hegde, M., Lyon, E., Spector, E., Voelkerding, K. and Rehm, H. L. 2015. Standards and guidelines for the interpretation of sequence variants: A joint consensus recommendation of the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics and the Association for Molecular Pathology. *Genetics in Medicine*, 17(5), 405–424. https://doi.org/10.1038/gim.2015.30.
- 290. Robberecht, C., Pexsters, A., Deprest, J., Fryns, J. P., D'Hooghe, T. and Vermeesch, J. R. 2012. Cytogenetic and morphological analysis of early products of conception following hysteroembryoscopy from couples with recurrent pregnancy loss. *Prenatal Diagnosis*, 32(10), 933–942. https://doi.org/10.1002/pd.3936.
- 291. Rodgers, C. S., Creasy, M. R., Fitchett, M., Maliszewska, C. T., Pratt, N. R. and Waters, J. J. 1996. Solid tissue culture for cytogenetic analysis: A collaborative survey for the association of clinical cytogeneticists. *Journal of Clinical Pathology*, 49(8), 638–641. https://doi.org/ 10.1136/jcp.49.8.638.
- 292. Romero, R., Dey, S. K. and Fisher, S. J. 2014. Preterm labor: One syndrome, many causes. In *Science*, 345(6198), 760–765. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1251816.
- 293. Romero, S. T., Geiersbach, K. B., Paxton, C. N., Rose, N. C., Schisterman, E. F., Branch, D. W. and Silver, R. M. 2015. Differentiation of genetic abnormalities in early pregnancy loss. *Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 45(1), 89–94. https://doi.org/10.1002/uog.14713.
- 294. Rossetti, R., Ferrari, I., Bonomi, M. and Persani, L. 2017. Genetics of primary ovarian insufficiency. In *Clinical Genetics*, 91(2), 183–198. https://doi.org/10.1111/cge.12921.
- 295. Rossetti, Raffaella, Pasquale, E., di Marozzi, A., Bione, S., Toniolo, D., Grammatico, P., Nelson, L. M., Beck-Peccoz, P. and Persani, L. 2009. BMP15 mutations associated with primary ovarian insufficiency cause a defective production of bioactive protein. *Human Mutation*, 30(5), 804–810. https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.20961.

- 296. RubIo, C., Buendía, P., Rodrigo, L., Mercader, A., Mateu, E., Peinado, V., Delgado, A., Milán, M., Mir, P., Simón, C., Remohí, J. and Pellicer, A. 2009. Prognostic factors for preimplantation genetic screening in repeated pregnancy loss. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*, 18(5), 687–693. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1472-6483(10)60015-6.
- 297. Rudak, E., Dor, J., Kimchi, M., Goldman, B., Levran, D. and Mashiach, S. 1990. Anomalies of human oocytes from infertile women undertoing treatment by in vitro fertilization. *Fertility and Sterility*, 54(2), 292–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0015-0282(16)53706-6.
- 298. Rudd, N. L., Holbrook, K. A., Nimrod, C. and Byers, P. H. 1983. Pregnancy Complications in Type Iv Ehlers-Danlos Syndrome. *The Lancet*, 321(8314–8315), 50–53. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0140-6736(83)91577-5.
- 299. Rugh, R. 1955. Genetic Hazards in Ovarian Radiation. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 62(3), 461–469. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.1955.tb14168.x.
- 300. Russo, R., Sessa, A. M., Fumo, R. and Gaeta, S. 2016. Chromosomal anomalies in early spontaneous abortions: Interphase FISH analysis on 855 FFPE first trimester abortions. *Prenatal Diagnosis*, 36(2), 186–191. https://doi.org/10.1002/pd.4768.
- Rutstein, S. O. and Shah, I. H. 2004). Infecundity, infertility, and childlessness in developing countries. DHS Comparative Reports 9. DHS Comparative Reports, 9, pages 13–50. https://doi.org/PN-ADB-836.
- 302. Sahoo, T., Dzidic, N., Strecker, M. N., Commander, S., Travis, M. K., Doherty, C., Weslie Tyson, R., Mendoza, A. E., Stephenson, M., Dise, C. A., Benito, C. W., Ziadie, M. S. and Hovanes, K. 2017. Comprehensive genetic analysis of pregnancy loss by chromosomal microarrays: outcomes, benefits, and challenges. *Genetics in Medicine*, 19(1), 83–89. https://doi.org/10.1038/gim.2016.69.
- 303. Sakamoto, Y., Moran, P., Searle, R. F., Bulmer, J. N. and Robson, S. C. 2004). Interleukin-8 is involved in cervical dilatation but not in prelabour cervical ripening. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology*, 138(1), 151–157. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2249.2004.02584.x.
- 304. Sambrook, J. and W Russell, D. 2001. Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual. *Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, NY*, 999.
- 305. Samuel, G. N., Strong, K. A., Kerridge, I., Jordens, C. F. C., Ankeny, R. A. and Shaw, P. J. 2009. Establishing the role of pre-implantation genetic diagnosis with human leucocyte antigen typing: what place do "saviour siblings" have in paediatric transplantation? *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, 94(4), 317–320. https://doi.org/10.1136/adc.2008.138529.
- 306. Sang, Q., Li, B., Kuang, Y., Wang, X., Zhang, Z., Chen, B., Wu, L., Lyu, Q., Fu, Y., Yan, Z., Mao, X., Xu, Y., Mu, J., Li, Q., Jin, L., He, L. and Wang, L. 2018. Homozygous Mutations in WEE2 Cause Fertilization Failure and Female Infertility. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 102(4), 649–657. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2018.02.015.
- 307. Sang, Q., Zhang, Z., Shi, J., Sun, X., Li, B., Yan, Z., Xue, S., Ai, A., Lyu, Q., Li, W., Zhang, J., Wu, L., Mao, X., Chen, B., Mu, J., Li, Q., Du, J., Sun, Q., Jin, L., Wang, L. 2019. A pannexin 1 channelopathy causes human oocyte death. *Science Translational Medicine*, 11(485). https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aav8731.
- 308. Sangermano, R., Garanto, A., Khan, M., Runhart, E. H., Bauwens, M., Bax, N. M., van den Born, L. I., Khan, M. I., Cornelis, S. S., Verheij, J. B. G. M., Pott, J. W. R., Thiadens, A. A. H. J., Klaver, C. C. W., Puech, B., Meunier, I., Naessens, S., Arno, G., Fakin, A., Carss, K. J., Cremers, F. P. M. 2019. Deep-intronic ABCA4 variants explain missing heritability in Stargardt disease and allow correction of splice defects by antisense oligonucleotides. *Genetics in Medicine*, 21(8), 1751–1760. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41436-018-0414-9.
- 309. Sartor, S. 2019. How Does The Fertilome Genetic Fertility Test Work. https://fertilityinstitute.com/blog/how-does-the-fertilome-genetic-fertility-test-work/.

- 310. Saxena, D., Agarwal, M., Gupta, D., Agrawal, S., Das, V. and Phadke, S. R. 2016. Utility and limitations of multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification technique in the detection of cytogenetic abnormalities in products of conception. *Journal of Postgraduate Medicine*, 62(4), 239–241. https://doi.org/10.4103/0022-3859.192664.
- 311. Schaeffer, A. J., Chung, J., Heretis, K., Wong, A., Ledbetter, D. H. and Martin, C. L. 2004. Comparative genomic hybridization-array analysis enhances the detection of aneuploidies and submicroscopic imbalances in spontaneous miscarriages. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 74(6), 1168–1174. https://doi.org/10.1086/421250.
- Schlesinger, C., Raabe, G., Ngo, T. and Miller, K. 1990. Discordant findings in chorionic villus direct preparation and long term culture-mosaicism in the fetus. *Prenatal Diagnosis*, 10(9), 609–612. https://doi.org/10.1002/pd.1970100910.
- 313. Schrijver, I., Cherny, S. C. and Zehnder, J. L. 2007. Testing for maternal cell contamination in prenatal samples: A comprehensive survey of current diagnostic practices in 35 molecular diagnostic laboratories. *Journal of Molecular Diagnostics*, 9(3), 394–400. https://doi.org/10.2353/jmoldx.2007.070017.
- 314. Scott, R. T., Upham, K. M., Forman, E. J., Zhao, T. and Treff, N. R. 2013. Cleavage-stage biopsy significantly impairs human embryonic implantation potential while blastocyst biopsy does not: A randomized and paired clinical trial. *Fertility and Sterility*, 100(3), 624–630. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.04.039.
- 315. Scott, S. A., Cohen, N., Brandt, T., Toruner, G., Desnick, R. J. and Edelmann, L. 2010. Detection of low-level mosaicism and placental mosaicism by oligonucleotide array comparative genomic hybridization. *Genetics in Medicine*, 12(2), 85–92. https://doi.org/10.1097/GIM.0b013e3181cc75d0.
- 316. Scriven, P. N. and Bossuyt, P. M. M. 2010. Diagnostic accuracy: Theoretical models for preimplantation genetic testing of a single nucleus using the fluorescence in situ hybridization technique. *Human Reproduction*, 25(10), 2622–2628. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deq196.
- 317. Scriven, Paul, N., Kirby, T. L. and Ogilvie, C. M. 2010. FISH for pre-implantation genetic diagnosis. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, 48. https://doi.org/10.3791/2570.
- 318. Sermon, K. 2017. Novel technologies emerging for preimplantation genetic diagnosis and preimplantation genetic testing for aneuploidy. *Expert Review of Molecular Diagnostics*, 17(1), 71–82. https://doi.org/10.1080/14737159.2017.1262261.
- 319. Shapiro, M. B. and Senapathy, P. 1987. RNA splice junctions of different classes of eukaryotes: Sequence statistics and functional implications in gene expression. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 15(17), 7155–7174. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/15.17.7155.
- 320. Shearer, B. M., Thorland, E. C., Carlson, A. W., Jalal, S. M. and Ketterling, R. P. 2011. Reflex fluorescent in situ hybridization testing for unsuccessful product of conception cultures: A retrospective analysis of 5555 samples attempted by conventional cytogenetics and fluorescent in situ hybridization. *Genetics in Medicine*, 13(6), 545–552. https://doi.org/10.1097/ GIM.0b013e31820c685b.
- 321. Shen, J., Wu, W., Gao, C., Ochin, H., Qu, D., Xie, J., Gao, L., Zhou, Y., Cui, Y. and Liu, J. 2016. Chromosomal copy number analysis on chorionic villus samples from early spontaneous miscarriages by high throughput genetic technology. *Molecular Cytogenetics*, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13039-015-0210-z.
- 322. Siegel, E. T., Kim, H. G., Nishimoto, H. K. and Layman, L. C. 2013. The molecular basis of impaired follicle-stimulating hormone action: Evidence from human mutations and mouse models. In *Reproductive Sciences*, 20(3), 211–233. https://doi.org/10.1177/1933719112461184.
- 323. Sim, H., Argentaro, A. and Harley, V. R. 2008. Boys, girls and shuttling of SRY and SOX9. In *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 19(6), 213–222. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.tem.2008.04.002.

- 324. Simón, C., Rubio, C., Vidal, F., Gimenez, C., Moreno, C., Parrilla, J. J. and Pellicer, A. 1998. Increased chromosome abnormalities in human preimplantation embryos after in-vitro fertilization in patients with recurrent miscarriage. *Reproduction, Fertility and Development*, 10(1), 87–92. https://doi.org/10.1071/R98030.
- 325. Simoni, G., Brambati, B., Danesino, C., Rossella, F., Terzoli, G. L., Ferrari, M. and Fraccaro, M. 1983). Efficient direct chromosome analyses and enzyme determinations from chorionic villi samples in the first trimester of pregnancy. *Human Genetics*, 63(4), 349–357. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00274761.
- 326. Singh, J. 2004. *Centers for disease control and prevention*. Indian Journal of Pharmacology. https://doi.org/10.1097/jom.00000000001045.
- 327. Smith, E. D., Radtke, K., Rossi, M., Shinde, D. N., Darabi, S., El-Khechen, D., Powis, Z., Helbig, K., Waller, K., Grange, D. K., Tang, S. and Farwell Hagman, K. D. 2017. Classification of Genes: Standardized Clinical Validity Assessment of Gene–Disease Associations Aids Diagnostic Exome Analysis and Reclassifications. *Human Mutation*, 38(5), 600–608. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/humu.23183.
- 328. Smits, G., Olatunbosun, O., Delbaere, A., Pierson, R., Vassart, G. and Costagliola, S. 2003. Ovarian Hyperstimulation Syndrome Due to a Mutation in the Follicle-Stimulating Hormone Receptor. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 349(8), 760–766. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa030064.
- 329. Snell, G. D. 1933. X-ray sterility in the male house mouse. *Journal of Experimental Zoology*, 65(3), 421–441. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.1400650306.
- 330. Snell, G. D. 1941. Induction by Roentgen Rays of Hereditary Changes in Mice. *Radiology*, 36(2), 189–196. https://doi.org/10.1148/36.2.189.
- 331. Song, J. E., Park, S. J., Lee, K. Y. and Lee, W. J. 2019. Amniotic fluid HIF1α and exosomal HIF1α in cervical insufficiency patients with physical examination-indicated cerclage. *Journal of Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine*, 32(14), 2287–2294. https://doi.org/10.1080/14767058.2018.1432037.
- 332. Sorokin, Y., Johnson, M. P., Rogowski, N., Richardson, D. A. and Evans, M. I. 1994. Obstetric and gynecologic dysfunction in the Ehlers-Danlos syndrome. *Journal of Reproductive Medicine for the Obstetrician and Gynecologist*, 39(4), 281–284.
- 333. Steptoe, P. C. and Edwards, R. G. 1978. Birth after the reimplantation of a human embryo. In *Lancet*, 2(8085, p. 366). https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(78)92957-4.
- 334. Stern, C., Pertile, M., Norris, H., Hale, L. and Baker, H. W. G. 1999. Chromosome translocations in couples with in-vitro fertilization implantation failure. *Human Reproduction*, 14(8), 2097–2101. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/14.8.2097.
- 335. Stevens, V. C. 1997. Some reproductive studies in the baboon. *Human Reproduction Update*, 3(6), 533–540. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/3.6.533.
- 336. Stouffs, K., Seneca, S. and Lissens, W. 2014. Genetic causes of male infertility [Radboudumc]. In *Annales d'Endocrinologie*, 75(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ando.2014.03.004.
- 337. Strande, N. T., Riggs, E. R., Buchanan, A. H., Ceyhan-Birsoy, O., DiStefano, M., Dwight, S. S., Goldstein, J., Ghosh, R., Seifert, B. A., Sneddon, T. P., Wright, M. W., Milko, L. V., Cherry, J. M., Giovanni, M. A., Murray, M. F., O'Daniel, J. M., Ramos, E. M., Santani, A. B., Scott, A. F., Berg, J. S. 2017. Evaluating the Clinical Validity of Gene-Disease Associations: An Evidence-Based Framework Developed by the Clinical Genome Resource. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 100(6), 895–906. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2017.04.015.
- 338. Strauss, J. F. 2013. Extracellular matrix dynamics and fetal membrane rupture. In *Reproductive Sciences*, 20(2), 140–153. https://doi.org/10.1177/1933719111424454.

- 339. Strauss, J. F., Romero, R., Gomez-Lopez, N., Haymond-Thornburg, H., Modi, B. P., Teves, M. E., Pearson, L. N., York, T. P. and Schenkein, H. A. 2018. Spontaneous preterm birth: advances toward the discovery of genetic predisposition. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 218(3), 294–314.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2017.12.009.
- 340. Strom, C. (Buck), Northrop, L. E. and Beim, P. Y. 2019. Introducing the Fertilome® Multigene Panel Test: A Genetic Test for Female Reproductive Health and Fertility. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*, 38, e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rbmo.2019.03.014.
- 341. Sugiura-Ogasawara, M., Ozaki, Y., Katano, K., Suzumori, N., Kitaori, T. and Mizutani, E. 2012. Abnormal embryonic karyotype is the most frequent cause of recurrent miscarriage. *Human Reproduction*, 27(8), 2297–2303. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/des179.
- 342. Sun, L., Fang, X., Chen, Z., Zhang, H., Zhang, Z., Zhou, P., Xue, T., Peng, X., Zhu, Q., Yin, M., Liu, C., Deng, Y., Hu, H. and Li, N. 2019. Compound heterozygous ZP1 mutations cause empty follicle syndrome in infertile sisters. *Human Mutation*, 40(11), 2001–2006. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/humu.23864.
- 343. Sundtoft, I., Uldbjerg, N., Steffensen, R., Sommer, S. and Christiansen, O. B. 2016. Polymorphisms in Genes Coding for Cytokines, Mannose-Binding Lectin, Collagen Metabolism and Thrombophilia in Women with Cervical Insufficiency. *Gynecologic and Obstetric Investigation*, 81(1), 15–22. https://doi.org/10.1159/000381620.
- 344. Tarín, J. J., García-Pérez, M. A. and Cano, A. 2014. Assisted reproductive technology results: Why are live-birth percentages so low? *Molecular Reproduction and Development*, 81(7), 568–583. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrd.22340.
- 345. Telenius, H., Carter, N. P., Bebb, C. E., Nordenskjöld, M., Ponder, B. A. J. and Tunnacliffe, A. 1992. Degenerate oligonucleotide-primed PCR: General amplification of target DNA by a single degenerate primer. *Genomics*, 13(3), 718–725. https://doi.org/10.1016/0888-7543(92)90147-K.
- 346. Tenenbaum-Rakover, Y., Weinberg-Shukron, A., Renbaum, P., Lobel, O., Eideh, H., Gulsuner, S., Dahary, D., Abu-Rayyan, A., Kanaan, M., Levy-Lahad, E., Bercovich, D. and Zangen, D. 2015. Minichromosome maintenance complex component 8 (MCM8) gene mutations result in primary gonadal failure. *Journal of Medical Genetics*, 52(6), 391–399. https://doi.org/10.1136/jmedgenet-2014-102921.
- 347. Theobald, R., SenGupta, S. and Harper, J. 2020. The status of preimplantation genetic testing in the UK and USA. *Human Reproduction (Oxford, England)*, 35(4), 986–998. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deaa034.
- 348. Tiensuu, H., Haapalainen, A. M., Karjalainen, M. K., Pasanen, A., Huusko, J. M., Marttila, R., Ojaniemi, M., Muglia, L. J., Hallman, M. and Rämet, M. 2019. Risk of spontaneous preterm birth and fetal growth associates with fetal SLIT2. *PLoS Genetics*, 15(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1008107.
- 349. Timmons, B. C. and Mahendroo, M. 2007. Processes Regulating Cervical Ripening Differ from Cervical Dilation and Postpartum Repair: Insights from Gene Expression Studies. *Reproductive Sciences*, 14(8_suppl), 53–62. https://doi.org/10.1177/1933719107309587.
- 350. Tobet, S. A. and Schwarting, G. A. 2006. Minireview: Recent progress in gonadotropin-releasing hormone neuronal migration. In *Endocrinology*, 147(3), 1159–1165. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2005-1275.
- 351. Toft, C. L. F., Ingerslev, H. J., Kesmodel, U. S., Diemer, T., Degn, B., Ernst, A., Okkels, H., Kjartansdóttir, K. R. and Pedersen, I. S. 2020. A systematic review on concurrent aneuploidy screening and preimplantation genetic testing for hereditary disorders: What is the prevalence of aneuploidy and is there a clinical effect from aneuploidy screening? In *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, 99(6), 696–706. https://doi.org/10.1111/aogs.13823.

- 352. Tomlinson, I. P. M., Alam, N. A., Rowan, A. J., Barclay, E., Jaeger, E. E. M., Kelsell, D., Leigh, I., Gorman, P., Lamlum, H., Rahman, S., Roylance, R. R., Olpin, S., Bevan, S., Barker, K., Hearle, N., Houlston, R. S., Kiuru, M., Lehtonen, R., Karhu, A., Aaltonen, L. A. 2002. Germline mutations in FH predispose to dominantly inherited uterine fibroids, skin leiomyomata and papillary renal cell cancer the multiple leiomyoma consortium. *Nature Genetics*, 30(4), 406–410. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng849.
- 353. Treff, N. R., Fedick, A., Tao, X., Devkota, B., Taylor, D. and Scott, R. T. 2013. Evaluation of targeted next-generation sequencing-based preimplantation genetic diagnosis of monogenic disease. *Fertility and Sterility*, 99(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2012.12.018.
- 354. Trofimova, T., Lizneva, D., Suturina, L., Walker, W., Chen, Y. H., Azziz, R. and Layman, L. C. 2017. Genetic basis of eugonadal and hypogonadal female reproductive disorders. In *Best Practice and Research: Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 44, 3–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2017.05.003.
- 355. Tzialidou, I., Oehler, K., Scharf, A., Staboulidou, I., Westhoff-Bleck, M., Hillemanns, P. and Günter, H. H. 2007. Das Marfan-syndrom in der schwangerschaft: Vorstellung von vier kasuistiken und diskussion dieser koinzidenz. *Zeitschrift Fur Geburtshilfe Und Neonatologie*, 211(1), 36–41. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2007-960544.
- 356. Uda, A., Tanabayashi, K., Fujita, O., Hotta, A., Yamamoto, Y. and Yamada, A. 2007. Comparison of whole genome amplification methods for detecting pathogenic bacterial genomic DNA using microarray. *Japanese Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 60(6), 355–361.
- 357. Uldbjerg, N., Ulmsten, U. and Ekman, G. 1983. The ripening of the human uterine cervix in terms of connective tissue biochemistry. *Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 26(1), 14–26. https://doi.org/10.1097/00003081-198303000-00006.
- 358. Unluturk, U., Harmanci, A., Kocaefe, C. and Yildiz, B. O. 2007. The genetic basis of the polycystic ovary syndrome: A literature review including discussion of PPAR-γ. In *PPAR Research*. https://doi.org/10.1155/2007/49109.
- 359. Uno, S., Zembutsu, H., Hirasawa, A., Takahashi, A., Kubo, M., Akahane, T., Aoki, D., Kamatani, N., Hirata, K. and Nakamura, Y. 2010. A genome-wide association study identifies genetic variants in the CDKN2BAS locus associated with endometriosis in Japanese. *Nature Genetics*, 42(8), 707–710. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.612.
- 360. Urbanek, M., Legro, R. S., Driscoll, D. A., Azziz, R., Ehrmann, D. A., Norman, R. J., Strauss, J. F., Spielman, R. S. and Dunaif, A. 1999. Thirty-seven candidate genes for polycystic ovary syndrome: Strongest evidence for linkage is with follistatin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 96(15), 8573–8578. https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.96.15.8573.
- 361. Urbanek, M., Wu, X., Vickery, K. R., Kao, L. C., Christenson, L. K., Schneyer, A., Legro, R. S., Driscoll, D. A., Strauss, J. F., Dunaif, A. and Spielman, R. S. 2000. Allelic variants of the follistatin gene in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 85(12), 4455–4461. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.85.12.4455.
- 362. Van den Berg, M. M. J., van Maarle, M. C., van Wely, M. and Goddijn, M. 2012. Genetics of early miscarriage. In *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Molecular Basis of Disease*, 1822(12), 1951–1959. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2012.07.001.
- 363. Van den Veyver, I. B. and Al-Hussaini, T. K. 2006. Biparental hydatidiform moles: A maternal effect mutation affecting imprinting in the offspring. In *Human Reproduction Update*, 12(3), 233–242. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dmk005.
- Vanneste, E., Voet, T., Le Caignec, C., Ampe, M., Konings, P., Melotte, C., Debrock, S., Amyere, M., Vikkula, M., Schuit, F., Fryns, J. P., Verbeke, G., D'Hooghe, T., Moreau, Y. and Vermeesch, J. R. 2009. Chromosome instability is common in human cleavage-stage embryos. *Nature Medicine*, 15(5), 577–583. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.1924.

- 365. Vanneste, E., Voet, T., Melotte, C., Debrock, S., Sermon, K., Staessen, C., Liebaers, I., Fryns, J. P., D'Hooghe, T. and Vermeesch, J. R. 2009. What next for preimplantation genetic screening? High mitotic chromosome instability rate provides the biological basis for the low success rate. In *Human Reproduction*, 24(11), 2679–2682. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dep266.
- 366. Varner, M. W. and Esplin, M. S. 2005. Current understanding of genetic factors in preterm birth. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 112(Suppl. 1), 28–31. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.2005.00581.x.
- 367. Vasseur, C., Rodien, P., Beau, I., Desroches, A., Gérard, C., de Poncheville, L., Chaplot, S., Savagner, F., Croué, A., Mathieu, E., Lahlou, N., Descamps, P. and Misrahi, M. 2003. A Chorionic Gonadotropin–Sensitive Mutation in the Follicle-Stimulating Hormone Receptor as a Cause of Familial Gestational Spontaneous Ovarian Hyperstimulation Syndrome. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 349(8), 753–759. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa030065.
- 368. Vendrell, X. 2018. New genetic point mutations in male infertility. In *Reproductomics: The -Omics Revolution and Its Impact on Human Reproductive Medicine*, 2018, 47–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812571-7.00004-6.
- 369. Vink, J. and Feltovich, H. 2016. Cervical etiology of spontaneous preterm birth. In *Seminars in Fetal and Neonatal Medicine*, 21(2), 106–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.siny.2015.12.009.
- 370. Vink, J. and Myers, K. 2018. Cervical alterations in pregnancy. In *Best Practice and Research: Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 52, 88–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2018.03.007.
- 371. Voložonoka, L., Kornejeva, L., Novikova, N. and Fodina, V. 2016. Benefits of combined preimplantation genetic screening and endometrial receptivity assessment on IVF outcome for complicated reproductive history patients. *European Human Genetics Conference 2016*. 24(E-Supplement 1), 69. https://www.nature.com/ejhg/.
- 372. Volozonoka, L., Kornejeva, L., Miskova, A. and Fodina, V. 2015. Preimplantation Genetic Screening Summary of First Results in Patients with Complicated Reproductive History. *Riga Stradins University Scientific Proceedings*, 241–245.
- 373. Volozonoka, L., Perminov, D., Korņejeva, L., Alkšere, B., Novikova, N., Pīmane, E. J., Blumberga, A., Kempa, I., Miskova, A., Gailīte, L. and Fodina, V. 2018. Performance comparison of two whole genome amplification techniques in frame of multifactor preimplantation genetic testing. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics*, 35(8), 1457–1472. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10815-018-1187-4.
- 374. Wang, A. C., Zhang, Y. S., Wang, B. S., Zhao, X. Y., Wu, F. X., Zhai, X. H., Sun, J. X. and Mei, S. Y. 2018. Mutation analysis of the TUBB8 gene in primary infertile women with arrest in oocyte maturation. *Gynecological Endocrinology*, 34(10), 900–904. https://doi.org/10.1080/09513590.2018.1464138.
- 375. Wang, J., Zhang, W., Jiang, H. and Wu, B.-L. 2014. Mutations in HFM1 in Recessive Primary Ovarian Insufficiency . In *New England Journal of Medicine*, 370(10), 972–974. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmc1310150.
- 376. Wang, S. W., Ma, L. L., Huang, S., Liang, L. and Zhang, J. R. 2016. Role of cervical cerclage and vaginal progesterone in the treatment of cervical incompetence with/without preterm birth history. *Chinese Medical Journal*, 129(22), 2670–2675. https://doi.org/10.4103/0366-6999.193451.
- 377. Warren, J. E., Nelson, L. M., Stoddard, G. J., Esplin, M. S., Varner, M. W. and Silver, R. M. 2009. Polymorphisms in the promoter region of the interleukin-10 (IL-10) gene in women with cervical insufficiency. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 201(4), 372.e1-372.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2009.05.022.
- 378. Warren, J. E., Silver, R. M., Dalton, J., Nelson, L. T., Branch, D. W. and Porter, T. F. 2007. Collagen 1A1 and transforming growth factor-β polymorphisms in women with cervical insufficiency. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 110(3), 619–624. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/01.AOG.0000277261.92756.1a.

- 379. Wiel, L., Baakman, C., Gilissen, D., Veltman, J. A., Vriend, G. and Gilissen, C. 2019. MetaDome: Pathogenicity analysis of genetic variants through aggregation of homologous human protein domains. *Human Mutation*, 40(8), 1030–1038. https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.23798.
- 380. Williams, L. S., Demir Eksi, D., Shen, Y., Lossie, A. C., Chorich, L. P., Sullivan, M. E., Phillips, J. A., Erman, M., Kim, H. G., Alper, O. M. and Layman, L. C. 2017. Genetic analysis of Mayer-Rokitansky-Kuster-Hauser syndrome in a large cohort of families. *Fertility and Sterility*, 108(1), 145-151.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2017.05.017.
- 381. Wilton, L., Thornhill, A., Traeger-Synodinos, J., Sermon, K. D. and Harper, J. C. 2009. The causes of misdiagnosis and adverse outcomes in PGD. *Human Reproduction*, 24(5), 1221–1228. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/den488.
- 382. Winkvist, A., Mogren, I. and Högberg, U. 1998. Familial patterns in birth characteristics: Impact on individual and population risks. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 27(2), 248–254. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/27.2.248.
- 383. Witchel, S. F. and Aston, C. E. 2000. The role of heterozygosity for CYP21 in the polycystic ovary syndrome. *Journal of Pediatric Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 13(Suppl. 5), 1315–1317.
- 384. Wood-Trageser, M. A., Gurbuz, F., Yatsenko, S. A., Jeffries, E. P., Kotan, L. D., Surti, U., Ketterer, D. M., Matic, J., Chipkin, J., Jiang, H., Trakselis, M. A., Topaloglu, A. K. and Rajkovic, A. 2014. MCM9 mutations are associated with ovarian failure, short stature, and chromosomal instability. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 95(6), 754–762. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2014.11.002.
- 385. Word, R. A., Li, X. H., Hnat, M. and Carrick, K. 2007. Dynamics of cervical remodeling during pregnancy and parturition: Mechanisms and current concepts. In *Seminars in Reproductive Medicine*, 25(1), 69–79. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2006-956777.
- 386. Wu, H., Zhu, P., Geng, X., Liu, Z., Cui, L., Gao, Z., Jiang, B. and Yang, L. 2017. Genetic polymorphism of MTHFR C677T with preterm birth and low birth weight susceptibility: a meta-analysis. *Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics*, 295(5), 1105–1118. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00404-017-4322-z.
- 387. Wu, J., Li, D., Liu, X., Li, Q., He, X., Wei, J., Li, X., Li, M., Rehman, A. U., Xia, Y., Wu, C., Zhang, J. and Lu, X. 2021. IDDB: A comprehensive resource featuring genes, variants and characteristics associated with infertility. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 49(D1), D1218–D1224. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkaa753.
- 388. Wu, L., Chen, H., Li, D., Song, D., Chen, B., Yan, Z., Iyu, Q., Wang, L., Kuang, Y., Li, B. and Sang, Q. 2019. Novel mutations in PATL2: expanding the mutational spectrum and corresponding phenotypic variability associated with female infertility. *Journal of Human Genetics*, 64(5), 379–385. https://doi.org/10.1038/s10038-019-0568-6.
- 389. Xu, H., Gonzalez, J. M., Ofori, E. and Elovitz, M. A. 2008. Preventing cervical ripening: the primary mechanism by which progestational agents prevent preterm birth? *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 198(3), 314.e1-314.e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2008.01.029.
- 390. Xu, Q., Zhu, X., Maqsood, M., Li, W., Tong, X., Kong, S., Wang, F., Liu, X., Wei, Z., Zhang, Z., Zhu, F., Cao, Y. and Bao, J. 2020. A novel homozygous nonsense ZP1 variant causes human female infertility associated with empty follicle syndrome (EFS). *Molecular Genetics and Genomic Medicine*, 8(7). https://doi.org/10.1002/mgg3.1269.
- 391. Xu, Y., Shi, Y., Fu, J., Yu, M., Feng, R., Sang, Q., Liang, B., Chen, B., Qu, R., Li, B., Yan, Z., Mao, X., Kuang, Y., Jin, L., He, L., Sun, X. and Wang, L. 2016. Mutations in PADI6 Cause Female Infertility Characterized by Early Embryonic Arrest. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 99(3), 744–752. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2016.06.024.
- 392. Yang, P., Luan, X., Peng, Y., Chen, T., Su, S., Zhang, C., Wang, Z., Cheng, L., Zhang, X., Wang, Y., Chen, Z. J. and Zhao, H. 2017. Novel zona pellucida gene variants identified in patients with oocyte anomalies. *Fertility and Sterility*, 107(6), 1364–1369. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2017.03.029.

- 393. Yang, X., Shu, L., Cai, L., Sun, X., Cui, Y. and Liu, J. 2019. Homozygous missense mutation Arg207Cys in the WEE2 gene causes female infertility and fertilization failure. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics*, 36(5), 965–971. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10815-019-01418-9.
- 394. Yang, Z., Liu, J., Collins, G. S., Salem, S. A., Liu, X., Lyle, S. S., Peck, A. C., Sills, E. and Salem, R. D. 2012. Selection of single blastocysts for fresh transfer via standard morphology assessment alone and with array CGH for good prognosis IVF patients: results from a randomized pilot study. In *Molecular Cytogenetics*, 5(1, p. 24). https://doi.org/10.1186/1755-8166-5-24.
- 395. Yang, Z., Zhang, J., Salem, S. A., Liu, X., Kuang, Y., Salem, R. D. and Liu, J. 2014. Selection of competent blastocysts for transfer by combining time-lapse monitoring and array CGH testing for patients undergoing preimplantation genetic screening: A prospective study with sibling oocytes. *BMC Medical Genomics*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1755-8794-7-38.
- 396. Yariz, K. O., Walsh, T., Uzak, A., Spiliopoulos, M., Duman, D., Onalan, G., King, M. C. and Tekin, M. 2011. Inherited mutation of the luteinizing hormone/choriogonadotropin receptor (LHCGR) in empty follicle syndrome. *Fertility and Sterility*, 96(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2011.05.057.
- 397. Ye, J., Coulouris, G., Zaretskaya, I., Cutcutache, I., Rozen, S. and Madden, T. L. 2012. Primer-BLAST: a tool to design target-specific primers for polymerase chain reaction. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 13, 134. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-13-134.
- 398. Yeo, G. and Burge, C. B. 2004). Maximum entropy modeling of short sequence motifs with applications to RNA splicing signals. *Journal of Computational Biology*, 11(2–3), 377–394. https://doi.org/10.1089/1066527041410418.
- 399. Young, N. K., Dae, H. J., Su, J. J., Moon, S. S., Mi, S. K. and Ki, T. K. 2007. Complete chorioamniotic membrane separation with fetal restrictive dermopathy in two consecutive pregnancies. *Prenatal Diagnosis*, 27(4), 352–355. https://doi.org/10.1002/pd.1673.
- 400. Yuan, P., He, Z., Zheng, L., Wang, W., Li, Y., Zhao, H., Zhang, V. W., Zhang, Q. and Yang, D. 2017. Genetic evidence of genuine' empty follicle syndrome: A novel effective mutation in the LHCGR gene and review of the literature. In *Human Reproduction*, 32(4), 944–953. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dex015.
- 401. Yurttas, P., Vitale, A. M., Fitzhenry, R. J., Cohen-Gould, L., Wu, W., Gossen, J. A. and Coonrod, S. A. 2008. Role for PADI6 and the cytoplasmic lattices in ribosomal storage in oocytes and translational control in the early mouse embryo. *Development*, 135(15), 2627–2636. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.016329.
- 402. Zhang, G., Feenstra, B., Bacelis, J., Liu, X., Muglia, L. M., Juodakis, J., Miller, D. E., Litterman, N., Jiang, P.-P., Russell, L., Hinds, D. A., Hu, Y., Weirauch, M. T., Chen, X., Chavan, A. R., Wagner, G. P., Pavličev, M., Nnamani, M. C., Maziarz, J., Muglia, L. J. 2017. Genetic Associations with Gestational Duration and Spontaneous Preterm Birth. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 377(12), 1156–1167. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1612665.
- 403. Zhang, Heping, Baldwin, D. A., Bukowski, R. K., Parry, S., Xu, Y., Song, C., Andrews, W. W., Saade, G. R., Esplin, M. S., Sadovsky, Y., Reddy, U. M., Ilekis, J., Varner, M., Biggio, J. R., Archer, S. W., Copper, R. L., Files, P. B., Harris, S. L., Blair, I., Wang, X. 2015. A Genome-Wide Association Study of Early Spontaneous Preterm Delivery. *Genetic Epidemiology*, 39(3), 217–226. https://doi.org/10.1002/gepi.21887.
- 404. Zhang, Huimin, Liu, W., Chen, M., Li, Z., Sun, X. and Wang, C. 2016. Implementation of a High-Resolution Single-Nucleotide Polymorphism Array in Analyzing the Products of Conception. *Genetic Testing and Molecular Biomarkers*, 20(7), 352–358. https://doi.org/10.1089/gtmb.2016.0035.
- 405. Zhang, L., Cui, X., Schmitt, K., Hubert, R., Navidi, W. and Arnheim, N. 1992. Whole genome amplification from a single cell: Implications for genetic analysis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 89(13), 5847–5851. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.89.13.5847.

- 406. Zhang, W., Wang, J., Wang, X., Li, L., Pan, H., Chen, B., Zhu, Y., Li, T., Cao, Y. and Wang, B. 2018. A novel homozygous mutation of bone morphogenetic protein 15 identified in a consanguineous marriage family with primary ovarian insufficiency. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*, 36(2), 206–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rbmo.2017.10.104.
- 407. Zhang, Y. X., Zhang, Y. P., Gu, Y., Guan, F. J., Li, S. L., Xie, J. S., Shen, Y., Wu, B. L., Ju, W., Jenkins, E. C., Brown, W. T. and Zhong, N. 2009. Genetic analysis of first-trimester miscarriages with a combination of cytogenetic karyotyping, microsatellite genotyping and arrayCGH. *Clinical Genetics*, 75(2), 133–140. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-0004.2008.01131.x.
- 408. Zhang, Ya Xin, He, W. Bin, Xiao, W. J., Meng, L. L., Tan, C., Du, J., Lu, G. X., Lin, G. and Tan, Y. Q. 2020. Novel loss-of-function mutation in MCM8 causes premature ovarian insufficiency. *Molecular Genetics and Genomic Medicine*, 8(4). https://doi.org/10.1002/mgg3.1165.
- 409. Zhao, S., Chen, T., Yu, M., Bian, Y., Cao, Y., Ning, Y., Su, S., Zhang, J. and Zhao, S. 2019. Novel WEE2 gene variants identified in patients with fertilization failure and female infertility. *Fertility and Sterility*, 111(3), 519–526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2018.11.018.
- 410. Zhe, J., Ye, D., Chen, X., Liu, Y., Zhou, X., Li, Y., Zhang, J. and Chen, S. 2020. Consanguineous Chinese Familial Study Reveals that a Gross Deletion that Includes the SYCE1 Gene Region Is Associated with Premature Ovarian Insufficiency. *Reproductive Sciences*, 27(2), 461–467. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43032-019-00037-0.
- 411. Zheng, Y. M., Wang, N., Li, L. and Jin, F. 2011. Whole genome amplification in preimplantation genetic diagnosis. *Journal of Zhejiang University: Science B*, 12(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1631/jzus.B1000196.
- 412. Zhou, J., Mochizuki, T., Smeets, H., Antignac, C., Laurila, P., de Paepe, A., Tryggvason, K. and Reeders, S. T. 1993. Deletion of the paired α5(IV) and α6(1V) collagen genes in inherited smooth muscle tumors. *Science*, 261(5125), 1167–1169. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.8356449.
- 413. Zhou, Z., Ni, C., Wu, L., Chen, B., Xu, Y., Zhang, Z., Mu, J., Li, B., Yan, Z., Fu, J., Wang, W., Zhao, L., Dong, J., Sun, X., Kuang, Y., Sang, Q. and Wang, L. 2019. Novel mutations in ZP1, ZP2, and ZP3 cause female infertility due to abnormal zona pellucida formation. *Human Genetics*, 138(4), 327–337. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-019-01990-1.
- 414. Ziakas, P. D., Poulou, L. S., Pavlou, M. and Zintzaras, E. 2015. Thrombophilia and venous thromboembolism in pregnancy: A meta-analysis of genetic risk. In *European Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, 191, 106–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejogrb.2015.06.005.

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my scientific supervisors, like I used to say – my three scientific mothers, **Anna Miskova**, **Inga Kempa** and **Linda Gailīte**. I am very thankful to you all for believing in me and taking me as your apprentice already more than five years ago. Dear **Anna**, thank you very much for offering me this opportunity of being PhD student, for your great research ideas and being an example of superwoman. Dear **Inga**, thank you very much for always following the regulations and paperwork with the University and teaching me to respect the deadlines and giving example on how to take diplomatic conversations. Thank you for being so close despite being far away. Dear **Linda**, thank you very much for your kind responsiveness, for all your replies to my numerous enquiries and the great encouragement you always provide, and most of all – for the opportunity to become a part of your laboratory.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my reviewer Prof. Edvīns Miklaševičs, thank you very much for your time spent reviewing my thesis and for your valuable comments and advices, I believe after following those the work has obtained its best possible shape. Also, I would like to thank the organizers and participants of the doctoral thesis discussion committee for the evaluation of the doctoral thesis and the valuable recommendations provided. I am grateful to obtain my PhD exactly at Riga Stradins University. I am proud to call this university my *alma mater*, I wish it and all its academic staff wealth and prosperity.

I would like to acknowledge my very first curator and supervisor, who introduced me to the world of human genetics, **Natalija Pronina**. I am forever grateful to you for developing my interest in genetics, for the great atmosphere and support you provided at the DNA Laboratory of Children's University Hospital. My second great teacher in the world of genetics is wonderful **Liene Kornejeva**. Thank you so much for the shared knowledge, excitement, and the fun times we had during numerous conferences we attended together. I hope we still can repeat this.

I am grateful I had an opportunity to work under the supervision of Dr. Violeta Fodina at IVF Riga clinic, thank you very much for widening my professional horizons and geographical horizons as well, and for the opportunity to take part in the first preimplantation embryo analysis in Latvia. Great personality and a talented curator, **Svetlana Vyatkina**, thank you very much for the times spent in Saint Petersburg, for teaching me how to perform preimplantation genetic testing and showing a great example of how to teach and treat others.

Great friend, lab-partner at the Faculty of Biology, and colleague, **Dmitrijs Perminovs**, thank you very much for all the times we spent together professionally and as friends. Thank

you very much for inviting me to work at E. Gulbja Laboratory. Special thanks for the times when we planned and designed embryo analysis experiments, which ended up in our first paper. I wish you a great professional career and all the best with your PhD.

Also, I would like to acknowledge a great acquaintance with **Gita Taurina**, back in 2013 she strengthened my belief that geneticists always have the most interesting personalities. Thank you very much for involving me in the work with students at RSU, where I happily spent almost four years as a part-time tutor of molecular genetics practicum.

I would like to say thanks to **Dmitrijs Rots**, who helped me with the work on cervical insufficiency. Thank you very much for your input and great advices. I wish you a wonderful finishing of your PhD in the Netherlands and a successful return to Latvia to advance genetics here.

A big thanks to Prof. **Joris Veltman**, under whose supervision I obtained my second master's degree at the Newcastle University, thank you very much for this opportunity and the great guidance you provided. Always very warm thank you to a great researcher **Manon Oud**, with whom I was lucky to collaborate during my studies in the Netherlands and UK, thank you for all your support, encouragement and being an example of a great scientist, I believe you helped me to become a little bit better scientist too.

I am forever grateful for the opportunity to attend courses and conferences where I have met great people from this special community of geneticists. While there are a lot of people with whom we had a great and thoughtful time and who wished me well, I would like to specially acknowledge **Iulia Simina** from Romania, **Ekaterina Pomerantseva** from Moscow, **Lena Platanic Arizanovic** from Serbia, **Valeria Di Leo** from Italy, **Anja Haveric** from Bosnia and Herzegovina, **Doris Mayer** from Austria, **Georgi Bozinovski** from Macedonia, **Miroslav Štolfa** from the Czech Republic, warm greetings and thank you.

Huge thanks to all my friends who supported and cheered me up on this way to my degree. A special thanks to **Vladislavs Ivanovs**, thank you for your never-ending support and belief in me. And biggest thanks to my dear mother. Дорогая **мамочка**, спасибо тебе большое за всю твою любовь и поддержку, которая всегда помогала мне на моем пути

Supplements

Approval of the central medical ethics committee to perform the study "Investigation of genetic etiology of infertility"

Centrālā medicīnas ētikas komiteja

Brīvības iela 72, Rīga, LV-1011 • Tālr. 67876182 • Fakss 67876071 • E-pasts: vm@vm.gov.lv

Rīgā

14.04.2016. Nr.1/16-04-14

Rīgas Stradiņa Universitātes Molekulārās Ģenētikas Zinātniskajai laboratorijai

Atzinums par pētījuma pieteikumu "Neauglības ģenētiskās etoloģijas iemeslu izpēte"

Centrālā medicīnas ētikas komiteja 2015.gada 22.septembrī izskatīja Rīgas Stradiņa Universitātes Molekulārās Ģenētikas Zinātniskās laboratorijas iesniegto pētījuma pieteikumu "*Neauglības ģenētiskās* etoloģijas iemeslu izpēte".

Pamatojoties uz Centrālās medicīnas ētikas komitejas 2015.gada 22.septembra sēdes protokola Nr.6 punktu Nr.3 – pieteikuma projektu konceptuāli atbalstīt, bet, lai saņemtu apstiprinājumu, veikt precizējumus un labojumus projekta pieteikuma dokumentācijā – un iesniegtajiem pieteikuma projekta precizējumiem un labojumiem, tiek izsniegts atzinums, ka Rīgas Stradiņa Universitātes Molekulārās Ģenētikas Zinātniskās laboratorijas pētījuma pieteikums "*Neauglības ģenētiskās etoloģijas iemeslu izpēte*" nav pretrunā ar bioētikas normām.

Centrālās medicīnas ētikas komitejas priekšsēdētāja

Stolo

E.Pole

Strautiņš, 67876190 Edgars.Strautins@vm.gov.lv Approval of the central medical ethics committee to perform the study "Investigation of genetic etiology of cervical insufficiency"

Centrālā medicīnas ētikas komiteja

Brīvības iela 72, Rīga, LV-1011 • Tālr. 67876182 • Fakss 67876071 • E-pasts: vm@vm.gov.lv

Rīgā

21.03.2018. Nr.2/18-03-21

Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes Molekulārās Ģenētikas Zinātniskajai laboratorijai

Atzinums par pētījumu "Istmocervikālās nepietiekamības ģenētiskās etioloģijas iemeslu izpēte"

Centrālā medicīnas ētikas komiteja 2018.gada 18.janvārī ir izskatījusi Rīgas Stradiņa Universitātes Molekulārās Ģenētikas Zinātniskās laboratorijas iesniegto pētījumu "*Istmocervikālās nepietiekamības* ģenētiskās etioloģijas iemeslu izpēte".

Pamatojoties uz Centrālās medicīnas ētikas komitejas 2018.gada 18.janvāra sēdes protokola Nr.2018-1 punktu Nr.5 un iesniegtajiem labojumiem, tiek izsniegts atzinums, ka Rīgas Stradiņa Universitātes Molekulārās Ģenētikas Zinātniskās laboratorijas pētījums "Istmocervikālās nepietiekamības ģenētiskās etioloģijas iemeslu izpēte" nav pretrunā ar bioētikas normām.

Centrālās medicīnas ētikas komitejas priekšsēdētājs

and v.Sīlis

Strautiņš, 67876190 Edgars.Strautins@vm.gov.lv Agreement of co-authors (in order as appear in the publication) of the manuscript "Performance comparison of two whole genome amplification techniques in frame of multifactor preimplantation genetic testing" to use this manuscript as a part of the PhD thesis of Ludmila Voložonoka

Veidlapa Nr. PR-11

APSTIPRINĂTA ar Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes rektora 21.01.2021. rīkojumu Nr. 5-1/39/2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes Doktorantūras nodaļas dekānam

Publikācijas līdzautors (-i) Dmitrijs Perminovs

(vārds, uzvārds) Tālr. +37122177137 E-pasts dmitrij.perminov@inbox.lv

APLIECINĀJUMS LĪDZAUTORU PIEKRIŠANAI PAR PROMOCIJAS DARBĀ IZMANTOTO PUBLIKĀCIJU IZMANTOŠANU Rīgā

08.03.2021.

Rīgas Stradiņa universitāte

Piekrītu publikācijas "Performance comparison of two whole genome amplification techniques in frame of multifactor preimplantation genetic testing" izmantošanai zinātniskā grāda pretendenta Ludmilas Voložonokas promocijas darba "Causes and genomic approaches to female reproductive failure" aizstāvēšanai promocijas padomē zinātņu doktora grāda iegūšanai.

(paraksts)

(vārds, uzvārds)



Veidlapa Nr. PR-11 APSTIPRINÄTA ar Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes rektora 21.01.2021. rīkojumu Nr. 5-1/39/2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes Doktorantūras nodaļas dekānam

Publikācijas līdzautors (-i) Liene Korņejeva

(vārds, uzvārds) Tālr. +37126548489

E-pasts Liene.Kornejeva@ivfriga.lv

APLIECINĀJUMS LĪDZAUTORU PIEKRIŠANAI PAR PROMOCIJAS DARBĀ IZMANTOTO PUBLIKĀCIJU IZMANTOŠANU Rīgā

100

07.06.2021

Piekrītu publikācijas "Performane comparison of two whole genome amplification techniques in frame of multifactor preimplantation genetic testing" izmantošanai zinātniskā grāda pretendenta Ludmila Voložonoka promocijas darba "Sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas iemesli un genomiskās pieejas to risināšanai" (angl. "Causes and genomic approaches to female reproductive failure") aizstāvēšanai promocijas padomē zinātņu doktora grāda iegūšanai.

Līdzautors (-i)

(vārds, uzvārds)

Rigas UNIVE	Stradiņa rsitāte		Veidlapa Nr. PR-11 APSTIPRINÄTA ar Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes rektora 21.01.2021. rīkojumu Nr. 5-1/39/2021
		Dok	Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes storantūras nodaļas dekānam
	Pu	ıblikācijas līdzautors (-i)	Baiba Alkšere
		Tālr.	(vārds, uzvārds) +37120139280
		E-pasts	baiba.alksere@gmail.com
APLII	ECINĀJUMS LĪDZAUT DARBĀ IZMANTOTO	ORU PIEKRIŠANAI PUBLIKĀCIJU IZM Rīgā	PAR PROMOCIJAS JANTOŠANU
07.06.2021	6		
techniques zinātniskā reproduktīv <i>genomic a</i> zinātņu dok	in frame of multifactor grāda pretendenta Ludr jās mazspējas iemesli un get opproaches to female reproa ttora grāda iegūšanai.	ane comparison of two w preimplantation genu nila Voložonoka pro nomiskās pieejas to risir ductive failure") aizstāv	whole genome amplification etic testing" izmantošanai mocijas darba "Sievietes nāšanai" (angl. " <i>Causes and</i> vēšanai promocijas padomē
Līdzautors ((-i) (paraksts)		(vārds, uzvārds)

Veidlapa Nr. PR-11

APSTIPRINĂTA ar Rīgas Stradina universitātes rektora 21.01.2021. rīkojumu Nr. 5-1/39/2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes Doktorantūras nodaļas dekānam

Publikācijas līdzautors Natālija Novikova

(-i)

(vārds, uzvārds) Tālr. +37127731090 E-pasts natalija.novikova19@gmail.com

APLIECINĀJUMS LĪDZAUTORU PIEKRIŠANAI PAR PROMOCIJAS DARBĀ IZMANTOTO PUBLIKĀCIJU IZMANTOŠANU Rīgā

10.06.2021

Piekrītu publikācijas "Performance comparison of two whole genome amplification techniques in frame of multifactor preimplantation genetic testing" izmantošanai zinātniskā grāda pretendenta Ludmila Voložonoka promocijas darba "Sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas iemesli un genomiskās pieejas to risināšanai" (angl. "Causes and genomic approaches to female reproductive failure") aizstāvēšanai promocijas padomē zinātņu doktora grāda iegūšanai.

(paraksts)

N. Gebedeva (vārds, uzvārds) I. M. NOVILOVA)





RĪGAS STRADIŅA UNIVERSITĀTE

Veidlapa Nr. PR-11 APSTIPRINĂTA ar Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes rektora 21.01.2021. rīkojumu Nr. 5-1/39/2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes Doktorantūras nodaļas dekānam

Publikācijas līdzautors (-i) Evija Pīmane

(vārds, uzvārds) Tālr. +37129833445

E-pasts _epimane@inbox.lv

APLIECINĀJUMS LĪDZAUTORU PIEKRIŠANAI PAR PROMOCIJAS DARBĀ IZMANTOTO PUBLIKĀCIJU IZMANTOŠANU Rīgā

10.06.2021

Piekrītu publikācijas "Performance comparison of two whole genome amplification techniques in frame of multifactor preimplantation genetic testing" izmantošanai zinātniskā grāda pretendenta Ludmila Voložonoka promocijas darba "Sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas iemesli un genomiskās pieejas to risināšanai" (angl. "Causes and genomic approaches to female reproductive failure") aizstāvēšanai promocijas padomē zinātņu doktora grāda iegūšanai.

EPinaer (paraksts)

Evija Pimane (vārds, uzvārds)

Veidlapa Nr. PR-11

APSTIPRINĀTA ar Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes rektora 21.01.2021. rīkojumu Nr. 5-1/39/2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes Doktorantūras nodaļas dekānam

Publikācijas līdzautors (-i) <u>Arita Blumberga</u> (vārds, uzvārds)

Tālr. +37126088104

E-pasts aritablumberga@gmail.com

APLIECINĀJUMS LĪDZAUTORU PIEKRIŠANAI PAR PROMOCIJAS DARBĀ IZMANTOTO PUBLIKĀCIJU IZMANTOŠANU Rīgā

10.06.2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitāte

Piekrītu publikācijas "Performance comparison of two whole genome amplification techniques in frame of multifactor preimplantation genetic testing" izmantošanai zinātniskā grāda pretendenta Ludmila Voložonoka promocijas darba "Sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas iemesli un genomiskās pieejas to risināšanai" (angl. "Causes and genomic approaches to female reproductive failure") aizstāvēšanai promocijas padomē zinātņu doktora grāda iegūšanai.

Līdzautors (-i)

(paraksts)

ARITA BLUMBERGA (vārds, uzvārds)

Veidlapa Nr. PR-11

APSTIPRINĀTA ar Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes rektora 21.01.2021. rīkojumu Nr. 5-1/39/2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes Doktorantūras nodaļas dekānam

Publikācijas līdzautors (-i) Inga Kempa

(vārds, uzvārds)

Tālr.+37126679671E-pastsInga.Kempa@rsu.lv

APLIECINĀJUMS LĪDZAUTORU PIEKRIŠANAI PAR PROMOCIJAS DARBĀ IZMANTOTO PUBLIKĀCIJU IZMANTOŠANU Rīgā

10.06.2021.

Rīgas Stradiņa universitāte

Piekrītu publikācijas "Performance comparison of two whole genome amplification techniques in frame of multifactor preimplantation genetic testing" izmantošanai zinātniskā grāda pretendenta Ludmilas Voložonokas promocijas darba "Sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas iemesli un genomiskās pieejas to risināšanai" (angl. "Causes and genomic approaches to female reproductive failure") aizstāvēšanai promocijas padomē zinātņu doktora grāda iegūšanai.

INGA KENOPA

(vārds, uzvārds)

Veidlapa Nr. PR-11

APSTIPRINĀTA ar Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes rektora 21.01.2021. tīkojumu Nr. 5-1/39/2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes Doktorantūras nodaļas dekānam

Publikācijas līdzautors (-i) _Anna Miskova

(vārds, uzvārds)

 Tālr.
 +37120271072

 dr.anna.miskova@gmail.co

E-pasts m

APLIECINĀJUMS LĪDZAUTORU PIEKRIŠANAI PAR PROMOCIJAS DARBĀ IZMANTOTO PUBLIKĀCIJU IZMANTOŠANU

Rīgā

10.06.2021

Piekrītu publikācijas "Performance comparison of two whole genome amplification techniques in frame of multifactor preimplantation genetic testing" izmantošanai zinātniskā grāda pretendenta Ludmila Voložonoka promocijas darba "Sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas iemesli un genomiskās pieejas to risināšanai" (angl. "Causes and genomic approaches to female reproductive failure") aizstāvēšanai promocijas padomē zinātņu doktora grāda iegūšanai.

Līdzautors (-i) Līdzautors (-i) (paraksts) (vārds, uzvārds)







Rīgas Stradiņa universitāte Veidlapa Nr. PR-11

APSTIPRINĀTA ar Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes rektora 21.01.2021. rīkojumu Nr. 5-1/39/2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes Doktorantūras nodaļas dekānam

Publikācijas līdzautors (-i) Linda Gailīte

(vārds, uzvārds)

Tālr.+37129435971E-pastsLinda.Gailite@rsu.lv

APLIECINĀJUMS LĪDZAUTORU PIEKRIŠANAI PAR PROMOCIJAS DARBĀ IZMANTOTO PUBLIKĀCIJU IZMANTOŠANU Rīgā

07.06.2021

Piekrītu publikācijas "Performane comparison of two whole genome amplification techniques in frame of multifactor preimplantation genetic testing" izmantošanai zinātniskā grāda pretendenta Ludmila Voložonoka promocijas darba "Sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas iemesli un genomiskās pieejas to risināšanai" (angl. "Causes and genomic approaches to female reproductive failure") aizstāvēšanai promocijas padomē zinātņu doktora grāda iegūšanai.

Līdzautors (-i)

(paraksts)

Linda Gailīte (vārds, uzvārds)



Rīgas Stradiņa universitāte

Veidlapa Nr. PR-11

APSTIPRINĀTA ar Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes rektora 21.01.2021. rīkojumu Nr. 5-1/39/2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes Doktorantūras nodaļas dekānam

Publikācijas līdzautors (-i) Violeta Fodina

(vārds, uzvārds)

Tālr.+37126441369E-pastsVioleta.Fodina@ivfriga.eu

APLIECINĀJUMS LĪDZAUTORU PIEKRIŠANAI PAR PROMOCIJAS DARBĀ IZMANTOTO PUBLIKĀCIJU IZMANTOŠANU Rīgā

10.06.2021

Piekrītu publikācijas "Performance comparison of two whole genome amplification techniques in frame of multifactor preimplantation genetic testing" izmantošanai zinātniskā grāda pretendenta Ludmila Voložonoka promocijas darba "Sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas iemesli un genomiskās pieejas to risināšanai" (angl. "Causes and genomic approaches to female reproductive failure") aizstāvēšanai promocijas padomē zinātņu doktora grāda iegūšanai.

hurry (paraksts)

V. Focluce

(vārds, uzvārds)

Agreement of co-authors (in order as appeared in the publication) of the manuscript "Reducing misdiagnosis caused by maternal cell contamination in genetic testing for early pregnancy loss" to use this manuscript as a part of the PhD thesis of Ludmila Voložonoka

> Rīgas Stradiņa universitāte

Veidlapa Nr. PR-11 APSTIPRINĂTA ar Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes rektora 21.01.2021. rīkojumu Nr. 5-1/39/2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes Doktorantūras nodaļas dekānam

Publikācijas līdzautors (-i) Linda Gailite

(vārds, uzvārds) Tālr. +37129435971

E-pasts Linda.Gailite@rsu.lv

APLIECINĀJUMS LĪDZAUTORU PIEKRIŠANAI PAR PROMOCIJAS DARBĀ IZMANTOTO PUBLIKĀCIJU IZMANTOŠANU Rīgā

07.06.2021

Piekrītu publikācijas "Reducing misdiagnosis caused by maternal cell contamination in genetic testing for early pregnancy loss." izmantošanai zinātniskā grāda pretendenta Ludmila Voložonoka promocijas darba "Sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas iemesli un genomiskās pieejas to risināšanai" (angl. "Causes and genomic approaches to female reproductive failure") aizstāvēšanai promocijas padomē zinātņu doktora grāda iegūšanai.

Līdzautors (-i)

(paraksts)

Linda Gailite (vārds, uzvārds)

Rīgas Stradiņa universitāte

Veidlapa Nr. PR-11

APSTIPRINĂTA ar Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes rektora 21.01.2021. rīkojumu Nr. 5-1/39/2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes Doktorantūras nodaļas dekānam

Publikācijas līdzautors (-i) Dmitrijs Perminovs

(vārds, uzvārds)

Tālr.+37122177137E-pastsDmitrij.Perminov@inbox.lv

APLIECINĀJUMS LĪDZAUTORU PIEKRIŠANAI PAR PROMOCIJAS DARBĀ IZMANTOTO PUBLIKĀCIJU IZMANTOŠANU

Rīgā

15.06.2021

Piekrītu publikācijas "Reducing misdiagnosis caused by maternal cell contamination in genetic testing for early pregnancy loss" izmantošanai zinātniskā grāda pretendenta Ludmila Voložonoka promocijas darba "Sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas iemesli un genomiskās pieejas to risināšanai" (angl. "Causes and genomic approaches to female reproductive failure") aizstāvēšanai promocijas padomē zinātņu doktora grāda iegūšanai.

paraksts)

Dmitrigs terminous (vandes, uzvards)



Veidlapa Nr. PR-11 APSTIPRINĀTA ar Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes rektora 21.01.2021. rīkojumu Nr. 5-1/39/2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes Doktorantūras nodaļas dekānam

Publikācijas līdzautors (-i) Liene Korņejeva

(vārds, uzvārds)

Tālr.+37126548489E-pastsLiene.Kornejeva@ivfriga.lv

APLIECINĀJUMS LĪDZAUTORU PIEKRIŠANAI PAR PROMOCIJAS DARBĀ IZMANTOTO PUBLIKĀCIJU IZMANTOŠANU Rīgā

07.06.2021

Piekrītu publikācijas "Reducing misdiagnosis caused by maternal cell contamination in genetic testing for early pregnancy loss" izmantošanai zinātniskā grāda pretendenta Ludmila Voložonoka promocijas darba "Sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas iemesli un genomiskās pieejas to risināšanai" (angl. "Causes and genomic approaches to female reproductive failure") aizstāvēšanai promocijas padomē zinātņu doktora grāda iegūšanai.

<u>UENE KORNEFECH</u> (vārds, uzvārds)

Rīgas Stradiņa universitāte

Veidlapa Nr. PR-11

APSTIPRINĀTA ar Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes rektora 21.01.2021. rīkojumu Nr. 5-1/39/2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes Doktorantūras nodaļas dekānam

Publikācijas līdzautors (-i) Violeta Fodina

(vārds, uzvārds)

Tālr. +37126441369 E-pasts Violeta.Fodina@ivfriga.eu

APLIECINĀJUMS LĪDZAUTORU PIEKRIŠANAI PAR PROMOCIJAS DARBĀ IZMANTOTO PUBLIKĀCIJU IZMANTOŠANU Rīgā

10.06.2021

Piekrītu publikācijas "Reducing misdiagnosis caused by maternal cell contamination in genetic testing for early pregnancy loss" izmantošanai zinātniskā grāda pretendenta Ludmila Voložonoka promocijas darba "Sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas iemesli un genomiskās pieejas to risināšanai" (angl. "Causes and genomic approaches to female reproductive failure ") aizstāvēšanai promocijas padomē zinātņu doktora grāda iegūšanai.

mu (paraksts)

V. Foderere. (vārds, uzvārds)



Rīgas Stradiņa universitāte

Veidlapa Nr. PR-11 APSTIPRINĀTA ar Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes rektora 21.01.2021. rīkojumu Nr. 5-1/39/2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes Doktorantūras nodaļas dekānam

Publikācijas līdzautors (-i) Inga Kempa

(vārds, uzvārds)

Tālr. +37126679671 E-pasts Inga.Kempa@rsu.lv

APLIECINĀJUMS LĪDZAUTORU PIEKRIŠANAI PAR PROMOCIJAS DARBĀ IZMANTOTO PUBLIKĀCIJU IZMANTOŠANU Rīgā

F.

10.06.2021.

Piekrītu publikācijas "Reducing misdiagnosis caused by maternal cell contamination in genetic testing for early pregnancy loss" izmantošanai zinātniskā grāda pretendenta Ludmilas Voložonokas promocijas darba "Sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas iemesli un genomiskās pieejas to risināšanai" (angl. "Causes and genomic approaches to female reproductive failure ") aizstāvēšanai promocijas padomē zinātņu doktora grāda iegūšanai.

INGA KEMPA (vārds, uzvārds)
Veidlapa Nr. PR-11

APSTIPRINĀTA ar Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes rektora 21.01.2021. rīkojumu Nr. 5-1/39/2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes Doktorantūras nodaļas dekānam

Publikācijas līdzautors (-i) _Anna Miskova

(vārds, uzvārds)

 Tālr.
 +37120271072

 dr.anna.miskova@gmail.co

E-pasts m

APLIECINĀJUMS LĪDZAUTORU PIEKRIŠANAI PAR PROMOCIJAS DARBĀ IZMANTOTO PUBLIKĀCIJU IZMANTOŠANU

Rīgā

10.06.2021

Piekrītu publikācijas "Reducing misdiagnosis caused by maternal cell contamination in genetic testing for early pregnancy loss" izmantošanai zinātniskā grāda pretendenta Ludmila Voložonoka promocijas darba "Sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas iemesli un genomiskās pieejas to risināšanai" (angl. "Causes and genomic approaches to female reproductive failure") aizstāvēšanai promocijas padomē zinātņu doktora grāda iegūšanai.

Līdzautors (-i)

(paracsts)

Dr. med. Anna Miskova Dzerndību centra vadītāja ID 68302037547



Agreement of co-authors (in order as appeared in the publication) of the manuscript "Genetic landscape of preterm birth due to cervical insufficiency: Comprehensive gene analysis and patient next-generation sequencing data interpretation" to use this manuscript as a part of the PhD thesis of Ludmila Voložonoka



Veidlapa Nr. PR-11 APSTIPRINĀTA ar Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes rektora 21.01.2021. rīkojumu Nr. 5-1/39/2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes Doktorantūras nodaļas dekānam

Publikācijas līdzautors (-i) Dmitrijs Rots

(vārds, uzvārds) Tālr. +37122185802

E-pasts Dmitrijs.Rots@gmail.com

APLIECINĀJUMS LĪDZAUTORU PIEKRIŠANAI PAR PROMOCIJAS DARBĀ IZMANTOTO PUBLIKĀCIJU IZMANTOŠANU Rīgā

07.06.2021

Piekrītu publikācijas "Genetic landscape of preterm birth due to cervical insufficiency: Comprehensive gene analysis and patient next-generation sequencing data interpretation." izmantošanai zinātniskā grāda pretendenta Ludmila Voložonoka promocijas darba "Sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas iemesli un genomiskās pieejas to risināšanai" (angl. "Causes and genomic approaches to female reproductive failure") aizstāvēšanai promocijas padomē zinātņu doktora grāda iegūšanai.

Līdzautors (-i)

(paraksts)

Dmitrijs Rots (vārds, uzvārds)



Rīgas Stradiņa Universitāte

Veidlapa Nr. PR-11 APSTIPRINĂTA ar Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes rektora 21.01.2021. rīkojumu Nr. 5-1/39/2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes Doktorantūras nodaļas dekānam

Publikācijas līdzautors (-i) Inga Kempa (vārds, uzvārds)

Tālr. +37126679671

E-pasts Inga.Kempa@rsu.lv

APLIECINĀJUMS LĪDZAUTORU PIEKRIŠANAI PAR PROMOCIJAS DARBĀ IZMANTOTO PUBLIKĀCIJU IZMANTOŠANU

Rīgā

10.06.2021.

Piekrītu publikācijas "Genetic landscape of preterm birth due to cervical insufficiency: Comprehensive gene analysis and patient next-generation sequencing data interpretation" izmantošanai zinātniskā grāda pretendenta Ludmilas Voložonokas promocijas darba "Sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas iemesli un genomiskās pieejas to risināšanai" (angl. "Causes and genomic approaches to female reproductive failure") aizstāvēšanai promocijas padomē zinātņu doktora grāda iegūšanai.

Līdzautors (-i)

(vārds, uzvārds)



Rīgas Stradiņa Universitāte Veidlapa Nr. PR-11 APSTIPRINĂTA ar Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes rektora 21,01.2021. rīkojumu Nr. 5-1/39/2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes Doktorantūras nodaļas dekānam

Publikācijas līdzautors (-i) Anna Kornete

(vārds, uzvārds)

Tālr.+37128312094E-pastsAnna.Kornete@rsu.lv

APLIECINĀJUMS LĪDZAUTORU PIEKRIŠANAI PAR PROMOCIJAS DARBĀ IZMANTOTO PUBLIKĀCIJU IZMANTOŠANU Rīgā

07.06.2021

Piekrītu publikācijas "Genetic landscape of preterm birth due to cervical insufficiency: Comprehensive gene analysis and patient next-generation sequencing data interpretation." izmantošanai zinātniskā grāda pretendenta Ludmila Voložonoka promocijas darba "Sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas iemesli un genomiskās pieejas to risināšanai" (angl. "Causes and genomic approaches to female reproductive failure") aizstāvēšanai promocijas padomē zinātņu doktora grāda iegūšanai.

Līdzautors (-i)

(paraksts)

Anna Kornete (vārds, uzvārds)

Veidlapa Nr. PR-11

APSTIPRINĂTA ar Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes rektora 21.01.2021. rīkojumu Nr. 5-1/39/2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes Doktorantūras nodaļas dekānam

Publikācijas līdzautors (-i) <u>Prof. Dace Rezeberga</u> (vārds, uzvārds)

Tālr. +37129415195 E-pasts Dace.Rezeberga@rsu.lv

APLIECINĀJUMS LĪDZAUTORU PIEKRIŠANAI PAR PROMOCIJAS DARBĀ IZMANTOTO PUBLIKĀCIJU IZMANTOŠANU

Rīgā

10.06.2021

RĪGAS STRADIŅA

UNIVERSITĀTE

Piekrītu publikācijas "Genetic landscape of preterm birth due to cervical insufficiency: Comprehensive gene analysis and patient next-generation sequencing data interpretation" izmantošanai zinātniskā grāda pretendenta Ludmila Voložonoka promocijas darba "Sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas iemesli un genomiskās pieejas to risināšanai" (angl. "Causes and genomic approaches to female reproductive failure") aizstāvēšanai promocijas padomē zinātņu doktora grāda iegūšanai.

Līdzautors (-i)

(paraksts)

profesore Dace Rezeberga

(vārds, uzvārds)



Veidlapa Nr. PR-11 APSTIPRINĀTA ar Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes rektora 21.01.2021. rīkojumu Nr. 5-1/39/2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes Doktorantūras nodaļas dekānam

Publikācijas līdzautors (-i) Linda Gailite (vārds, uzvārds)

Tālr. +37129435971 E-pasts Linda.Gailite@rsu.lv

APLIECINĀJUMS LĪDZAUTORU PIEKRIŠANAI PAR PROMOCIJAS DARBĀ IZMANTOTO PUBLIKĀCIJU IZMANTOŠANU Rīgā

07.06.2021

Piekrītu publikācijas "Genetic landscape of preterm birth due to cervical insufficiency: Comprehensive gene analysis and patient next-generation sequencing data interpretation." izmantošanai zinātniskā grāda pretendenta Ludmila Voložonoka promocijas darba "Sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas iemesli un genomiskās pieejas to risināšanai" (angl. "Causes and genomic approaches to female reproductive failure") aizstāvēšanai promocijas padomē zinātņu doktora grāda iegūšanai.

Līdzautors (-i)

(paraksts)

Linda Gailite (vārds, uzvārds)

Veidlapa Nr. PR-11

APSTIPRINĀTA ar Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes rektora 21.01.2021. rīkojumu Nr. 5-1/39/2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes Doktorantūras nodaļas dekānam

Publikācijas līdzautors (-i) Anna Miskova

(vārds, uzvārds)

Tālr. +37120271072

dr.anna.miskova@gmail.co

E-pasts m

APLIECINĀJUMS LĪDZAUTORU PIEKRIŠANAI PAR PROMOCIJAS DARBĀ IZMANTOTO PUBLIKĀCIJU IZMANTOŠANU Rīgā

10.06.2021

Rīgas Stradiņa universitāte

Piekrītu publikācijas "Genetic landscape of preterm birth due to cervical insufficiency: Comprehensive gene analysis and patient next-generation sequencing data interpretation" izmantošanai zinātniskā grāda pretendenta Ludmila Voložonoka promocijas darba "Sievietes reproduktīvās mazspējas iemesli un genomiskās pieejas to risināšanai" (angl. "Causes and genomic approaches to female reproductive failure") aizstāvēšanai promocijas padomē-zinātņu doktora grāda iegūšanai.

(paraks

Līdzautors (-i)

Dr. med. Anna Miskova Dzemdību centra vadītāja ID 68300037517

(vārds, uzvārds)